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 COMPANY OVERVIEW AND A global building materials company1 MAIN ACCOMPLISHMENTSNelson Mandela Bridge. Barcelona, Spain2



 COMPANYOVERVIEW1.1 | Company snapshotCEMEX is a global building materials company that provides high-quality products and reliable service to customers and communities in more than 50 countries. Celebrating its 110th anniversary, CEMEX hasa rich history of improving the well-being of those it serves through innovative building solutions, efficiency advancements, and efforts to promote a sustainable future.USA 9,783 EUROPE 10,386MEXICO 9,858 AMEA 3,243SCA&C 5,387CENTRAL 3,196including CorporateNumber of employeesSCA&C - South, Central America and the CaribbeanAMEA - Asia, Middle East and Africacotiza enBolsa MexicanaCEMEXCXLISTEDNYSEAS A CUSTOMER-FOCUSED ORGANIZATION, WE UNDERSTAND THAT WE SUCCEED ONLY WHEN OUR STAKEHOLDERS SUCCEED.+41,000EMPLOYEESAROUND THEWORLD93 million tonsANNUAL CEMENTPRODUCTIONCAPACITY54CEMENT PLANTS+13 WITH MINORITYPARTICIPATION1,555READY-MIXCONCRETE PLANTS52million m3ANNUALPRODUCTIONOF READY-MIXCONCRETE151 million tonsAGGREGATES ANNUAL PRODUCTION305AGGREGATES QUARRIES247LANDDISTRIBUTION CENTERS63MARINETERMINALS3



 COMPANY OVERVIEW1.1 | Company snapshotOUR OFFERING PORTFOLIO:PRODUCTSCEMENT. Gray ordinary portlandcement, white portland cement,masonry or mortar, oil-well cement,blended cement, and others.READY-MIX CONCRETE. Made from amixture of cement, aggregates, waterand admixtures, ready-mix concrete isan extremely durable building materialthat can be cast into any shape, size, ordesign.AGGREGATES. Materials such as stone,sand and gravel are the primaryingredients in ready-mix concrete.Others include asphalt and mortar.OTHER PRODUCTS. Includes additives,granulated blast furnace slag, gypsum,fly ash, asphalt, concrete blocks,architectural products, and otherprecast products.WE PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY PRODUCTS ANDRELIABLE SERVICE TO CUSTOMERS ANDCOMMUNITIES IN MORE THAN 50 COUNTRIES.CEMENTRugbyPREMIUMCEMENTCEMEXCEMEXAGGREGATESBUILDING SOLUTIONSCONCRETE PAVEMENTSGREEN BUILDING SERVICESREADY-MIX CONCRETEOTHER PRODUCTSSOLUTIONS AND SERVICESBUILDING SOLUTIONS. Development ofcustomized energy-efficient buildingsolutions and affordable housingsolutions such as ICF, EPS panels,monolithic cast-in-place, and others.CONCRETE PAVEMENTS. ConventionalConcrete pavement, short slabspavement, roller compacted concrete,concrete overlay/whitetopping, cementtreated base, soil cement, and others.GREEN BUILDING SERVICES. Bioclimaticarchitecture and engineering, modelingof buildings’ energy performance,international green buildingcertifications, and others.U.S. GREEN BUILDING COUNCIL MEMBEREcoperatingcertified building BREAM4



 COMPANY OVERVIEW1.2 | Letter to stakeholdersOUR GOAL IS SIMPLE: TO ENSURE YOU UNDERSTAND WHYWE ARE ENTHUSIASTIC ABOUT OUR FUTURE.ROGELIO ZAMBRANO, CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORSFERNANDO A. GONZÁLEZ, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERDEAR FELLOW STAKEHOLDERS:We live in a world characterized by change, a world whereeven the pace of change is accelerating. For many, that isdisquieting. However, at CEMEX, we see that as a world ofopportunity, a place where we can create value for all of ourstakeholders. As we conclude our 110th anniversary celebration, we are confident in our future because we have investedconsiderable effort focusing on how CEMEX creates value andreshaping everything we do as a company to achieve our vision of building a better future for our employees, customers,shareholders, suppliers, and communities.This Integrated Report is designed to provide a holistic analysis of our company’s strategic vision, performance, governance, and value creation. We want you to understand therelationship between the financial and non-financial keyperformance indicators that we use to manage our business,and we want to impart a deeper understanding of how ouroperating model works.Our goal is simple: To ensure you understand why we are enthusiastic about our future. We are confident that we will continue to justify your faith in CEMEX.Despite continued financial market volatility and uncertainty, we made good progress on our strategic priorities andachieved strong financial results during 2016. On a like-to-likebasis, our net sales improved by 4% to US$13.4 billion, andour operating EBITDA increased by 15% to US$2.7 billion—ourhighest EBITDA generation in eight years. Operating EBITDAmargin expanded 1.7 percentage points to 20.5%, while netincome increased tenfold to US$750 million, both the highestlevels since 2007.As a result, we achieved or exceeded all of our targets onour path to regaining our investment grade capital structure.Once again, we met our cost and expense reduction target ofUS$150 million for the year. We almost doubled free cash flowafter maintenance CAPEX to nearly US$1.7 billion thanks tohigher EBITDA, as well as initiatives to lower working capitalinvestment, reduce financial expenses, and limit CAPEX. Additionally, we announced asset sales of more than US$2 billion.Consequently, we reduced total debt by close to US$2.3 billion, a 25% reduction from the end of 2013.Rooted in our core values, value creation is embedded in everything we do. Four pillars—People, Customers, Markets, andSustainability—underpin our strategy. We drive value acrossall aspects of our business through the integration of thesepillars with our operating and governance models.Our people are the cornerstone of our success. They buildlong-term relationships with our customers and play avital role as representatives of CEMEX in the communities where they live and work. We work hard to provide ahigh-performance, rewarding—and above all—safe workplace5



 COMPANY OVERVIEW1.2 | Letter to stakeholdersOUR SUSTAINABILITY GOALS ARE TO BECOME THE GLOBAL LEADER INSUSTAINABLE CONSTRUCTION, ACHIEVE A LOW-CARBON, RESOURCE-EFFICIENT FOOTPRINT, AND SERVE AS A KEY PARTNER IN THEDEVELOPMENT OF OUR COMMUNITIES.Buñol Cement Plant, Spainenvironment. In 2016, we reduced lost-time incidents by 16%.However, we know that we need to reinforce our focus onsafety day after day; no fatality or incident is acceptable.Our ability to fully understand and tailor our products andservices to solve our customers’ challenges is key to creatinglasting value. Clients are at the heart of our business decisions, and we have organized the company and redesignedits processes to ensure that we create the best experience forthem. We strive to make it easy for customers to do businesswith us, utilizing advanced technology whenever possible. Tothis end, we launched a digital transformation strategy during2016. Our recently announced partnership with IBM is an important element of that strategy. Together, we are designingand developing mobile applications that will dramaticallychange the way customers interact with us.CEMEX invests in markets with strong growth fundamentals—geographies where we can leverage our broad and deepknowledge of cement, aggregates, and ready-mix concrete.Our business portfolio concentrates on dynamic, diverse markets with significant upside potential. In January 2017, we reinforced our already strong position in the Caribbean with oursuccessful acquisition of the majority of the shares of Trinidad Cement Limited, a leading cement producer in Trinidadand Tobago, Jamaica, and Barbados.At CEMEX, we embed sustainability in every aspect of ourbusiness. This provides opportunities for growth, reducesrisks and costs, strengthens our license to operate, and creates value for all of our stakeholders. Our goals are to become the global leader in sustainable construction, achievea low-carbon, resource-efficient footprint, and serve as a keypartner in the development of our communities. In 2016, weprovided products and solutions to more than 1,200 projectswhich attained a green building certification, representingalmost 10 million m2 of construction space, and we installedmore than 5 million m2 of concrete pavements for over 460projects. We also achieved an alternative fuel substitutionrate of over 23%. This, together with our other mitigation efforts, helped us achieve a 20% reduction in CO2 emissionscompared with our 1990 baseline—equal to the emissionsgenerated by 1.3 million cars annually. Additionally, 18 of ourinitiatives have now earned biodiversity certification fromthe Wildlife Habitat Council, while we expanded our partnership with Birdlife International to develop biodiversity actionplans in quarries with high biodiversity value. Moreover, ourhigh-impact social strategy continued to empower our communities, benefiting 12.6 million people from the inception ofour programs—which means we are well on the way to reachCEMEX’s 2020 target of 15 million beneficiaries since 1998.As a global company, our ability to leverage knowledge andbest practices across our worldwide network is a key competitive advantage. Through our Global Networks, we operateas One CEMEX and create value through collaboration andintegration across borders. For example, during 2016, we increased the worldwide operating efficiency of our cementkilns to 89%; we replenished 115 million tons of our aggregates reserves, while reducing inventories by 15%; and wedeployed our new supply chain process globally. By virtueof our Global Networks, we manage the company as one efficient worldwide enterprise—ensuring that CEMEX is muchmore than the sum of its parts.At CEMEX, we are committed to maintaining the highest ethical and corporate governance standards. We continually striveto enhance our reputation as a responsible and sustainablecompany in order to attract and retain employees, customers,suppliers, and investors, as well as to maintain positive relationships with our communities—all of which are critical tocreating value each and every day.On behalf of CEMEX’s Board of Directors, our managementteam, and our employees, we greatly appreciate your interestin CEMEX, as we continue our efforts to build a better futurefor all of our stakeholders.Sincerely,ROGELIO ZAMBRANOChairman of the Board of DirectorsFERNANDO A. GONZÁLEZChief Executive Officer6



 COMPANY OVERVIEW1.3 | Management assessment of performanceON A LIKE-TO-LIKE BASIS, OUR NET SALES IMPROVEDBY 4%, AND OUR OPERATING EBITDA INCREASED BY15%—OUR HIGHEST EBITDA GENERATION IN EIGHT YEARS.CONSOLIDATED RESULTSFollowing is a review of operational results and the financialcondition of the company.Consolidated net sales decreased 3% to US$13.4 billion in2016. On a like-to-like basis for our ongoing operations andfor foreign exchange fluctuations compared with 2015, consolidated net sales increased 4% for the year. The increase on alike-to-like basis was the result of higher prices of our products in local currency terms in most of our operations, as wellas higher volumes in Mexico, the U.S., and our Europe region.Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales decreased 1.8percentage points, from 66.3% in 2015 to 64.5% in 2016. Thedecrease in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales wasmainly driven by our cost-reduction initiatives, as well aslower energy costs.Operating expenses as a percentage of net sales decreased0.3 percentage points, from 21.7% in 2015 to 21.4% in 2016,mainly driven by lower distribution expenses and our cost-reduction initiatives.Operating EBITDA increased 6% to US$2.7 billion in 2016. On alike-to-like basis, operating EBITDA increased 15% for the year.The increase on a like-to-like basis was due mainly to highercontributions from Mexico, the U.S., and our Europe and Asia,Middle East and Africa regions.Operating EBITDA margin increased 1.7 percentage points,from 18.8% in 2015 to 20.5% in 2016.We reported a gain on financial instruments of US$6 millionin 2016. This gain resulted mainly from our equity derivativesrelated to CEMEX shares.We reported a foreign exchange gain of US$264 million in2016, resulting mainly from the fluctuation of the Mexicanpeso versus the U.S. dollar.We reported controlling interest net income of US$750 million in 2016 versus net income of US$75 million in 2015. Theincome primarily reflects higher operating earnings beforeother expenses, net, lower other expenses, lower financialexpenses, better results from financial instruments, and apositive effect from foreign exchange results, partially offsetby lower equity in gain of associates, higher income tax, higher non-controlling interest net income, and a negative effectin discontinued operations.Total debt plus perpetual notes decreased US$2.3 billion toUS$13.1 billion at the end of 2016.Net sales and operating EBITDA(billions of US dollars)2.62 14.982.60 14.822.66 14.982.59 13.792.75 13.4012 13 14 15 16Free cash flow after maintenancecapital expenditures(millions of US dollars)167(89)4018811,68412 13 14 15 16Financial position: Towards investment gradeOne of our main priorities is to reach an investment-gradecapital structure as soon as possible. To this end, we continueto focus on strengthening our financial position by reducingour costs and expenses, improving our cash flow generation,divesting assets, and reducing our debt. As a result of ourefforts, we achieved all of our targets for 2016.We reached our cost and expense reduction target ofUS$150 million for the year.We significantly exceeded our anticipated free cash flowinitiatives, achieving close to US$1 billion during theyear, while eclipsing our target of US$670 million thanksto our efforts to lower working capital, reduce financialexpenses, lower taxes, and limit total capital expenditures(“CAPEX”).We announced asset sales for approximately US$2 billionof which almost US$1 billion closed during the year.We applied the proceeds from our free cash flow generation and asset sales mainly for debt reduction. Consequently, our total debt plus perpetual securities is closeto US$2.3 billion lower than at the end of 2015—representing a 15% reduction from our debt level as of the end of2015 and a 25% reduction from the end of 2013. Hence, welowered our consolidated funded debt to EBITDA ratio to4.22 times from 5.21 times as of the end of 2015.As a result of our progress, we are well on our way to significantly strengthen our financial position and regain an investment-grade capital structure. Already, our discipline andconsistency in reducing our leverage is translating into animprovement in our credit ratings. In January 2017, S&P upgraded our corporate credit rating to BB- for its global scaleand to mxA- for its national scale. This upgrade should allowus to access the institutional Mexican fixed-income market.7



 COMPANY OVERVIEW1.3 | Management assessment of performanceGLOBAL REVIEW OF OPERATIONSSALES DISTRIBUTION BY PRODUCT(percentage)164539CEMENTREADY-MIXAGGREGATESSALES DISTRIBUTION BY REGION(percentage)12 22 13 28 25MEXICOUNITED STATESEUROPESOUTH, CENTRAL AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEANASIA, MIDDLE EAST AND AFRICAGLOBAL OPERATIONSNet salesOperating earnings before other expenses, netOperating EBITDAAssets5millions of US dollars as of December 31, 2016CAPACITY PER REGION6Cement production capacity(million tons/year)Cement plants (controlled)Cement plants (minority part.)Ready-mix plantsAggregates quarriesLand distribution centersMarine terminalsSOUTH, CENTRAL AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN3ASIA, MIDDLE EAST AND AFRICA4UNITED STATES1MEXICOEUROPE2OTHERTOTAL2,862 3,668 3,255 1,727 1,538 353 13,403913 264 187 466 302 (248) 1,8841,041 619 377 542 375 (207) 2,7463,599 14,694 5,178 2,359 1,456 1,657 28,94430.0 16.6 23.9 12.5 9.9 92.915 12 17 7 3 543 6 1 3 0 13265 345 737 114 94 1,55515 73 185 22 10 30578 39 67 34 29 2477 6 33 13 4 63as of December 31, 20161. Beginning March 31, 2011, includes the operations of Ready Mix USA LLC. In 2016, Concrete Pipe Business in the United States is excluded from net sales, operating earnings before other expenses, net,and operating EBITDA.2. Includes operations in Croatia, Czech Republic, Finland, France, Germany, Lativia, Lithuania, Norway, Poland, Spain, Sweden, and the United Kingdom. Croatia is excluded from net sales, operatingearnings before other expenses, net and operating EBITDA.3. Includes operations in Argentina, Colombia, Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Guatemala, Jamaica, Nicaragua, Panama, Peru, and Puerto Rico, as well as others operations in the South,Central America, and the Caribbean region.4. Includes operations in Egypt, Israel, Malaysia, the Philippines, and the United Arab Emirates. Bangladesh and Thailand are excluded from net sales, operating earnings before other expenses, net, and operatingEBITDA.5. Includes assets in associated participation.6. Includes active and inactive operations that are leased, owned, or with a minority participation; aggregates quarries with depleted reserves are excluded.8



 COMPANY OVERVIEW1.3 | Management assessment of performanceMexicoIn 2016, our Mexican operations’ net sales increased 1% yearover year to US$2.9 billion, and operating EBITDA improved 8%to US$1.0 billion. Our domestic gray cement and aggregatesvolumes increased 4% and 3%, respectively, while our ready-mix concrete volumes declined 3% for the year.All of our sectors of demand, except infrastructure, enjoyed good volume performance during 2016. The industrial-and-commercial sector was supported by continuedcommercial activity, as well as warehouse and industrial parkconstruction. The formal residential sector benefited fromdouble-digit growth in mortgage investment from the bankingsector, as well as stable investment from INFONAVIT. The mainindicators for the self-construction sector, including remittances and job creation, remained solid during the year.United StatesOur U.S. operations’ net sales remained flat year over year atUS$3.7 billion for 2016. Operating EBITDA rose 18% to US$619million during the year. On a like-to-like basis, adjusting forassets sold to Grupo Cementos de Chihuahua, our U.S. operations’ domestic gray cement, ready-mix concrete, and aggregates volumes increased 3%, 1%, and 2%, respectively, for 2016.During 2016, our volumes were driven by residential, industrial-and-commercial, and infrastructure activity. In the residential sector, cement intensive single-family housing startsincreased 9% for the year, supported by low interest ratesand inventories, strong job creation, and household formation. Industrial-and-commercial construction sector spendingincreased 1% for the year, reflecting growth in lodging andoffice construction, which was partially offset by a declinein energy, agriculture, and manufacturing investment. In theinfrastructure sector, street and highway spending picked upduring the fourth quarter of the year after a weak pre-election performance.BBVA Bancomer Stadium, Monterrey, MexicoMetro Purple Line, Los Angeles, USAAtrio Tower Bogota, ColombiaOPERATING EBITDA IN OUR U.S. OPERATIONSROSE 18%, WHILE IT IMPROVED 8% IN MEXICO.South, Central America and the CaribbeanIn 2016, our net sales for the region decreased 9% to US$1.7billion, while our operating EBITDA declined 5% to US$542million. As a whole, our regional operations’ domestic graycement volumes increased 1%, while our ready-mix concreteand aggregates volumes both decreased 13% for the year.Our Colombian operations’ domestic gray cement volumesremained flat, while our ready-mix concrete and aggregatesvolumes declined 8% and 13%, respectively, during 2016.Infrastructure project delays and macroeconomic challengesimpacted national cement consumption, particularly duringthe second half of 2016.EuropeOur European operations’ net sales decreased 5% year overyear to US$3.3 billion, and operating EBITDA declined 3% toUS$377 million in 2016. For the full year, our domestic graycement volumes remained flat, while our ready-mix concreteand aggregates volumes increased 2% and 3%, respectively.In the United Kingdom, our operations’ domestic gray cementand aggregates volumes increased 7% and 3%, respectively,while our ready-mix concrete volumes declined 3% for theyear. Our cement volume growth was driven by improvementin demand from all of our main construction sectors. Our cement volume growth benefited from higher sales of blendedcement, resulting from a scarcity of fly ash.In Spain, our operations’ domestic gray cement volumes decreased 3%, while our ready-mix concrete volumes increased2% during 2016. Political uncertainty weighed on consumersentiment and particularly affected construction activity forthe year. The residential sector was the main driver of cementconsumption during 2016, benefiting from favorable creditand income conditions, job creation, and pent-up housingdemand.9



 COMPANY OVERVIEW1.3 | Management assessment of performanceOUR TRADING VOLUME TOTALED MORE THAN10.5 MILLION TONS.Boulevard by the Odra River, Wroclaw, PolandIn Germany, our operations’ domestic gray cement volumesremained flat for the year. The residential sector remainedthe main driver of cement consumption, despite capacity constraints in the local construction industry and publicauthorities’ restrictions. The sector benefited from low unemployment and mortgage rates, rising purchasing power, andgrowing immigration.In Poland, our operations’ domestic gray cement volumesdecreased 1% during 2016. This decrease reflected delays ininfrastructure sector projects, as well as a slight decline inour market position. The residential sector was the main driver of demand.In France, our operations’ domestic ready-mix concrete andaggregates volumes increased 4% and 6%, respectively, forthe year. The residential and industrial-and-commercial sectors were the main drivers of demand. The residential sectorwas supported by low interest rates and government initiatives, including a buy-to-let program and zero-rate loans forfirst-time buyers.Archeopark Pavlov museum inUNESCO reserve, Czech RepublicYoo Towers, Tel Aviv, IsraelAsia, Middle East and AfricaIn the region, our operations’ net sales decreased 7% yearover year to US$1.5 billion, while operating EBITDA grew 4%to US$375 million during 2016. As a whole, our regional operations’ domestic gray cement volumes remained flat, our aggregates increased 6%, and our ready-mix concrete volumesdeclined 4% for the year.In the Philippines, our operations’ domestic gray cement volumes increased 1% during 2016. In the second half of the year,cement consumption weakened due primarily to the government’s post-election transition, as well as adverse weatherconditions that affected our core markets.In Egypt, our operations’ domestic gray cement volumesincreased 2% for the year. Government projects related tothe Suez Canal tunnels and port platforms in the city of PortSaid, as well as low-income housing complexes, drove cementdemand during 2016.TradingOur global trading network is one of the largest in the industry. Our trading operations help us to optimize our worldwideproduction capacity, deliver excess cement to where it ismost needed, and explore new markets without the necessity of making immediate capital investments. Our worldwidenetwork of strategically located marine terminals and broadthird-party customer base also provide us with the addedflexibility to place contracted supplies in an optimal way.In 2016, we enjoyed trading relationships with 100 countries.Our trading volume totaled more than 10.5 million tons ofcementitious and non-cementitious materials, includingapproximately 8.0 million tons of cement and clinker. We alsomaintained a sizeable trading position of 1.6 million tons ofgranulated blast furnace slag, a non-clinker cementitiousmaterial, and 0.9 million tons of other products.Freight rates, which have been extremely volatile in recentyears, account for a large share of our total import supplycost. However, we have obtained significant savings by timelycontracting maritime transportation and by using our ownand chartered fleets—which transported approximately 64%of our traded cement and clinker volume in 2016.In addition, we provide freight service to third parties whenwe have spare fleet capacity, which generates additional profit for our trading operations.Sv. Juraj Cement Plant, Croatia10



 COMPANY OVERVIEW1.4 | Our vision and value creation modelVISION FOR A BETTER FUTUREAt CEMEX, we are an integrated globalteam that shares a common vision: Tobuild a better future for our employees,our customers, our shareholders, andthe communities in which we live andwork. We come to work each day excitedto develop and deliver high-quality,sustainable construction products andinnovative building solutions that exceedour customers’ expectations and meetsociety’s growing needs.WE ALL SHARE THE SAME VISION. WE SEEOPPORTUNITIES, WE SEE GROWTH, AND WESEE A SOLID FOUNDATION ON WHICH CEMEXPROUDLY STANDS.OUR PURPOSEThe reason we come to work each dayTo build a better future for our employees, our customers, our shareholders, and the communitieswhere we live and work.OUR MISSIONWhat we do and who we do it forTo create sustainable value by providing industry-leading products and solutions to satisfy theconstruction needs of our customers around theworld.CEMEXOUR VALUESHow we operate effectively and get things doneWe believe that these five values define us as a company and form a roadmap for how we must approacheach day:ENSURE SAFETY of all our employees by being accountable to each other for our actions and behav-iors, and being an industry leader that sets an example for others to follow. With safety there can be nocompromises.FOCUS ON CUSTOMERS by aligning ourselves closely with their business and their needs, followingthrough on our commitments, resolving problemsquickly and making it easy to do business with us.PURSUE EXCELLENCE in all aspects of our businessand interactions with customers. We will challengeourselves to constantly improve and build upon ourstrong reputation around the world for quality andreliability.WORK AS ONE CEMEX using our collective strengthand global knowledge to share best practices, replicate good ideas and collaborate across boundaries– externally and internally.ACT WITH INTEGRITY by remaining honest and transparent in all our interactions, complying with ourCode of Ethics, and caring for our people, communities and natural resources.11



 COMPANY OVERVIEW1.4 | Our vision and value creation modelOUR FOUR PILLARS-PEOPLE, CUSTOMERS, MARKETS,AND SUSTAINABILITY-UNDERPIN OUR STRATEGY.OUR STRATEGYThe plan for achieving our missionTo create value by building and managing a global portfolio of integrated cement, aggregates, ready-mixconcrete, and related businesses.Value our people asour main competitiveadvantageWe hire the best and ensurethat our team’s health, safety,and professional growth are toppriorities.We develop leaders and encourage them to create new ways ofthinking and acting, while assessing risks and opportunities.We foster an open dialogue in allof our interactions to align andachieve greater results.Help our customerssucceedOur customers deal with important challenges daily.We must invest time in our relationships and listen closely tounderstand their needs.We help them to succeed bydelivering quality products,innovative solutions, and greatercustomer service.Pursue markets that offerlong-term profitabilityWe pursue markets wherewe can add value for ouremployees, customers, andshareholders.We focus on what we do best—cement, aggregates, ready-mix concrete, and relatedbusinesses.We venture beyond those corebusinesses when it is essentialto better market our products.Ensure sustainability isfully embedded in ourbusinessWe invest and innovate to become an industry leader in prof-itable, environmentally friendly,and sustainable operations.We provide products and soltions that contribute to moresustainable cities.We act responsibly in our operations, always looking for a wayto minimize our impact on theenvironment.We collaborate with local communities to empower them andcontribute to their development.CEMEXOUR OPERATING MODELHow we operate effectively andget things doneLeverage our knowledge and scale toestablish best practices and commonprocesses worldwide in order to operatemore effectively and achieve greatestvalue.12



 COMPANY OVERVIEW1.4 | Our vision and value creation modelWE DRIVE VALUE ACROSS ALL ASPECTS OF OUR BUSINESSTHROUGH THE INTEGRATION OF OUR STRATEGIC PILLARS WITHOUR OPERATING AND GOVERNANCE MODELS.OUR VALUE CREATION MODELWHYour reason for beingPURPOSEBuilding a better futureMISSIONCreate sustainable value byproviding industry-leading prod-ucts and solutions to satisfy theconstruction needs of our cus-tomers around the worldVALUESEnsure safetyFocus on customersPursue excellenceWork as one CEMEXAct with integrityWHEREwe playSTRATEGYPeople No1 asset asCustomer CentricityMarket focusSustainabilityHOWwe succeedOPERATING MODELGlobal NetworksSupport FunctionsTransactional FunctionsGOVERNANCEGovernanceWHObenefitsSTAKEHOLDERSEmployeesClientsShareholdersCommunities and SuppliersVALUEhow we create value• Provide a great workplace that helpsemployees grow• Build skills and expertise• Enable a strong sense ofpurpose• Tailor our offerings to solve our clients’construction needs• Make it easy to work with us• Provide enhanced performance andreliability• Grow revenue• Reduce costs• Optimize assets• Keep a tight rein on risks• Be a relevant engine of economic growth• Build more capable, inclusive and resilientcommunities• Reduce local air, water and waste impactsand conserve biodiversityKEY INPUTSMINERAL ENERGYRESERVESPRODUCTSREADY-MIX CEMENT AGGREGATESDISTRIBUTIONCHANNELSMARKETSRESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL INDUSTRIAL INFRA- STRUCTURE ROADS13



 TRENDS, RISKS An agile and innovative company2 AND OPPORTUNITIESUnderground Metro Station in Warsaw, Poland14



 TRENDS, RISKS & OPPORTUNITIES2.1 | Main global trendsThe pace of change in the world is faster than ever. Globalmegatrends are influencing the current and future stateof the construction industry. At CEMEX, we closely monitortrends affecting our business, including these top-line globalsocietal challenges:ECONOMICRelentless population growth and urbanizationENVIRONMENTALClimate change, resource scarcity and biodiversity lossSOCIALPoverty, income inequality, aging population andunemploymentGOVERNANCEIncreasing expectations for private sector to actresponsibly and be proactiveThe world’s growing population is among the key driversof change expected for the construction industry. Severalmegatrends are also impacting the future of the constructionvalue chain. According to the Buildings Performance InstituteEurope (BPIE), energy availability, demographic changes, thedigital and broader technological revolution, and climatechange mitigation will challenge the construction value chainin several ways:Growing interest in innovative building technologiesamong consumersLess demand for new construction and growing demandfor existing propertiesIncrease of industrialized and prefabricated building pro-cessesHigher demand for flexible, smaller, lifelong, andmulti-generational housing typesProliferation of energy suppliers and energy-supply ser-vices (e.g., cost-adapted pricing, green energy, comfortservices, etc.)Increasing renewable energy production in buildingsInteraction of buildings with the energy market (demandresponse, energy storage, and energy production)Need for affordable renovation techniquesShared use of buildings (e.g., offices, hotels, and residences).As the world transitions to a low-carbon economy (by 2050),BPIE expects a growing need for a higher-skilled workforce,new business models, different and smarter building ar-chetypes, and industrialized construction methods. For theconstruction sector, this will require training experts in thefields of insulation, renewable energy installation, and build-ing automation, among others.pod Martwa Wisla Tunnel, PoloniaAdditionally, it will be important to develop strategies thataddress the skills gap in the sector and attract more youngpeople to begin careers in construction, while retaining expe-rienced staff to help develop them.As global megatrends evolve and impact the constructionmaterials market, we will continue to assess and analyze howCEMEX can most positively influence these and other societalchallenges worldwide.15



 TRENDS, RISKS & OPPORTUNITIES2.1 | Main global trendsWE WILL CONTINUE TO ASSESS HOW CEMEXCAN MOST POSITIVELY INFLUENCE SOCIETALCHALLENGES WORLDWIDE.MEGATRENDS SHAPING THE CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY’S FUTUREECONOMICDEMAND IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES65% of the next decade’sgrowth in constructionwill happen in emergingcountriesGLOBALIZED MARKETS1 in 2 engineering &construction companies planto move into new geographiesAGING INFRASTRUCTURE1 in 3 German railway bridgesare more than 100 years oldMASSIVE FINANCING NEED$1tn annual investmentsare needed to close theglobal infrastructure gapENVIRONMENTALRESOURCE SCARCITYNo1 consumer of global raw materials isthe construction industrySUSTAINABILITY REQUIREMENTS50% of the solid waste in the UnitedStates is produced by the constructionindustryENERGY AND CLIMATE CHANGE30% of global greenhouse gas emissions areattributable to buildingsSOCIALURBANIZATION AND HOUSING CRISIS200k people are added daily to urban areas and need affordable and healthy housesTALENT AND AGING WORKFORCE50% of general contractors are concerned about findingexperienced workers for their workforceGOVERNANCESLOW PERMIT AND APPROVAL PROCESS$1.2tn of infrastructure could be added by 2030 if all countries committed to specific time limits for approvalsSource: Shaping the Future of Construction: A Breakthrough in Mindset andTechnology, World Economic Forum, May 2016Alcanar Cement Plant, SpainConcrete is the most-used material in the world afterwater—with over 25 billion tons annually consumed—andthe cement segment alone accounts for 5% per yearof total global CO2 emissions. As a result, regulators,customers, and others are challenging the industry toinnovate and develop more durable, safe, sustainablysourced, and energy-efficient products.As a leading global supplier of building materials, werecognize our responsibility to support society’s development needs in a sustainable manner. To achieve this,CEMEX provides concrete solutions to the challenges ofurbanization and climate change.Performance around several issues will drive competitiveness within the construction materials industry,including:Reducing direct greenhouse gas (GHG) emissionsfrom operationsReducing air pollution that can create hazards forhuman health and the environmentManaging energy efficiency and sourcingSecuring water supplies without risking local watersystemsReducing and managing hazardous and solid wastegenerated during operationsMitigating the biodiversity impacts of raw materialextraction activitiesEnsuring health and safetyDeveloping innovative solutions to reduce thelifecycle impacts of building productsEnsuring transparency in product pricing and avoidingdirect or indirect market manipulation.16



 TRENDS, RISKS & OPPORTUNITIES2.2 | Risks and opportunitiesCEMEX has an Enterprise Risk Management(ERM) function to manage all risks andopportunities that could impact thecompany’s objectives. ERM has becomefundamental in supporting top managementin the decision-making process, reducing theimpact of adverse events, and capitalizing onopportunities resulting from a more complexand uncertain environment.RISKS ARE PRIORITIZED BASED ON THEIRIMPACT AND PROBABILITY OFMATERIALIZATION, AND A MITIGATIONSTRATEGY IS DEFINED.At CEMEX, risk management is present at the global,regional, and local level, and follows a process thatemphasizes risk discussion and mitigation at top management and risk oversight at the board level.RISK OVERSIGHTAT BOARD LEVELRISK IDENTIFICATIONRISK INTEGRATIONAND ANALYSISRISK DISCUSSION ANDMITIGATION STRATEGY ATEXECUTIVE COMMITTEERISK MITIGATION/TOLERANCERISK FOLLOW-UPGlobal, regional, and country risk agendas are developed ona half-year basis, considering all types of risks and emergingconcerns that could impact the company in the short, medium, and long term. Risks are identified considering a combination of a bottom-up and a top-down approach, which alsoconsiders identification of potential opportunities.After their analysis and assessment, risks are prioritizedbased on their impact and probability of materialization, anda mitigation strategy is defined for their treatment.The ERM function is complemented by other risk management processes within the company, such as internal audits,internal controls, compliance, and financial risk management.Additionally, key material risks are identified, evaluated andtracked by the Corporate Practices and Finance Committee atthe Board of Directors level.Caracolito Cement Plant, Colombia17



 TRENDS, RISKS & OPPORTUNITIES2.2 | Risks and opportunitiesThe following is a description of some of the main risks and opportunities faced by CEMEX and their corresponding mitigation strategies:OPPORTUNITIES1 POPULATION GROWTH AND URBANIZATIONAccording to the United Nations, 54% of theworld population currently lives in cities,and this proportion will increase to 66% by2050. This implies that 200,000 people willmove daily into urban areas. Consequently,urban areas will need to provide solutionsfor the challenges posed by the increasingnumber of people, who will depend on themto live, move, work, and interact. This influx of people will require careful planningamong policymakers and the private sectorto ensure adequate investments are madein affordable housing, upgraded highways,bridges, airports, railroads, and other infrastructure worldwide, while protecting ourplanet’s natural resources and mitigating theeffects of climate change.CEMEX ACTIONSCEMEX is uniquely positioned to addressmany of the challenges cities are facing:Offering building products and solutionsthat meet the most demanding construction and sustainability performancestandardsContributing resilient infrastructure thatwithstands the wear and tear of intensiveuse and extreme weather conditionsProviding affordable and sustainablehousing for the rapidly growing numberof people migrating to urban areasReducing waste disposed in urban landfills by co-processing it as a fuel in ourcement kilns.2 INCREASED DEMAND FOR SUSTAINABLE AND RESILIENT CONSTRUCTION PRODUCTS AND SOLUTIONSAs a significant contributor to global resource use and greenhouse gas emissions,the building industry is challenged to develop products with superior sustainabilityattributes and to implement sustainableconstruction practices that minimize itscarbon footprint, reduce its impact on theenvironment, and preserve natural resources.In this regard, it is estimated that the builtenvironment is responsible for approximately 25 to 40% of total energy use, 30% of rawmaterial use, 30 to 40% of global greenhousegas emissions, and 30 to 40% of solid wastegeneration.Build anURBAN OASISInsularisComfort by designCEMEX ACTIONSOur goal is to become the global leader insustainable construction. We leverage ourleading-edge innovation and agility to develop superior building products and solutionsthat perform at the highest standards acrossall applications. We have designed and developed a growing portfolio of special concrete products with clear, tangible benefitsfor sustainable construction applications.These products include:Resilia: Fiber-reinforced concrete withhyper strength and ductility that can replace steel reinforcements in concreteHidratium: Self-curing concrete thattolerates extreme conditions (e.g., wind,heat, direct sunlight) through sealing,water-retention, and low-shrinkagemechanismsInsularis: A 100% concrete solution forthermal insulation, acoustic insulation,and fire resistance that eliminates thermal bridges.18



 TRENDS, RISKS & OPPORTUNITIES2.2 | Risks and opportunitiesRISKS1 ECONOMIC CONDITIONS IN COUNTRIES WHERE WE OPERATEThe economic condition of the countrieswhere we operate may adversely affect ourbusiness, financial condition, results, andprospects.We face risks particular to each region wherewe operate. The U.S. economy continues togrow at a moderate pace, and the FederalReserve has increased interest rates. Theimpact of increasing U.S. dollar interest ratescould not only have an impact on the U.S.economy, but also on that of emerging mar-kets—for example, through their currencies—and thus, potentially, on our consolidatedresults as well. Mexico’s currency has experienced depreciation, which could increaseinflation, and the interest rate hikes intendedto combat it might slow economic activity.Furthermore, more protectionist policies byMexico’s key trading partners could also undermine its growth potential.Europe has also grown at a moderate pace,and a new significant challenge, stemmingfrom a weak economy in the European Union,could damage the economic stability of thewhole Euro zone. Upcoming elections inFrance and Germany could also play a role inthe power dynamics of the region as a whole.The Chinese economy presents another potential source of risk. If it were to experiencea sudden and unexpected deceleration, ithas the potential to affect global economicactivity.CEMEX MITIGATION ACTIONSWe have implemented several initiatives tocounter the challenging global economicenvironment:Value before Volume strategy. Our strategy focuses on value enhancement, optimizing gains in customer relationships,and generating sufficient returns thatallow us to reinvest in our business.Cost containment. Over the past years, wehave identified and begun implementingglobal cost-reduction initiatives intendedto reduce our annual cost structure toa level consistent with our product demand, as well as our own companywideprogram to enhance competitiveness.Asset optimization. We manage our assetbase by divesting non-core assets andoptimizing working capital.2 POLITICAL UNCERTAINTY IN THE COUNTRIES IN WHICH WE OPERATEPolitical uncertainty and its potential economic and social consequences could ad-versely impact our operations and profitability. Any political result that significantlyaffects a country’s economic development orits business environment has the potentialto impact our operations.Social stability in some of the countries inwhich we operate is more susceptible to political events than in others. Some countrieswhere we have operations have seen massdemonstrations and protests, which have thepotential to impact the economic and business environment and adversely affect ouroperations’ results.CEMEX MITIGATION ACTIONSWe have implemented several initiatives tocounter the effects of political risks:Continued monitoring. We continuouslymonitor important political developments in the countries in which we operate in order to anticipate any event thatcould have an impact on our operations.Through this monitoring, we define thebest way to maintain a successful business operation in each particular scenario.Business continuity plans. We have business continuity plans to minimize busi-ness disruption in situations where thesocial or political environment in whichwe operate presents risks to the continuation of operations.19



 TRENDS, RISKS & OPPORTUNITIES2.2 | Risks and opportunities3MORE COMPLEX COMPETITIVEDYNAMICSThe markets in which we operate are highly competitive and are served by numerous established companies with recognized brand names, as well as new market entrants and increasing imports. These companiescompete based on various factors, often employing aggressive commercial strategies to gain market share. If we are not able to compete effectively, we may lose substantial market share, our net sales coulddecline or grow at a slower rate, and our business and operations’ results would be harmed.CEMEX MITIGATION ACTIONSWe expect to maintain and grow our market positions in cement, ready-mix concrete, and aggregates—as well as vertically integrating these businesses—by being one of the most customer-centric competitors inthe construction materials industry. We also continue our Value before Volume strategy to reflect the high value-creating capability of our products and services.4 DEBT LEVEL AND CREDITAGREEMENT/INSTRUMENT RESTRICTIONSWe have debt and other financial obligations maturing in the next several years. Our ability to comply with our principal debt maturities depends on EBITDA generation, asset sales, and other measures thatcould be affected by external factors. Additionally, we have credit agreements and debt instruments that contain several restrictions and covenants. Our ability to comply may be affected by economic conditionsand volatility in foreign exchange rates, as well as by overall conditions in the financial and capital markets and the construction sector.CEMEX MITIGATION ACTIONSWe have a financial strategy defined to reduce our debt level mainly through:1. Debt prepayments through assets sales and focus on EBITDA generation2. Lowering financial costs3. Managing debt profile Our discipline and consistency in reducing our leverage and strengthening our capital structure has translated into improvements in our credit rating. Regaining an investment-gradecapital structure is one of ourmain priorities.5 REGULATORY CHANGES ANDINCREASED SCRUTINYWe are subject to the laws and regulations of the countries where we operate. Any material changes in such laws and regulations and/ or any delay in assessing the impact and/ or adapting to such changes mayhave an adverse effect on our business. If not complied with, these laws and regulations expose us to the risk of potential costs in the form of fines and other sanctions, compensation payments to third parties,remediation costs, and damage to our reputation.CEMEX MITIGATION ACTIONSWe continuously work to comply with changes in laws and regulations in all of the countries where we operate. We devote significant time and resources to assess and, if required, adjust our operations to anysuch changes. Our employees abide by our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct. The Code addresses anti-bribery, related-person transactions, health and safety, environmental responsibility, confidentiality,conflicts of interest, financial controls, and preservation of assets.6 PRICE VOLATILITY AND UNCERTAIN AVAILABILITY OF MATERIALS REQUIRED TO RUN OUR BUSINESSShould existing suppliers cease operations or reduce/eliminate production of these materials, sourcing costs could increase significantly or require us to find alternatives, which could have a material adverse effecton our business. Additionally, scarcity of natural resources, such as water and aggregates reserves, in some countries where we operate could have a material adverse effect on our costs and operations’ results.CEMEX MITIGATION ACTIONSWe are not dependent on our suppliers, and we aim to secure the supply of required materials through long-term renewable contracts and framework agreements, which ensures better supply management.20



 TRENDS, RISKS & OPPORTUNITIES2.2 | Risks and opportunitiesWE TAKE PROACTIVE MEASURES TO REDUCE THE POTENTIAL IMPACT OF ADVERSE EVENTS.7 VOLATILITY IN ENERGY MARKETSOur operations consume significant amounts of power and fuel. Energy prices generally reflect certain volatility, particularly in times of political turbulence in Iran, Iraq, Egypt, and other countries in SouthAmerica, the Middle East, and Africa. Even though power and fuel prices have recently decreased, future cost increases may have an adverse material effect on our business.CEMEX MITIGATION ACTIONSWe have continued efforts to increase our use of alternative fuels, which has resulted in reduced energy costs. In addition, we have developed processes and products that allow us to reduce heat consumption inour kilns, which also reduce energy costs. Finally, we have developed a large portfolio of clean power projects that not only provide low-cost energy, but also provide certainty in future energy costs.8 ADVERSE WEATHER CONDITIONSConstruction activity, and thus demand for our products, decreases substantially during periods of cold weather, when it snows or when heavy or sustained rainfalls occur. Consequently, demand for our productsis significantly lower during the winter in temperate countries and during the rainy season in tropical countries. Such adverse weather conditions can negatively affect our business results if they occur withunusual intensity or last longer than usual in our major markets, especially during peak construction periods. Additionally, severe adverse weather conditions (e.g., floods, typhoons, hurricanes) have the potentialto damage our assets and disrupt our operations.CEMEX MITIGATION ACTIONSWe have business continuity plans in place at our main operations designed to avoid major disruptions to our business. In addition, some of our main operations and assets are insured against such events.Although in most cases, the insurance policy does not cover the total impact that an adverse event could have, which limits its effect.9 CYBER AND INFORMATIONSECURITYWe rely on several information technologies and automated operating systems to manage or support our operations. To maintain business efficiencies, it is critical these systems function properly. In addition,our systems, as well as those provided by our third-party service providers, may be vulnerable to damage, disruption or intrusion, caused by circumstances beyond our control, such as physical or electronicbreak-ins, power outages, natural disasters, computer system or network failures, viruses or malware, unauthorized access, and cyber-attacks.CEMEX MITIGATION ACTIONSWe take proactive measures to secure our IT systems and electronic information and have business continuity plans in place if any business disruption occurs.10 HEALTH AND SAFETY RELATED RISKSActivities in our business can be hazardous and can cause injury to people or damage to property in certain circumstances. Our production facilities require individuals to work with chemicals, equipment, andother materials that may potentially cause harm, injury or fatalities when used without due care. Accidents or injuries that occur at our facilities could result in disruptions to our business and may have legal andregulatory consequences.CEMEX MITIGATION ACTIONSHealth and safety (H&S) is a top priority for CEMEX. We strive to have zero EHS incidents by improving how we reinforce safe behaviors with our employees and contractors, strengthening the accountabilityof management for ensuring safe behavior, implementing workplace improvements on a regular basis and promoting a safety culture in our every day activities.21



 3 OUR STRATEGY The path to achieve our missionChelm Plant installations, Poland22



 OUR STRATEGY3.1 | Value people as our main competitive advantageSDG 3What makes CEMEX flourish as a global organization? It’s our people. We take great pride in hiring the best and brightest talent and supporting them with a safe, healthy work environment and opportunities forgrowth and development.PLACING HEALTH AND SAFETY FIRSTSafety is our top priority. To ensure we’re meeting our goals, four core principles guide every decision we make and action we take:Ensure nothing comes before the health and safety of our people, contractors, and the communityMake health and safety a personal responsibility by looking after ourselves and each otherStrive to create a workplace with zero harmMaintain accountability for health and safety practices.Our Zero4Life commitmentWe are constantly working towards our ultimate target of zero injuries worldwide—our Zero4Life commitment. In 2016, our Employee Lost-Time Injury (LTI) Frequency Rate was 0.6, bringing us closer to ourgoal of reducing it to 0.3 or less by 2020. We are encouraged to see that 95% of CEMEX operations were fatality and lost-time-injury free for the year. We recognize the remaining 5% is still considerable.However, the overall direction is positive.FATALITIES EVENT TYPE(percentage)10 1515 60Most of 2016 fatalitiesoccurred off-site and wererelated to road traffic.INCIDENTS INVOLVINGMOVING VEHICLESCONTACT WITH MOVINGMACHINERYFALL FROM A HEIGHTOTHER KIND OF INCIDENTZero injuriesfor LifeAlso in 2016, CEMEX Total Recordable Injury (TRI) Frequency Rate continued to decline, reaching 4.1 compared to 4.5 in 2015 and 5.6 in 2014. Two regions and 13 countries reduced their TRI Rates, withsix countries maintaining a rate of zero. In addition, the global Employee Sickness Absence Rate for CEMEX improved from 2.1 to 1.8 in 2016.We are deeply saddened to report 20 fatalities in 2016—3 employees, 10 contractors and 7 third parties. From these, 75% occurred away from our installations (off-site) and 60% were road traffic related. Onefatality is one too many, and we will not be satisfied until we reach our goal of zero injuries and fatalities. To reach this objective, we are actively working to identify and mitigate risks. Each injury and fatalityis analyzed to determine the root cause and prevent future incidents. Most of the fatalities derived from moving vehicle incidents (i.e., collisions involving contractors’ trucks). That is why we invest intechnology and training programs to try to eliminate these types of events in our operations by encouraging our employees and contractors to use the right driving techniques to take care of themselves and thirdparties. For example, we are reinforcing our countries’ defensive driver23



 OUR STRATEGY3.1 | Value people as our main competitive advantageSDG 3THE ACADEMY’S OBJECTIVE IS TO ENSURE THAT H&S IS OURTOP PRIORITY AT ANY SITE ACROSS OUR ORGANIZATION.training while introducing a stronger driver certificationscheme. We acknowledge we need to continue to work hardand drive forward with our initiatives.H&S training: A top focusAt CEMEX, we ensure that all of our employees have the correct knowledge, skills, and experience to perform their jobssafely through our investment in programs that provide employees at all levels with health and safety training. As partof our manager-training program, executives and supervisors must complete our Health and Safety (H&S) Academy.Employees must complete E-LEGACY training—the “E” standsfor “everyone.” This is a non-technical, interactive programthat helps front-line employees assess risks and integratesafe and healthy practices into their day-to-day activities,promoting a strong H&S culture within our organization. Inour operations, our H&S committees—with representativesfrom front-line workers, line supervisors, managers, andunions—meet regularly to discuss any concerns and to helpreinforce H&S practices and programs.CEMEX HSMSPEOPLEVFLCEMEXFACILITIES & EQUIPMENT PROCESSESCEMEX HSMSH&S Academy: Taking the leadIn 2016, we launched our global H&S Academy. Designed toenhance the leadership skills of our line managers and supervisors, the Academy’s objective is to ensure that H&S isour top priority at any site across our organization, from ourproduction plants to our corporate offices.Already commenced in 21 countries, the Academy’s two-day“Foundation” module is working to prepare executives fromdifferent roles and backgrounds to share and deliver thepractices and experiences they gain from the H&S Academywith their teams throughout the company. Thus far, feed-back is very positive, and the rollout will continue into 2017and beyond—with the introduction of a second and thirdmodule.H&S Networks: One CEMEX working togetherAs One CEMEX, we have established interconnected globalH&S networks, taskforces, and forums to ensure that we worktogether through a coordinated, consistent, and collaborativeapproach to reach our companywide goal of zero injuries:The H&S Functional Network, comprised of all of our national H&S specialistsThe Global H&S Council, composed of corporate andregional representatives who interact with our extended global H&S networks and our main sector GlobalNetworksSix Global Taskforces, consisting of senior operationalpeople supported by at least one member of our corporate H&S team: Road Transportation; Grow the Pie (Paving);Grow the Pie (Housing); Cement Operations; Ready-mix;and AggregatesA Global Health Forum of experts who work on variousinitiatives and materials to help our employees and contractors lead a healthy lifestyle.H&S initiatives: Around our operationsAcross our operations, we continue to enhance our healthypractices and reduce our safety risks to strengthen our H&Sculture.Sticking togetherUnder our award-winning ¡Avísame! (“Warn me!”) campaignin Spain, we make everyone responsible for the safety ofothers. Beyond focusing on their own safety, this campaignenables our employees to take the initiative to warn theircolleagues of any potential risks that they might encounter,while encouraging them to speak up as well. By placing the¡Avísame! sticker on their helmet, our employees signify thatthey are receptive to correction or warning from their peerswhenever they encounter hazardous situations.24



 OUR STRATEGY3.1 | Value people as our main competitive advantageSDG 3WE ARE PROUD OF THE WORK WE HAVE DONE ANDCONTINUE TO DO TO PROMOTE A STRONG H&S CULTURE.OUR WORLDWIDE OPERATIONS HAVE SHAREDMORE THAN 1,000 GREAT EXAMPLES OFPOSITIVE HEALTH AND SAFETY INITIATIVESTHROUGH OUR GOOD PRACTICES PROGRAM.Shielding everyoneThrough our SHIELD (Safety and Health Initiatives for Enablers, Leaders, and Doers) program in the Philippines, weextend our H&S values to our retail customers and contractors. As part of this program, we provide hardware storeworkers with “Health Wallets” that they can use to redeemmedical services, including consultations and checkups. Wealso installed first-aid cabinets for employees in almost 100hardware stores across the country. We further furnishedconstruction sites with essential safety signage.Fighting fatigueOur Malaysian operations team is taking serious measuresto minimize road accidents resulting from physically tireddrivers. In addition to controlling hours of work, their Fatigue Management system provides an air-conditioned roomwith beds for drivers to sleep or take a nap if needed. Ourteam also installed a Biometric Facial Recognition Scannerat the door to gather data on the room’s usage for lateranalysis. For its initial trial, we chose the busiest concreteplant in Malaysia as the first venue for this system, designedto ensure a well-rested team.End-to-end product safetyHealth and Safety is considered in each and every phaseof product development, from design to disposal. We abideby all applicable legislation and H&S requirements whendesigning our products and have developed Material SafetyData Sheets that describe potential hazards and precautionsto take when handling each of our products.We are proud of the work we have done and continue to doto promote a strong H&S culture.CEMEX SAFETY DAYSAt CEMEX, we constantly look for creative and fun waysto get our safety message out. In many of our operations,our H&S teams and managers organized a full scheduleof immersive and experiential activities for our employeesand their families to learn about best safety practices andtest their own skills.For our Employee Safety Days in Germany and Poland,special crash simulators demonstrated the effectivenessof seat belts. By personally experiencing a vehicle roll-over in a simulator, our employees learned about the very dangerous forces that act on a driver during a crash undersafe, controlled conditions. In various operations through-out Spain, our employees enjoyed a full day of activities,including a simulated rescue with the support of the localfire department, which also offered a workshop on extinguishing fires.25



 OUR STRATEGY3.1 | Value people as our main competitive advantageSDG 8WE FOSTER A DYNAMIC, HIGH-PERFORMANCE ENVIRONMENT,WHERE OPEN DIALOGUE IS ENCOURAGED AND REWARDED.BUILDING A BETTER WORKPLACE TOGETHERWith more than 41,000 employees around the world, westrive to offer the programs, benefits, and work environmentthat attract and retain great talent. Our approach to talentmanagement is founded on three pillars:Employ the right people, in the right place, at the righttime to perform the right job to achieve our strategyEnable a high-performing and rewarding culture to deliversustainable business value in a safe, ethical workplaceBuild and develop our workforce capabilities to confrontchallenges and pursue excellence.Right people, right place, right timeOur people are our competitive advantage and the reasonfor our success. That is why we hire the best and work hardto develop and support each and every one of them—so thatwe all grow successfully.Succession managementAs we constantly transform and expand, one of our mainobjectives is to develop people with the potential to fill keyleadership positions—increasing their experience and capabilities to equip them to succeed in even more challengingroles while strengthening our talent up and down our pipelines. Through this process, we make every effort to improveour employees’ commitment to our company by helpingthem meet their own career development expectations andpreparing them for key roles as they face critical challengesin their professional development. Our succession management process enables us to build a talented pool of leaderswith the skills and deep understanding of our business fundamentals to continue our pursuit of excellence.Competitive compensationWe know that if our employees have the resources theyneed to live healthy, fulfilling lives, they will bring their bestto the workplace, and our competitive compensation andemployee benefit packages are key contributors.More than 80% of our global workforce receives health andlife insurance benefits beyond those required by local law.Approximately half of our global workforce receives retirement provision benefits above local requirements, and morethan 60% of our operations receive additional funds for disability and invalidity coverage than what is required by law.We regularly communicate these benefits to our operations—which span all of our organizational levels—to ensure all of ouremployees understand the opportunities available to them.High performing, rewarding cultureWe foster a dynamic, high-performance environment, whereopen dialogue is encouraged and rewarded. In this way, wehear our employees’ needs and expectations, ensure theyfeel engaged, and enable them to meet their career goalsthrough our institutional processes.+80%More than 80% of ourglobal workforce re-ceives health and lifeinsurance benefitsbeyond those requiredby local law.COMPARATIVE WAGE RATE 2016CEMEX entry level vs. localminimum wage ratioArgentina 1.6Bahamas 1.7Brazil 1.0Central 4.9Colombia 1.0Costa Rica 1.2Czech Republic 1.0Dominican Republic 1.0Egypt 1.6El Salvador 1.5France 1.1Germany 1.0Guatemala 1.3Haiti 1.0Israel 1.0Jamaica 8.4Latvia 2.0Malaysia 1.0Mexico 3.9Nicaragua 1.1Panama 1.0Peru 1.0Philippines 1.3Poland 1.1Puerto Rico 1.0Spain 2.0UK 1.4USA 1.4CEMEX overall ratio 1.3526



 OUR STRATEGY3.1 | Value people as our main competitive advantageSDG 4DURING THE YEAR, MORE THAN 575,000 HOURSWERE DEDICATED TO EMPLOYEE TRAINING.Enabling employee engagementTo keep our efforts on track, our Engagement Survey enablesus to collect employee feedback on key topics such as development, compensation, leadership communication, andwork-life balance, among others. In our latest survey, 75% ofthe 38,000 employees invited to participate responded thequestionnaire. The results were structured around two mainthemes—engagement and enablement—and shared with ourtop management, functional leaders, and HR staff to equipthem with the knowledge needed to identify areas of improvement and better serve all of our employees globally.Using this feedback, in 2016, we developed and implementedapproximately 600 initiatives that reached almost 90% ofour total staff, providing opportunities to collaborate withothers, share experiences, and implement ideas. Distributedevery two years across CEMEX worldwide operations, we willconduct our next survey in 2017.Fostering positive, productive interactionsOpen communication keeps everyone on the same page andour priorities on track. In 2016, 80% of our employees withaccess to our online system to register objectives and performance evaluations received performance feedback andcareer development advice from their supervisors. Employees without computer access worked with their supervisordirectly to conduct evaluations and receive input.Evolving career building, talent managementOur evolving approach to talent management works to ensurea more efficient, more connected talent cycle, offering clearerbenefits and outcomes for our employees’ career development. Through our integrated performance, talent review, andsuccession planning processes, we enable superior careerdecisions and professional growth. As a result, we help ouremployees and supervisors to set and align team goals withour company’s business objectives. We ensure that all of ourCONTINUING EDUCATION BY THE NUMBERSUS$24.7 million invested in employee trainingUS$1.1 million in scholarships for 280 employees> 260 training courses offered> 575,000 hours invested in online and instructor-ledtrainingENVISION PROGRAM IS DIVIDED INTO THREE PARTSSUMMITLEADERSHIPINNOVATIONDISRUPTIONASCENDLEAPemployees’ and managers’ behavior is aligned with our corevalues. Additionally, we identify areas of opportunity and development while delivering meaningful reviews that reinforceemployee engagement and retention.Capabilities to confront challenges, pursue excellenceWe craft career experiences for our employees to developtheir inner fire for CEMEX—espousing our values and livingby our mission and vision. Our success stems from our employees’ hard work and dedication, so we are committed toproviding them with the best professional experience.Continuing education and developmentWe have seen firsthand that employees who are supportedby their company are inspired to excel. Through ongoingtraining and development opportunities, we teach them newskills and deepen their expertise in several critical areas,including H&S, customer-centric capabilities, environmentalconservation and awareness, leadership development, andstakeholder engagement.Developing effective leadersIt takes sound, strong direction to propel a company oursize forward and to ensure we meet our customers’ needs.That’s why we invest in development programs for leaders atdifferent levels.Launched in 2016, ENVISION is a highly immersive program that recognizes leaders who’ve already made asignificant impact on the organization and encompassestwo main themes: the leaders own personal course andtheir role in CEMEX’s course. Along with deep introspection, leaders must develop specific skills to managethe tension between capitalizing on what is known andcertain to maximize value for our business today andexploring opportunities to create new sources of valuefor our company in the future. With this approach, ENVISION is divided into three parts—LEAP, ASCEND, and27



 OUR STRATEGY3.1 | Value people as our main competitive advantageSDG 4OUR PEOPLE ARE OUR COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGEAND THE REASON FOR OUR SUCCESS.SUMMIT—where participants engage in topics focusing onleadership, innovation, and disruption to tackle challenges that our organization is currently facing. During 2016,15 global leaders engaged in this engrossing program.Our ACHIEVE program is specifically targeted to top-tiermanagers and newly appointed directors. Comprised oftwo cornerstones—customer centricity and leadershipcapability—it is designed to provide new opportunities tolearn and practice leadership skills on real work projects. One of our company’s strategic priorities, customercentricity is a powerful source of competitive advantagegoing forward. In addition to cultural change, ACHIEVE enables exceptional contributions along three dimensionsof value-based core design principles: value created forour company, value created for our company’s customers, and the value of the learning and working process.In 2016, 57 leaders from 17 business units across CEMEXregions participated and presented their projects in thefifth edition of ACHIEVE.Leader-to-Leader is a unique initiative that connectscurrent and future CEMEX leaders. Mentors from thisprogram work with employees throughout the year andparticipate in ACHIEVE activities to offer support. During2016, 45 senior management leaders enrolled in thismentoring program.Building institutional capabilitiesThanks to the success of our Commercial Academy, in 2016we also established the Health & Safety Academy, an innovative three-module learning experience given over thecourse of 18 months focused on developing critical leadership skills in managers to promote the right H&S behaviorsin their teams, as well as the Supply Chain Academy, focusedon developing a highly integrated and globally consistentapproach to supply chain management in our company.OUR GLOBAL WORKFORCEBY LEVEL (%)53164OPERATIONAL POSITIONSNON-EXECUTIVE POSITIONSEXECUTIVE POSITIONSBY GENDER (%)1288MALEFEMALETYPE OF CONTRACT (%)199FULL-TIMEPART-TIMEBY AGE (%)152426 35UNDER 3031-4041-5051 AND OVERBY SENIORITY (%)13343122LESS THAN 1 YEAR1-5 YEARS5-10 YEARSOVER 10 YEARSCEMEX ACADEMIES DRIVE STRATEGIC CAPABILITIES DEVELOPMENTEnable consistent learningexperiences and initiativesacross the globeCreate a structured forum forbusiness leaders’ involvementin shaping learning initiativesCEMEXACADEMIESReliably drive day-to-day business resultsthrough consistentglobal practicesacross CEMEXApply a clear and provenapproach to develop anddeliver learning programsOrganize learning effortsaround a topic (e.g.,commercial excellence)These institutional Academies are the vehicle through whichwe develop our company’s strategic capabilities and aredesigned to work together to drive CEMEX priorities and helpshape our “One CEMEX” culture.During 2016, the Academies delivered 70 training sessions inall 5 CEMEX regions reaching 2,500 employees and 9 Train-The-Trainer sessions developing 140 internal instructors,key to maintaining our sustainable “Leaders-As-Teachers”model.28



 OUR STRATEGY3.2 | Help our customers succeedSDG 4Our core strategic goal is to become themost customer-oriented company in ourindustry—serving as our clients’ best optionin every market while delivering a superiorcustomer experience. To achieve this goal,we shifted our center of gravity toward thecustomer, created the Customer CentricityGlobal Network, and kick-started a journeyof digital transformation.WE HAVE CREATED NEW ROLES FOCUSEDON ENSURING A SUPERIOR CUSTOMEREXPERIENCE.FOSTERING A CUSTOMER-CENTRIC ORGANIZATIONWe are embarking on a bold path of transformation to enableus to meet our customers’ rapidly changing expectations. Weare putting our clients at the center of everything we do—withthe goal of consistently delivering a superior customer experience, everywhere, every time.As we work toward this goal, we are focusing on five keyareas:Align our organization to achieve a superior customerexperienceUpdate and simplify key internal processes and policiesDevelop and implement digital solutionsMeasure customer satisfaction systematicallyContinuously innovate and add value for our customers.Align our organizationTo create a superior customer experience, we are strengthening our capabilities and leadership style, involving ourclients in our decision-making, and implementing new waysto work and collaborate that focus on problem solving andinnovation. We are also reinforcing our training and aligningour performance measurement to deliver on our customers’expectations.Segmentation and value propositionTo continually satisfy and better understand our customers, weconduct a thorough analysis of our clients in our key marketsand classify them in segments and sub-segments. We identify their most relevant product and service attributes. We alsoidentify segments and opportunities where we could betterserve our customers, while improving our profitability. We thencustomize our value propositions based on segment characteristics and needs, so they are tailored to the unique requirements of each individual customer.SuperiorCustomerExperienceEVERYWHERE, EVERY TIMEOur customer focus already shapes our organization. Ourcommercial efforts are organized by customer segmentsin most of our markets—where a single point of contact isresponsible for the delivery of every product, service, andsolution that CEMEX has to offer. Additionally, we creatednew roles focused on ensuring a superior customer experience. Moreover, to make sure our commercial decisions areexecuted properly, we designed a robust, disciplined salesmanagement process, which establishes clear roles, profiles,attitudes, and performance indicators.Commercial AcademyThrough our Commercial Academy—an internal university focused on commercial excellence—we offer a unique approachthat prepares our people to make the key choices required tocreate the best customer experience.Our Commercial Academy’s decision-making framework focuses on:Where to play – Who are the right customers?How to win – What is important to them?What to do – How to sell and deliver our products andservices?How to empower – How to enable the organization to betterserve our customers?Customer Centricity FoundationsTo further enhance our customer-centric organizational culture, we launched the Customer Centricity Foundations trackwith three main objectives:Foster a customer-centric organization by engraining customers’ needs into the core work philosophy throughoutCEMEXMake doing business with CEMEX an effective, easy, andenjoyable experience for all of our customers, while striving to exceed their needs every day29



 OUR STRATEGY3.2 | Help our customers to succeedWE HAVE TRAINED APPROXIMATELY 5,600CEMEX PROFESSIONALS THROUGH THEACADEMY, INCLUDING OVER 1,400 IN 2016.OUR COMMERCIAL ACADEMY’S DECISION-MAKING FRAMEWORK FOCUSES ON:The commercial andbusiness objectivesto set the directionfor our choicesThe delivery of theseproducts, services, andsolutions to the marketWHAT ARE OUROBJECTIVESWHERE TO PLAYWHAT TO DOHOW TOWINThe sets of customersand channels to focuson to achieve ourobjectivesThe products, services,and solutions to providefor each customer andchannel setSet the management system to enable a CEMEXcustomer-centric evolution that incorporates ongoingmonitoring, measurement, and improvement to achievea superior customer experience.Change our processes and policiesWe are changing some of our internal processes and policiesto simplify and streamline how we work for the benefit ofour customers. To solve our clients’ challenges, our targetedchanges include:New customer registrationCredit approvalsOrder placingDelivery logisticsInvoicing and paymentsComplaints management.Develop digital solutionsWe are undertaking a sweeping digital transformation designed to substantially improve our customer experience,while enhancing our operations and increasing our businessefficiencies. Our digital solutions, including mobile apps, willimprove our interaction and enable real-time engagementwith our customers across a range of online transactions—including registering and requesting credit, placing orders,receiving products and services, invoicing, and complaintresolution.Beyond leveraging our own development experience, we areworking with best-in-class process and technology expertsfrom Apple, IBM, and Neoris. For example, beginning in early 2017, we will team with IBM iX (Interactive Experience) tolaunch a suite of customized apps to create the best mobile-led customer experience in the building materials industry. Following a “speed-to-market” approach, we will pilotSUPERIOR CUSTOMER EXPERIENCEFriendly Processes & TechnologyWHAT ARE OUROBJECTIVESWHERE TO PLAYWHAT TO DOHOW TO WINCustomer-CentricPeople & LeadershipCustomer ExperienceKPI Monitoring SchemeCUSTOMER-CENTRICCEMEX CULTURESUSTAINABLE &PROFITABLE GROWTHlaunch, user test, and adjust solutions to meet our clients’needs before scaling the apps for worldwide deployment.Our digital transformation will fundamentally change not onlyhow our entire company does business, but also how foremen, field operations managers, cement masons, concretefinishers, and other construction professionals do their jobsand interact with CEMEX.Systematically measure our customer satisfactionTo ensure our success, we must track our progress systematically. With this in mind, we will use a metric called Net Promoter Score® (NPS). Beyond measuring customer satisfaction,NPS will help us to identify how willing our customers are torecommend us—a major indicator of customer loyalty.After analyzing the most relevant drivers of our customers’satisfaction, we are establishing a rigorous system of keyperformance indicators (KPIs) to measure our performance,including both NPS and KPIs:30



 OUR STRATEGY3.2 | Help our customers to succeedWE HELP OUR CUSTOMERS SUCCEED BY DELIVERING QUALITYPRODUCTS, INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS, AND SUPERIOR CUSTOMERSERVICE IN ALL MAJOR CONSTRUCTION SEGMENTS.Overall Customer Satisfaction – Using NPS to measurecustomer experience and loyalty toward CEMEX as promoters or detractorsCustomer Experience Drivers – Understanding the rationale underlying customer perceptions (e.g., punctuality,product quality and availability, and invoice accuracy)Customer Impact – Measuring the consequences of ourefforts on customers (e.g., churn or complaints ratio)Segment Profitability – Visualizing traditional indicatorsin a segmented way, such as price, volume, market share,and profitabilityCustomer Retention – Regularly monitoring customeracquisition and retention rate over time.Continuously innovate, add valueAs we move forward, we will always look for ways to add valuefor our customers. To this end, we will listen carefully to eachof our customers to truly understand their underlying needsand identify ways we can help them to succeed. We will leverage our research and development centers—one of our corestrengths—to develop value-added products and solutions.We will also proactively recommend alternative solutionsand share best practices across our company to enhance ourcompetitive advantage, lower our costs, and create a stronger,more profitable company.During 2016, we achieved many of our customer-centric goals:DIGITAL COMMERCIAL MODELCUSTOMER CENTRICITYFOUNDATIONSCUSTOMERSEGMENTATIONSALES FORCEMANAGEMENTVALUE BEFORE VOLUMELaunched CEMEX Digital Commercial Model (DCM), identifying customer pain points while integrating a 360-degree expertise approach to solution design, development, and deploymentDefined Customer Centricity framework, incorporating Customer Journey Experience and DCMEstablished Customer Centricity Management SystemIdentified main attributes that should characterize CEMEX’s Superior Customer ExperienceEstablished Customer Experience (CEx) Monitoring SchemeDesigned Customer Journey Experience ProgramGlobal deployment for Europe, South/Central America and the Caribbean (SCA&C), U.S., andAsia, Middle East and Africa (AMEA) regionsAlignment workshop, segmentation map, customer allocation, system enablement, valuepropositions fine tuning, and business case for each country/regionInstitutional Sales Management processes based on standard commercial practicesImplementation of Weekly Tactical Sales Plan (Agenda) and Sales Prospects & OpportunitiesFollow-Up in SCA&C, U.S. (80%), Philippines, and MexicoPlaybook implementation of Value before Volume elements and best practice sharingamong operationsReady-mix plant, FranceAmber Highway, Poland31



 OUR STRATEGY3.2 | Help our customers to succeedSDG 9, 12WE LEVERAGE OUR LEADING-EDGE INNOVATION AND AGILITYTO DEVELOP SUPERIOR BUILDING PRODUCTS AND SOLUTIONS.PROVIDING SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTS, SOLUTIONS,AND SERVICESCEMEX Research & Development’s (R&D) approach is evolvingand dynamic, continuously aligned with global market trendsand needs, as well as with the company’s strategic prioritiesand global networks. Consequently, there has been an important impetus toward Customer Centricity. The synergy ofthese driving forces and our participation in collaborative research projects maintains our essence as a forward-thinkingorganization. Some of the collaborative projects on which weare working—funded by the EU—address areas such as carboncapture, alternative raw materials, high temperature solarindustrial processes, and energy efficiency, among others.Our product development team is composed of experts andresearchers with backgrounds that range from engineers andcommercial strategists, who have worked and excelled in ouroperations, to sociologists and marketers, who continuouslystudy and explore new ways of reaching our stakeholders.The knowledge base created by such a diverse team allowsfor a richer and more comprehensive understanding of ourcustomers.Beyond providing information about our products and services, we have implemented novel methods to engage ourcustomers in order for them to experience our way of workingand performing research. Through invitations to our facilities,workshops on specialized topics, and conferences designedfor unique audiences, we actively create bonds with our current and future clients with the objective of understandingtheir needs and identify opportunities for collaboration.We continue to develop new concrete technologies and value-added aggregates, improve construction systems, and providenovel building and paving solutions. However, in addition tolaunching new products, we are interested in following theadoption of solutions that we presented in previous years.For us, sustainability is being conscious not only of the wayour solutions affect the environment, but also of their impacton society’s day-to-day life. Indeed, this constant underlying motif led to the International Finance Corporation’s (IFC)decision to grant funding for CEMEX R&D projects that are focused on sustainability—providing “climate-smart” solutionsacross emerging markets.Superior performing building productsWe leverage our leading-edge innovation and agility to develop superior building products and solutions that perform atthe highest standards across all applications.Led by CEMEX Global R&D in Switzerland in collaboration withour Cement and Ready-Mix Technology Center in Mexico, ourteam of experts works to anticipate and understand society’strends in order to create innovative, sustainable construction solutions that satisfy our customers’ current and futureneeds, while truly challenging the current state of the art.CEMEX GLOBAL VALUE-ADDED READY-MIX PRODUCTSPromptisRapid hardening concrete that allowsfor at least 90 minutes workability.HidratiumSelf-curing concrete that tolerates extreme conditions (e.g., wind, heat, directsunlight) through sealing, water-retention, and low-shrinkage mechanisms.InsularisA 100% concrete solution for thermalinsulation, acoustic insulation, andfire resistance that eliminates thermalbridges.PerviaStructural pervious concrete (>4 MPaTensile strength) that can managewater permeation to offer drainagesolutions for pavements, even in hightraffic areas.ResiliaFiber-reinforced concrete with hyperstrength and ductility that can replacesteel reinforcements in concrete.evolutionA highly flowable concrete that can spread into place under its own weight to achieve excellent consolidation without vibration or exhibiting defects due to segregation and blocking.32



 SDG 83.2 | Help our customers to succeedOUR CORE STRATEGIC GOAL IS TO BECOME THE MOST CUSTOMER-ORIENTED COMPANY IN OUR INDUSTRY—SERVING AS OUR CLIENTS’ BEST OPTION IN ALL OF OURMARKETS.OUR STRATEGYAs part of this R&D by design process, they work closely with our customers to offer them unique, integrated, cost-effective solutions that fulfill their specific performance requirements, including a growingportfolio of value-added concretes.Customer interactionsOur core strategic goal is to become the most customer-oriented company in our industry—serving as our clients’ best option in all of our markets.The following are some of the key ways in which we interact with our customers to ensure they are part of our journey of discovery.Research Center facilitiesIn 2016, CEMEX Global R&D received numerous stakeholders in its facilities. Architects, engineers, builders, and designers experienced the concrete possibilities of our building solutions, which enriched theirperception of our materials for their future designs.In addition, workshops were hosted for students from various disciplines and universities, who wished to further understand and explore our concrete solutions.OperationsTogether, Global R&D and Operations have defined “Expert Workshops” in which the customers become the protagonists. The first ones were held in Madrid and Bogota, immersing customers in a hands-onlearning environment, where they were able to test the capabilities of our products in entertaining, yet eye-opening experiments. With the acquired knowledge, they were then able to become spokespeople of ourproducts for their colleagues.A similar workshop was created for architectural students from the European Architecture Student Association (EASA), who gathered in Madrid. Through their senses, they were able to experience the power ofconcrete. This creative workshop explored the compelling characteristics of concrete technologies through sound, texture, and a range of properties that provided the audience with a clear picture of what the futurecould look like with these innovative solutions.In Cebu, Philippines, we participated in the “Experts Forum” and addressed the topic “Fast Forward,” in which we gave customers a glimpse of the key role that concrete will play in the world’s continuousmodernization—pointing out that the possibilities of advanced concrete technology are available today. Our goal was to open the eyes of our customers to how CEMEX can lead the way to innovation in theconstruction world, while navigating a maze-like environment.In Cartagena, Colombia, we attended Latin America’s largest construction fair, “the Concrete Reunion,” showcasing CEMEX’s innovative solutions such as our unique Rhizolith Island.Training our spokespeopleOur Global R&D team works closely with the technical and commercial teams across our operations in workshops that provide them with the most updated developments on our value-added products andsolutions. Their knowledge on our offering allows us to continuously improve our customer’s experience throughout their construction projects.33



 SDG 113.2 | Help our customers to succeedOUR STRATEGYGreen Building SolutionsAt CEMEX, we believe in leading by example. With this in mind, we established a new Green Building Management and Certification Policy to mitigate potential environmental impacts associated with thedesign, construction, and operation of our buildings. The policy guides that the planning, design, construction, management, renovation, and demolition activities of all company-owned and leased facilities arecarried out in a sustainable way:Considering triple bottom-line social, economic, and environmental impacts Enhancing CEMEX’s reputation as a socially and environmentally responsible company Addressing the health and safety of thepeople who occupy CEMEX buildings.The policy also mandates that new facilities achieve a green building certification, such as LEED or BREEAM.We also work collaboratively across the construction value chain to optimize results and maximize profits, partnering with national and international experts to complement our skills and provide a complete arrayof specialized services in sustainable construction. During the year, we provided products and solutions to more than 1,200 projects which attained a green building certification, representing almost 10 millionm2 of construction space.DURING THE YEAR, WE PROVIDED PRODUCTS AND SOLUTIONS TO MORE THAN 1,200 PROJECTS WHICH ATTAINED A GREENBUILDING CERTIFICATION.OUR GREEN BUILDING SERVICES INCLUDE:Green building certifications (LEED, BREEAM, etc.)Energy-efficient engineeringecoperating™ building certification and product sealBioclimatic architectureSustainable materials and solutions developmentUrban development consultancyArboleda Complex. MexicoGREEN BUILDING CERTIFICATION SERVICE – CURRENT PROJECTS PORTFOLIOPROJECTSofia Residential TowerTorre CosmopolitanCasa 200–Sorteo TEC Casa 201–Sorteo TECCasa 202–Sorteo TEC ICA Reserva EscondidaSEMARNAT 223Esfera City CenterCasa 203–Sorteo TECLOCATIONMonterrey, MexicoTijuana, MexicoMonterrey, MexicoMonterrey, MexicoMonterrey, MexicoMexico City, MexicoMexico City, MexicoMonterrey, MexicoMonterrey, MexicoTYPEMixed useOfficesResidentialResidentialResidentialResidentialOfficesCommercialResidentialCONSTRUCTION AREA98,600 m213,950 m2500 m2500 m2739 m222,584 m232,000 m2276,925 m2666 m2CERTIFICATION TARGETLEED GoldLEED Platinumecoperating™ecoperating™ecoperating™LEED CertifiedLEED CertifiedLEED Platinumecoperating PLUS™COMPLETION YEAR20152015201620162017OngoingOngoingOngoingOngoing34



 SDG 7, 93.2 | Help our customers to succeedOUR STRATEGYFIRST NET ZERO ENERGY BUILDING REGISTERED IN LATIN AMERICAThe first building to obtain Net Zero Energy Building (NZEB) Certification in Mexico and Latin America was registered by the Net Zero Energy Buildings Consortium, created in 2016 under the tutelage of thePrivate Sector’s Commission for Studies on Sustainable Development (CESPEDES). The Consortium is comprised of companies and organizations that are specialists in providing innovative and high-performance solutions, including Bioconstrucción y Energía Alternativa, Carrier, CEMEX, Centro Mario Molina, Citibanamex, Cuprum, Galt, GE, JCI, McKinsey, Owens Corning, PGI Group, Pich-AguileraArquitectos, and WRI Mexico.NZEB Certification is based on the Living Building Challenge’s rigorous performance standard for sustainable buildings. The Living Building Challenge Standard is part of the renowned International LivingFuture Institute, an organization that promotes the regenerative transition to social and ecologically sustainable cities and communities. To merit NZEB Certification, building projects must demonstrate zeroenergy balance during their first year of operations. This means that they must achieve significant energy savings, and all of the energy used in the building must be comprised entirely of renewable energygenerated on or near the site of the building.NET ZEROENERGY BUILDINGCERTIFICATIONsmRecognizing innovative ideas that build lifeThe CEMEX Building Award is a long-standing initiative created and organized by CEMEX for the purpose of distinguishing the best architecture and construction around the world. Each year, CEMEX honorsthe best construction projects and the architects, engineers, builders, and investors who make them possible.The first place winners for the 2016 International Edition were:Residential Housing:LuminaSan Francisco, USAInfrastructure:Restitution of Embankment inTijuana-Ensenada Highway atKM 93 Ensenada, MexicoAffordable Housing:Altos de la SabanaGuatemala City, GuatemalaSPECIAL PRIZEUniversal Accessibility:CKK Jordanki Toruñ, PolandThe CEMEX Building Award recognizes the best projects in Mexico and the rest of the world in five categories and with four special prizes. In 2016, we celebrated the 25th anniversary of the CEMEX BuildingAward. A total of 480 projects competed in the national awards, while 62 projects from 20 different countries competed in the international awards.Building:Amanera by Aman ResortsRio San Juan, Dominican Rep.SPECIAL PRIZESustainable Building:Oak House SchoolBarcelona, SpainCollective Space andSPECIAL PRIZEConstruction Innovation:MIBCholula, MexicoSPECIAL PRIZESocial Value:Guild House SlavoniceSlavonice, Czech RepublicVisit www. cemex.com for a full list of projects honored during the XXV Building Awards.35



 SDG 9, 11, 143.2 | Help our customers to succeedTHROUGH REVOLUTIONARY ADVANCES IN CONCRETE TECHNOLOGY, CEMEX IS POSITIONING ITSELF AT THE FOREFRONT OF THE INDUSTRY.OUR STRATEGYInnovative, sustainable, and resilient infrastructureAround the globe, the need for resilient infrastructure to support growing urban populations is critical, especially as climate change creates more extreme weather. As such, CEMEX supports the development ofdurable infrastructure with quality products, construction practices, and maintenance that have minimal environmental impact.Through revolutionary advances in concrete technology, CEMEX is positioning itself at the forefront of the industry, designing and developing unique, integrated, value-added construction solutions that defy thestatus quo and meet its clients’ evolving needs now and into the future.The following are a series of successful projects worldwide that demonstrate the distinctive appeal of our diverse concrete technologies.Rhizolith Island: Revitalizing mangrove shorelinesMangroves are vital for stabilizing shorelines, but their recent depletion presents impending doom for coastal habitats. The Rhizolith Island, an ingenious solution designed in collaboration with APTUMArchitecture and Syracuse University, uses our specialty concretes to revitalize mangrove forests whileIt consists of a mosaicof floating concretestructures with a “head”and a “fin” that functionas a seed carrier formangroves.For further details on thisproject, please view this video.simultaneously preventing flooding in urban areas. It consists of a mosaic of floating concrete structures with a “head” and a “fin” that function as a seed carrier for mangroves. The head was crafted with ourspecial lightweight concrete—lighter than water, so it would float despite the holes that puncture the structure’s design. The fin, which was designed to function as a marine habitat offering shelter for fish andsurfaces for barnacles, was cast in our high-strength, ductile concrete.The Rhizolith Island project was tested in Cartagena, Colombia, where a prototype was built and exhibited during Concrete Conference 2016. The data acquired is offering input for the construction of prototypesthat will be tested further as research continues at two additional locations in Colombia.CEMEX provides Pervious concrete solution for M65 MotorwayIn the UK, we utilized our Permaflow permeable concrete product as an alternative solution for a tricky drainage challenge along the central reservation channel of the busy M65 Motorway. This is the first case inwhich this solution was recommended and applied successfully on a highway prone to frequent flooding. In addition to offering a more economical alternative to a conventional “V” channel drainage system,PermaflowPermeable by designour permeable concrete allowed for the sub-base to absorb water (minimum infiltration rate of 30 liters/min/m2), while maintaining the structural strength to withstand cars’ weight. For this project, we provided1,000 m3 of Permaflow, and opened the way for the application of this solution on future motorway renovations.CEMEX’s Insularis® enables new state-of-the-art structure for eco-friendly schoolOur Insularis® concrete technology offered the Oak House School Foundation in Barcelona, Spain, a construction solution addressing their desired aesthetic, thermal insulation, and energy efficiencyrequirements. CEMEX Global R&D met the challenge, formulating and tailoring their advanced Insularis® concrete technology to fulfill the project’s specific needs. Utilizing advanced mix design principles andproprietary admixtures, our solution resulted in a lightweight structural, self-consolidating white concrete, with thermal insulation 4.4 times better than current state-of-the-art concrete.Due to its unique sustainable construction and design, the building is positioned as the first school in Spain to potentially receive Green Certification from the Green Building Council—anOak House School . Barcelona, Spain36



 SDG 123.2 | Help our customers to succeedOUR STRATEGYTop: We supplied specially formulated concrete for the extensions of line 4 and 15 of the Paris underground.Bottom: We provided self-compacting architectural concrete for the four underground stations of the Leipzig City Tunnel. Right: We designed and delivered 100% of the ready-mix concrete for the tallestbuilding ever constructed in Colombia.CEMEX SUPPORTS THE DEVELOPMENT OF DURABLE INFRASTRUCTURE WITH QUALITY PRODUCTS, CONSTRUCTION PRACTICES, ANDMAINTENANCE THAT HAVE MINIMAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT.entity that recognizes environmentally sustainable construction to improve users’ quality of life.CEMEX’s Building Solutions contribute to largest infrastructure project underway in FranceWe are delivering a wide range of building materials, together with our technical and logistical expertise, for several stages of the monumental Grand Paris development project. Designed to improve the qualityof life of Paris’s inhabitants while reshaping the iconic city in a sustainable way, the project will include 205 km of new automatic underground metro lines, 68 new stations, and other urban infrastructureimprovements by its expected completion in 2030. Thus far, one of our main contributions to this massive project is for the foundations and civil engineering of a significant section of the Grand Paris Express.Specifically, we supplied over 55,000 m3 of specially formulated concrete to build the cast walls and technical and slab floors for the extension of lines 4 and 15 of the Paris underground—which is expected toserve 60,000 passengers daily by 2020.Leipzig Germany’s 21st century landmarksOur dedication to all aspects of urban development is illustrated by three buildings with widely different functions—all of which characterize the city of Leipzig in their own unique way.• For the Leipzig City Tunnel, we not only provided the high level of technical and logistical expertise required for an engineering project of this scale, but also 350,000 m3 of concrete—from underwaterconcrete for the tunnel floors to self-compacting architectural concrete for the four underground stations—over the course of this five-year project.• We also supplied 85,000 m3 of ready-mix concrete for the large-scale Höfe am Brühl shopping center in the heart of Leipzig. CEMEX solutions included construction concrete for the floor slab and ceiling, aswell as high-strength concretefor the supports.• The bold design of the central building of the flagship BMW™ automobile plant demonstrates how our exposed concrete can offer a beautiful stylistic element in a contemporary architectural complex.CEMEX participates in Colombia’s tallest building and longest bridgeWe are participating in the construction of the Atrio project, a 250,000-m2 multipurpose complex located in Bogota, which will house the tallest building in Colombia. In 2016, we supplied the necessaryconcrete, team, and equipment for casting the first tower’s foundation plate. This process, performed 22 m below street level, consisted of the construction of a single 2,400-m2 and 3-m tall slab. We contributedto this process by delivering over 7,380 m3 of ready-mix concrete, pumped uninterruptedly for 38 hours. This is the first time that a project of this magnitude was performed for a building in Colombia. Itinvolved the participation of over 300 people, around 1,000 ready-mix concrete truck trips in less than 48 hours, and the simultaneous, continuous operation of six ready-mix concrete plants.Additionally, we designed and delivered 100% of the ready-mix concrete for one of the most important infrastructure projects in Colombia—the longest bridge ever constructed in the37



 SDG 113.2 | Help our customers to succeedOUR STRATEGYEl Quimbo Hydroelectric project, Colombiacountry. The El Quimbo Hydroelectric project encompasses approximately 37,000 m3 of tailor-made ready-mix concrete and prefabricated concrete beams. This project’s four alternative routes, collectively 13 kmlong, were comprised of nine bridges traversing mountainous land terrain and the Magdalena River. Given that a unique solution was required, CEMEX developed a specialty high-strength ready-mix concretethat could sustain heavy loads and the effects of the river.CEMEX creates fire and explosion proof concreteWe designed this fire- and explosion-resistant concrete solution specifically to safeguard the Data Processing Center, Proyecto Q, of the Santander Group. Located in Quere-taro, Mexico, this is Santander Group’smost technologically intensive and energy-efficient data processing center in the world. For this project, we supplied 3,000 m3 of a high-strength structural concrete with special raw materials that increase its fireresistance. Additionally, its durable and curable auto-compacting specifications facilitate the project’s ecological and economic viability.For further details on this customized concrete solution, please view this video.DELIVERING SOLUTIONS FOR AFFORDABLE HOUSING AND EFFICIENT BUILDINGSCity planners are constantly challenged to provide ways to efficiently and affordably house rapidly growing urban populations. CEMEX supports the social and economic development of communities around theglobe. Providing expertise in building efficient homes with tailor-made and adaptable systems, we are delivering housing for all socioeconomic markets.OUR INTEGRATED HOUSING SOLUTIONSWe integrate design, products, and wall systems into housing solutions that are flexible and replicable:Industrialized Housing: Fast, efficient, and large-scale housing constructionDisaster Relief Housing: The best response for reconstruction after natural disastersEnergy-Efficient Housing: Most competitive solution for high-performance buildingsAffordable Housing: The lowest possible cost without giving up qualityVertical Housing: Fast and efficient construction for high-rise and mid-rise residential.CEMEX SUPPORTS THE SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OFCOMMUNITIES BY PROVIDING EXPERTISE IN BUILDING EFFICIENT HOMES.Real Residencial. Estado de Mexico, MexicoOUR WALL SYSTEMSOur energy-efficient wall solutions provide multiple benefits that improve the sustainability, speed, and economics of housing construction:Cast-in-place form works: The best for mass production and speedWired EPS (Expanded Polystyrene System) panels:High flexibility to accommodate designICF (Insulated Concrete Form): Perfect for high performance energy efficiencyPrecast systems: Most rational and efficient manufacturing process.38



 SDG 11, 173.2 | Help our customers to succeedOUR EXPERTISE IN BUILDING EFFICIENT HOMES CONTRIBUTED TO THE CONSTRUCTION OF MORE THAN 4,100 AFFORDABLE HOMES AND ENERGY-EFFICIENT BUILDINGS.OUR STRATEGYOUR HOUSING SOLUTIONS ATTRIBUTESFlexible designEasily adapted to construction and design requirementsResilientResilient to natural disasterThermal insulationHigh thermal mass and insulationMinimum wasteLess waste at construction siteFast buildingSignificant construction time reductionProviding affordable and efficient housing systemsOur expertise in building efficient homes with tailor-made, adaptable systems contributed to the construction of more than 4,100 affordable homes and/or energy-efficient buildings, representing approximately75,000 m2 of livable space.Our wall systems and integrated housing solutions offer multiple advantages that improve the sustainability, speed, efficiency, and economics of housing construction.Delivering cast-in-place solution for residential towers in Costa RicaFor the Los Volcanes residential towers in San Pablo, Costa Rica, our client sought a superior “monolithic” structural solution instead of traditional masonry buildings. Applying value-added engineering toreduce costs and utilize available resources more efficiently, we employed our cast-in-place housing solution: a system that uses formwork molds for the construction of walls and slabs to enable fast, efficient,andlarge-scale project completion.Los Volcanes Residential Tower. San Pablo, Costa RicaThanks to this solution, we met all of our customer’s primary needs: time, cost, and quality. We reduced construction time, resulting in an earlier delivery date and thus reducing the time to recover theirinvestment. We also achieved additional cost savings on finishes and rework, as well as on labor. Our cast-in-place system further enabled higher quality by allowing superior input control, better processsupervision, and geometric standardization. Additionally, this type of housing is resistant to natural disasters and creates less waste than masonry buildings.Expanding opportunities for underprivileged Colombian familiesWe joined forces with Compensar, a private, nonprofit compensation fund in Colombia, to launch the “Renew Your Home” program. Through this program, qualifying families who lack access to bank loansreceive a credit to purchase quality building materials, as well as comprehensive advice from experts, for the construction of safe homes that support their health and well-being.Palmar. Madrid, ColombiaAdditionally, we continued our participation in the Colombian Government’s “Social Interest Housing for Savers” (VIPA) program. VIPA allows families to purchase their own home without spending morethan 30% of their income on credit fees, thereby enabling households whose members do not earn more than minimum wage to realize their dreams of home ownership.We estimate that 5.3 million families in the country are unable to access VIPA, so it is critical that we work with developers to ensure those who need access will get it. Homes developed with our solutionsprovide sustainability benefits, including quality products and higher roofs that offer greater comfort and better thermal insulation.39



 3.3 | Pursue markets that offer long-term profitabilityOUR STRATEGYCEMEX does business in markets where we can add value for our employees, our customers, and our shareholders. We will focus on those markets that offer long-term profitability.Company building for the Drini Hydroelectric Dam.Višegrad, Bosnia & HerzegovinaWE WILL CONTINUE TO OPTIMIZE OUR PORTFOLIO SO THATWE ARE IN THE BUSINESSES AND MARKETS WHERE WE CANGENERATE THE GREATEST RETURNS.Our geographically diverse portfolio of assets provides us with the opportunity for significant value creation through profitable organic growth over the medium to long term.Consequently, we are selective and strategic about where we do business. We will not chase growth simply for the sake of growth. We also will continue to optimize our portfolio so that we are in the businessesand markets where we can generate significant returns.Leveraging our global presence and extensive operations worldwide, we will continue to focus on what we do best: our core cement, aggregates, ready-mix concrete, and related businesses. By managing our coreoperations as one vertically integrated business, we not only capture a greater portion of the cement value chain, but also get closer to our customers by offering comprehensive building solutions.Historically, this strategic focus has enabled us to grow our existing businesses, particularly in high-growth markets and with specialized, higher margin products. We will venture beyond our core strengths whenit is essential to better market our products and serve our customers.BUSINESS PORTFOLIOWe are focused on three core businesses within the heavy building materials industry—cement, ready-mix concrete, and aggregates—which have enabled us to develop deep expertise, knowledge, and practices.We also participate selectively in complementary businesses that enable us to become closer to our customers, grow our core business, develop a competitive advantage, and improve our performance.Execute globally and replicate best practices through ourGlobal NetworksFocused and specialized on what we do best. Allows us to develop a profound expertise in manufacturing and marketing our products. This expertise is fundamental to enable CEMEX to deliver value for bothcurrent and new markets.Attractive organic growth – Our three core businesses are intimately related to economic and infrastructure development, which provides an attractive opportunity to achieve organic growth in many markets.Vertical integration – Cement and aggregates are key materials used to produce ready-mix concrete.CORE BUSINESSESCEMENTAGGREGATESREADY-MIX CONCRETECOMPLEMENTARY BUSINESSESCEMEX participates selectively in complementary businesses, such as the development of alternative and renewable sources of energy, concrete pavement solutions, housing, prefabricated concrete products,admixtures, and more.Allows us to be closer to our customers and offer comprehensive solutions, which enables us to better understand market gaps and opportunities.Helps us grow our core markets. Many of the building solutions we offer within markets, such as concrete pavements or commercial products, allow us to increase demand and use of our core products.40



 3.3 | Pursue markets that offer long-term profitabilityWE ARE FOCUSED ON THREE CORE BUSINESSES WITHIN THE HEAVY BUILDING MATERIALS INDUSTRY—CEMENT, READY-MIX CONCRETE, AND AGGREGATES.OUR STRATEGYDevelops a competitive advantage and increases our ability to differentiate our products and solutions.Improves performance. Certain business segments result from a need to reduce costs or increase our efficiency.For example, we have invested significantly in the use of alternative fuels and renewable power sources.GEOGRAPHIC STRUCTUREOur business portfolio is particularly focused on geographies that combine strong fundamentals, ranging from economic growth potential to cement per-capita consumption, population growth, degree ofurbanization development, and political stability. Key performance metrics include:GROWTH POTENTIALHISTORICALPER-CAPITA CEMENT CONSUMPTIONPOPULATION GROWTHDEGREE OF URBAN DEVELOPMENTBased on five-year growth horizonAn important measure of the potential for growth in construction and cement demand going forwardIndicates need for housing, infrastructure, and economic growthPotential for increased population living in urban centers and, therefore, need for housing, commercial, and infrastructure development.AVERAGE GDP GROWTH 2012-2016(percentage growth in selected markets)SpainUKFranceLatviaGermanyCroatiaCzech Rep.PolandEgypt1IsraelUAEPhilippinesMalaysiaUSADominican RepublicPuerto Rico1ColombiaMexicoGuatemalaEl SalvadorNicaraguaCosta RicaPanamaPeruHigh growthGrowthNegative growth1 Data corresponds to 2011-2015 periodSource: CEMEX Economic StudiesCEMEX ACQUIRES MAJORITY STAKE IN TCLIn January 2017, CEMEX announced the successful acquisition of a majority stake in Trinidad Cement Limited (TCL), a company with operations in Trinidad and Tobago, Jamaica, and Barbados. Bycapitalizing on these markets strong fundamentals for growth, this acquisition represents a great opportunity for CEMEX to add value across TCL. A key source of value is the application of CEMEX’s world-class management practices—from improving TCL’s operational and commercial practices to developing its cement, ready-mix concrete, and aggregates businesses. This transaction also offers a great opportunityto build TCL’s trading capabilities through better synchronization with CEMEX’s regional trading network. As part of CEMEX Global Networks, TCL will further benefit from the application of identifiedsynergies and best practices. Finally, the acquisition represents an opportunity for TCL to deliver a superior experience for its customers, provide its employees with a platform for growth, and build stronger,more resilient communities.41



 3.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessOUR STRATEGYWith the global population rising and urban infrastructure expanding, building sustainable cities is as much a challenge as it is a priority. As a global company, we have the power to make a real impact throughour innovative services and solutions.Boulevard by the Odra River. Wroclaw, PolandOUR SUSTAINABILITY APPROACHFor CEMEX, sustainability starts with our Board of Directors and is then rolled out across our entire organization. Our Sustainability Committee is comprised of three board members reporting directly to theBoard of Directors, along with the Audit and the Corporate Practices & Finance Committees. It is supported by our Corporate Sustainability function, which reports to a member of our Executive Committee. Toensure sustainability is embedded into our entire business strategy, we have coordinators representing each geographical region where CEMEX operates. In parallel, our Global Sustainability Functional Networkworks to implement our core sustainability initiatives across all of our countries and business lines.SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE1BOARD OF DIRECTORSAUDIT COMMITTEECORPORATE PRACTICES ANDFINANCE COMMITTEESUSTAINABILITYCOMMITTEEArmando J. García SegoviaFrancisco J. Fernández CarbajalIan C. Armstrong ZambranoCEO AND EXECUTIVECOMMITTEEREGIONALSUSTAINABILITYCOORDINATORCORPORATESUSTAINABILITYCOUNTRYSUSTAINABILITY TEAMSGLOBAL SUSTAINABILITY FUNCTIONAL NETWORK• Planning• Controllership• Enterprise Risk Management• Legal• Product Development• Health and Safety• Technology and Operations• Environmental• Procurement• Commercial• Human Resources• Energy• Public Affairs• Social Responsibility• Communications• Finance1 As of December 31, 2016.CEMEX’s Board-level Sustainability Committee meets quarterly to assess and guide our company’s sustainability efforts. It is responsible for:Verifying that sustainable development is embedded in CEMEX’s short- and long-term strategyAssisting the Board in its responsibilities to shareholders relating to the policies and practices that pertain to our company’s sustainable growthEndorsing CEMEX’s Sustainability Model, priorities, and core KPIsAssessing the effectiveness of our sustainability initiatives and their implementation progressProviding guidance to our CEO and Executive Committee on key strategic sustainability decisions.Some discussion topics from the Sustainability Committee’s meetings during the year include:Sustainability KPI targets and progress by regionUpdates on H&S managementSuppliers Sustainability ProgramSustainability risks agendaCEMEX’s high-impact social strategy.42



 G4-18, G4-19, G4-20, G4-21, G4-233.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessMORE THAN 1,550 SURVEY RESPONSESSHAPED CEMEX’S NEW MATERIALITY MATRIX.OUR STRATEGYCEMEX sustainability material issuesOur Sustainability Materiality Matrix enables us to: Identify the issues most important to CEMEX and our stakeholders; define risks, opportunities, and KPIs; and report and set targets. Fostering an inclusivedialogue with our worldwide stakeholders—employees, customers, suppliers, investors, universities, government and community leaders—ensures top priorities are consistent. Basing our SustainabilityMateriality Matrix on stakeholder analysis helps us align our time, resources, and investment accordingly.In 2016, we updated our Materiality Matrix. The following stages summarize this process:1. Identification of most relevant aspects for materiality surveyIn order to carry out a materiality survey, it is necessary to make a list of material aspects that will be prioritized according to respondents’ choices. In our case, this list was made specifically for the industry andregions in which CEMEX participates. Accordingly, our first step was the identification of a robust list of material topics, considering gaps already identified from previous materiality analysis, benchmarksectorial issues, ESG and financial analysts’ concerns and interests, global megatrends, as well as societal challenges where CEMEX can contribute the most.After identifying this exhaustive list of potential material issues, we arrived at a list of 23 aspects that reflected the most important impacts we could face as a company, as well as the issues that would mostinfluence the assessment and decisions of our stakeholders. This delimitation exercise was executed after a series of evaluations and discussions of key functional areas in our company and was derived from thefinal version of the survey circulated among our stakeholders for voting and ranking.2. Definition and participation of target audienceOur materiality survey was translated into English, Spanish, German, French, Polish, Latvian, and Arabic; 19,000 invitations were issued to stakeholders across all of the geographical regions where CEMEX ispresent (62% more vs. previous survey). From these evaluation requests, we received 1,558 responses that shaped CEMEX’s new Materiality Matrix.Surveys were completed by:Key CEMEX directors/managersFour main stakeholder categories:CEMEX EmployeesCEMEX ClientsCEMEX SuppliersNon-market Stakeholders (divided into four sub-categories):> Community/Communication Leaders> Analysts/Investors/Shareholders> Government/Administrations> NGOs/Associations/Foundations/Universities.3. Prioritization of material issuesThe consolidation methodology for the survey results was based on:Frequency of mention and importance to internal and external stakeholders: Results from the four main stakeholder categories—employee, client, supplier, and community—were used to construct the verticalaxis within the Materiality Matrix, weighting them equally (25% each)The megatrends we identified.43



 G4-18, G4-19, G4-20, G4-21, G4-233.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessCUSTOMER EXPERIENCE AND SATISFACTION AND HEALTH AND SAFETY WERE THE TWO HIGHEST MATERIALITY ISSUES IN OUR LATEST SURVEY.OUR STRATEGY4. Results and materiality matrixThe listed issues and their resulting ratings by stakeholders were plotted into a materiality matrix, which maps each issue based on the prioritization accorded to it. The y-axis represents concern to stakeholders,increasing from bottom to top. The x-axis represents increasing impact to CEMEX, from left to right. We have classified the material issues into three categories: high, higher, and highest materiality. This reportfocuses on them and reflects our top priorities based on our comprehensive stakeholder consultation.MATERIALITY MATRIX1. Customer Experience and Satisfaction2. Health and Safety3. Product Quality and Innovation4. Business Ethics and Transparency5. Employee Engagement and Development6. Growth in Existing Markets and Countries7. Return on Capital Employed8. Environmental and Air Emissions Management9. Transport and Logistics Optimization10. Local Community Development11. Products and Solutions for Sustainable Construction12. CO2 Management Strategy13. Direct Economic Impact on Stakeholders14. Energy Sourcing, Efficiency and Cost15. Materials Recycling and Circular Economy16. Biodiversity Preservation17. Supplier Management18. Public Affairs and Stakeholder Engagement19. Water Management20. Corporate Governance21. Waste Management22. Risk Management23. Human RightsSTAKEHOLDER CONCERN1234917 11 8 516 1019 13615 12 721 1423 22 18 20IMPACT ON CEMEXMATERIALITY HIGHESTMATERIALITY HIGHERMATERIALITY HIGHFinancialSocialEnvironmentalGovernance44



 G4-20, G4-21 / SDG 7, 9, 123.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessMATERIAL ISSUES ACROSS OUR VALUE CHAINOUR STRATEGY“EL CARMEN” NATURE RESERVEENERGYQUARRIESSUPPLIERSCEMENT PLANTWASTE SORTING CENTERCORPORATER&D CENTERAGGREGATESLOGISTICSCOMMUNITIESDISTRIBUTIONCENTERADMIXTURES PLANTREADY-MIXPLANTRETAILROADSINDUSTRIALCOMMERCIALRESIDENTIALINFRASTRUCTURE“EL CARMEN” NATURE RESERVEWe restore habitats in an area 8.4 times larger than our worldwide quarrying activities.M.I.: 8, 10, 12, 16.ENERGY25% of our power supply for cement operations comes from renewable energy sources.M.I.: 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14, 15, 17, 21, 22.CEMENT PLANTWe reached 89% as consolidated operating efficiency of our kilns.M.I.: 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 15, 18, 19, 21, 22, 23.QUARRIES+90% of our quarries have implemented a rehabilitation plan.M.I.: 5, 8, 9, 15, 16, 18, 22.SUPPLIERS+6,200 suppliers have been evaluated throughGlobal Supplier Sustainability Program.M.I.: 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 13, 17, 22, 23.CORPORATEHighest EBITDA since 2008 and highest operating EBITDA margin since 2007.M.I.: 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 12, 18, 20, 22, 23.LOGISTICSOur trading network is one of the largest in the industry with relationships in +100 nations.M.I.: 1, 2, 5, 6, 9, 10, 14, 15, 17, 22, 23.WASTE SORTING CENTER+2.7 million tons of solid waste annually co-processed as alternative fuels by our cement operations.M.I.: 8, 11, 12, 14, 15, 17, 18, 21.RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENTAround US$40 million annually invested in R&D efforts.M.I.: 1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 11, 12, 14, 15, 19, 21.COMMUNITIES+12.6 million beneficiaries from our high-impact social strategy since 1998.M.I.: 2, 4, 5, 8, 10, 13, 16, 18, 20, 22, 23.RETAILWe partner with our distribution network to offer customers an extensive range of brand-name products.M.I.: 1, 6, 9.READY-MIX PLANTUS$186 million of incremental revenues from ready-mix services and fees realized for the year.M.I.: 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 13, 15, 18, 19, 22, 23.AGGREGATESRepresents 16% of our annual sales for the year.M.I.: 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 13, 15, 18, 19, 22, 23.ADMIXTURES PLANTWe develop admixtures solutions for all our associated businesses enabling high performance products.M.I.: 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 11, 22, 23.DISTRIBUTION CENTER+240 centers distributed across all geographic regions where we have presence.M.I.: 1, 6, 9.CUSTOMERSOur strategic goal is to become the most customer-oriented company in our industry. M.I.: 1, 3, 6, 11.RESIDENTIALWe offer affordable housing and energy-efficient building solutions across 13 countries.COMMERCIAL / INDUSTRIALCEMEX products used in 2016 in more than 1,200 projects under Green Building certifications.INFRASTRUCTURE+10 million m2 of concrete supplied for 176 building solutions projects for the year.ROADS+20 million m2 of concrete pavement installed by CEMEX in the last 3 years.M.I. = Material issues numbered in CEMEX Materiality Matrix45



 SDG 123.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessPROGRESS AGAINST OUR TARGETSAnchored by four main objectives under the economic, environmental, social and governance pillars, our sustainability model ensures sustainability is embedded into our business and value is created for ourstakeholders.To keep our sustainability objectives on track, we have set targets for our core KPIs that are strategically aligned to our sustainability model and linked to the material issues identified by the company and ourstakeholders.OUR STRATEGYCHALLENGES TO ADDRESSeconomicenvironmentalsocialgovernanceMAIN OBJECTIVESProvide Resilient Infrastructure and Energy-Efficient Building SolutionsEnable a Low-Carbon and Resource-Efficient IndustryImplement a High-Impact Social Strategy to Empower CommunitiesEmbed Our Core Values into Every ActionCORE SUSTAINABILITY KPIsAnnual ready-mix sales derived from products with outstanding sustainable attributes (%)Alternative fuels rate (%)Reduction in CO2 emissions per ton of cementitious product from 1990 baseline (%) Clinker produced with continuous monitoring of major emissions: dust, NOX, SOX (%) Annual reduction in dust emissionsper ton of clinker from 2005 baseline (%) Annual reduction in NOX emissions per ton of clinker from 2005 baseline (%) Annual reduction in SOX emissions per ton of clinker from 2005 baseline (%) Activequarries with high biodiversity where BAPs are actively implemented (%)Total individuals benefited from our social initiatives (million)Total fatalities (employees, contractors and third parties)Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTI FR), employees (per million hours worked) Countries that conduct regular customer satisfaction surveys (%) Global procurement spend assessed under the SupplierSustainability Program (%) Employees that perceive they are enabled to perform their job effectively (%) Employees that are engaged with the company (%) Executives and employees actively aware of our Codeof Ethics (%) Target countries that participated in the Global Compliance Program covering antitrust, anti-bribery and insider trading (%) Ethics and compliance cases reported during the year that wereinvestigated and closed (%)201633.723.320847826616312.6200.68817767677100682020 TARGET3525100100�  1500.3�  90�  558380�  90ANNUAL TARGET�  25�  50�  30�  20�  90�  9046



 SDG 1, 4, 5, 8, 113.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessCORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IS A FUNDAMENTAL COMPONENT OF OUR BUSINESS MODEL.OUR STRATEGYIMPLEMENTING A HIGH-IMPACT SOCIAL STRATEGYContributing to a better future by addressing social expectationsAs a global company, we have long included Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) as a fundamental component of our business model-aligned with our mission to build a better future by creating lasting valuefor all of our stakeholders. As we provide top-quality, innovative building materials and wide-ranging construction solutions for our customers, we must also support society’s development needs and contributeto the wellbeing of the communities where we live and work. In a resource-constrained world, where humanity faces challenges like poverty, inequality, and climate change, no single organization-fromgovernments to industries, universities, and citizens’ groups-can provide truly comprehensive solutions when presented in isolation. Each sector has a role to play, contributing not only their guidelines orfinancial resources, but also their expertise and dedication to more sustainable, inclusive development.Importantly, it will take all sectors to realize the ambitious agenda put forth in the United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). At CEMEX, we are committed to play a leading role in advancingconstructive change. Achieving the SDGs is not simply the responsible thing to do; it is also strategically relevant from a growth standpoint, as their attainment fosters new business opportunities, buildsmarkets and relationships, and improves our environment and society’s quality of life.Aligned precisely with SDGs 1, 4, 5, 8, and 11, our sustainability strategy’s social priorities are particularly focused on our contribution to end poverty, achieve gender equality, provide decent work, fostereconomic growth, and develop sustainable communities. To that end, we have established a high-impactFilm school. Gdynia, Polandsocial strategy that fosters societal intelligence, guides our participation in international and business organizations’ initiatives, develops programs designed to create greater benefits for our communities,incorporates knowledge for our commercial endeavors, and ultimately, adds to our reputation as a socially responsible company.Our efforts are channeled through the co-creation of social models that enable solutions to alleviate significant challenges around the world. To achieve our goals, we create strategic alliances that fostercollaboration with key partners-multiplying the benefits for our communities.Started almost two decades ago, by the end of 2016 our social actions and initiatives had positively impacted more than 12.6 million people around the world-in line with our internal target to improve thequality of life of at least 15 million people by 2020.Promoting the development of sustainable communitiesAt CEMEX, we are committed to bolstering our communities’ fundamental capacities for long-term self-support and upward mobility. Our mission is to serve as a key contributor to community developmentand an engine of economic growth through innovative and sustainable solutions.Through our community-involvement efforts across the globe, we have learned that self-sufficiency and practical skills development are integral to the long-term prosperity of individuals and communities.However, in many of our markets, poor access to jobs, skills training, and education opportunities limit individuals’ ability to meet their basic needs. To address these challenges, we have developed a number ofprograms that increase communities’ access to building materials for their homes, while providing mechanisms to improve training and employment options.47



 SDG 1, 43.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessANNUALLY, APPROXIMATELY 10,000 BOYS AND GIRLS PARTICIPATE IN OUR CULTURAL AND HEALTHY LIFESTYLE PROGRAMS.OUR STRATEGYWe are generating progress in our communities through our corporate citizenship priorities:Investing in infrastructure development, disaster relief, environment, and social innovationEmpowering key social groups through education and capacity-buildingGenerating cohesion between our communities and our company through different efforts, including employee volunteering.Community CentersTo develop sustainable communities, members must have access to the information and resources they need for success. That is why we created CEMEX Community Centers. These centers serve as centrallocations for our workshops and courses focused on developing skills that will help participants secure employment or start a small business.Additionally, to increase environmental awareness, we recently began construction of Community and Environmental Education Centers to foster discussion and solutions to protect the environment and improvethe quality of life of community members.As of 2016, almost 500,000 people have participated in approximately 2,600 workshops conducted at our Community Centers.Promoting values and leadership through sports, arts, and educationThrough our dedicated efforts worldwide, we provide the opportunity for our neighboring communities’ children and young people to make valuable use of their free time by encouraging sports and exercise as anintegral element of their development. We also work to strengthen their values and contribute to their academic improvement.CEMEX FOSTERS A FLOURISHING FUTURE FOR CHILDRENA decade ago, CEMEX Dominican Republic started “A Flourishing Future” program to help reduce rates of absenteeism and dropouts from school by developing whole young people who serve as an example fortheir families and their community.This program offers extracurricular activities to sponsored schools, as well as instructional material, psychological counseling, art workshops, and educational support. The projects that comprise this initiativepromote a positive childhood through the values and leadership skills derived from educational and artistic activities, including the benefits of reading, writing, and mathematics.ATOTONILCOTo this end, we establish strategic alliances with social organizations and enterprises across our geographies.CEMEX sports and cultural academies are designed to provide our communities’ children and youth with facilities, outfits, and coaching necessary for activities such as football, baseball, swimming, dance, andbook clubs. We promote values such as respect, tolerance, honesty, and solidarity, as well as skills required to unleash their potential. In some communities, we also provide scholarships to give talented childrenthe training required to play baseball, softball or soccer.48



 SDG 1, 4, 8, 173.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessOUR STRATEGYCentro CEMEX-Tec de Monterreypara el Desarrollo SostenibleGenerating empowerment, diversity, and capacity-buildingAligned with SDG 4, “Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all,” we leverage our business capabilities, our network of employees, and strategicalliances to create public value and provide diverse groups with numerous opportunities to achieve their potential for growth and prosperity.To this end, we join multisectoral initiatives that promote development opportunities to:Strengthen the role of women in society, including opportunities for personal and financial growth, self-esteem, family, education and healthGenerate the skills and capabilities required for young people’s integration into the workforce, especially in our industry and associated sectorsStrengthen and expand the reach of our initiatives through national and international alliances.Creating employment opportunities for youthSome of our global capacity-building initiatives for young people across our different regions include:New Employment Opportunities (NEO) is a multi-stakeholder alliance-involving government, civil society, academic, and private sector organizations-to enhance employment and training opportunities foryouth. As a member of NEO, we are committed to boost employment opportunities for young people between the ages of 18 and 29 through scholarships, guidance, and employment training. As of 2016, ourNEO initiatives have benefited more than 37,000 young people.Managed by the CEMEX-Tec Center for Sustainable Development, the I Build (Yo Construyo, in Spanish) program aims to generate employment opportunities, increase access to housing, and ensure qualityself-construction in line with sustainable criteria through professional technical and administrative training for the creation of microenterprises in the building field. To this end, the program provides a series ofstep-by-step training sessions that teach the entire construction process to build quality, sustainable homes-from leveling and foundations to the erection and installation of walls, slabs, and finishes. All of theparticipants are awarded a certificate, an official accreditation that facilitates employment opportunities in the construction sector. Thus far, the program has trained more than 1,300 men and women.Similarly, CEMEX Philippines Experto Ako! program offers free 33-day masonry skills training. In partnership with the Philippines’ Technical Education and Skills DevelopmentAuthority, this program contributes to the generation of new and better careers in the construction field. The training includes instruction on proper cement application and equipment, values formation, andteamwork. Masons are also taught how to market their skills to gain more customers and build trust, which improves their chances of employment with large construction firms. At their graduation, each ExpertoAko! scholar receives a personal masonry kit and tools to begin work on related jobs. Over 200 masons have graduated from the program.CEMEX-TEC CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENTSince its foundation in 2010, the Center has fostered the development of sustainable communities as a result of multisectoral action among government, business, academia, and civil society. Through itsSustainable Communities Model, 10 local sustainable development plans have been implemented in eight Mexican states. Based on applied research on a range of topics-from socioeconomic development toethics and citizenship, environmental improvement, and urbanism-this model materialized in a collective long-term sustainable development project, which ignites productive activities under a framework ofcommunity participation.Additionally, the Center offers a wide portfolio of programs, including Community Environmental Restoration, I Build (Yo Construyo, in Spanish), and the CEMEX-Tec Award. The latter promotesentrepreneurship and innovation through its annual recognition of high-impact sustainable development projects. Specifically, the CEMEX-TEC Award is aimed at change agents, social and environmentalentrepreneurs who design proposals in three categories: Transforming Communities, Innovation in Construction, and Social Entrepreneurs. Over six editions, the CEMEX-Tec Award has received more than1,200 projects from 16 Latin American countries, benefiting 21,000 people.Click here for more information on the Center.THE CEMEX-TEC AWARD HAS RECEIVED MORE THAN 1,200 PROJECTS FROM 16 DIFFERENT LATIN AMERICAN COUNTRIES.49



 SDG 5, 8, 173.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessOUR STRATEGYThrough our Community Environmental Restoration program, we train young people to promote environmental best practices within their communities, building awareness and helping restore their region.During 2016, we launched four new editions of the program. Moreover, we received the Wildlife Habitat Council Best Project Award in the “Awareness and Community Engagement” category for this initiativein the community of Atotonilco, Mexico.Overall, we have enrolled more than 420 young promoters to lead environmental awareness and restoration activities in their communities.Empowering women in our communitiesAt CEMEX, we recognize and respect the diversity of the world in which we live and work. Women’s economic equality benefits not only society in general, but also the business community—which gainsgreatly from increasing leadership opportunities for women. When more women work, economies grow while society moves toward SDG 5, “Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls.”Several initiatives demonstrate our commitment to integrating women into our communities’ local labor markets by empowering them through targeted skills development. For example, our strong, ongoingpartnership with ANSPAC, a non-profit organization, provides women who live near our cement plants with technical training, as well as guidance on personal growth—including topics such as family, values,and self-esteem—to enable them to start their own business and contribute to their family’s income.In 2016, more than 6,000 women benefited from workshops offered by CEMEX in partnership with ANSPAC across a number of countries, including Mexico, Colombia, Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic,Guatemala, Nicaragua, and Panama.Expanding our volunteering programsWe strongly believe that volunteering has a meaningful, positive impact on our communities. Strategic corporate volunteer programs contribute to increasing employee engagement, as well as improving ourcompany’s visibility in community needs and concerns. Through our numerous volunteer programs, our employees are giving back to their communities.In 75% of the countries in which we operate, we have volunteer programs in place. In 2016, approximately 5,200 employees worldwide donated more than 27,000 hours in almost 100 volunteer initiatives thatbenefited 1.4 million people from our communities.GREAT CEMEX TEAMWORK HELPS LOCAL SCHOOLS REPAIR PLAYGROUNDSThrough CEMEX UK’s Lend-a-Hand program, all of our employees are granted one community service day a year to spend on a volunteer initiative of their choice. In 2016, teams from CEMEX UK PavingSolutions and Ready-Mix South Wales joined forces to carry out repairs to Pontllanfraith School’s local playground areas, making them safe for the children.Additionally, CEMEX UK’s Cement Management team collaborated with Rugby’s Brooke School for special needs children to improve its small farm and forest area. The team’s efforts included:Laying 15 m3 of wood chips on the pathways to make them more accessible for those with mobility issuesPainting the pavilionConstructing a wooden floorInstalling four log benches and 20 log seatsConstructing a bug hotel and a hedgehog hibernation boxInstalling a cooking rack for the open fire.IN 2016, MORE THAN 6,000 WOMEN BENEFITED FROM WORKSHOPS OFFERED BY CEMEX IN PARTNERSHIP WITH ANSPAC.50



 SDG 1, 113.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessWE HAVE POSITIVELY IMPACTED MORE THAN 3.2 MILLION PEOPLE THROUGH OUR SOCIAL AND INCLUSIVE BUSINESSES.OUR STRATEGYOur volunteer efforts are aligned with our social programs and primarily dedicated to sustainable community development activities, including reforestation; natural ecosystem cleanup; community infrastructureimprovement and construction; and environmental, health, and safety awareness, among others.Creating social and inclusive business opportunitiesCEMEX recognizes the challenge posed by SDG 11, “Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable.” To help address this undeniable social need, we have developed social andinclusive businesses through models co-created with the community to provide specific solutions for public space and affordable housing that simultaneously combat urban poverty and contribute to theachievement of SDG 1, “End poverty in all its forms everywhere.” Our Growing platform encompasses the inception, development, and promotion of social and inclusive business models that work withgovernments, think tanks, NGOs, low-income communities, and social entrepreneurs. This platform enables us to contribute to solving essential needs—including housing and land ownership, access to basicservices, employment, and financial inclusion—in which microfinance plays a key role. Our inclusive and social business opportunities go beyond self-construction programs that enable millions of people to puta roof over their heads. They also tackle the many side effects of poverty, providing families with the space and privacy that all humans need to live in harmony and foster a peaceful, respectful home environmentthat provides children with healthy living and learning conditions.Patrimonio HoyThe lack of affordable housing is a severe problem for low-income families in many countries. Patrimonio Hoy, our flagship inclusive business, was founded to provide these families with access to financing,building materials, technical advice,and logistical support—allowing them to build or expand their homes more quickly and efficiently. Started in Mexico, Patrimonio Hoy has expanded to more than 100 offices across Latin America, includingCosta Rica, Colombia, the Dominican Republic, and Nicaragua.Patrimonio Hoy tailors solutions to suit users, according to their construction needs and ability to repay. As long as they have a lot on which to build, those interested in participating receive comprehensiveadvice from an architect who works directly with them to design a custom plan. Through a microcred-it loan without prerequisites and with comfortable fixed weekly or bimonthly payments, families cantransform their home with a concrete program. The result of this innovative approach is a self-constructed housing unit built with high-quality materials and a one-third reduction in time and cost compared towhat a typical home-improvement effort would imply for poor families in need. Notably, the program’s financing is designed to fit customers’ needs, with flexible deadlines and specialized construction servicesuntil their keys are in hand.CORPORAID RECOGNIZES CEMEX’S POSITIVE IMPACT THROUGH PATRIMONIO HOYPatrimonio Hoy is a CEMEX program targeting the housing needs of the low-income population. Originally conceived as a project to understand customers in the self-construction segment—a major componentof Latin America’s home building is concentrated in low-income neighborhoods—Patrimonio Hoy has generated international recognition and goodwill for the company. In 2016, the Austrian magazineCorporAID includedPatrimonio Hoy in its Four Walls for the World report, showcasing significant efforts from companies across the world to increase low-income families’ access to affordable housing and home improvementalternatives. The magazine recognizes CEMEX as a pioneer in its work to enable those in need to expand or repair their houses when limited financial resources usually prevent them. It also highlightsPatrimonio Hoy’s offering of consulting plus financing as key success factors in this inclusive business.51



 SDG 1, 8, 113.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessAT THE END OF 2016, ALMOST 30,000 PEOPLE IN MEXICO AND COLOMBIA HAD BENEFITED FROM CONSTRUYO CONTIGO.OUR STRATEGYMore than 570,000 families have received support from the program. That’s 4.3 million m2 of livable space acquired through microcredits exceeding US$300 million. This means that Patrimonio Hoy hasimproved the living conditions of more than 2.7 million people in Latin America. To see some family testimonials on the positive impact of our award-winning inclusive business, please view this video.Productive Centers of Self-EmploymentCEMEX has promoted Productive Centers of Self-Employment (PCS) for several years. Through alliances with governments, this social business makes technical assistance and training available to low-incomefamilies, so they can become involved in the production of building materials, including concrete blocks that they can use to build or expand their homes. These government partnerships facilitate job creationand promote self-employment.We currently operate 154 PCS across Nicaragua, Mexico, Colombia, Costa Rica, and Panama, and the program continues to grow. More than 225,000 people have benefited from this social business.ConstruApoyoWhen money is tight, but homes are in need of repair, our ConstruApoyo program steps in to help. It provides families with a prepaid debit card, creating a transparent process through which aid recipients canpurchase the building materials they need to fix damages to their homes due to natural disasters.Construyo ContigoBased on closely coordinated public-private partnerships with governments, non-profit organizations, universities, and communities, this program empowers low-income families to improve their housingconditions. By combining PCS and ConstruApoyo, together with technical assistance and psychosocial intervention, we support families’ network creation with their community.Green technologies provide access to basic servicesWe have joined forces with social entrepreneurs to develop innovative solutions that allow more members of our communities to have access to basic services, including clean water, waste management, andenergy.As of 2016, more than 18,000 CEMEX eko-stoves have been installed. This enables us to move forward with our commitments to the Global Alliance for Clean Cookstoves, an initiative that seeks to foster theadoption of clean cookstoves and fuels in 100 million households globally by 2020.Enhancing our suppliers sustainabilityWe have developed a strong relationship with our supplier network. Since its inception in 2010, our Supplier Sustainability Program has extended our commitment to sustainability to our value chain,communicating and promoting responsible practices. This program integrates the basic sustainabilityrequirements with which our suppliers must comply. They express our corporate sustainability value statements, included in our Human Rights Policy, Code of Conduct when Doing Business with Us, andCode of Ethics.Our ambitious goal is to evaluate at least 55% of our company’s procurement and energy spending by 2020. By the close of 2016, we had evaluated 17% of this spending.QUANTIFYING OUR IMPACTS AND THE BENEFITS OF OUR SOCIAL INITIATIVESWhat is the cost to society of a ton of CO2 that we emit? A kilogram of dust? An acre of land disturbed to extract minerals for our products? Likewise, what is the value of our high-impact social programs suchas Patrimonio Hoy? Or the volunteering work that many of our employees do around the world? Answering these questions in a consistent way will allow us to estimate the true net value that we contribute tosociety, and also significantly enhance our ability to optimize that value creation by focusing on the levers that have the greatest impact. At CEMEX, we have made great progress in the development of anapproach that allows us to consistently quantify the benefits of our environmental and social impacts. After developing our own methodology and piloting it in our UK operations with results that beat our mostambitious expectations, CEMEX is now taking this kind of analysis at the corporate level.As a first step we started estimating the net value of our social initiatives. According to our calculations our Patrimonio Hoy initiative generated an external social value of some US$65 million.52



 SDG 8, 10, 123.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessOUR GOAL IS TO EVALUATE AT LEAST 55% OF OUR COMPANY’S PROCUREMENT AND ENERGY SPENDING BY 2020.OUR STRATEGYAdditionally, to obtain an objective evaluation of our business partners, we work with an external sustainability supply management firm to evaluate our suppliers in terms of their social, environmental, H&S,business ethics, stakeholder relationships, and financial performance. After suppliers go through the sustainability assessment, a third party analyzes the information and creates a consolidated report, includingconclusions from the evaluation, identified areas of opportunity, and a clear action plan to close the gaps. This report also includes a benchmark with the average score of the corresponding business sector toprovide information on the supplier’s position in comparison with their industry peers. Moreover, suppliers are expected to improve their grade in future assessments. This grade is integrated into the supplier’sscorecard to track and reward suppliers that demonstrate advanced sustainability practices. This year, we want to recognize the following companies for their notable performance in our Supplier SustainabilityProgram evaluation and high level of engagement in their sustainability practices:Casa Pellas SADyno Nobel Inc.Canon Business SolutionsStaples, Inc.Biffa Waste Services Ltd.During 2016, almost 1,300 suppliers were assessed using sustainability criteria. Additionally, to reinforce our sustainability expectations, we include Human Rights, Labor, Antitrust, and Sustainability clausesin contracts and purchase orders.As of December 31, 2016:All procurement countries consider Ethics and H&S standards in the selection and regular screening of suppliers.Countries representing more than 72% of CEMEX’s spending have a formal program in place to train suppliers and contractors on sustainability issues.Taking an active and transforming roleWe are active members of the UN Global Compact’s Advisory Group on Supply Chain Sustainability and the Cement Sustainability Initiative’s supply chain group. This keeps us involved in changing policies,metrics, and practices within the industry.Local products and service supplyLocal sourcing helps us build closer relationships with our suppliers and helps stimulate local jobs and the economy near our areas of operation. In 2016, 95% of our purchases were from locally and nationallybased suppliers.Supplier development programsAs part of the Supplier Certification Process in Mexico, two new projects were launched:Lean-Six Sigma black belt training – This program focuses on suppliers’ implementation of projects to reduce their costs, and additionally, reduce our prices. Each supplier is accompanied by one CEMEXMexico Procurement negotiator and is sponsored by Centro de Competitividad Monterrey.Raw material suppliers development program – This program targets small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs)—which supply raw materials—to promote their growth and development. It includes basicconsulting advice, specialized training, and financial aid. With the support of Centro de Competitividad Mexico, this program looks to optimize these suppliers’ operations to reduce our costs.Integrating Suppliers’ IdeasOur INTEGRATE Suppliers Innovation Program fosters collaboration between our company and our suppliers by generating innovative new ideas to enable us to improve our practices throughout the valuechain, while supporting our operations’ cost-reduction strategies. From a field of 28 suppliers in the Mexican edition of INTEGRATE, Grupo Kopar was selected as the 2016 first place winner. Their idea, “HighEfficiency Valve for Dust Collectors,” makes dust collectors more efficient by redefining the Pulse filter cleaning valve system—migrating from traditional diaphragm valve technology to efficient Mac spoolvalves.53



 SDG 12, 133.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessOUR STRATEGYPURSUING EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENTOne of our main objectives is to pursue environmental excellence for sustainable growth. In addition to our Board-level Sustainability Committee, our Global Environmental Council—composed of the mainenvironmental executives responsible for each of CEMEX regions—shares new trends, proposals, and best practices to identify, inform, and tackle key environmental management concerns.Optimizing our carbon footprintWe are committed to contribute to climate change mitigation and its consequences. For decades, as part of our carbon emissions reduction strategy, we have focused on using low-emission alternatives totraditional fossil fuels, decreasing our clinker factor, promoting clean energy, and increasing energy efficiency across our operations. To this end, we have continuously seek to increase the use of low-carbonalternative fuels, which represented 23.3% of our total fuel mix in 2016.We reduce the CO2 footprint of our cementitious products by replacing traditional energy-intensive clinker with alternative raw materials, such as slag, fly ash, and pozzolans. In 2016, our overall clinker factorwas 78.4%, around 7 percentage points less than 1990. Also, our emissions of CO2 per ton of cementitious products dropped by 20% compared to 1990. Overall, in 2016, we avoided almost 7.3 million tons ofCO2 emissions as a result of our mitigation efforts—comparable to the annual average carbon emissions from 1.3 million passenger vehicles.In 2016, we received an A- from CDP (formerly the Carbon Disclosure Project) under their new evaluation system. The change in CDP’s scoring methodology, applicable as of this reporting cycle, means thatcompanies now receive a single letter score from A to D-. These scores represent the steps a company moves through as it progresses towards environmental stewardship: Disclosure (D- and D), Awareness(C- and C), Management (B- and B), and Leadership (A- and A). With this excellent result, CDP recognizes that CEMEX is among the leading group of companies in the field of climate change. This evaluationrepresents a seamless continuation of the very good ratings that we received over the past couple of years under CDP’s prior rating system.Cementitious products as defined by CSI.OUR CARBON STRATEGY ALLOWED US TO DELIVER 21% MORE CEMENTITIOUS PRODUCTS IN 2016 REDUCING OUR NET CO2 EMISSIONS ABOUT 4% VS. 1990.SEVENTEEN CEMEX USA INSTALLATIONS EARN ENERGY STAR® EPA CERTIFICATIONFive of our cement plants in the United States have earned the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) ENERGY STAR® certification, ranking among the top 25% of similar U.S. facilities for energyconservation. The recognized facilities include:Miami, Florida (sixth certification)Clinchfield, Georgia (tenth consecutive certification, a milestone achieved by only one other cement plant in the U.S.)Fairborn, Ohio, and Victorville, California (each received their fifth certifications)Brooksville, Florida (fourth certification).Additionally, 12 of our ready-mix concrete plants in Texas have met the EPA ENERGY STAR Challenge for Industry by reducing their energy intensity by 10% within five years or less. Collectively, theseready-mix facilities cut their energy intensity by an average of 21%. Also, two of our ready-mix concrete plants in New Mexico had met the Challenge previously.Through this initiative, we are creating value for our shareholders by reducing our energy bills. At the same time, we are contributing to the betterment of our communities and society through our reduction ofgreenhouse gas emissions and our utilization of fewer resources.At CEMEX, we are committed to sustainable business practices across our operations and to building a better future for our communities through our environmental initiatives. It’s truly an honor to receive thisrecognition from the EPA and ENERGY STAR®, and we look forward to many more years of participation in this important program.54



 SDG 7, 12, 133.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessWE LEVERAGE OUR INDUSTRY-LEADING TECHNICAL EXPERTISE AND SKILLS TO EXPAND OUR CLEAN ENERGY PORTFOLIO.OUR STRATEGYExpanding our renewable energy portfolioRecognizing that increasing urbanization and its related construction produce greenhouse gas emissions, we leverage our industry-leading technical expertise to develop a strong clean energy portfolio that wecontinue to expand. In 2016, 25% of our cement operations’ power supply came from renewable sources. This percentage includes all electricity from renewable sources that CEMEX has contracted directly, plusthe renewable energy share of the grid power that our plants consume.CLEANEST PRODUCTION PROCESS IN THE DOMINICAN REPUBLICOur cement plant in San Pedro de Macoris garnered from the Dominican Republic’s Ministry of the Environment and Natural Resources the third national award for “Cleanest Production Process.” The awardhighlighted our plant’s ISO 14001:2004 certification, which made us one of the first companies in the country’s construction industry to have a sustainability policy to manage environmental aspects associatedwith our production processes. As part of its commitment to sustainability, the plant has an on-site 1.5 MW solar facility and sources more than three quarters of its power consumption from the Los Cocos windfarm.Solar energy installations. Santo Domingo Cement Plant. Dominican RepublicSome of our clean power projects and purchase agreements include:250 MW Eurus wind farm in Mexico252 MW Ventika and Ventika II wind farms in Mexico7 MW wind portfolio in California, USA30 MW waste-to-energy plant in Rüdersdorf, Germany6 MW hydro power portfolio in Colombia6 MW waste heat recovery facility in Solid, PhilippinesEnel Fortuna hydroelectric plant in Panama1.5 MW solar project in the Dominican RepublicEGE Haina Los Cocos wind farm in the DomincanRepublicCEMEX FACILITIES ARE FIRST PHILIPPINE CEMENT PLANTS ENDORSED FOR INTERNATIONAL ENERGY EFFICIENCY SEALCEMEX Solid and APO plants became the first cement plants in the Philippines recommended for certification under the ISO 50001:2011 Energy Management System (EnMS). The SGS Philippines’endorsement for EnMS certification recognizes CEMEX’s commitment to energy optimization and climate change mitigation.Our carbon offsets projects portfolioFor more than a decade, CEMEX has worked to identify, document, and register projects that mitigate carbon emissions and generate equivalent offsets. CEMEX has achieved approval for 19 CO2 offset projectsregistered under the Clean Development Mechanism and four under the Verified Carbon Standard, representing a total reduction potential of nearly 3 million tons of CO2 per year. These initiatives are located inColombia, Costa Rica, Mexico, Panama, the Dominican Republic, Egypt, and the United States.From waste to fuelWe are determined to meet the demands of a growing society through effective and secure ways to alleviate the social, economic, and environmental issues associated with municipal waste management.At CEMEX, we lead by example. We are building global support for the enactment and enforcement of legislation that promotes co-processing of waste, which cannot otherwise be reduced, reused or recycled.CEMEX is a prominent industry advocate and user of alternative fuels, displacing traditional fuels like petcoke and coal with low- or even zero-carbon alternatives such as municipal solid waste, tires, andbiomass residues. At year-end 2016, 92% of our cement plants co-processed alternative fuels for a total fossil fuel substitution rate of 23.3%—avoiding the use of 1.6 million tons of coal. Moreover, eight of ourcement plants that use alternative fuels surpassed a substitution rate of 50% in their fuel mix.For the year, our top performers in alternative fuel use included our Chelm cement plant in Poland, Prachovice cement plant in the Czech Republic, Broceni cement plant in Latvia, Clinchfield cement plant inthe U.S., and Rüdersdorf cement plant in Germany. Overall, they disposed more than 800 kilotons of waste as fuel in an environmentally friendly manner. In 2016, our company generated savings ofUS$90 million by co-processing alternative fuels.CEMEX has the know-how to source, process, store, and recover energy from alternative fuels in a responsible way. By increasing the co-processing of these fuels in our cement plants, we will help overcomechallenges such as climate change, waste management, and fossil fuel depletion—utilizing the principles of a circular economy. Despite our more than a decade of work and significant investment, considerablechallenges delay our progress to our alternative55



 SDG 123.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessTO REACH ITS ALTERNATIVE FUELS RATE, CEMEX HAS INVESTED APPROXIMATELY US$236 MILLION SINCE 2005.OUR STRATEGYfuels targets. Some of the barriers include suitable waste availability, waste infrastructure and logistics, co-processing regulations, and technical limitations. Particularly, the drop in the oil market price madealternative fuels no longer economically competitive in some of our markets. Moreover, some of our highest performing kilns were out of service during a significant part of the year. Nevertheless, we willcontinue our efforts to reach our 35% Alternative Fuels Target by 2020.Advancing towards a circular economyWe dispose of waste generated in our production processes in accordance with local regulations. To reduce most of the waste generated from our processes, we maximize our reuse of clinker kiln dust in theproduction loop, largely avoiding its landfill disposal. To realize the financial andenvironmental benefits of waste, we monitor, minimize, reuse, and recycle all of our wastes, whenever possible. Among our disposal efforts, we:Monitor hazardous and non-hazardous waste generated in all of our operationsReplace primary aggregates with other discarded materials, including demolished concreteReuse and recycle fresh concrete returned from construction sites.In 2016, 94% of the waste generated by our production processes was recovered, reused or recycled. The remaining material was sent to disposal sites. Moreover, the disposal of our non-hazardous waste—themost abundant waste we generate—decreased approximately 40% year over year, while our hazardous waste disposal declined by 9%.Enhancing environmental managementWe use CEMEX Environmental Management System (EMS) to evaluate and facilitate consistent, complete implementation of risk-based environmental management tools across our operations. CEMEX EMSconsists of key mechanisms for environmental impact assessment, stakeholder engagement, and accident response based upon input from a range of environmental and biodiversity specialists.The 12 Elements of the CEMEX Environmental Management System FrameworkCEMEX POLAND’S CHELM PLANT BENEFITS FROM NEW RDF SHREDDERSTo satisfy CEMEX Chelm cement plant’s growing demand for refused-derived fuel (RDF), EKoPaliwa, a local waste recycling company, recently installed the second Weima PowerLine 3000 single-shaftshredder, with a 350 kW hydraulic drive capacity. Thanks to this expanded capacity, the Chelm plant will ensure fuel supply self-sufficiency.Monitored by four teams around the clock, the EKoPaliwa waste recycling plant processes around 18,000 tons of material from local waste disposal facilities and private companies every month.Alternative fuels rate (percentage)56



 SDG123.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessIN 2016, WE INVESTED US$80 MILLION IN SUSTAINABILITY-RELATED PROJECTS AT OUR OPERATIONS ACROSS THE GLOBE.OUR STRATEGYThe system meets ISO 14001 and EU Eco-Management and Audit Scheme (EMAS) certification and applies to all of CEMEX business activities, products, and services globally, including companies and jointventures controlled by and/ or operated by CEMEX.At the end of 2016, 98% of our cement plants, 88% of our ready-mix concrete operations, and 86% of our aggregates quarries had implemented either CEMEX EMS or equivalent programs. As we approach fullimplementation of our global EMS in 2020, our goal is for all of CEMEX facilities to be 100% compliant with our internal environmental criteria. Managing our air emissionsWe are committed to reducing our environmental footprint, by working to:Monitor major and minor emissionsImprove our measurement methodsAdapt to new and more stringent air emissions regulations, invest accordingly, and execute required trainingGo beyond local regulations and set ambitious targets for emissions mitigation.The release of nitrogen oxides (NOX), sulfur compounds (SOX), and dust occurs during cement manufacturing. Other emissions, including dioxins, furans, volatile organic compounds, and heavy metals, arereleased in very small or negligible quantities. To control our stack emissions and remain compliant with local regulations, we have expanded emissions monitoring at our cement plants. In 2016, 84% of ourclinker was produced with continuous emissions monitoring systems in place. Our 2020 target is 100% continuous monitoring of major emissions. In 2016, we invested US$80 million in sustainability-relatedprojects at our global operations, including more than 70 projects to monitor and reduce our air emissions.Through our EMS, we monitor major emissions to ensure compliance with local regulations. To improve these efforts, we have set minimum performance levels for major emissions that we fulfill annually.These annual goals ensure CEMEX consistently performs below required levels. Additionally, an external party verifies our air emission KPIs annually.CEMEX OBTAINS “GREEN” FINANCING FROM IFCIn 2016, the International Finance Corporation (“IFC”), a member of the World Bank Group, granted CEMEX a loan of approximately €106 million to support the company’s sustainable investment programs inemerging markets. After a thorough assessment of CEMEX’s environmental, governance, and social practices, the IFC granted CEMEX funding for projects designed to enhance environmental performance.Approximately 60% of the funds were allocated for projects related to the reduction of CEMEX’s greenhouse gas emissions, while the remainder was allocated to cover improvements to CEMEX’s overall airemission controls.CEMEX sees many additional areas for collaboration. The IFC is an ideal partner, who shares our values and can help us fulfill our long-term strategic goals.“We are encouraged by CEMEX’s innovative initiatives and look forward to the company’s leadership expanding the climate change agenda among global key players.”Liz Bronder, IFC Director for Latin America and the CaribbeanCEMEX ACHIEVES CERTIFICATIONS FOR ALL ITS CONCRETE PLANTS IN CZECH REPUBLICCEMEX Czech Republic met all the demanding conditions for ISO and OHSAS quality management system certificates in all of its concrete plants in the country. The obtained certificates – ISO 9001, ISO14001 and OHSAS 18001 – confirm the above-standard quality of production and delivery of transport concrete, wall mortar, coating material and brands as well as special products. CEMEX managementsystems in the areas of quality, environmental protection and occupational health and safety meet all the demanding requirements specified in both Czech and European norms. The results of the re-certificationaudit confirmed that the management processes and procedures support compliance with the high standards set forth for the production of concrete.57



 SDG 6, 12, 173.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessOUR STRATEGYCEMEX environmental incidents managementWe minimize our emissions and reduce the likelihood of spills and water contamination. We are prepared to respond to any emergency that may pose a threat to our operations and communities:Working with our neighbors, law enforcement officials, public agencies, and other stakeholders to develop contingency plans at each of our sites, while contributing to each of our communities’ emergencypreparedness strategies.We created Emergency Response Teams that are trained to address environmental incidents and hold annual emergency drills.Consistently record and report incidents at every level of our business to identify recurring root causes and share corrective actions based on best practices.We recognize that reporting environmental incidents is the first step to reducing their occurrence and severity. Our rigorous efforts to standardize the implementation of our environmental management processesenabled us to avoid the occurrence of Category 1 incidents during 2016.Moreover, our Category 2 incidents decreased significantly, from 436 in 2015 to 64 in 2016. This significant drop was mainly due to updating CEMEX Environmental Incident Reporting Procedure, wherein thecircumstances of specific incidents were recorded in the context of their corrective action to ensure better follow-up and corresponding remediation.At CEMEX, we will continue to openly disclose our progress, and will work with governments and community groups that support environmental improvement.ENVIRONMENTAL INCIDENTS BY TYPE(percentage)DUSTSITE OPERATING CONDITIONSMICRO POLLUTANTSFUELS & CHEMICALSWATERPROCESS WASTE & MATERIALS1 20 11 8 6 54ENVIRONMENTAL INCIDENTS STATISTICS201420152016Category 1 Incidents020Category 2 Incidents3943664Category 3 Incidents313227224Complaints818877TOTAL433753365Preserving land, biodiversity and waterThe preservation of land, biodiversity, and water plays a key role in our long-term resource management strategy.Managing water to minimize useWater is critical to our company’s operations, comprising nearly 25% of our concrete mixtures. We also use water in our cement and aggregates production processes, as well as for cleaning our plants, trucks, andequipment.To protect this natural resource and enable our business to succeed, we are increasing our water efficiency and minimizing our water waste through the implementation of our Corporate Water Policy. This policyincludes standardization ofour water measurement based on the Water Protocol developed in coordination with the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN).Additionally, we comply with the Cement Sustainability Initiative’s (CSI) Guidelines for Environmental & Social Impact Assessment for all of our quarry developments. According to these guidelines, weassess all of our social and environmental impacts using different methods and techniques, including the requirement to evaluate cumulative effects on biodiversity.Approximately 9% of CEMEX operations are located in officially designated water stressed areas. We provide guidance to our operations through the creation of a holistic water management plan that prioritizescountries and sites where water-related risks are highest. Ultimately, our work will enable us to set targets that allow for more efficient water management.58



 SDG 6, 15, 173.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessOUR STRATEGYWater Footprint (million m3)CEMENT READY-MIX AGGREGATES2016 SPECIFIC WATER CONSUMPTIONCement:352 l/tonReady-mix:222 l/m3Aggregates:131 l/tonGlobal water conservation initiativesThroughout our operations, we are working to increase our efficient use of water, rate of recycling, and careful control of water emissions. For example, we have implemented a number of initiatives, including:Spain: The San Fermin and Vicalvaro III ready-mix plants utilize a water canalization system with slopes that collect the water used during the washing and fabrication processes, accumulating it in a deposit forreuse. This initiative ensures 0% water waste during the concrete production process. Also, in Madrid’s Corporate Offices, the cisterns for all water used inside the building were transformed into eco-cisterns.With this new measure, a 50% reduction in water consumption was achieved, as well as energy savings resulting from heating water.USA: Our Balcones quarry completed a new state-of-the-art water recycling system that will decrease our environmental impact and reduce our reliance on local water sources by using 90% less water annuallythan previously consumed by the quarry’s wash plant. The fully automated system uses and recycles 12,000 gallons of water per minute to separate fine aggregate sands—saving the equivalent of 2,000Olympic-size swimming pools annually. Panama: The Bayano cement plant integrated an automated wireless communication system to pump water between the plant and a local creek to reduce this operation’svital liquid usage. The new system’s benefits include: reduced water consumption of 35%; electricity savings of 66%; and total energy savings of around US$34,000 per year.BirdLife INTERNATIONALImplementing biodiversity action plansBiodiversity Action Plans (BAPs) are the principal tool CEMEX uses to achieve a net positive impact on biodiversity. CEMEX and BirdLife International have created a BAP development standard to ensureindividual operations can systematically produce their own BAP, tailored to the particular biodiversity values and challenges associated with their operations. This work is guided by our Corporate BiodiversityPolicy—which is fully integrated into our business model in all of our countries and operations. The policy is aligned with the Convention on Biological Diversity and its Aichi Biodiversity Targets. In 2017,we will celebrate the 10th anniversary of the CEMEX-BirdLife global partnership. Since 2007, our operations have worked closely with BirdLife International, optimizing the unique local-global BirdLifenetwork of grassroots NGOs and their rich knowledge of birds and biodiversity.59



 3.4 Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessWE CONTINUED TO DEVELOP QUARRY REHABILITATION PLANS FOR ALL OF OUR ACTIVE CEMENT AND AGGREGATES QUARRIES.OUR STRATEGYCEMEX REAFFIRMS COMMITMENT TO BIODIVERSITY PROTECTION AT COP13At the 13th meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the UN Convention on Biological Diversity (COP13), CEMEX reaffirmed its active role in protecting the biodiversity of our planet by signing the CancunBusiness and Biodiversity Pledge. Through this pledge, CEMEX joined other signatory companies in the pursuit of concrete actions that deliver solutions for the conservation of biodiversity, its sustainable use,and the fair and equitable sharing of benefits from genetic resources.Comprised of 196 countries, the Conference of the Parties is the highest governing body of the UN Convention on Biological Diversity. At COP13, approximately 10,000 participants, including representativesof the countries’ parties, observer countries, international organizations, and other interested parties, met to negotiate agreements and commitments that give impulse to the conservation and sustainable use ofbiodiversity.Biodiversity action management and quarry rehabilitation progressIn 2016, we continued taking action to enhance biodiversity in and around our quarries–located in or close to high biodiversity value areas–while starting new BAP projects at other key quarries. We alsocontinued to develop quarry rehabilitation plans for all of our active cement and aggregates quarries. Our rehabilitation process starts early in the quarry life cycle, and is reviewed and updated on an ongoingbasis. Rehabilitation and closure plans are established according to the CSI’s Guidelines on Quarry Rehabilitation.As of 2016, 94% of our active quarries have a rehabilitation plan in place, with a significant percentage comprised of biodiversity-focused end-use plans, given their proximity to key biodiversity areas.Additionally, 63% of our 63 active quarries located within or adjacent to high biodiversity value areas have a BAP in place in conjunction with their rehabilitation plan. Some recent projects include:Conserving Mexico’s golden eagle: CEMEX Mexico andPronatura Noroeste are conducting an ongoing project to discover crucial information for the conservation of the country’s poorly-understood national bird, including five new breeding territories near a CEMEXquarry in Sonora. This work not only determined Golden Eagle numbers and reproductive output within the area of influence of the quarry–its “home range”–but also its population nationally. The insightsgenerated will help the project team to monitor planned improvements to the ecosystem’s health over the next phase of the project. A video featuring both the Golden Eagle and the nursery is available on ourwebsite.Hispaniolan slider turtleSaving endemic species and improving livelihoods in the Dominican Republic: CEMEX Dominican Republic has been working with Grupo Jaragua at its Las Salinas quarry to restore dry forest, conserve waterresources, and preserve priority species: the Hispaniolan Slider Turtle and the Rhinoceros Iguana. Up to 500 adult iguanas live within the area of influence of CEMEX’s operations, presenting a uniqueopportunity not only to help protect an iconic endemic species, but also to facilitate the promotion of natural quarry regeneration. Red-listed by the IUCN as a vulnerable species, the globally threatenedRhinoceros Iguana is also an important distributor of seeds from different plant species. One of the main threats to both species is over-exploitation; something the team is working to address. Meanwhile, thewin-win solution identified in the case of the Rhinoceros Iguana–quarry restoration and species conservation– is not only innovative, but also will provide a cost-effective mechanism for quarry restoration.



 3.4 Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessOUR STRATEGYTurtle DoveCreating wildlife habitat at former UK quarries: Working with the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB, BirdLife in the UK), CEMEX continues to conserve nature at its quarry operations. In 2016,the globally threatened Turtle Dove was breeding at three sites, where CEMEX created forage crops and managed thick scrub habitat. Chough successfully returned to breed for the second year at Raynes Quarry,the UK’s pilot priority BAP site. Additionally, CEMEX UK presented Lade Pits, a more than 172-acre area formerly known as Denge Quarry, to RSPB.Conserving a globally important migratory flyway inMalaysia: Since 2013, CEMEX Malaysia and the Malaysian Nature Society (MNS, BirdLife in Malaysia) have worked together to protect an internationally Important Bird & Biodiversity Area (IBA) in thePenang region of Malaysia, where CEMEX’s Bukit Tambun Quarry is located. In 2016, the team produced the first ever ecosystem service assessment by a company like CEMEX for a coastal IBA, whichhighlighted the numerous benefits the IBA provides to society. The outcomes of this analysis have helped to protect this area from poorly planned development,Spoon-billed SandpiperSee BirdLife’s campaign to protect the flyway herewhich otherwise would have adversely affected the site’s ability to support shorebirds during migration. Provided that protection is in place over the long term, the CEMEX Bukit Tambun BAP will deliver a netpositive impact on biodiversity.Protecting the Châtelet Quarry: One of the yellow-bellied toad’s last strongholds in western France: CEMEX France and LPO Sarthe (BirdLife in France) have collaborated for 10 years to protect the Yellow-bellied toad, Bombina variegata. Listed as critically endangered in the Pays de la Loire Red List, the Yellow-bellied toad population at the Châtelet Quarry is now one of the most important in western France,with approximately 200 recorded in 2016. CEMEX France and LPO regularly work to protect the Yellow-bellied toad, holding frequent meetings throughout the year to help adapt operations’ planning accordingto the Yellow-bellied toad’s preferred habitat. Critical habitat areas are delineated and protected with barriers and signboards, while habitat management activities limit vegetation overgrowth. LPO Sarthe andCEMEX France further work to create new habitats not onlyYellow-bellied Toadto replace those that may be lost to operational activities, but also to encourage the species to move within the quarry and the surrounding environment. To ensure the long-term viability of the population, thespecies is monitored yearly-including during the breeding season–and crossbreeding with other populations is facilitated. As a result of these activities, the Châtelet Quarry population has increased since 2013.Enhancing habitat within an active quarry in Spain:SEO/BirdLife (BirdLife in Spain) has constructed and launched a floating island to provide safe breeding refuge for waterbirds on a lake at CEMEX Spain’s Soto Pajares Quarry. Moreover, 75 nest boxes havebeen erected on trees to improve nesting opportunities for Passeriforme birds, and more space for nature is being provided–460 trees and shrubs have been re-planted to restore riparian forest. Meanwhile in thearea already restored for agriculture, 190 seedlings have been planted to restore hedgerows along the field boundaries, which will support farmland bird populations.



 3.4 Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessWE CELEBRATED THE 15TH ANNIVERSARY OF CONTINUEDCONSERVATION, SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH, HABITAT PRESERVATION, AND SPECIES RESTORATION AT EL CARMEN NATURE RESERVE.OUR STRATEGYPromoting collaborative, cross-sector approaches to biodiversity conservationWorking with BirdLife International, Pronatura, Banamex, and CESPEDES, CEMEX designed and delivered the first ever Mexican Alliance for Business & Biodiversity (AMEBIN). Designed to promotedialogue and action among businesses, financial institutions, and civil society organizations, the event aimed to boost ecosystem preservation, sustainable resource utilization, and biodiversity conservation.During one of the panel discussions, CEMEX profiled its conservation efforts at El Carmen and launched its new conservation book–which focuses on protecting our planet’s primary forests.Celebrating El Carmen’s 15th anniversaryIn 2016, we celebrated the 15th anniversary of continued conservation, scientific research, habitat preservation, and species restoration at El Carmen Nature Reserve. Located along the border between Mexico andthe U.S., this private cross-border conservation region is one of the most important biodiversity hotspots and transboundary ecosystems in the world.Comprising five different ecosystems, the wilderness reserve is home to more than 1,500 plant species, 289 avian species, 80 types of reptiles and amphibians, and 78 mammal species. With more than 140,000hectares, El Carmen enables us to restore habitats and wildlife in an area that is 8.4 times larger in size than the total sum of the areas impacted by our operations worldwide.Over the past 15 years, the El Carmen Nature Reserve has provided abundant wildlife management, research and education, and collaboration opportunities:Wildlife management: Among the highlights of its protection efforts is the reintroduction of locally extirpated species in the region, such as the bighorn and pronghorn sheep. Other species with considerablyincreased populations include the desert mule deer, the white-tailed deer, and the black bear, which is the largest population of this species of bear in Mexico.Research and education: El Carmen has provided research and educational opportunities to more than 900 students and academics, who monitor the region’s biodiversity and contribute to its conservation. It hasalso served as the scene for 16 Master’s and PhD Thesis projects of candidates from prestigious universities across Mexico and the United States. Their study of El Carmen has resulted in the publication of 60scientific and popular papers.Collaboration: El Carmen holds active cooperation agreements with several conservation NGOs such as Cuenca Los Ojos A.C., The Texas Bighorn Society, and The Wild Sheep Foundation, as well aspartnerships with such institutions as Agrupacion Sierra Madre, Unidos Para La Conservacion, Birdlife International, Conservation International, and The Wild Foundation. The Mexican and U.S. governmentsalso participate in this conservation initiative through agencies ranging from SEMARNAT, CONANP, CONAFOR, and SEMA in Mexico to the National Park Service, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, andthe Texas Parks and Wildlife Department in the U.S.



 3.4 Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessOUR STRATEGYCEMEX EARNS WILDLIFE HABITAT COUNCIL’S HIGHEST RECOGNITION FOR BIODIVERSITY CONSERVATIONThe WildLife Habitat Council (WHC) awarded CEMEX the 2016 Gold Tier Program of the Year for the company’s biodiversity conservation efforts at the El Carmen ecological reserve. Beyond this recognition,El Carmen received the Species of Concern Project Award, the Mammals Project Award, the Desert Project Award, and the Forest Project Award. Additionally, CEMEX’s conservation programs at its AtotonilcoCement Plant in Mexico earned the WHC’s Awareness and Community Engagement Project Award.CEMEX’s facilities in the USA and Mexico have earned WHC Certification for 18 of their conservation programs. WHC certification recognizes programs for their exemplary conservation education, habitatrestoration, community outreach, wildlife management and enhancement, and land stewardship.The certified facilities include the company’s Center Hill Mine (FL), Clinchfield Cement Plant (GA), and Victorville Cement Plant (CA) in the USA and its Atotonilco Cement Plant, Huichapan Cement Plant,and flagship El Carmen Conservation Program in Mexico.In addition to the WildLife Habitat Council’s highest award, CEMEX’s El Carmen Conservation Program earned a number of important honors during 2016. In August, Mexico’s Secretariat of Environment andNatural Resources granted CEMEX Honorable Mention for the 2016 National Award of Ecological Merit, the country’s most important environmental recognition. In January, The Wild Sheep Foundationgranted CEMEX its Special Conservation Award in recognition of the initiatives undertaken by the company to protect the desert bighorn sheep as part of its El Carmen Conservation Program.A geography of hope: Saving the last primary forestsThe fourth edition of CEMEX Nature Series builds on the more than two-decade tradition of CEMEX’s celebrated Conservation Book Series. This new volume combines extraordinary photography with directprose to warn us about the urgent need to preserve our primary forests and their rich biodiversity. The protection, restoration, and reforestation of primary tropical forests alone could provide 50% of the climatechange mitigation scientists deem necessary over the next 50 years.This year’s book is presented in collaboration with Conservation International, Earth In Focus, and The Wild Foundation. These organizations enabled our shared commitment to the environment to reachmillions of people and encourage them to join the growing wave of conservation actions throughout every corner of our planet.CEMEX NATUREWe launched CEMEX Nature to promote a culture of appreciation and respect for nature among our stakeholders and across the global community. Utilizing the dynamics of social media channels, this new sitenot only reinforces the impact of our published conservation books, but also includes information about our other biodiversity and environmental projects.For more information, visit www.cemexnature.com and follow us at:THIS NEW VOLUME COMBINES EXTRAORDINARY PHOTOGRAPHY WITH DIRECT PROSE TO WARN US ABOUT THE URGENT NEED TO PRESERVE OUR PRIMARY FORESTS.



 3.4 Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessOUR STRATEGYENHANCING OUR ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERSWe understand that, to solve many of the challenges we face as a community, we must tackle issues alongside other stakeholders to truly maximize our impact.Stakeholder engagement is key to the execution of our strategy. Our stakeholders are directly linked to the most significant issues of our materiality assessment and, by definition, are integral to our business. Inrecent years, we have strengthened the way we work with stakeholders. We have taken steps to become more proactive, communicate better, and find more opportunities to collaborate directly.This is reflected in our Stakeholder Engagement Policy, launched in May 2016. The policy establishes the role that stakeholder engagement and public affairs play in our company’s strategy and ongoingbusiness management.At CEMEX, we define public affairs as the proactive engagement of our stakeholders to identify business opportunities and reduce the risk to our operations. We are committed to open and constant engagement.Ultimately, our objective is to become and be perceived as a proactive, positive neighbor and partner.Our unified Stakeholder Management Model guides our management team in the identification of our main stakeholders; afterwards, an engagement and communication roadmap is established. In 2016, weconducted training sessions in 14 countries with the participation of more than 170 business leaders to ensure that stakeholder engagement is an integral part of our business agenda and daily management. As aresult, our global Public Affairs network grew significantly over the past year. Strengthening partnershipsWith the understanding that in many cases we are more effective working with others, we continued our collaborative partnerships with local and global organizations during 2016. These include NGOs, businessand trade associations, academic institutions, multilateral organizations, and development agencies.PartnershipsWe promote well-designed economic, environmental, energy, and commercial regulations that address some of the trends and challenges our society and our industry are facing. WeOUR STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT MODEL CONTINUES TO BE ROLLED OUT ACROSS OUR OPERATIONS.OUR PUBLIC AFFAIRS AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT POLICY WAS RELEASED IN 2016.CEMEX CEO AS CHAIR OF THE CSIIn 2016 Fernando A. González, CEO of CEMEX, was Chair of the Cement Sustainability Initiative (CSI), a sector project within the World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD). Duringhis tenure, our CEO focused on the development and implementation of a new Operating Model that will allow the CSI to become more agile and efficient.In addition, in December 2016 CEMEX co-hosted the CSI’s 10th annual Forum, a conference on the theme of Climate Change (mitigation and adaptation) to openly discuss, both internally and with key externalexperts from the regulatory and financial domains, the challenges and opportunities created by the implementation of the Paris agreement for the sector.also advance policies that support economic development, community wellbeing, and fair market conditions, taking into account considerations from relevant stakeholders. When we can, we provide independentresearch and guidance in our areas of expertise to support the creation of sound public policies and regulations.Environment partnersWe work closely with several partners to protect the environment and biodiversity of the countries in which we operate. Around the globe, we engage in fruitful partnerships with both global and localorganizations. For example, in the U.S., our collaborative wildlife enhancement and land conservation projects with the Wildlife Habitat Council transform our corporate



 3.4 Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessWE LEVERAGE THE KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERTISE FROM OUR PARTNERSHIPS WITH ACADEMIC AND RESEARCH INSTITUTIONS.OUR STRATEGYsustainability objectives into tangible actions. We are currently taking steps to expand this partnership outside of the U.S. We also partner with national governments on public projects to achieve oursustainability goals. In the Dominican Republic, we are collaborating with the National Botanical Garden to reproduce species of native plants from the country’s eastern region for the rehabilitation of ourquarries in Quisqueya, Los Llanos, and San Cristobal. Similarly, we are partnering with Egypt’s Environmental Studies & Civil Service Council to jointly assess and mitigate the impact of our plants, quarries,and logistics on surrounding communities.Knowledge and learning partnersWe often leverage the knowledge and expertise from our partnerships with academic and research institutions such as Brno University of Technology in the Czech Republic, Instituto Tecnologico de SantoDomingo in the Dominican Republic, Assiut University in Egypt, and the University of Barcelona, the Polytechnic University of Madrid, and the University of Zaragoza in Spain–providing the technicalfoundations for projects supported by solid research.In 2013, we began a productive collaboration with the Earth Engineering Center of Columbia University and The City College of New York to conduct a yearlong study on the life-cycle effects of alternativefuels in cement manufacturing. Focused on our waste combustion technologies, the study included multiple visits to our cement plants in the U.S. and Mexico, as well as thorough analysis of operating data.The study concluded that the use of fuels derived from municipal solid wastes (MSW) in cement production reduces greenhouse gas emissions significantly compared with the use of high-quality coal due to thebiogenic content of MSW-derived fuels. We continue to support the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) Concrete Sustainability Hub (CSHub) through our membership in the Portland CementAssociation (PCA) and“Safety Town”. Trzebinia, PolandNelson Mandela Bridge. Barcelona, SpainNational Ready Mixed Concrete Association (NRMCA), as well as our participation in the Executive Oversight Committee and a number of advisory groups. By conducting ongoing research, the mission of theMIT CSHub is to develop breakthroughs that will achieve sustainable and durable homes, buildings, and infrastructure through advances in concrete technology. Additionally, we are particularly active via ourlargest trade associations such as the European Cement (CEMBUREAU), Aggregates (UEPG), and Ready Mixed Concrete (ERMCO) Associations. Through these organizations, we speak with one voice on keyissues across our industry by promoting best practices in H&S and sustainability. Key objectives include raising awareness of our industry’s essential role as a driver of economic development and educatingdecision-makers about concrete’s sustainability and resiliency.Best practice partnersWe seek to gain and share best practices that benefit society by partnering with organizations across our global operations–from the Inter-American Development Bank in Mexico to the Corporate SocialResponsibility Institute in Latvia. As a partner in the 100 Resilient Cities Platform, we promote sustainable urban construction in the cities where we operate. Drawing upon our know-how and experience, weoffer a compelling value proposition to local authorities for resilient infrastructure projects that looks to leave a positive, long-lasting legacy for their cities. Through a collaborative approach, we allow membercities to explore, conceive, evaluate, and plan tangible solutions to accelerate their progress in four key areas: mobility and infrastructure; buildings and housing; waste and energy; and inclusive business andsocial development. We also offer our expertise to guide resilient infrastructure planning workshops.



 OUR STRATEGYSDG 173.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessWE LOOK TO ENSURE THAT WE ARE A SOCIALLY ACTIVE, POSITIVE PART OF EVERY COUNTRY AND COMMUNITY IN WHICH WE OPERATE.Moreover, our involvement in the Grand Paris development project will help improve the quality of life of the residents of this iconic metropolitan area by addressing regional inequalities, while building asustainable city. Our participation in multiple stages of this large-scale project demonstrates the technical, logistical, and professional capabilities of our company.Additionally, we remain a corporate member of the Club of Transparency International in the Czech Republic. As a member of the club, we join other corporations in the fight against corruption while activelysupporting honest business behavior.CEMEX is one of the initial members of the Carbon Pricing Leadership Coalition (CPLC), a World Bank-led initiative that integrates governments, the private sector and civil society in an effort to promote theuse of well-designed carbon pricing mechanisms, and co-chairs one of its three Working Groups.The Concrete Sustainability Council (CSC) is an organization that has developed a certification system for responsibly sourced concrete. Covering the full value chain, including mining and production of rawmaterials, as well as actual concrete plants, the CSC seal will allow our operations to differentiate themselves in the market, allow clients to get recognition under certain green building rating systems, and drivethe sector towards ever more sustainable practices. CEMEX is proud not only of being a founding member of the CSC, but also of providing the organization’s first chair.Social impact partnersWe look to ensure that we are a socially active, positive part of every country and community in which we operate. To this end, we carry on our partnership with the UN World Food Program’s (WFP)Food-for-Education initiative in Assiut, Egypt. Through this initiative, the WFP complements the government’s school feeding program by providing food incentives–including daily nutritious snacks andmonthly take-home rations–in community schools to encourage parents to send their children to school and keep them there.By virtue of our collaborative partnership with Habitat for Humanity, we promote access to adequate and affordable housing for disadvantaged social groups. This alliance strengthens the sustainable growth ofcities and the ecosystem. The partnership’s priorities include:Increasing access to adequate and affordable housing Developing new markets Promoting financial and social inclusion Building a volunteer program for creating adequate housing and social infrastructure.After typhoon Yolanda hit the Philippines, we helped to rebuild and rehabilitate affected communities in the northern part of Cebu province through our Build Unity program, a disaster response network of localgovernment and non-profit organizations, including Gawad Kalinga. Among other high-priority rebuilding projects, the program provided houses in safer areas for displaced families, newly repaired classroomsfor public school students, accessible medical care and equipment, and safer shelter for children.Similarly, our development agreement with Mexico’s National Civil Protection Agency aims to design programs that increase cities’ resilience to natural disasters. Both parties pledge to promote civil protectionin the national education system and, thereby, create greater awareness of appropriate behavior in the event of a natural disaster.Best Practices PartnersEnvironment PartnersCDPDRIVING SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIESpro naturaIUCNCPLCTHE GLOBAL COMPACTWE SUPPORTWILDLIFEHABITAT COUNCILNATURALCAPITALCOALITIONWBSCBBirdLifeTEXASPARKS &WILDLIFE100 RESILIENT CITIESTHEWILDFOUNDATIONCEMEX PartnershipANSPACTHE GRAMEEMCREATIVE LAETechnologicode MonterreyUDEMCLINTONGLOBALINITIATIVEASHOKAHabitatfor HumanityIDBCentroCEMEX-Tecnologicode Monterreypara el Desarollo deComunidades SosteniblesGLOBAL ALLIANCE FORCLEAN COOKSTOVESUSAIDUANLUNISDRSocial Impact PartnersKnowledge and Learning Partners66



 OUR STRATEGYG4-24, G4-25, G4-26, G4-273.4 | Sustainability is fully embedded in our businessSTAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND COMMUNICATION MECHANISMSCEMEX has established several communications mechanisms for our most important stakeholder groups to maintain an open channel of communication.STAKEHOLDERSTop Managers and EmployeesClientsSuppliersNGOs and AcademicInstitutionsCommunitiesAnalysts, Investors,ShareholdersLocal, National and RegionalGovernments and RegulatoryBodiesBusiness Associations andTrade OrganizationsKEY CONCERNSHealth and safetyCompany’s economic performance in mid and long termCustomer engagement and satisfactionCareer growth and developmentCustomer engagement and satisfactionCompany’s economic performance in mid and long termQuality products, services and solutionsSustainability management practicesHealth and safetyCompany’s economic performance in mid and long termFair business conditionsSustainability management practicesQuarry rehabilitation, biodiversity preservation and ecosystem managementCompany’s economic performance in mid and long termCompany’s economic performance in mid and long termEnvironmental impact mitigation and managementHealth and safetyHuman RightsQuarry rehabilitation, biodiversity preservation and ecosystem managementTransparent communicationContribution to community well-being and developmentLocal employment opportunitiesCompany’s economic performance in mid and long termCorporate GovernanceEnvironmental, Social and Governance (ESG) disclosure and performanceEnvironmental impact mitigation and managementCompany’s economic performance in mid and long termHealth and safetyClimate change and CO2 emissions policyInfrastructure and housing solutionsLocal employment opportunitiesActive engagement and guidanceCOMMUNICATION CHANNELS AND FREQUENCYMonthly newsletterQuarterly internal magazinesPeriodic site visits/dialogue sessions with managementPeriodic town halls and webcastsOngoing leadership engagement and communications, Shift (intranet), email, on-site, message boards, and training programsAnnual performance appraisal mechanisms and dialoguesEngagement survey (biennially)Ongoing customer relationship management through sales representativeAnnual commercial eventsAnnual customer-satisfaction surveysCustomer service centers and help linesDaily procurement interactionsOngoing capacity building programs (i.e. Supplier portal)Supplier sustainability guidanceAnnual integrated report and conservation booksProject specific and partnership collaborationOngoing one-to-one meetings with community leaders, government officials and organizationsQuarterly community advisory panels, dialogue sessions and town hall meetingsAnnual open house days at operating sitesOngoing educational programs on sustainability and capacity and skills trainingParticipation in local career eventsDevelopment of community infrastructure, volunteering and social investment initiativesDevelopment of inclusive business programsRegular meetings, webcasts and conference callsQuarterly financial updates and guidanceAnnual integrated reportOngoing website updates and press releasesAnnual CEMEX Day investor eventAnnual integrated report and conservation booksOngoing public policy discussionsLong-term partnershipsPeriodic meetings and working groupsPeriodic plant visitsEvents and conferencesPeriodic MeetingsAnnual conferencesOngoing working groupsOngoing research studiesOUTCOMESWorldwide permanent efforts to reach our zero fatalities and zero injuries goalBetter understanding of employees needs and professional growth expectationsCustomer centricity strategyClear understanding of our customers needs and concernsCEMEX Supplier Sustainability ProgramInclusion of human rights, labor, antitrust and sustainability clauses in our contracts and purchase ordersPromotion of local suppliersKnowledge generation and sharingStrategic partnerships and alliances to multiply our efforts and achieve our goalsCreation of social and inclusive businessesGeneration of empowerment, and capacity-buildingImprovement to community infrastructure and well-beingDevelopment of learning opportunitiesOpen communication and feedbackUnderstanding of CEMEX financial position, performance and business perspectives and risksUnderstanding of management and corporate ESG practicesCollaboration and communication with governments and regulatory bodiesSuccessful adaptations to new local, national and regional regulationsDevelopment of coordinated initiatives with trade associationsBest practices sharing67



 OUR STRATEGY4OUR OPERATINGMODELLeveraging our global networkMetro 4. Budapest, Hungary68



 4 | Our operating modelWE STRIVE TO CREATE SOLID RELATIONSHIPS WITH OUR CUSTOMERS, BUILDING THE FOUNDATIONS FOR LONG-LASTING PARTNERSHIPS.We leverage our global knowledge and scale to establish best practices and common processes worldwide in order to operate more effectively and achieve the greatest value. We accomplish this by sharing whatwe know, supporting each other, and eliminating any boundaries that may separate us.This philosophy is the foundation upon which we built CEMEX Operating Model. We developed the model so that every function—corporate, regional, and country (business unit) level—is united toward acommon objective. The model consists of four integrated building blocks:1. VALUE CHAINThrough local execution, our business units deliver the greatest value to our customers and achieve the greatest value for CEMEX. The value chain represents the core of our business with P&L responsibility.2. GLOBAL NETWORKSEstablished to maximize value chain performance across business units (BUs)—operating as “One CEMEX”—these networks leverage our worldwide scale to create a competitive advantage. Using a commonblueprint, they mobilize the organization to coordinate and launch high priority, global initiatives.3. SUPPORT FUNCTIONSOur Strategic, Governance, and Compliance functions, as well as our Centers of Excellence, help enhance value delivery by enabling our business units to focus on value chain execution and achieving ourstrategic goals. Collectively, they define and enforce global policies, and they provide technical knowledge and specialized tools for continuous improvement.4. TRANSACTIONAL FUNCTIONSThese functions provide centralized support to improve execution efficiency. Key goals are to maximize standardization of processes and minimize transactional costs of doing business.Value ChainAs the core of our business, our business units are the platform on which our management team executes and delivers value for our stakeholders. Fundamentally, our business units translate our strategy intoresults throughout the supply chain—from raw materials supply to delivery of our products and solutions. This includes all of our interactions with our customers, suppliers, and communities. Intimatelyconnected through our different Global Networks and guided by our Support and Transactional Functions, our business units (BUs) are grouped into five regions: USA, Mexico, South, Central America and theCaribbean (SCA&C), Europe, and Asia, Middle East and Africa (AMEA).Global NetworksAlthough each of our regions and businesses are strong, we are even stronger when sharing ideas and working together. Through our Global Networks, we operate as “One CEMEX”—creating value for ourstakeholders through global collaboration and integration.CUSTOMER CENTRICITYCustomer centricity is one of our top priorities. Through the Customer Centricity Global Network, we strive to create solid relationships with our customers, building the foundations for long-lastingpartnerships.We collaborate to identify practices and processes we can replicate and leverage to better serve our customers. We challenge, push, and support local commercial teams to achieve ambitious goals, and ensure weeffectively invest in tools and technologies to improve customer service and productivity.69



 4 | Our operating modelOUR GOAL IS TO RUN THE SAFEST, MOST EFFICIENT CEMENT OPERATIONS IN THE WORLD.In order to deliver value for our customers, as well as our business, the Customer Centricity network has built an institutional sales management process to standardize commercial management practices acrossall of our lines of business. Through this process, we can better drive results by ensuring our strategic and tactical commercial decisions are executed according to high standards of excellence.2016 Key achievements for Customer CentricityIn 2016, we launched CEMEX Digital Commercial Model (DCM), identifying customer pain points while integrating a 360-degree expertise approach to solution design, development, and deployment.Additionally, we defined our Customer Centricity framework, incorporating our Customer Journey Experience and DCM. We further generated US$339 million in additional EBITDA through our cement Valuebefore Volume track.CEMENT OPERATIONSOur goal is to run the safest, most efficient cement operations in the world, while offering the best quality, highest value, customer-oriented products and services. Through the Cement Operations GlobalNetwork, we strive to build on our long track record of lean operations to create efficiencies and ensure a high level of customer responsiveness. Our employees are engaged, well trained, and fully committed toworking in a sustainable way as one CEMEX team worldwide.With geographically diverse operations, we dispose of waste generated in our production processes in accordance with local regulations. Cement kiln dust represents the greatest amount of waste produced.Accordingly, we often reuse this dust in our cement production and other processes. To realize the financial and environmental benefits of waste, we monitor, minimize, reuse, and recycle all of our wastes,whenever possible.OPERATIVE EFFICIENCYTrimmed number of kilns not reaching 90% operating efficiency in half, thus achieving bene-fits of over US$10 million due to additional clinker production and reduced need to transfer/ import clinkerKicked off kiln efficiency task force for the U.S. to define action plans for every kiln not reaching our efficiency objectiveOPERATIONAL EXCELLENCEStarted standard organization project with agreed baseline for benchmarkExecuting cultural change to lean management, with over 3,000 employees trained as “green belts,” while capturing US$6 million from improvement initiativesMAINTENANCEGlobally completed basic reliability centered maintenance (RCM) trainingDeployed outage planning and execution model, resulting in a four-day reduction in global average and US$11 million in variable cost savingsBEST PRACTICES IMPLEMENTATIONSuccessfully deployed fuel optimization initiatives, yielding benefits of over US$75 million mainly from Egypt’s conversion to petcokeContinued deployment of Electricity and Quality tracks to negotiate prices and optimize raw material mix, capturing US$14 million in variable cost savingsOPERATIONS MODELCompleted initial detailed definitions of standard processes and procedures for maintenance, quality, and plant management70



 4 | Our operating modelOUR OBJECTIVE IS TO DEVELOP OUR AGGREGATES BUSINESS TO GROW SUSTAINABLY AND TO CREATE GREATER VALUE.The network is committed to achieving synergies across all of our operations. Our main focus is on optimizing our fuel mix, electric, and maintenance costs, while maximizing our kilns’ efficiency.2016 Key achievements for Cement OperationsIn 2016, we achieved US$120 million in benefits with our reductions in variable and fixed costs. Also, the consolidated operating efficiency of our kilns increased 1 percentage point—reaching 89% for the year.AGGREGATESOur main objective is to develop a superior model that en-ables our aggregates business to grow sustainably and to cre-ate greater value for our customers and other stakeholders.Key elements of the Aggregates Global Network model includestrategically managing the depletion and replenishment ofour reserves, optimizing our operations, using transportationas a lever of value creation, and offering distinct value propo-sitions by customer segment.Another primary objective of the network is achieving full costrecovery (FCR), including capital costs measured on a normal-ized reserve base at current market value on a per-ton basis.We have developed detailed action plans per quarry to ensureconsistency and enable us to consider all of the factors thatwill contribute to our 100% FCR goal—from pricing to loweringour asset base, reducing costs, and increasing efficiency.VALUE BEFORE VOLUMEConducted FCR workshops in 40 quarries, identifying US$18 million in potential benefitsApproximately 77% of our volume is at FCRIncreased income from Value-Added Aggregates Solutions (VAAS) by 15.4%Internally launched NEOGEM, umbrella brand for VAAS productsASSET MANAGEMENTFinished aggregates replenishment as planned for the yearIdentified technologies to reduce slow moving inventoriesImplemented Aggregates Development PlanOPERATIONAL EXCELLENCEExecuted Standard Organization internal and external benchmarks, opportunities for head-count and maintenance cost savings of US$17.4 millionProgressed on maintenance standardsIdentified additional productivity benefits of US$12 million together with FCR workshopsTALENT MANAGEMENTKicked off new track to ensure talent pipelineBuilt core team around three work streams: retention, development, and recruitmentOutlined roadmap for 2017We are using a new methodology based on market tiers to guide where to invest and secure replenishment of our aggregates reserves in key markets. Additionally, we set a new stretch inventory optimizationtarget for finished-goods inventory reduction.2016 key achievements for AggregatesIn 2016, we replenished 115 million tons of our aggregates reserves. We also reduced our inventories by US$18.8 million or 15% compared with the prior year. We further captured income of US$17.4 millionfrom services and surcharges.71



 4 | Our operating modelOUR GOAL IS TO CAPTURE THE FULL VALUE OF THE READY-MIXCONCRETE PRODUCTS AND SERVICES WE DELIVER TO OUR CUSTOMERS.READY-MIXThrough the Ready Mix Global Network, we help our concrete operations contribute to our company as a profitable, stand-alone business—journeying from a cost-based to a value-driven enterprise. Our goal isto capture the full value of the ready-mix concrete products and services we deliver to our customers and, thus, realize the entire value proposition of our product lines.We offer a wide range of ready-mix products and services, together with technical support for our different types of ready-mix concrete. Depending on the type of application and jobsite requirements, we candesign concrete that is stronger, more fluid, develops strength faster, and retains workability longer. At CEMEX’s Global Center for Technology and Innovation, our researchers further design special concretesthat fulfill the construction industry’s increasingly demanding performance requirements.2016 key achievements for Ready-mixIn 2016, we captured US$186 million of operating cash flow from services and fees, an incremental improvement of US$6 million from 2015. Through the global deployment of our Value-Added ProductsCommercial framework, we realized incremental benefits of US$15 million compared with the prior year.VALUE BEFORE VOLUMEProgressed in key services and surcharges (i.e., sustainability surcharge, and returned concrete and cancelation fee)Completed and piloted training program on each of the elements of Value before VolumeVALUE-ADDED PRODUCTSGlobal deployment of Value-Added Products Commercial frameworkSMALL-END CUSTOMERSImproved volume and penetration in this important segment, realizing US$7 million in incremental benefits versus 2015Replicated different processes across our operations (i.e., Inside Sales Scheme) to enable key business capabilities to better serve this segmentDefined Small-End Customers Business Model and Customer JourneysOPERATIONAL EXCELLENCEExecuted Standard Organization benchmarks, theoretical opportunities for headcount savings of US$16.1 millionCompleted deployment of basic training skills in key operations through Order Management Certification ProgramASSET MANAGEMENTDefined Asset Footprint and Real State frameworksSUPPLY CHAINWith operations in more than 50 countries, the primary focus of the Supply Chain Global Network is to create a competitive advantage and deliver more value to our customers by continuously improving ourlogistics capabilities. By defining the right logistics model, we can develop global benchmarks with common measurement standards, identify best-in-class practices to replicate where applicable, and foster aglobal culture of best practice sharing and collaboration.Through our end-to-end supply chain model, we plan and coordinate activities along the value chain, including:Sales forecasting and operations planningFreight managementNetwork optimizationThe network provides a variety of benefits, including:Improved customer serviceReduced order cycle timesBetter forecasting (MAPE)Lower distribution expensesLess inventory2016 Key Achievements for Supply ChainIn 2016, we launched our Sales and Operations (S&OP) processes and tools in six countries/regions, realizing production and distribution cost benefits of US$8 million. Moreover, we implemented our freightmanagement process for cement and aggregates in 13 countries, capturing US$14 million in benefits for the year.72



 4 | Our operating modelSTRATEGIC AND TACTICAL PLANNINGDeveloped global S&OP model and playbooksLaunched S&OP processes and tools in the U.S., Mexico, Colombia, the UK, the Philippines, and Eastern EuropePrepared a global standard data extraction modelDeployed demand tool (SAP IBP) in the U.S. and MexicoDeveloped Supply Planning model (JDA) for the U.S., Mexico, Colombia, the U.K., the Philippines, and Eastern EuropeTRANSPORTMANAGEMENTDeveloped a global methodology and replication playbookImplemented freight management process for cement and aggregates in 13 countriesIdentified and documented 63 best practices for replicationEnabled centralized reporting system to follow up on benefit harvestingORDER FULFILLMENTEnabled a global track to foster the evolution of our Order and Transportation Management capabilities, aligned with our DigitalORGANIZATIONTRANSFORMATIONDefined objective mindset and Supply Chain frameworkDeveloped Supply Chain Foundations courseCompleted Supply Chain Academy proof of concept in MexicoWE AIM TO CREATE A COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE AND DELIVER MORE VALUE TO OUR CUSTOMERS BY CONTINUOUSLY IMPROVING OUR LOGISTICS CAPABILITIES.GROW THE PIEWith more than one million people added to the urban population each week, the world faces incredible infrastructure and housing challenges. At CEMEX, the Grow the Pie Global Network is focused onincreasing the market penetration of our products. We seek to make concrete the material of choice for infrastructure, energy-efficient buildings, and low-income housing in all of our markets.We create more value for our customers by offering them a wide array of innovative construction solutions that help them increase their productivity and profitability, reduce construction cycles, and build moreresilient infrastructure and resource-efficient residential, commercial, and industrial buildings. Through the network, we help meet today’s challenges by delivering a range of concrete-based solutions, such as:Providing resilient and low-impact infrastructure Contributing to the construction of affordable housing Integrating and promoting innovative solutions for energy-efficient buildings.2016 Key Achievements for Grow the PieGlobally, we paved an area equal to 27.1 million m2 with our concrete- and cement-based solutions, generating integrated operating cash flow of US$115 million in 2016. We also constructed an area of almost11 million m2 with our concrete-based building solutions, generating integrated operating cash flow of US$36 million for the year.73



 4 | Our operating modelWE COLLECTIVELY MANAGE OUR BUSINESS AS ONE EFFICIENT GLOBAL ENTERPRISE. IN SHORT, WE ASPIRE TO BE A LEAN, EFFICIENT OPERATOR.PAVINGSold 4.4 million m3 of concrete and 619,000 tons of cement through Grow the Pie (GTP) solutionsSuccessfully expanded Roller Compacted Concrete (RCC) in Mexico, Egypt, the U.S., the UAE, and the UKReduced the number of turnkey projects by 15% and increased the number of projects through third-parties by 9%BUILDING SOLUTIONSSuccessfully expanded Insulated Concrete Forms (ICF) in the UK, Germany, and FranceIncreased penetration of concrete bricks in the UK, while introducing them in FranceReceived very successful reception for Cast-in-Place formworks from housing industry forums in the PhilippinesThrough our Global Networks, we collectively manage our business as one efficient global enterprise—ensuring that CEMEX is much more than the sum of its parts. In short, we aspire to be a lean, efficientoperator.During 2016, we delivered on our cost and expense reduction target of US$150 million. We reduced our cost of sales and operating expenses as a share of sales by 1.8 and 0.3 percentage points, respectively,leading to a 1.7 percentage point expansion in our operating EBITDA margin to 20.5% for the year. While that’s good by industry standards, we know we can do even better.Support functionsSupport functions are responsible for the design, institutionalization, and audit of our global policies and processes. They also coordinate and support our Global Networks and their local counterparts to definesolutions required by the BUs. These functions further ensure local needs are considered and incorporated into the solutions deployed and determine performance metrics, as well as targets for key local positionsand processes. Support functions include human resources,planning, sustainability, energy, and finance, among others.Distribuidor Vial. Manzanillo, MexicoTransactional functionsThese functions comprise our centralized areas that perform high frequency, standardized activities conducted daily, enabling other CEMEX areas to evolve and deliver additional value. CEMEX’s transactionalfunctions include our distinct Global Service Organization and Vendor Management Office.ONE SINGLE MODELThrough our One Single Model initiative, our Global Service Organization is creating value throughout our company by generating cost savings, capturing economies of scale, and improving overalladministrative effectiveness and process efficiency. As a result of this initiative, we achieved annual savings of US$14 million for the year. Among our accomplishments in the U.S., we centralized andconsolidated our organizational structure under one single Operational Support Area. We standardized our commercial administrative support processes, services, and organizational model. We are also aligningour cement and aggregates material valuation and costing process with our global model. Additionally, in Europe, we established a multilingual Expertise Service Center in the Czech Republic, designed to offerqualified accounting and finance support to our regional operations. Key processes include management of accounts payable and receivable, human resources, and payroll, as well as controllership and financialreporting. The portfolio of services has evolved from mainly transactional services to now incorporate a wide range of knowledge-based services and analytics for decision-making.The goal of these separate areas is to ensure the highest level of service and optimal control, while achieving economies of scale and minimizing transactional costs. Service Level Agreements are used to measureservice performance and ensure reliable information.74
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 5.1 | Corporate governanceOUR GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT PRACTICES ARE GUIDED BY OUR RELENTLESS COMMITMENT TO CREATING LONG-TERM SHAREHOLDER VALUE.CEMEX’s Board of Directors and management are committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance. As a public company, we are stewards of other people’s money. They invest with usto achieve superior long-term returns at acceptable risk.As such, it is imperative that we keep a tight reign on risks associated with ethics and compliance and keep our investors fully informed of all activities and ensure our financial disclosures meet the highestethical standards. Our governance practices represent a key lever to long-term value creation. Our corporate governance practices are governed by our bylaws and all applicable provisions mainly in both Mexicanand U.S. securities laws. We adhere to all applicable Mexican regulations, as well as NYSE and U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission requirements for foreign private issuers, including the Sarbanes-OxleyAct of 2002 (SOX). Also, we voluntarily comply with the Mexican Code of Best Practices, which provides recommendations for better corporate practices for listed companies in Mexico. Beyond complianceand strict adherence to the law, we manage CEMEX with the utmost integrity. Everything we do rests on this foundation.The CEMEX Board of Directors is composed of qualified directors who provide appropriate oversight, and includes directors that meet the independence criteria under applicable laws. In addition, one member ofour audit committee meets the requirements of a “financial expert” as defined by SOX. In 2016, the board, led by Chairman Rogelio Zambrano, included 13 directors, nine of whom qualify as independentdirectors according to criteria specified under Mexican Securities Law. During the year, the board met six times to report on a wide range of relevant issues, including sustainability-related concerns and financialstrategy, with average board meeting attendance of approximately 92%.Although our Board of Directors is responsible for supervising the company’s overall operation, all CEMEX employees play a critical role in enforcing good governance and financial reporting practices. We havecreated a collaborative environment that includes: 1) A system to ensure relevant information reaches senior management in a timely manner; 2) A system for anonymously and confidentially communicating tothe audit committee complaints and concerns regarding accounting and audit issues; 3) A process for anonymously and confidentially submitting complaints related to unethical conduct and misuse of assets; and4) A task force to follow legal requirements and best corporate-governance practices and, when appropriate, propose further improvements. Our Code of Ethics reflects the requirements of SOX.Our governance and management practices are guided by our relentless commitment to creating long-term shareholder value. These practices are among the reasons we have grown from a regional Mexico-basedcompany to a global industry player. They are also why we are regularly one of the most profitable companies among our global industry peers. And they are a part of the reason that we are well-positioned forcontinued success.BOARD OF DIRECTORS1Non-Independent DirectorsRogelio Zambrano LozanoChairman of the BoardFernando Angel González OlivieriTomás Milmo SantosIan Christian Armstrong ZambranoIndependent DirectorsArmando J. García SegoviaRodolfo García MurielRoberto Luis Zambrano VillarrealDionisio Garza MedinaJosé Manuel Rincón Gallardo PurónFrancisco Javier Fernández CarbajalArmando Garza SadaDavid Martínez GuzmánEverardo Elizondo AlmaguerSecretaryRamiro G. Villarreal Morales(not a member of the Board)1 As of December 31, 2016.76



 5.1 | Corporate governanceBOARD OF DIRECTORSAUDIT COMMITTEESUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEECORPORATE PRACTICES AND FINANCE COMMITTEECEOFernando A. GonzálezEVP STRATEGIC PLANNING & BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTJuan Pablo San Agustín• Strategic Planning• Business DevelopmentEVP ADMINISTRATION & ORGANIZATIONLuis Hernández• Human Resources• Processes & IT• Global Services• Vendor Management• NEORISEVP LEGALRamiro Villarreal• LegalEVP FINANCE (CFO)José Antonio González• Finance• Controllership• Taxes• Process AssessmentEVP INVESTOR RELATIONS,COMMUNICATIONS & PAMaher Al-Haffar• Investor Relations• Communications• Public AffairsEVP CORPORATEAFFAIRS & ERMMauricio Doehner• Corporate Affairs• Enterprise Risk Management• Corporate Social ResponsibilityPRESIDENT CEMEX MEXICOJuan Romero• Mexico• Global Sourcing• Digital Commercial ModelPRESIDENT CEMEX USAIgnacio Madridejos• United States• Health & Safety• Energy• SustainabilityPRESIDENT CEMEX SCA&CJaime Muguiro• Colombia• Panama• Costa Rica• Nicaragua• Guatemala• Dominican Republic & the Caribbean• Puerto Rico• Peru, Brazil & ArgentinaPRESIDENT CEMEX EUROPEJaime Elizondo• Spain• UK• France• Germany• Czech Republic• Poland• Latvia• Scandinavia• Croatia• Global Operations & TechnicalPRESIDENT CEMEX AMEAJoaquín Estrada• Philippines• Malaysia• Egypt• Israel• United Arab Emirates• Global Trading• Supply ChainAs of December 31, 2016.77



 5.1 | Corporate governanceAUDIT COMMITTEE1The Audit Committee is responsible for evaluating our internal controls and procedures and identifying deficiencies; following up with corrective and preventive measures in response to any non-compliance withour operation and accounting guidelines and policies; evaluating the performance of our external auditors; describing and valuing non-audit services performed by our external auditors; reviewing our financialstatements; assessing the effects of any modifications to the accounting policies approved during any fiscal year; and overseeing measures adopted as a result of any observations made by our shareholders,directors, executive officers, employees or any third parties with respect to accounting, internal controls, and internal and external audit, as well as any complaints regarding management irregularities, includinganonymous and confidential methods for addressing concerns raised by employees and analyzing the risks identified by CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.’s independent auditors, accounting, internal control and processassessment areas. During 2016, the Audit Committee met four times with average meeting attendance of approximately 94%.José Manuel Rincón Gallardo PurónPresidentRoberto Luis Zambrano VillarrealRodolfo García MurielFrancisco Javier Fernández CarbajalCORPORATE PRACTICES AND FINANCE COMMITTEE1CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.’s Corporate Practices Committee and Finance Committee is responsible for evaluating the hiring, firing and compensation of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.’s chief executive officer;reviewing the hiring and compensation policies for CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.’s executive officers; reviewing related party transactions; reviewing policies regarding use of corporate assets; reviewing unusual ormaterial transactions; evaluating waivers granted to our directors or executive officers regarding seizure of corporate opportunities; identifying, evaluating and following up on the operating risks affecting thecompany and its subsidiaries; evaluating the company’s financial plans; reviewing the company’s financial strategy and its implementation; and evaluating mergers, acquisitions, review of market information andfinancial plans, including financing and related transactions. During 2016, the Corporate Practices and Finance Committee met six times with average meeting attendance of approximately 96%.Dionisio Garza MedinaPresidentFrancisco Javier Fernández CarbajalRodolfo García MurielArmando Garza SadaSUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE1The Sustainability Committee is responsible for ensuring sustainable development in our strategy; supporting our Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibility to shareholders regarding sustainable growth;evaluating the effectiveness of sustainability programs and initiatives; providing assistance to our Chief Executive Officer and senior management team regarding the strategic direction on sustainability; andendorsing our model of sustainability, priorities, and key indicators. During 2016, the Sustainability Committee met four times with an attendance of 100%.Armando J. García SegoviaPresidentFrancisco Javier Fernández CarbajalIan Christian Armstrong Zambrano78



 5.1 | Corporate governanceEXECUTIVE COMMITTEEFERNANDO A. GONZÁLEZ (62)Chief Executive OfficerSince joining CEMEX in 1989, Fernando A. González has held several senior management positions, including President of major operations in South America, Europe, the Middle East, Africa and Asia. Healso led several corporate areas including Finance, Planning, Administration, and Human Resources. He was appointed Chief Executive Officer in 2014. Fernando holds a Bachelor’s Degree and a Master’s Degreein Business Administration from Tecnológico de Monterrey.MAHER AL-HAFFAR (58)Executive Vice President of Investor Relations, Corporate Communications and Public AffairsMaher Al-Haffar has been with CEMEX since 2000. Prior to his current position, he was Vice President of Investor Relations, Corporate Communications & Public Affairs. He also served as a ManagingDirector in Finance and Head of Investor Relations for the company. Before joining CEMEX, Maher spent 19 years with Citicorp Securities Inc. and Santander Investment Securities as an investment banker andcapital markets professional. Maher holds a B.S. in Economics from the University of Texas and a Master’s Degree in International Relations and Finance from Georgetown University.MAURICIO DOEHNER (42)Executive Vice President of Corporate Affairs and Enterprise Risk ManagementMauricio Doehner joined CEMEX in 1996 and has held several executive positions in areas such as Strategic Planning and Enterprise Risk Management for Europe, Asia, the Middle East, South America, andMexico. He is currently in charge of Corporate Affairs and Enterprise Risk Management. Mauricio has also worked in the public sector within the Mexican Presidency. Mauricio earned a B.A. in Economics fromTecnológico de Monterrey and an MBA from IESE/IPADE. He also has a Professional Certification in Competitive Intelligence in Boston, Massachusetts.JAIME ELIZONDO (53)President CEMEX EuropeJaime Elizondo joined CEMEX in 1985, and since then, he has headed several operations, including Panama, Colombia, Venezuela, Mexico, and more recently, our operations in South, Central America and theCaribbean. Currently, he is President of CEMEX Europe, and he is also in charge of the company’s global Technology area. He graduated with a B.S. in Chemical and Systems Engineering and an MBA fromTecnológico de Monterrey.JOAQUÍN ESTRADA (53)President CEMEX Asia, Middle East and AfricaSince he joined CEMEX in 1992, Joaquín Estrada has held several executive positions, including head of operations in Egypt and Spain, and more recently, our operations in Asia. Currently, he is President ofCEMEX Asia, Middle East, and Africa, and he is also responsible for the company’s global Trading area. Joaquín graduated with a B.A. in Economics from the University of Zaragoza, and holds an MBA fromthe Instituto de Empresa.JOSÉ ANTONIO GONZÁLEZ (46)Chief Financial OfficerJose Antonio González joined CEMEX in 1998 and since then he has held management positions in corporate and operating areas in Finance, Strategic Planning, and Corporate Communications and PublicAffairs. He is currently responsible for CEMEX’s Finance, Controllership, Tax and Process Assessment areas. Mr. González has a B.S. in Industrial and Management Systems Engineering from Tecnológico deMonterrey and an M.B.A. from Stanford University.79



 5.1 | Corporate governanceLUIS HERNÁNDEZ (53)Executive Vice President of Administration and OrganizationLuis Hernández joined CEMEX in 1996, and he has held senior management positions in the Strategic Planning and Human Resources areas. Currently, he is responsible for global Organization and HumanResources, Processes and IT, Digital Innovation Development, Global Service Organization (GSO), Vendor Management Office (VMO), and Neoris. Luis graduated with a degree in Civil Engineering fromTecnológico de Monterrey, and he holds a Master’s degree in Civil Engineering and an MBA from the University of Texas at Austin.IGNACIO MADRIDEJOS (51)President CEMEX USAIgnacio Madridejos joined CEMEX in 1996, and after holding management positions in the Strategic Planning area, he headed CEMEX operations in Egypt, Spain, Western Europe, and more recently, NorthernEurope. Currently, he is President of CEMEX USA, and he is also responsible for the company’s global Health & Safety, Energy, and Sustainability areas. Ignacio graduated with an MSc in Civil Engineeringfrom the Polytechnic University of Madrid, and holds an MBA from Stanford University.JAIME MUGUIRO (48)President CEMEX South, Central America and the CaribbeanJaime Muguiro joined CEMEX in 1996, and he has held several executive positions in the areas of Strategic Planning, Business Development, Ready-Mix Concrete, Aggregates, and Human Resources. Heheaded CEMEX operations in Egypt, and more recently, our operations in the Mediterranean region. Currently, he is President of CEMEX South, Central America and the Caribbean. He graduated with aManagement degree from San Pablo CEU University, and he holds a Law degree from the Complutense University of Madrid and an MBA from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.JUAN ROMERO (60)President CEMEX MexicoJuan Romero joined CEMEX in 1989, and he has held several positions within the organization, including President of CEMEX operations in Colombia, Mexico, the South America and Caribbean region, andthe Europe, Middle East, Africa, and Asia region. Currently, he is President of CEMEX Mexico, and he is also in charge of the company’s global Procurement area. Juan Romero graduated from the Universityof Comillas, where he studied Law, Economics, and Management.JUAN PABLO SAN AGUSTÍN (48)Executive Vice President of Strategic Planning and New Business DevelopmentJuan Pablo San Agustín joined CEMEX in 1994, and he has held executive positions in the Strategic Planning, Continuous Improvement, e-Business, and Marketing areas. Currently, he is Executive VicePresident of Strategic Planning and New Business Development. He graduated with a B.S. from Metropolitan University, and holds an MBA from the Instituto de Empresa.RAMIRO VILLARREAL (69)Executive Vice President of Legal and Secretary of the Board of DirectorsRamiro Villarreal joined CEMEX in 1987 and has served as General Counsel since then and as Secretary of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.’s Board of Directors since 1995. Mr. Villarreal will retire as GeneralCounsel of CEMEX effective as of June 1, 2017 and from CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. effective as of December 31, 2017. After retiring as General Counsel of CEMEX he will serve as advisor to the Chairman ofthe Board of Directors and to the Chief Executive Officer of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. He is a graduate of the Universidad Autónoma de Nuevo León with a degree in law with honorary citation. He also receiveda master of science degree in finance from the University of Wisconsin and was appointed to the Roll of Honor. Prior to joining CEMEX, he served as deputy general director of Grupo Financiero Banpaís from1985 to 1987.80



 SDG 165.2 | Ethics and transparencyOur governance and management practices are guided by our relentless commitment to creating long-term shareholder value.CEMEXSTRENGTHENING BUSINESS ETHICS, COMPLIANCE AND TRANSPARENCYWe strive to enhance our reputation as a responsible and sustainable company in order to help attract and retain employees, customers, suppliers, and investors, as well as to maintain good relationships in thecommunities where we operate. That is why “Act with Integrity” is one of the five core values driving our company forward.CEMEX’s Code of EthicsWe established our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct to ensure all of our employees abide by the same high standards of conduct. The Code governs our relationships with all of our stakeholders andaddresses anti-bribery, related-person transactions, workplace health and safety, environmental responsibility, confidentiality terms, conflicts of interest, financial controls and records, and preservation of assets.Through our ethics committees, training programs, global integrity campaigns, and secure internal communications channels, we ensure awareness and enforcement of the Code. We periodically evaluate itsprovisions and update it as needed.Our reporting mechanism – ETHOS lineIf there are concerns or suspected violations pertaining to ethics, governance or compliance, it’s important that employees and the general public have a trusted place to which they can turn. Managed by a thirdparty, our ETHOS line provides an online portal and phone line for sending comments, requesting advice, and submitting complaints on these topics. This secure portal is available 24 hours a day, seven days aweek. It is open and free for all to use.Rather than aiming for zero cases on paper, our goal is to actually find the cases where our Code of Ethics was violated. For example, a reported case at our CEMEX Latam Holdings subsidiary represented anopportunity to continue improving our risk management systems, corporate governancepractices, and internal control and audit processes. In 2016, after receiving a report through ETHOS line, an internal audit identified inadequate accounting procedures that violated our accounting policies relatingto our new cement plant under construction in the city of Maceo, Colombia. In addition to our open and transparent disclosure of the internal audit’s results, we brought them to the attention of the Colombianauthorities, and issued strict disciplinary sanctions—terminating two executives and accepting the resignation of the former CEO of our subsidiary. Among other corrective measures, we separated the positions ofCEO for CEMEX Colombia and for CEMEX Latam Holdings, implemented multiple changes to our management practices, enhanced our internal controls and lines of reporting, strengthened our internal auditprocesses, and launched a comprehensive internal ethics communications campaign.CEMEX POLAND WINS ETHICAL COMPANY AWARDFor the second consecutive year, CEMEX Poland earned the title of Ethical Company. From a field of 200 local and global companies across the country, CEMEX Poland was selected for putting in placeprocesses, solutions, and leadership practices that encourage an ethics and values-based culture. Puls Biznesu, a leading Polish business journal, and PwC Poland, who act as auditors, organize the competition.81



 SDG 10, 165.2 | Ethics and transparencyALMOST 9,000 HOURS DEDICATED TO BUSINESSETHICS-RELATED TRAINING IN 2016.ETHOS line reports statistics394359453141516ETHOSlineRAISE YOUR VOICEAGAINST DISCRIMINATION!Among our global ethics communications campaigns, we empowered our employees to identify and take action to prevent workplace discrimination. Recognizing that our strength resides in our multiculturalbackground, we reminded employees of our shared responsibility to report any discriminatory behavior they witnessed on the job.CRIMINATIONOUR CODE OF ETHICSPROTECTS YOURHUMAN RIGHTS.Discrimination: Discrimination Being disrespected for traits such as age, race, ethinicity, religion, disability, material status or sexual orientation, among other factors.ETHOSlineETHOSLIVING OUR VALUESCATEGORYHuman Resources, Diversity, and Workplace RespectBusiness IntegrityMisuse/Misappropriation of Corporate AssetsEnvironmental Health & SafetyOtherGRAND TOTALTOTAL REPORTED CASES1317236445453Overall, from a total of 453 cases reported through ETHOS line in 2016, 308 were closed, of which 194 were found to be true and 115 disciplinary actions were taken. From the true cases reported, 52 employeeswere dismissed as a result of investigations.Business ethics training and communicationAll of our employees are informed of CEMEX business ethics principles in various ways, including via our Code of Ethics, internal communications and displays, face-to-face and online legal training throughour intranet Shift ETHOS Policy Center, legal audits, global compliance policies, and other related activities. In 2016, more than 580 communications campaigns to strengthen employees’ awareness of businessethics and human rights issues were deployed across all of our business units, including our corporate headquarters, with each of them reaching up to 18,000 employees. These campaigns also help to promoteour company values and to inform our employees about unacceptable behavior such as discrimination, improper treatment, mobbing, theft, and workplace harassment, as well as to reinforce our institutionalreporting mechanisms.TOPICCode of Ethics & Business Conduct and ETHOS lineConflict of interestWorkplace behavior/harassmentCompetition and antitrustAnti-corruption and anti-briberyNoncompliance with company policiesData privacyDiscriminationConfidential informationInsider tradingOtherGRAND TOTALTOTAL TRAINING HOURS3,5581,4611,2586666164891286355175588,87282



 SDG 8, 165.2 Ethics and transparencyWE ALIGN OUR OPERATIONS AND STRATEGIES WITH THE 10 UN GLOBAL COMPACT PRINCIPLES ESTABLISHED AROUND HUMAN RIGHTS, LABOR, ENVIRONMENT AND ANTI-CORRUPTION.During 2016, a substantial amount of employees received training related to business ethics, dedicating almost 9,000 hours to subjects such as our Code of Ethics and ETHOS line, anti-bribery, antitrust, andconfidential information, among others. Additionally, during the year, approximately 225 relevant executives in 15 targeted countries dedicated 450 hours, receiving training on insider trading and anti-briberyissues.Global compliance programWe comply with all applicable laws and internal policies, without exception. CEMEX abides by fair trade and competition principles, and we do not tolerate price-fixing, market allocation, predatory pricing orother illegal market practices. Our Anti-Bribery/Anti-Corruption Global Policy, Global Antitrust Policy, Global Conflict of Interest Policy, Related Person Transactions Policy and Insider Trading Policy outlineour strict procedures and commitment to global expectations and standards. To further ensure our employees act in a manner consistent with our values, the CEMEX Legal Compliance Department haspermanently implemented the Global Compliance Program with a focus on the most sensitive countries related to corruption risks in our business systems and processes. Through this program, internal legalaudits (“dawn raids”) and legal trainings for employees are conducted with a focus on antitrust, anti-bribery and insider trading issues. As part of the program, in 2016, we conducted approximately 200 internallegal audits in 15 countries. Our Code of Ethics reflects the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX). We are in compliance with the applicable sections of SOX, including section 404.Human rightsCEMEX respects all human rights, including those set forth in the International Bill of Human Rights, as well as the principles concerning fundamental labor rights set out in the International LabourOrganization’s Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work.We also embrace the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, and as a signatory member of the UN Global Compact, we align our operations and strategies with the 10 Principles establishedaround Human Rights, Labor, Environment and Anti-Corruption. We annually submit an Advanced Communication of Progress (COP) to the Global Compact, demonstrating our strong commitment to theadherence to these principles. This framework and these principles shaped our Corporate Human Rights Policy, signed by our CEO in 2014. In accordance with this policy, CEMEX upholds these principlesacross our operations, including those in occupied territories. For more information click here.In addition, employees, stakeholders and other third parties are encouraged to report any potential human rights violation to the Human Resources Department, the Local Ethics Committee or through ourETHOS line.CEMEX POLAND PROMOTES DIVERSITY BY EXAMPLECEMEX Poland developed a Diversity Management Policy designed to implement solutions and to create an engaging workenvironment with high diversity standards—where diverse groups of people may fully develop their professional potential and deliver value for our company. This policy focuses on three pillars: gendermanagement, generation management, and inclusive workplace. Additionally, CEMEX Poland is a signatory to the Polish Diversity Charter through which it is committed to undertake extraordinary efforts toassure human rights compliance, equality, and diversity across the organization.Moreover, CEMEX Poland has implemented an Anti-discrimination, Anti-harassment, and Anti-mobbing Policy in the workplace. In this policy, CEMEX’s standpoint is described:We recognize that discrimination, harassment, and mobbing are highly reprehensible actions and any symptoms of these actions will not be accepted under any circumstancesThis kind of behavior is a strong violation of CEMEX Code of Ethics and Business ConductDue the great harm of the above-mentioned actions, employees are obliged to counteract themOur goal is to build employees’ awareness that all forms and symptoms of behavior that cause risk of, or are aimed at, harassment, humiliation, discrimination or abuse of another person will not be acceptedunder any circumstancesWe will provide support to employees who experience harassment, humiliation or any other reprehensible behavior in the workplace.83



 SDG 5, 8, 105.2 Ethics and transparencyWE PROVIDE DIFFERENT AVENUES FOR LISTENING TO EMPLOYEES’ OPINIONS AND INVOLVING THEM IN OUR DECISION-MAKING PROCESSES.CEMEX UK LOGISTICS APPRENTICES GRADUATETen young drivers have graduated from the CEMEX Logistics Apprenticeship scheme and have become the latest aggregate tipper and cement tanker drivers at locations across the country. The drivers were thesecond cohort to take part in the Apprenticeship scheme, which is run over 12 months and helps to address a recognized UK skills gap of an aging driver population by recruiting individuals aged 18 to 23. In theindustry, 62% of drivers are aged 45 years or over with only 1% under 25 years old.To demonstrate our active commitment to pursuing high standards of responsible business conduct, we are going one step further by executing human rights due diligence across the countries in which weoperate. An essential part of this process is the ability to define a monitoring plan and a set of mitigation and remediation actions to prevent and address adverse impacts on human rights.Elimination of discriminationWe forbid all forms of discrimination including, but not limited to, race, creed, gender, marital status, political affiliation and age, and enforce a strict Diversity and Equality Policy. As a predominantly maleindustry, we make it a top priority to create opportunities for women and openly welcome them to our team. We have initiatives and programs for women in place in approximately half of our operatingcountries. We are also committed to creating opportunities for those with disabilities, ensuring our communication and recruitment initiatives reach the members of this community and that our facilities aredesigned to offer appropriate assistance. Approximately 40% of our operating countries have specific programs to integrate disabled people into the workforce, with a total of 244 disabled employees by the end of2016.Freedom of associationCEMEX recognizes, supports, and respects the right of its employees to exercise freedom of association within our operations. Collective agreement clauses vary from country to country depending on thenegotiation reached. Basic contracts include labor conditions, compensation and benefits. Other contracts also include notice period, sick pay, overtime pay, maternity leave, retirement, travel expenses anddevelopment, among others. Employees are also encouraged to participate in employee councils, company meetings, and projects initiated by employee groups. In 60% of the countries in which we operate,employees are represented by a unionor covered under a collective bargaining agreement that deals with topics such as payment, overtime, life insurance, health care, disability and invalidity coverage, parental leave, and retirement provisions, amongothers.Encouraging employee communicationTo encourage open communications, we provide different avenues for listening to employees’ opinions and involving them in our decision-making processes. Examples include suggestion boxes, discussionforums, council meetings, and engagement surveys—the results of which are prioritized and appropriately acted upon.Equal opportunity and fair compensationHiring decisions are made without regard to gender, race, color, age, religion, mental or physical disability, sexual orientation, political affiliation or national origin.Child laborWe are strongly committed to the rules regarding child labor in every country where we operate. We do not tolerate the use of child labor by anyone associated with our business, and require official government-issued identification as part of our hiring and selection process.Forced labor and safe work environmentAt CEMEX, no one is forced to perform any task that is hazardous or detrimental to their health or wellbeing. Our operations in every country comply with the local laws, and we take measures to preventworkers from falling into debt bondage through company loans. All of our employees are free to leave the company at any time, and we do not offer any benefit as leverage to force labor. We also have sociallabor inspectors responsible for following up on workplace environment-related topics. Active social parties (unions, social labor inspectors, employee council) are protected from termination of employment,which assures full independence in relation to the company.84



 SDG 85.2 | Ethics and transparencyMORE THAN 80% OF THE COUNTRIES IN WHICH WE OPERATE HAVE ESTABLISHED CHANNELS FOR EMPLOYEES TO COMMUNICATE THEIR NEEDS AND CONCERNS REGARDINGWORK-LIFE BALANCE.Work-life balanceCEMEX abides by the labor laws of each country in which we operate regarding employees’ weekly work hours. Working hours exceeding legally stated norms are seen as overtime and paid according to locallaw. In all the countries where we operate, we have time attendance systems and a policy regarding overtime. We also comply with local laws governing the maximum amount of overtime allowed and haveprocesses in place in each country to monitor and control overtime hours.More than 80% of the countries in which we operate have established channels for employees to communicate their needs and concerns regarding work-life balance and have implemented initiatives to encouragean appropriate work-life balance based on this feedback.Cycling team, CEMEX Czech RepublicApproximately 100 initiatives to improve work-life balance were implemented across CEMEX business units in 2016, reaching almost 90% of our total employees. Examples include programs that support childand/or elderly care, allow sabbaticals, and offer parental leave and other benefits such as flex-time, home office, work time reduction on Fridays, sports club memberships or discounts, and activities for families’integration, among others.CEMEX PHILIPPINES PROMOTES WORK-LIFE BALANCEDuring 2016, CEMEX Philippines implemented a number of initiatives to promote work-life balance, including:Half-Time Event: In July, employees were treated to a movie screening, where they could bring their family members.Summer Outing: Employees were treated to a full-day summer activity, giving them a chance to unwind and enjoy the outdoors with colleagues.Wellness Wars: Employees participated in activities that help improve health and wellbeing.Sports Tournament: Employees were encouraged to participate in a variety of games, including basketball, bowling, volleyball, tennis, badminton, table tennis, darts, and chess.Energize: A twice a week program involved various employee wellness activities such as yoga, circuit training, high intensity interval training, knockout, and kickboxing.Hobby Group: Various groups promoted employee health and wellness activities:Running: Employees were able to participate in a marathon run every quarter.Biking: Employees could participate in a quarterly group biking excursion of about 100-150 kilometers.Basketball: Employees were able to participate in local tournaments.Employees and families event, CEMEX UKThames Challenge, CEMEX UK85



 6 VALUE CREATION Driven towards stakeholder valueAeronautical and Aerospace Institute of Puerto Rico86



 6.1 | How our strategy and operating model deliver value creationVALUE CREATION IS AT THE INTERSECTION OF OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY AND OUR OPERATING MODEL.Business begins with value creation. At CEMEX, value creation is formed at the intersection of our business strategy (where we focus), our operating model (how we execute), and our governance model (how wework). When combined, they create short and long-term value for our shareholders, clients, and employees, as well as the communities, suppliers, and organizations with whom we interact.VALUE CREATIONValue creation touches all aspects of our business from key inputs and products to distribution channels across all our markets. It is a continual process that has a defined purpose and mission based on our corevalues. This chart summarizes our path to value creation and provides a guide to how each aspect of our business works together to achieve this central goal.OUR VALUE CREATION MODELWHYour reason for beingPURPOSEBuilding a better futureMISSIONCreate sustainable value by providing industry-leading products and solutions to satisfy the construction needs of our customers around the worldVALUESEnsure safetyFocus on customersPursue excellenceWork as one CEMEXAct with integrityKEY INPUTSMINERAL RESERVESENERGYWHEREwe playSTRATEGYPeople Nº1 assetCustomer CentricityMarket focusSustainabilityPRODUCTSREADY-MIXCEMENTAGGREGATESHOWwe succeedOPERATING MODELGlobal NetworksSupport FunctionsTransactional FunctionsGOVERNANCEGovernanceDISTRIBUTION CHANNELSWHObenefitsSTAKEHOLDERSEmployeesClientsShareholdersCommunities and SuppliersVALUEhow we create valueProvide a great workplace that helps employees growBuild skills and expertiseEnable a strong sense of purposeTailor our offerings to solve our clients’ construction needsMake it easy to work with usProvide enhanced performance and reliabilityGrow revenueReduce costsOptimize assetsKeep a tight rein on risksBe a relevant engine of economic growthBuild more capable, inclusive and resilient communitiesReduce local air, water and waste impacts and conserve biodiversityMARKETSRESIDENTIALCOMMERCIAL INDUSTRIALINFRASTRUCTUREROADSCEMEX SATISFIES CONSTRUCTION NEEDS AROUND THE WORLDThis overarching theme defines value creation for our entire organization and guides us in our efforts to create unique value for our key stakeholders.Delivering value that is relevant to each of our stakeholders requires that we first understand their specific challenges, both locally and globally. We must then apply the insights we’ve gained to deliver value thatmakes a positive impact on their business or relationship with CEMEX.Ezeiza Airport, Argentina87



 G4-24, G4-25, G4-26, G4-276.2 Creating value for our stakeholdersCEMEX is committed to the philosophy of value creation and doing what’s right for our stakeholders—it is embedded in our business. In addition to creating economic value, we also strive to positively benefitthe communities in which we are present and to deliver social value.This chart presents a more detailed overview of how we create real value for each stakeholder group through the various initiatives and practices of our business strategy and operating model. In addition, ourgovernance model guides the way we work each and every day to ensure risk is managed effectively and value is sustained in the longterm.EMPLOYEESVALUE CREATEDBuild skills and expertiseProvide a great workplace that helps employees growEnable a stronger sense of purposeHOW OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY CREATES VALUEHelping grow our employees’ skills and drive purpose through the problem-solving processProviding a safe, rewarding work environmentProviding a greater sense of purpose and pride in the companyHOW OUR OPERATING MODEL CREATES VALUEMaking it easy for employees to deepen their subject matter and/or technical expertise Improving the overall effectiveness of our safety, compliance and sustainability functionsCLIENTSVALUE CREATEDTailor our offerings to solve our clients’ construction needsMake it easy to work with usProvide enhanced performance and reliabilityHOW OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY CREATES VALUEEnsuring we give our clients the innovative products, services and solutions that they really need to improve their productivity and profitabilityEnabling our employees to provide exemplary customer serviceHelping us understand the performance and reliability attributes our clients value mostHOW OUR OPERATING MODEL CREATES VALUEEnsuring we understand the local nuances of our clients’ problemsGiving us the ability to bring clients our best solutions, anywhere in the worldProviding a seamless customer experienceGiving us specialized and differentiated insight into our core marketsSHAREHOLDERSVALUE CREATEDGrow revenueHOW OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY CREATES VALUEExpanding our margins and share of core markets—cement, ready-mix, and aggregates—and enabling us to move into new, growth markets quicklyHelping us improve customer loyalty and attract new customers Driving development of new types of affordable/sustainable construction solutionsHOW OUR OPERATING MODEL CREATES VALUEEnsuring we continue to increase our footprint in priority locationsImproving the overall quality of our products, services and solutions



 G4-24, G4-25, G4-26, G4-276.2 Creating value for our stakeholdersWE TAILOR OUR OFFERINGS TO SOLVE OUR CLIENTS’ EVOLVING CONSTRUCTION NEEDS.EMPLOYEESAt CEMEX, we value our employees. They are our competitive advantage and the reason for our success. Therefore, we seek to provide the most attractive opportunities for their personal and professionaldevelopment.Our dynamic organization provides diverse opportunities to help build our employees’ skills and expertise. Through our integrated employee development programs, we aim to make it easy for our people tobroaden their technical expertise, deepen their professional subject matter, and hone their problem-solving skills.We also look to provide a great workplace that enables our employees to achieve their full growth potential. By continually improving the overall effectiveness of our safety, compliance, and sustainabilityfunctions, we strive to offer a safe, rewarding work environment that not only allows our employees to thrive, but also inspires a stronger sense of purpose and pride in their company.CLIENTSIn order to become the most customer-focused company in our industry, we tailor our offerings to solve our clients’ evolving construction needs. By fully understanding the local nuances of our customers’demands, we give our clients the innovative products, services, and solutions that they really need to improve their productivity and profitability, while delivering our best solutions anywhere in the world.SHAREHOLDERSVALUE CREATEDReduce costsOptimize assetsKeep a tight rein on risksHOW OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY CREATES VALUEMaking our production and supply chain operations even more lean and cost-efficientMinimizing costs associated with energy/ fuel use and maintaining environmental complianceReducing recruitment costs and improving employee productivityDeepening our expertise in key markets so we can optimize the asset base—key to our ability to generate return on capital employed (ROCE) and cash value added (CVA)Minimizing market risk with a diversified geographic footprint Reducing ethics/compliance and health/ safety risks Managing risks of production disruption due to local unrestHOW OUR OPERATING MODEL CREATES VALUEHelping our businesses identify opportunities for efficiency and cost savingsOptimizing costs of core functions like finance, health & safety, HR or legalStreamlining costs of our business transactionsEnabling knowledge sharing across our businesses so that we can better optimize our assetsImproving the overall effectiveness of our risk management processesCOMMUNITIES AND SUPPLIERSVALUE CREATEDBe a relevant engine of local economic growth Build more capable, inclusive and resilient communities Reduce local air, water, waste impacts and conserve biodiversityHOW OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY CREATES VALUEGrowing skills and capabilities in our local communitiesImproving social and environmental conditions in our local communities through various programs and initiativesHOW OUR OPERATING MODEL CREATES VALUEEnsuring we take a localized approach to everything we do



 G4-24, G4-25, G4-26, G4-276.2 Creating value for our stakeholdersOUR OBJECTIVE IS TO BECOME A PROACTIVEAND POSITIVE NEIGHBOR AND PARTNER.We also continually work to be our customers’ partner of choice. To this end, we make it easy to work with us by enabling our employees to provide not only exemplary client service, but also a seamless,satisfying customer experience—on each and every project.We further invest considerable time into building strong customer relationships, actively listening to ensure we completely appreciate the attributes that our clients value most. In thisway, we gain specialized and differentiated insights into our core markets that ultimately translate into enhanced performance and reliability for our customers.SHAREHOLDERSOur commitment to deliver value to our shareholders rests on a clear recognition that, as a public company, we are stewards of other people’s money. Shareholders invest with us to achieve superior long-termreturns at acceptable risk.From a top-line perspective, we look to grow revenue by expanding our margins and share of our core cement, ready-mix concrete, and aggregates markets, increasing our geographic footprint in prioritylocations, and selectively moving into new growth markets quickly. To accomplish this, we will continue to improve customer loyalty and attract new clients. We will drive the development of new types ofaffordable, sustainable construction solutions, and we will improve the overall quality of our products and services.We plan to reduce costs across the board by making both our production and supply chain operations even more lean and cost-efficient. Among other actions, we will continue to minimize our energy and fuelcosts, help our businesses identify opportunities for efficiencies and cost savings, and optimize costs of such core functions as finance, health and safety, human resources, and legal.A key aspect of our ability to generate a positive return on capital employed (ROCE) is the optimization of our asset base. We constantly evaluate our asset footprint within the markets in which we participate.Finally, in order to keep a tight rein on risks, our approach to risk management is essential to the way we respond to global challenges.In this regard, we can minimize market risk through our diversified geographic footprint. We also work to reduce ethics/ compliance and health/safety risks, while effectively managing risks of productiondisruption through the continuous improvement of the overall effectiveness of our risk management processes.COMMUNITIES AND SUPPLIERSGiven the nature of our business, our activities are deeply connected with the communities in which we conduct them. Our own success is intimately related to that of the communities where we are present.Most of the employees we hire and the suppliers from which we purchase products and hire services are part of the community.Through our building products, services, and solutions, we support the development of resilient, sustainable communities. To this end, we provide affordable building materials and housing solutions to marketsegments that lack access to formal credit.We build capabilities based on our main areas of expertise, from environmental and biodiversity conservation to construction skills and capabilities that are useful in the marketplace to qualify for a job ordevelop an entrepreneurial venture.We further work to improve social and environmental conditions locally through the reduction of air, water, and waste emissions and the conservation of biodiversity in the communities in which we operate.Our objective is to become a proactive and positive neighbor and partner. Thus, wherever we operate, we strive to build mutually beneficial relationships with our stakeholders and communities.At CEMEX, we are committed to engaging our stakeholders in an open, ongoing, and transparent way. We seek to create value for society through our core business activities by leveraging our employees’expertise and capabilities.90
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 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL7.1 Financial informationCEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries(In millions of US dollars, except per-ADS amounts)SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION*OPERATING RESULTSOperating resultsNet salesCost of sales(1)Gross profitOperating expensesOperating earnings before other expenses, netOther expenses, netFinancial expenseOther financial (expense) income, net (2)Earnings (loss) before income taxesDiscontinued Operations, net of tax (3,4)Non-controlling interest net income (5)Controlling interest net income (loss)Millions of average ADSs outstanding (6,7)Earnings (loss) per ADS (4,7,8)Earnings (loss) per ADS of continuing operations (4,7,8)Earnings (loss) per ADS of discontinuing operations (4,7,8)Dividends per ADS (6,7,9)BALANCE SHEET INFORMATIONCash and cash equivalentsNet working capital (10)Assets from operations held for sale (4)Property, plant, and equipment, net (11)Total assetsLiabilities from operations held for sale (4)Short-term debt & other financial obligations (12)Long-term debt & other financial obligations (12)Total liabilitiesNon-controlling interest and perpetual debentures (5)Total controlling interestTotal stockholders’ equityBook value per ADS (6,7)OTHER FINANCIAL DATAOperating marginOperating EBITDA margin (10)Operating EBITDA (10)Free cash flow after maintenance capital expenditures (10)200720,893(13,868)7,025(4,130)2,895(273)(807)9002,85126772,3917433.210.837431,80822,89549,6623,31116,54230,9673,75314,94218,69519.9013.9%21.6%4,5122,455200820,131(13,735)6,396(4,069)2,327(1,909)(910)(1,617)(2,031)18742038380.24n.a9391,50419,67145,3876,93411,84928,1193,39013,87917,26816.3411.6%20.3%4,0802,600200914,544(10,270)4,274(3,109)1,165(407)(994)(117)(341)(314)181048930.11n.a1,07794919,77644,48356515,56524,8063,33816,33919,67716.378.0%18.3%2,6571,2152010(I)14,021(10,090)3,930(3,083)847(500)(1,164)(41)(897)-4(1,064)1,104(0.96)n.a67676717,90240,84882616,21426,0271,57313,24814,82112.00



6.0%16.8%2,3554552011(I)15,215(10,912)4,303(3,353)951(419)(1,353)(177)(1,025)-2(1,999)1,109(1.80)n.a1,15591516,78738,80088716,97626,5011,18911,11112,30010.026.2%15.6%2,3811912012(I)14,984(10,548)4,436(3,143)1,293(418)(1,408)74(403)-50(913)1,117(0.82)n.a97192416,58237,26058916,37825,1491,12710,98412,1119.838.6%17.5%2,6241672013(I,4)14,815(10,170)4,645(3,144)1,501(378)(1,549)134(276)895(843)1,170(0.71)n.a1,16391815,76438,01873016,91726,6521,14510,22111,3668.7410.1%17.6%2,603(89)2014(I,4)14,975(10,096)4,879(3,241)1,638(350)(1,609)194(105)9(85)(490)1,256(0.39)n.a854640-13,76734,936-1,76514,81824,8841,1588,89410,0527.0810.9%17.8%2,6644012015(I,4)13,788(9,141)4,647(2,988)1,658(190)(1,237)(77)1998058751,3530.060.020.04n.a88722831312,42831,4723991714,64821,9671,1788,3279,5056.1512.0%18.8%2,5888812016 (I,4)13,403(8,647)4,756(2,872)1,884(88)(1,147)23792355637501,4310.530.490.04n.a558(359)1,21610,96128,9447162112,59619,4501,3978,0979,4945.6614.1%20.5%2,7461,68492



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL7.1 Financial informationNOTES TO SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION1. Cost of sales includes depreciation, amortization and depletion of assets involved in the production, expenses related to storage in producing plants, and beginning in 2008, freight expenses of raw material inplants and delivery expenses of CEMEX’s ready-mix concrete business.2. Other financial (expense) income, net, includes financial income, realized and unrealized gains and losses from financial instruments, foreign exchange results and the effects of net present value on assets andliabilities.3. In October 2009, CEMEX completed the sale of its Australian operations for an amount then equivalent to approximately US$1,700 million. Australia’s operating results, net of income tax, for the yearsended 2007, 2008 and 2009, were presented in a single line item as “Discontinued Operations” in our consolidated statement of operations.4. OPERATIONUnited States’ Concrete Pipe Business *Thailand & Bangladesh **Croatia (including assets in BosniaHerzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia)Austria & Hungary ***YEARS WITHIN DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS2016, 2015 and 20142016, 2015 and 20142016, 2015, 2014 and 2013* Expected to be sold in the short term, subject to the consent of the respective authorities.** Sold on May 2016 *** Sold on October 2015As a result, the statements of operations of 2015, 2014 and 2013 originally reported were restated. Discontinued operations are presented net of income tax. See note 4A to our consolidated financial statementsincluded elsewhere in this annual report.”5. From 2008 through 2016, non-controlling interest includes US$3,020 million, US$3,045 million, US$1,320 million, US$938 million, US$473 million, US$477 million, US$466 million, US$440 millionand US$438 million, respectively; of aggregate notional amounts of perpetual debentures issued by consolidated entities. For accounting purposes, these debentures represent equity instruments (See note 20D tothe 2016 Annual Report’s Financial Statements).6. The number of ADSs outstanding, stated in millions of ADSs, represents: (i) the total average amount of ADS equivalent units outstanding of each year, (ii) includes the total number of ADS equivalentsissued in underlying derivative transactions, and (iii)excludes the total number of ADS equivalents issued by CEMEX and owned by its subsidiaries. Each ADS listed on the New York Stock Exchangerepresents 10 CPOs.7. Our shareholders approved stock splits in 2005 and 2006. Consequently, each of our existing CPOs was surrendered in exchange for two new CPOs. The proportional equity interest participation of thestockholders in CEMEX’s common stock did not change as a result of the stock splits mentioned above. The number of our ADSs outstanding did not change as a result of the stock splits in 2005. Instead, theratio of CPOs to ADSs was modified so that each ADS represented 10 new CPOs. As a result of the stock split approved during 2006, one additional ADS was issued in exchange for each existing ADS, eachADS representing 10 new CPOs. Earnings per ADS and the number of ADSs outstanding for the years ending Decem-ber 31, 2005 and 2006, were adjusted to make the effect of the stock splits retroactive for thecorrespondent years. In the Consolidated Financial Statements, earnings (loss) per share are presented on a per-share basis (See note 22 to the 2016 Annual Report’s Financial Statements).8. For purposes of the selected financial information for the periods ended December 31, 2007 through 2016, the earnings (loss)-per-ADS amounts were determined by considering the average amount of balancenumber of ADS equivalent units outstanding during each year. These numbers of ADSs outstanding were not restated retrospectively neither to give effect to stock dividends occurring during the period nor topresent the earnings (loss)-per-ADS of continuing and discontinuing operations, as it would be required under MFRS and IFRS for their disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.9. Dividends declared at each year’s annual stockholders’ meeting for each period are reflected as dividends for the preceding year. We did not declare a dividend for the years 2008 to 2016. Instead, at our 2009through 2016 annual shareholders’ meetings, CEMEX’s stockholders approved a capitalization of retained earnings. New CPOs issued pursuant to the capitalization were allocated to shareholders on a pro-ratabasis. As a result, shares equivalent to approximately384 million CPOs, 401 million CPOs, 419 million CPOs, 437 million CPOs, 468 million CPOs, 500 million CPOs and 539 million CPOs were issued and paid each year from 2010 through 2016,respectively. CPO holders received one new CPO for each 25 CPOs held, and ADS holders received one new ADS for each 25 ADSs held. There was no cash distribution and no entitlement to fractional shares.(See note 20A to the 2016 Annual Report’s Financial Statements).10. This item was not restated to give the effect of discontinued operations. Please refer to page 191 for the definition of terms.11. In 2016 excludes the assets of Fairborn cement plant, United States; Concrete pumping equipment, Mexico; and Andorra, Spain; that were classified as held for sale. In 2015, excludes the assets of Andorra,Spain as mentioned in the note 12A to the 2016 Annual Report’s Financial Statements.12. From 2010 through 2016, other financial obligations include the liability components associated with CEMEX’s financial instruments convertible into CEMEX’s CPOs, liabilities secured with accountsreceivable as well as CEMEX’s capital leases (See note 16B to the 2016 Annual Report’s Financial Statements). Prior to 2010, there were no significant transactions concerning capital leases or convertiblefinancial instruments.(i) As a result of requirements by the National Banking and Exchange Commission, CEMEX prepares its consolidated financial statements using International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issuedby the International Accounting Standards Board. Accordingly, CEMEX’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2016, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010 and for the years endedDecember 31, 2016, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010, were prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS. Prior years were prepared and presented in accordance with Mexican Financial ReportingStandards (“MFRS”). Reconciling one-time adjustments between IFRS and MFRS were recognized in the opening balance sheet under IFRS as of January 1, 2010 against stockholders’ equity (*) The effectsassociated with newly issued IFRS are recognized in the year when they become mandatory and are applied retrospectively only for comparative prior periods presented in the set of financial statements issued inthe year of adoption. Earlier periods are not restated to give retroactive effect to such new standards.



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILConsolidated Statements of OperationsCEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES(Millions of Mexican pesos, except for earnings (loss) per share)Net salesCost of salesGross profitOperating expensesOperating earnings before other expenses,netOther expenses, netOperating earningsFinancial expenseOther financial income (expense), netShare of profit of equity accounted investeesEarnings (loss) before income taxIncome taxNet income (loss) from continuing operationsDiscontinued operationsCONSOLIDATED NET INCOME (LOSS)Non-controlling interest net incomeCONTROLLING INTEREST NET INCOME (LOSS)Basic earnings (loss) per shareBasic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operationsDiluted earnings (loss) per shareDiluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operationsNote32P52A616713A194A222222222016$ 250,909(161,883)89,026(53,762)35,264(1,646)33,618(21,468)4,44168817,279(3,096)14,1831,02415,2071,174$ 14,033$ 0.33$ 0.31$ 0.33$ 0.31Years ended December 31,2015220,326(146,068)74,258(47,769)26,489(3,043)23,446(19,767)(1,235)7383,182(2,328)8541,2792,1339321,2010.03–  0.03–  2014199,942(134,742)65,200(43,347)21,853(5,045)16,808(21,483)2,531294(1,850)(3,920)(5,770)90(5,680)1,103(6,783)(0.16)(0.16)(0.16)(0.16)The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILConsolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES (Millions of Mexican pesos)CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME (LOSS)Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or lossNet actuarial losses from remeasurement of defined benefit pension plansIncome tax recognized directly in other comprehensive incomeItems that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or lossEffects from available-for-sale investments and derivative financialinstruments designated as cash flow hedgesCurrency translation of foreign subsidiariesIncome tax recognized directly in other comprehensive incomeTotal items of other comprehensive income (loss)TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)Non-controlling interest comprehensive incomeCONTROLLING INTEREST COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)Out of which:COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONSCOMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONSNotes181913B, 16D20B192016$ 15,207(4,019) 788 (3,231)36 11,629 (696) 10,9697,73822,9455,164$ 17,781$ 1,965$ 15,816Years ended December 31,20152,133(748)183(565)3357,9674538,7558,19010,3233,2217,1021,3525,7502014(5,680)(3,025)486(2,539)(94)501(85)322(2,217)(7,897)2,129(10,026)721(10,747)The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILConsolidated Balance SheetsCEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES (Millions of Mexican pesos)ASSETSCURRENT ASSETSCash and cash equivalentsTrade accounts receivables, netOther accounts receivableInventories, netAssets held for saleOther current assetsTotal current assetsNON-CURRENT ASSETSEquity accounted investeesOther investments and non-current accounts receivableProperty, machinery and equipment, netGoodwill and intangible assets, netDeferred income taxesTotal non-current assetsTOTAL ASSETSLIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITYCURRENT LIABILITIESShort-term debtOther financial obligationsTrade payablesIncome tax payableOther current liabilitiesLiabilities directly related to assets held for saleTotal current liabilitiesNON-CURRENT LIABILITIESLong-term debtOther financial obligationsEmployee benefitsDeferred income taxesOther non-current liabilitiesTotal non-current liabilitiesTOTAL LIABILITIESSTOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITYControlling interest:Common stock and additional paid-in capitalOther equity reservesRetained earningsNet incomeTotal controlling interestNon-controlling interest and perpetual debenturesTOTAL STOCK HOLDERS’ EQUITYTOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITYNote89101112A12B13A13B141519B16A16B1712A16A16B1819B1720A20B20C20D2016$ 11,55529,9495,17917,86225,1932,29292,03010,4847,049227,111247,02016,034507,698$ 599,728$ 1,21611,65839,9035,42122,4521,46682,116235,01625,97223,36519,59416,940320,887403,003127,33624,7931,61214,033167,77428,951196,725$ 599,728December 31,201515,28027,7744,81717,7165,3912,68773,66512,1506,549214,133220,31815,449468,599542,26421815,58728,7096,61920,76967372,575229,12523,26818,26920,38514,874305,921378,496119,62415,2737,3811,201143,47920,289163,768542,264The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



 OUR PERFORMANCE INConsolidated Statements of Cash FlowsCEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES (Millions of Mexican pesos)OPERATING ACTIVITIESConsolidated net income (loss)Discontinued operationsNet income (loss) from continuing operationsNon-cash items:Depreciation and amortization of assetsImpairment losses and remeasurement of assets held for saleShare of profit of equity accounted investeesResults on sale of subsidiaries, other disposal groups and othersFinancial items, netIncome taxesChanges in working capital, excluding income taxesNet cash flow provided by operating activities from continuingoperations before interest, coupons on perpetual debenturesand income taxesFinancial expense and coupons on perpetual debentures paidIncome taxes paidNet cash flow provided by operating activities from continuing operationsNet cash flow provided by operating activities from discontinued operationsNet cash flows provided by operating activitiesINVESTING ACTIVITIESProperty, machinery and equipment, netDisposal of subsidiaries and other disposal groups, netIntangible assets and other deferred chargesLong term assets and others, netNet cash flows used in investing activities from continuing operationsNet cash flows provided by (used in) investing activitiesfrom discontinued operationsNet cash flows used in investing activitiesFINANCING ACTIVITIESSale of non-controlling interests in subisidiaresDerivative instrumentsRepayment of debt, netOther financial obligations, netSecuritization of trade receivablesNon-current liabilities, netNet cash flows used in financing activitiesDecrease in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operationsIncrease in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operationsCash conversion effect, netCash and cash equivalents at beginning of yearCASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEARChanges in working capital, excluding income taxes:Trade receivables, netOther accounts receivable and other assetsInventories, netTrade payablesOther accounts payable and accrued expensesChanges in working capital, excluding income taxesNotes5613A1920D144A, 12A1520D16A16B82016$ 15,2071,024$ 14,18316,1472,516(688)(2,116)17,0273,09611,02361,188(18,129)(5,183)37,8761,19439,070(4,500)1,424(1,427)(899)(5,402)2(5,400)9,777399(37,050)(9,773)(999)(1,972)(39,618)(7,144)1,1962,22315,280$ 11,555$ (4,353)(276)(1,174)13,6193,207$ 11,023Years ended December 31,20152,1331,27985414,8651,526(738)(194)21,0022,3283,54143,184(17,865)(7,437)17,8821,21319,095(8,872)2,722(908)(766)(7,824)(153)(7,977)–  1,098(11,473)177(506)(1,763)(12,467)(2,409)1,0604,04012,58915,280(3,384)(1,961)(1,299)7,2072,9783,5412014(5,680)90(5,770)13,7033,848(294)(389)18,9523,9201,47535,445(16,844)



(7,678)10,9231,06911,992(5,965)167(902)199(6,501)(161)(6,662)–  1,561(6,714)(4,396)2,052(1,128)(8,625)(4,203)90870815,17612,589(3,348)1,255(2,716)3,8072,4771,475The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILStatements of Changes in Stockholders’ EquityCEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES (Millions of Mexican pesos)Balance as of December 31, 2013Net lossTotal other items of comprehensive lossEffects of early conversion of convertiblesubordinated notesCapitalization of retained earningsShare-based compensationEffects of perpetual debenturesBalance as of December 31, 2014Net incomeTotal other items of comprehensive incomeEffects of early conversion and issuance ofconvertible subordinated notesCapitalization of retained earningsShare-based compensationEffects of perpetual debenturesBalance as of December 31, 2015Net incomeTotal other items of comprehensive incomeCapitalization of retained earningsShare-based compensationEffects of perpetual debenturesChanges in non-controlling interestBalance as of December 31, 2016Notes16B20A20A, 2120D16B20A20A, 2120D20A20A, 2120D20DCommonstock$ 4,143–  –  44–  –  4,151–  –  34–  –  4,158–  –  4–  –  –  $ 4,162Additional paid-inCapital84,800–  –  8,0377,614765–  101,216–  –  5,9827,613655–  115,466–  –  6,966742–  –  123,174equity Otherreserves15,037–  (3,243)(601)–  (35)(420)10,738–  5,901(934)–  –  (432)15,273–  3,748–  –  (507)6,27924,793Retainedearnings29,399(6,783)–  –  (7,618)–  –  14,9981,201–  –  (7,617)–  –  8,58214,033–  (6,970)–  –  –  15,645controlling Totalinterest133,379(6,783)(3,243)7,440–  730(420)131,1031,2015,9015,051–  655(432)143,47914,0333,748–  742(507)6,279167,774Non-controlling interest14,9391,103



1,026–  –  –  –  17,0689322,289–  –  –  –  20,2891,1743,990–  –  –  3,49828,951stockholders’ Totalequity148,318(5,680)(2,217)7,440–  730(420)148,1712,1338,1905,051–  655(432)163,76815,2077,738–  742(507)9,777196,725The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements1) DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSCEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V., a public stock corporation with variable capital (S.A.B. de C.V.) organized under the laws of the United Mexican States, or Mexico, is a holding company (parent) of entities whosemain activities are oriented to the construction industry, through the production, marketing, distribution and sale of cement, ready-mix concrete, aggregates and other construction materials. In addition, in orderto facilitate the acquisition of financing and to run its operations in Mexico more efficiently considering that there are efficiency and improvement opportunities; beginning on April 1, 2014, CEMEX, S.A.B. deC.V. integrated and carries out all businesses and operational activities of the cement and aggregates sectors in Mexico. Moreover, beginning on January 1, 2015, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. completed thetransition, integrated and carries all operating activities related to the sale of ready-mix concrete in Mexico.CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. was founded in 1906 and was registered in the Public Register of Property and Commerce in Monterrey, N.L., Mexico in 1920 for a period of 99 years. In 2002, this period wasextended to the year 2100. The shares of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. are listed on the Mexican Stock Exchange (“MSE”) as Ordinary Participation Certificates (“CPOs”) under the symbol “CEMEXCPO”. EachCPO represents two series “A” shares and one series “B” share of common stock of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. In addition, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.’s shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange(“NYSE”) as American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”) under the symbol “CX”. Each ADS represents ten CPOs.The terms “CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V”. and/or the “Parent Company” used in these accompanying notes to the financial statements refer to CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. without its consolidated subsidiaries. Theterms the “Company” or “CEMEX” refer to CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. together with its consolidated subsidiaries. The issuance of these consolidated financial statements was authorized by the Board of Directorsof CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. on February 2, 2017.2) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES2A) Basis of presentation and disclosureThe consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).Presentation currency and definition of termsThe presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements is the Mexican peso, currency in which the Company reports periodically to the MSE. When reference is made to pesos or “$” it means Mexicanpesos. The amounts in the financial statements and the accompanying notes are stated in millions, except when references are made to earnings (loss) per share and/or prices per share. When reference is made to“US$” or “dollars”, it means dollars of the United States of America (“United States”). When reference is made to “€ ” or “euros”, it means the currency in circulation in a significant number of European Union(“EU”) countries. When it is deemed relevant, certain amounts in foreign currency presented in the notes to the financial statements include between parentheses a convenience translation into dollars and/or intopesos, as applicable. Previously reported convenience translations of prior years are not restated unless the transaction is still outstanding, in which case those are restated using the closing exchange rates as of thereporting date. These translations should not be construed as representations that the amounts in pesos or dollars, as applicable, actually represent those peso or dollar amounts or could be converted into pesos ordollars at the rate indicated. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, translations of pesos into dollars and dollars into pesos, were determined for balance sheet amounts using the closing exchange rates of $20.72and $17.23 pesos per dollar, respectively, and for statements of operations amounts, using the average exchange rates of $18.72, $15.98 and $13.37 pesos per dollar for 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Whenthe amounts between parentheses are the peso and the dollar, the amounts were determined by translating the euro amount into dollars using the closing exchange rates at year-end and then translating the dollarsinto pesos as previously described.99



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsAmounts disclosed in the notes in connection with tax or legal proceedings (notes 19D and 24), which are originated in jurisdictions which currencies are different to the peso or the dollar, are presented in dollarequivalents as of the closing of the most recent year presented. Consequently, without any change in the original currency, such dollar amounts will fluctuate over time due to changes in exchange rates.Statements of operationsCEMEX includes the line item titled “Operating earnings before other expenses, net” considering that it is a relevant measure for CEMEX’s management as explained in note 4C. Under IFRS, the inclusion ofcertain subtotals such as “Operating earnings before other expenses, net” and the display of the statement of operations vary significantly by industry and company according to specific needs.The line item “Other expenses, net” in profit or loss consists primarily of revenues and expenses not directly related to CEMEX’s main activities, or which are of an unusual and/or non-recurring nature, includingimpairment losses of long-lived assets, results on disposal of assets and restructuring costs, among others (note 6).Considering the disposal of entire reportable operating segments, for the years 2016, 2015 and 2014, CEMEX presents in the single line item of discontinued operations, the results of its operations inBangladesh and Thailand, sold in May 2016; for the years 2015 and 2014, the results of its operations in Austria and Hungary, sold in October 2015; for the years 2016, 2015 and 2014, the results of itsoperations in Croatia, including assets in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia, as well as the results of its Concrete Pipe Business operations in the United States, expected to be sold in the short-term subject to the authorization of the respective authorities (note 4A). As a result, the statements of operations of 2015 and 2014 originally reported were restated. Discontinued operations are presented net ofincome tax.Statements of comprehensive income (loss)The statements of comprehensive income (loss) for 2015 and 2014 were restated in order to give effect to the discontinued operations mentioned above.Statements of cash flowsThe statements of cash flows for 2015 and 2014 were restated in order to give effect to the discontinued operations mentioned above. The statements of cash flows exclude the following transactions that did notrepresent sources or uses of cash:• In 2016, 2015 and 2014, the increases in common stock and additional paid-in capital associated with: (i) the capitalization of retained earnings for $6,970, $7,617 and $7,618, respectively (note 20A); and(ii) CPOs issued as part of the executive share-based compensation programs for $742, $655 and $765, respectively (note 20A);• In 2016, 2015 and 2014, the increases in property, plant and equipment for approximately $7, $63 and $108, respectively, associated with the negotiation of capital leases during the year (note 14);• In 2016, the increase in debt and in other current accounts receivable for approximately $148, in connection with a guarantee signed by CEMEX Colombia, S.A. (“CEMEX Colombia”) over the debt of a trustcommitted to the development of housing projects in Colombia and the related beneficial interest that in turn holds CEMEX Colombia in the assets of such trust, which are comprised by land;• In 2015, the decrease in debt for $4,517, the net decrease in other equity reserves for $934, the increase in common stock for $3 and the increase in additional paid-in capital for $5,982, in connection with theissuance of optional convertible subordinated notes due in 2020, which involved, among others,the exchange and early conversion of optional convertible subordinated notes due in 2016, as well as the issuance of approximately 42 million ADSs (note 16B);• In 2015, the decrease in other current and non-current liabilities and in deferred tax assets in connection with changes in the tax legislation in Mexico effective as of December 31, 2015 (notes 19C and 19D);and• In 2014, the decrease in debt for $6,483, the decrease in other equity reserves for $601, the increase in common stock for $4 and the increase in additional paid-in capital for $8,037, in connection with severalearly conversions of optional convertible subordinated notes due in 2015, incurred in different dates during the year (note 16B).100



 Notes to the consolidated financial statements2B) Principles of consolidationThe consolidated financial statements include those of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. and those of the entities in which the Parent Company exercises control, including structured entities, by means of which theParent Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee’s relevant activities. Balancesand operations between related parties are eliminated in consolidation.Equity accounted investees are initially recorded at cost, and are subsequently accounted for by the equity method when CEMEX has significant influence, which is generally presumed with a minimum equityinterest of 20%, unless it is proven in unusual cases that significant influence is achieved with a lower percentage. The equity method reflects in the financial statements, the investee’s original cost andCEMEX’s share of the investee’s equity and earnings after acquisition. The financial statements of joint ventures, which relate to those arrangements in which CEMEX and other third-party investors have jointcontrol and have rights to the net assets of the arrangements, are recognized under the equity method. During the reported periods, CEMEX did not have joint operations, referring to those cases in which theparties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights over specific assets and obligations for specific liabilities relating to the arrangements. The equity method is discontinued when the carrying amountof the investment, including any long-term interest in the investee or joint venture, is reduced to zero, unless CEMEX has incurred or guaranteed additional obligations of the investee or joint venture.Other permanent investments where CEMEX holds equity interests of less than 20% and/or there is no significant influence are carried at their historical cost.2C) Use of estimates and critical assumptionsThe preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingentassets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements; as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. These assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis using availableinformation. Actual results could differ from these estimates. The main items subject to estimates and assumptions by management include, among others, impairment tests of long-lived assets, allowances fordoubtful accounts and obsolescence of inventories, recognition of deferred income tax assets, as well as the measurement of financial instruments at fair value, and the assets and liabilities related to employeebenefits. Significant judgment is required by management to appropriately assess the amounts of these concepts.2D) Foreign currency transactions and translation of foreign currency financial statementsTransactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of their execution. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreigncurrencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date, and the resulting foreign exchange fluctuations are recognized in earnings, except for exchangefluctuations arising from: 1) foreign currency indebtedness associated to the acquisition of foreign entities; and 2) fluctuations associated with related parties’ balances denominated in foreign currency, whichsettlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future and as a result,such balances are of a permanent investment nature. These fluctuations are recorded against “Other equity reserves”, as part of the foreign currency translation adjustment (note 20B) until the disposal of theforeign net investment, at which time, the accumulated amount is recycled through the statement of operations as part of the gain or loss on disposal.The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, as determined using their respective functional currency, are translated to pesos at the closing exchange rate for balance sheet accounts and at the closing exchangerates of each month within the period for statements of operations accounts. The functional currency is that in which each consolidated entity primarily generates and expends cash. The corresponding translationeffect is included within “Other equity reserves” and is presented in the statement of other comprehensive income (loss) for the period as part of the foreign currency translation adjustment (note 20B) until thedisposal of the net investment in the foreign subsidiary. Considering its integrated activities, for purposes of functional currency, the Parent Company is considered to have two divisions, one related with itsfinancial and holding company activities, in which the functional currency is the dollar for all assets, liabilities and transactions associated with these activities, and another division related with the ParentCompany’s operating activities in Mexico, in which the functional currency is the peso for all assets, liabilities and transactions associated with these activities.101



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsDuring the reported periods, there were no subsidiaries whose functional currency was the currency of a hyperinflationary economy, which is generally considered to exist when the cumulative inflation rate overthe last three years is approaching, or exceeds, 100%. In a hyperinflationary economy, the accounts of the subsidiary’s statements of operations should be restated to constant amounts as of the reporting date, inwhich case, both the balance sheet accounts and profit or loss accounts would be translated to pesos at the closing exchange rates of the year. The most significant closing exchange rates and the approximateaverage exchange rates for balance sheet accounts and statement of operations accounts as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, were as follows:CurrencyDollar EuroBritish Pound Sterling Colombian Peso Egyptian Pound Philippine Peso2016Closing Average20.7200 18.720021.7945 20.656425.5361 25.07310.0069 0.00621.1234 1.82610.4167 0.39272015Closing Average17.2300 15.980018.7181 17.604125.4130 24.36380.0055 0.00582.2036 2.06700.3661 0.35042014Closing Average14.7400 13.370017.8386 17.630622.9738 21.99310.0062 0.00662.0584 1.88240.3296 0.3009The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are initially translated from their functional currencies into dollars and subsequently into pesos. Therefore, the foreign exchange rates presented in the table abovebetween the functional currency and the peso represent the implied exchange rates resulting from this methodology. The peso to U.S. dollar exchange rate used by CEMEX is an average of free market ratesavailable to settle its foreign currency transactions. No significant differences exist, in any case, between the foreign exchange rates used by CEMEX and those exchange rates published by the Mexican CentralBank.2E) Cash and cash equivalents (note 8)The balance in this caption is comprised of available amounts of cash and cash equivalents, mainly represented by highly-liquid short-term investments, which are easily convertible into known amounts of cash,and which are not subject to significant risks of changes in their values, including overnight investments, which yield fixed returns and have maturities of less than three months from the investment date. Thesefixed-income investments are recorded at cost plus accrued interest. Accrued interest is included in profit or loss as part of “Other financial income (expense), net”.The amount of cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet includes restricted cash and investments, comprised of deposits in margin accounts that guarantee certain of CEMEX’s obligations, to the extent thatthe restriction will be lifted in less than three months from the balance sheet date. When the restriction period is greater than three months, such restricted cash and investments are not considered cash equivalentsand are included within short-term or long-term “Other accounts receivable”, as appropriate. When contracts contain provisions for net settlement, these restricted amounts of cash and cash equivalents are offsetagainst the liabilities that CEMEX has with its counterparties.2F) Financial instrumentsTrade accounts receivable and other current accounts receivable (notes 9 and 10)Instruments under these captions are classified as “loans and receivables” and are recorded at their amortized cost representing the net present value (“NPV”) of the consideration receivable or payable as of thetransaction date. Due to their short-term nature, CEMEX initially recognizes these receivables at the original invoiced amount less an estimate of doubtful accounts. Allowances for doubtful accounts as well asimpairment of other current accounts receivable, are recognized against administrative and selling expenses.Trade receivables sold under securitization programs, in which CEMEX maintains a residual interest in the trade accounts receivable sold in case of recovery failure, as well as continued involvement in suchassets, do not qualify for derecognition and are maintained on the balance sheet.102



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOther investments and non-current receivables (note 13B)As part of the category of “loans and receivables”, non-current accounts receivable, as well as investments classified as held to maturity are initially recognized at their amortized cost. Subsequent changes in NPVare recognized in profit or loss as part of “Other financial income (expense), net”.Investments in financial instruments held for trading, as well as those investments available for sale, are recognized at their estimated fair value, in the first case through profit or loss as part of “Other financialincome (expense), net”, and in the second case, changes in valuation are recognized as part of “Othercomprehensive income (loss) of the period” within “Other equity reserves” until their time of disposition, when all valuation effects accrued in equity are reclassified to “Other financial income (expense), net”, inprofit or loss. These investments are tested for impairment upon the occurrence of a significant adverse change or at least once a year during the last quarter.Debt and other financial liabilities (notes 16A and 16B)Bank loans and notes payable are recognized at their amortized cost. Interest accrued on financial instruments is recognized in the balance sheet within “Other accounts payable and accrued expenses” againstfinancial expense. During the reported periods, CEMEX did not have financial liabilities voluntarily recognized at fair value or associated to fair value hedge strategies with derivative financial instruments. Directcosts incurred in debt issuances or borrowings, as well as debt refinancing or non-substantial modifications to debt agreements that did not represent an extinguishment of debt by considering that the holders andthe relevant economic terms of the new instrument are not substantially different to the replaced instrument, adjust the carrying amount of related debt are amortized as interest expense as part of the effectiveinterest rate of each transaction over its maturity. These costs include commissions and professional fees. Costs incurred in the extinguishment of debt, as well as debt refinancing or modifications to debtagreements when the new instrument is substantially different to the old instrument according to a qualitative and quantitative analysis are recognized in profit or loss within “Financial expense” as incurred.Capital leases are recognized as financing liabilities against a corresponding fixed asset for the lesser of the market value of the leased asset and the NPV of future minimum lease payments, using the contract’simplicit interest rate to the extent available, or the incremental borrowing cost. The main factors that determine a capital lease are: a) ownership title of the asset is transferred to CEMEX at the expiration of thecontract; b) CEMEX has a bargain purchase option to acquire the asset at the end of the lease term; c) the lease term covers the majority of the useful life of the asset; and/or d) the NPV of minimum paymentsrepresents substantially all the fair value of the related asset at the beginning of the lease.Financial instruments with components of both liabilities and equity (note 16B)The financial instrument that contains components of both liability and equity, such as notes convertible into a fixed number of the issuer’s shares and denominated its same functional currency, each componentis recognized separately in the balance sheet according to the specific characteristics of each transaction. In the case of instruments mandatorily convertible into shares of the issuer, the liability componentrepresents the NPV of interest payments on the principal amount using a market interest rate, without assuming any early conversion, and is recognized within “Other financial obligations”, whereas the equitycomponent represents the difference between the principal amount and the liability component, and is recognized within “Other equity reserves”, net of commissions. In the case of instruments that are optionallyconvertible into a fixed number of shares, the liability component represents the difference between the principal amount and the fair value of the conversion option premium, which reflects the equity component(note 2N). When the transaction is denominated in a currency different than the functional currency of the issuer, the conversion option is accounted for as a derivative financial instrument at fair value in thestatement of operations.103



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsDerivative financial instruments (note 16D)CEMEX recognizes all derivative instruments as assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at their estimated fair values, and the changes in such fair values are recognized in profit or loss within “Other financialincome (expense), net” for the period in which they occur, except for the effective portion of changes in fair value of derivative instruments associated with cash flow hedges, in which case, such changes in fairvalue are recognized in stockholders’ equity, and are reclassified to earnings as the interest expense of the related debt is accrued, in the case of interest rate swaps, or when the underlying products are consumedin the case of contracts on the price of raw materials and commodities. Likewise, in hedges of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries, changes in fair value are recognized in stockholders’ equity as part of theforeign currency translation result (note 2D), which reversal to earnings would take place upon disposal of the foreign investment. During the reported periods, CEMEX did not designate fair value hedges.Derivative instruments are negotiated with institutions with significant financial capacity; therefore, CEMEX believes the risk of non-performance of the obligations agreed to by such counterparties to beminimal.CEMEX reviews its different contracts to identify the existence of embedded derivatives. Identified embedded derivatives are analyzed to determine if they need to be separated from the host contract andrecognized in the balance sheet as assets or liabilities, applying the same valuation rules used for other derivative instruments.Put options granted for the purchase of non-controlling interests and associatesRepresent agreements by means of which a non-controlling interest has the right to sell, at a future date using a predefined price formula or at fair market value, its shares in a subsidiary of CEMEX. When theobligation should be settled in cash or through the delivery of other financial asset, CEMEX recognizes a liability for the NPV of the redemption amount as of the reporting date against the controlling interestwithin stockholders’ equity. A liability is not recognized under these agreements when the redemption amount is determined at fair market value at the exercise date and CEMEX has the election to settle usingits own shares.In respect of a put option granted for the purchase of an associate, CEMEX would recognize a liability against a loss in the statements of operations whenever the estimated purchase price exceeds the fair value ofthe net assets to be acquired by CEMEX, had the counterparty exercised its right to sell.Fair value measurements (note 16C)Under IFRS, fair value represents an “Exit Value” which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurementdate, considering the counterparty’s credit risk in the valuation. The concept of Exit Value is premised on the existence of a market and market participants for the specific asset or liability. When there is nomarket and/or market participants willing to make a market, IFRS establishes a fair value hierarchy that gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities(Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:Level 1.- represent quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that CEMEX has the ability to access at the measurement date. A quote price in an active market provides the mostreliable evidence of fair value and is used without adjustment to measure fair value whenever available.Level 2.- are inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and are used mainly to determine the fair value of securities, investments orloans that are not actively traded. Level 2 inputs included equity prices, certain interest rates and yield curves, implied volatility and credit spreads, among others, as well as inputs extrapolated from otherobservable inputs. In the absence of Level 1 inputs, CEMEX determined fair values by iteration of the applicable Level 2 inputs, the number of securities and/or the other relevant terms of the contract, asapplicable.Level 3.- inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. CEMEX used unobservable inputs to determine fair values, to the extent there are no Level 1 or Level 2 inputs, in valuation models such asBlack-Scholes, binomial, discounted cash flows or multiples of Operative EBITDA, including risk assumptions consistent with what market participants would use to arrive at fair value.104



 Notes to the consolidated financial statements2G) Inventories (note 11)Inventories are valued using the lower of cost or net realizable value. The cost of inventories includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred inbringing them to their existing location and condition. CEMEX analyzes its inventory balances to determine if, as a result of internal events, such as physical damage, or external events, such as technologicalchanges or market conditions, certain portions of such balances have become obsolete or impaired. When an impairment situation arises, the inventory balance is adjusted to its net realizable value, whereas, if anobsolescence situation occurs, the inventory obsolescence reserve is increased. In both cases, these adjustments are recognized against the results of the period. Advances to suppliers of inventory are presented aspart of other current assets.2H) Property, machinery and equipment (note 14)Property, machinery and equipment are recognized at their acquisition or construction cost, as applicable, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation of fixed assets isrecognized as part of cost and operating expenses (note 5), and is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, except for mineral reserves, which are depleted using theunits-of-production method. As of December 31, 2016, the maximum average useful lives by category of fixed assets were as follows:Administrative buildings Industrial buildingsMachinery and equipment in plant Ready-mix trucks and motor vehicles Office equipment and other assetsYears34321876CEMEX capitalizes, as part of the related cost of fixed assets, interest expense from existing debt during the construction or installation period of significant fixed assets, considering CEMEX’s corporate averageinterest rate and the average balance of investments in process for the period.All waste removal costs or stripping costs incurred in the operative phase of a surface mine in order to access the mineral reserves are recognized as part of the carrying amount of the related quarries. Thecapitalized amounts are further amortized over the expected useful life of exposed ore body based on the units of production method.Costs incurred in respect of operating fixed assets that result in future economic benefits, such as an extension in their useful lives, an increase in their production capacity or in safety, as well as those costsincurred to mitigate or prevent environmental damage, are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related assets. The capitalized costs are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of such fixed assets.Periodic maintenance on fixed assets is expensed as incurred. Advances to suppliers of fixed assets are presented as part of other long-term accounts receivable.The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values of property, machinery and equipment are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.2I) Business combinations, goodwill, other intangible assets and deferred charges (note 15)Business combinations are recognized using the purchase method, by allocating the consideration transferred to assume control of the entity to all assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their estimatedfair values as of the acquisition date. Intangible assets acquired are identified and recognized at fair value. Any unallocated portion of the purchase price represents goodwill, which is not amortized and is subjectto periodic impairment tests (note 2J), can be adjusted for any correction to the preliminary assessment given to the assets acquired and/or liabilities assumed within the twelve-month period after purchase. Costsassociated with the acquisition are expensed in profit or loss as incurred.CEMEX capitalizes intangible assets acquired, as well as costs incurred in the development of intangible assets, when future economic benefits associated are identified and there is evidence of control over suchbenefits. Intangible assets are presented at their acquisition or development cost. Indefinite life intangible assets are not amortized since the period in which the benefits associated with such intangibles willterminate cannot be accurately established. Definite life intangible assets are amortized on straight-line basis as part of operating costs and expenses (note 5).105



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsStartup costs are recognized in profit or loss as they are incurred. Costs associated with research and development activities (“R&D activities”), performed by CEMEX to create products and services, as well as todevelop processes, equipment and methods to optimize operational efficiency and reduce costs are recognized in the operating results as incurred. Direct costs incurred in the development stage of computersoftware for internal use are capitalized and amortized through the operating results over the useful life of the software, which on average is approximately 5 years.Costs incurred in exploration activities such as payments for rights to explore, topographical and geological studies, as well as trenching, among other items incurred to assess the technical and commercialfeasibility of extracting a mineral resource, which are not significant to CEMEX, are capitalized when future economic benefits associated with such activities are identified. When extraction begins, these costsare amortized during the useful life of the quarry based on the estimated tons of material to be extracted. When future economic benefits are not achieved, any capitalized costs are subject to impairment.CEMEX’s extraction rights have maximum useful lives that range from 30 to 100 years, depending on the sector, and the expected life of the related reserves. As of December 31, 2016, except for extractionrights and/or as otherwise indicated, CEMEX’s intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives that range on average from 3 to 20 years.2J) Impairment of long-lived assets (notes 14 and 15)Property, machinery and equipment, intangible assets of definite life and other investmentsThese assets are tested for impairment upon the occurrence of factors such as the occurrence of a significant adverse event, changes in CEMEX’s operating environment or in technology, as well as expectations oflower operating results, in order to determine whether their carrying amounts may not be recovered. An impairment loss is recorded in profit or loss for the period within “Other expenses, net”, for the excess ofthe asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount, corresponding to the higher of the fair value less costs to sell of the asset, and the asset’s value in use, the latter represented by the NPV of estimated cashflows related to the use and eventual disposal of the asset. The main assumptions utilized to develop estimates of NPV are a discount rate that reflects the risk of the cash flows associated with theassets and the estimations of generation of future income. Those assumptions are evaluated for reasonableness by comparing such discount rates to available market information and by comparing to third-partyexpectations of industry growth, such as governmental agencies or industry chambers.When impairment indicators exist, for each intangible asset, CEMEX determines its projected revenue streams over the estimated useful life of the asset. In order to obtain discounted cash flows attributable toeach intangible asset, such revenues are adjusted for operating expenses, changes in working capital and other expenditures, as applicable, and discounted to NPV using the risk adjusted discount rate of return.The most significant economic assumptions are: a) the useful life of the asset; b) the risk adjusted discount rate of return; c) royalty rates; and d) growth rates. Assumptions used for these cash flows areconsistent with internal forecasts and industry practices. The fair values of these assets are very sensitive to changes in such significant assumptions. Certain key assumptions are more subjective than others. Inrespect of trademarks, CEMEX considers that the most subjective key assumption is the royalty rate. In respect of extraction rights and customer relationships, the most subjective assumptions are revenuegrowth rates and estimated useful lives. CEMEX validates its assumptions through benchmarking with industry practices and the corroboration of third-party valuation advisors. Significant judgment bymanagement is required to appropriately assess the fair values and values in use of the related assets, as well as to determine the appropriate valuation method and select the significant economic assumptions.106



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsImpairment of long-lived assets – GoodwillGoodwill is tested for impairment when required due to significant adverse changes or at least once a year, during the last quarter of such year. CEMEX determines the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill balances were allocated, which consists of the higher of such group of CGUs fair value less cost to sell and its value in use, the later represented by the NPV ofestimated future cash flows to be generated by such CGUs to which goodwill was allocated, which are generally determined over periods of 5 years. However, in specific circumstances, when CEMEX considersthat actual results for a CGU do not fairly reflect historical performance and most external economic variables provide confidence that a reasonably determinable improvement in the mid-term is expected in theiroperating results, management uses cash flow projections over a period of up to 10 years, to the point in which future expected average performance resembles the historical average performance, to the extentCEMEX has detailed, explicit and reliable financial forecasts and is confident and can demonstrate its ability, based on past experience, to forecast cash flows accurately over that longer period. If the value in useof a group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated is lower than its corresponding carrying amount, CEMEX determines the fair value of such group of CGUs using methodologies generally accepted inthe market to determine the value of entities, such as multiples of Operating EBITDA and by reference to other market transactions, among others. An impairment loss is recognized within “Other expenses, net”,if the recoverable amount is lower than the net book value of the group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated. Impairment charges recognized on goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.The geographic operating segments reported by CEMEX (note 4C), represent CEMEX’s groups of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated for purposes of testing goodwill for impairment, considering: a)that after the acquisition, goodwill was allocated at the level of the geographic operating segment; b) that the operating components that comprise the reported segment have similar economic characteristics; c)that the reported segments are used by CEMEX to organize and evaluate its activities in its internal information system; d) the homogeneous nature of the items produced and traded in each operativecomponent, which are all used by the construction industry; e) the vertical integration in the value chain of the products comprising each component; f) the type of clients, which are substantially similar in allcomponents; g) the operative integration among components; and h) that the compensation system of a specific country is based on the consolidated results of the geographic segment and not on the particularresults of the components. In addition, the country level represents the lowest level within CEMEX at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.Impairment tests are significantly sensitive to, among other factors, the estimation of future prices of CEMEX’s products, the development of operating expenses, local and international economic trends in theconstruction industry, the long-term growth expectations in the different markets, as well as the discount rates and the growth rates in perpetuity applied. For purposes of estimating future prices, CEMEX uses,to the extent available, historical data plus the expected increase or decrease according to information issued by trusted external sources, such as national construction or cement producer chambers and/or ingovernmental economic expectations. Operating expenses are normally measured as a constant proportion of revenues, following past experience. However, such operating expenses are also reviewed consideringexternal information sources in respect of inputs that behave according to international prices, such as oil and gas. CEMEX uses specific pre-tax discount rates for each group of CGUs to which goodwill isallocated, which are applied to discount pre-tax cash flows. The amounts of estimated undiscounted cash flows are significantly sensitive to the growth rate in perpetuity applied. Likewise, the amounts ofdiscounted estimated future cash flows are significantly sensitive to the weighted average cost of capital (discount rate) applied. The higher the growth rate in perpetuity applied, the higher the amount ofundiscounted future cash flows by group of CGUs obtained. Conversely, the higher the discount rate applied, the lower the amount of discounted estimated future cash flows by group of CGUs obtained.2K) ProvisionsCEMEX recognizes provisions when it has a legal or constructive obligation resulting from past events, whose resolution would imply cash outflows or the delivery of other resources owned by the Company.As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 some significant proceedings that gave rise to a portion of the carrying amount of CEMEX’s other current and non-current liabilities and provisions are detailed in note 24A.Considering guidance under IFRS, CEMEX recognizes provisions for levies imposed by governments until the obligating event or the activity that triggers the payment of the levy has occurred, as defined in thelegislation.107



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsRestructuring (note 17)CEMEX recognizes provisions for restructuring when the restructuring detailed plans have been properly finalized and authorized by management, and have been communicated to the third parties involved and/oraffected by the restructuring prior to the balance sheet date. These provisions may include costs not associated with CEMEX’s ongoing activities.Asset retirement obligations (note 17)Unavoidable obligations, legal or constructive, to restore operating sites upon retirement of long-lived assets at the end of their useful lives are measured at the NPV of estimated future cash flows to be incurredin the restoration process, and are initially recognized against the related assets’ book value. The increase to the assets’ book value is depreciated during its remaining useful life. The increase in the liabilityrelated to adjustments to NPV by the passage of time is charged to the line item “Other financial income (expense), net”. Adjustments to the liability for changes in estimations are recognized againstfixed assets, and depreciation is modified prospectively. These obligations are related mainly to future costs of demolition, cleaning and reforestation, so that quarries, maritime terminals and other productionsites are left in acceptable condition at the end of their operation.Costs related to remediation of the environment (notes 17 and 24)Provisions associated with environmental damage represent the estimated future cost of remediation, which are recognized at their nominal value when the time schedule for the disbursement is not clear, or whenthe economic effect for the passage of time is not significant; otherwise, such provisions are recognized at their discounted values. Reimbursements from insurance companies are recognized as assets only whentheir recovery is practically certain. In that case, such reimbursement assets are not offset against the provision for remediation costs.Contingencies and commitments (notes 23 and 24)Obligations or losses related to contingencies are recognized as liabilities in the balance sheet only when present obligations exist resulting from past events that are expected to result in an outflow of resourcesand the amount can be measured reliably. Otherwise, a qualitative disclosure is included in the notes to the financial statements. The effects of long-term commitments established with third parties, such assupply contracts with suppliers or customers, are recognized in the financial statements on an incurred or accrued basis, after taking into consideration the substance of the agreements. Relevant commitments aredisclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The Company does not recognize contingent revenues, income or assets, unless their realization is virtually certain.2L) Pensions and other post-employment benefits (note 18)Defined contribution pension plansThe costs of defined contribution pension plans are recognized in the operating results as they are incurred. Liabilities arising from such plans are settled through cash transfers to the employees’ retirementaccounts, without generating future obligations.Defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefitsThe costs associated with employees’ benefits for: a) defined benefit pension plans; and b) other post-employment benefits, basically comprised of health care benefits, life insurance and seniority premiums,granted by CEMEX and/or pursuant to applicable law, are recognized as services are rendered, based on actuarial estimations of the benefits’ present value with the advice of external actuaries. For certain pensionplans, CEMEX has created irrevocable trust funds to cover future benefit payments (“plan assets”). These plan assets are valued at their estimated fair value at the balance sheet date. The actuarial assumptions andaccounting policy consider: a) the use of nominal rates; b) a single rate is used for the determination of the expected return on plan assets and the discount of the benefits obligation to present value; c) a netinterest is recognized on the net defined benefit liability (liability minus plan assets); and d) all actuarial gains and losses for the period, related to differences between the projected and real actuarial assumptionsat the end of the period, as well as the difference between the expected and real return on plan assets, are recognized as part of “Other comprehensive income or loss” within stockholders’ equity.The service cost, corresponding to the increase in the obligation for additional benefits earned by employees during the period, is recognized within operating costs and expenses. The net interest cost, resultingfrom the increase in obligations for changes in NPV and the change during the period in the estimated fair value of plan assets, is recognized within “Other financial income (expense), net”.108



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsThe effects from modifications to the pension plans that affect the cost of past services are recognized within operating costs and expenses over the period in which such modifications become effective to theemployees or without delay if changes are effective immediately. Likewise, the effects from curtailments and/or settlements of obligations occurring during the period, associated with events that significantlyreduce the cost of future services and/or reduce significantly the population subject to pension benefits, respectively, are recognized within operating costs and expenses.Termination benefitsTermination benefits, not associated with a restructuring event, which mainly represent severance payments by law, are recognized in the operating results for the period in which they are incurred.2M) Income taxes (note 19)The effects reflected in profit or loss for income taxes include the amounts incurred during the period and the amounts of deferred income taxes, determined according to the income tax law applicable to eachsubsidiary. Consolidated deferred income taxes represent the addition of the amounts determined in each subsidiary by applying the enacted statutory income tax rate to the total temporary differences resultingfrom comparing the book and taxable values of assets and liabilities, considering tax assets such as loss carryforwards and other recoverable taxes, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will beavailable against which they can be utilized. The measurement of deferred income taxes at the reporting period reflects the tax consequences that follow the manner in which CEMEX expects to recover or settlethe carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred income taxes for the period represent the difference between balances of deferred income taxes at the beginning and the end of the period. Deferred incometax assets and liabilities relating to different tax jurisdictions are not offset. According to IFRS, all items charged or credited directly in stockholders’ equity or as part of other comprehensive income or loss forthe period are recognized net of their current and deferred income tax effects. The effect of a change in enacted statutory tax rates is recognized in the period in which the change is officially enacted.Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced when it is not deemed probable that the related tax benefit will be realized, considering the aggregate amount of self-determined tax losscarryforwards included in its income tax returns in each country that CEMEX believes, based on available evidence, will not be rejected by the tax authorities; and the likelihood of recovering such tax losscarryforwards prior to their expiration through an analysis of estimated future taxable income. If it is probable that the tax authorities would reject a self-determined deferred tax asset, CEMEX would decreasesuch asset. When it is considered that a deferred tax asset will not be recovered before its expiration, CEMEX would not recognize such deferred tax asset. Both situations would result in additional income taxexpense for the period in which such determination is made. In order to determine whether it is probable that deferred tax assets will ultimately be recovered, CEMEX takes into consideration all availablepositive and negative evidence, including factors such as market conditions, industry analysis, expansion plans, projected taxable income, carryforward periods, current tax structure, potential changes oradjustments in tax structure, tax planning strategies, future reversals of existing temporary differences, etc. Likewise, every reporting period, CEMEX analyzes its actual results versus the Company’s estimates,and adjusts, as necessary, its tax asset valuations. If actual results vary from CEMEX’s estimates, the deferred tax asset and/or valuations may be affected and necessary adjustments will be made based onrelevant information. Any adjustments recorded will affect CEMEX’s statements of operations in such period.The income tax effects from an uncertain tax position are recognized when is probable that the position will be sustained based on its technical merits and assuming that the tax authorities will examine eachposition and have full knowledge of all relevant information, and they are measured using a cumulative probability model. Each position has been considered on its own, regardless of its relation to any otherbroader tax settlement. The high probability threshold represents a positive assertion by management that CEMEX is entitled to the economic benefits of a tax position. If a tax position is considered notprobable of being sustained, no benefits of the position are recognized. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are recorded as part of the income tax in the consolidated statements of operations.109



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsThe effective income tax rate is determined by dividing the line item “Income Tax”, in profit or loss within the line item “Earnings (loss) before income tax”. This effective tax rate is further reconciled toCEMEX’s statutory tax rate applicable in Mexico (note 19C). During 2014, CEMEX has experienced consolidated losses before income tax. In any given period whereas a loss before income tax is reported, thereference statutory tax rate to which CEMEX reconciles its effective income tax rate is shown as a negative percentage. A significant effect in CEMEX’s effective tax rate and consequently in the aforementionedreconciliation of CEMEX’s effective tax rate, relates to the difference between the statutory income tax rate in Mexico of 30% against the applicable income tax rates of each country where CEMEX operates.For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the statutory tax rates in CEMEX’s main operations were as follows:CountryMexicoUnited StatesUnited KingdomFranceGermanySpainPhilippinesColombiaEgyptSwitzerlandOthers201630.0%35.0%20.0%34.4%28.2%25.0%30.0%40.0%22.5%9.6%7.8% - 39.0%201530.0%35.0%20.3%38.0%29.8%28.0%30.0%39.0%22.5%9.6%7.8% - 39.0%201430.0%35.0%21.5%38.0%29.8%30.0%30.0%34.0%30.0%9.6%10.0% - 39.0%CEMEX’s current and deferred income tax amounts included in profit or loss for the period are highly variable, and are subject, among other factors, to taxable income determined in each jurisdiction in whichCEMEX operates. Such amounts of taxable income depend on factors such as sale volumes and prices, costs and expenses, exchange rates fluctuations and interest on debt, among others, as well as to theestimated tax assets at the end of the period due to the expected future generation of taxable gains in each jurisdiction.2N) Stockholders’ equityCommon stock and additional paid-in capital (note 20A)These items represent the value of stockholders’ contributions, and include increases related to the capitalization of retained earnings and the recognition of executive compensation programs in CEMEX’s CPOsas well as decreases associated with the restitution of retained earnings.Other equity reserves (note 20B)Groups the cumulative effects of items and transactions that are, temporarily or permanently, recognized directly to stockholders’ equity, and includes the comprehensive income (loss), which reflects certainchanges in stockholders’ equity that do not result from investments by owners and distributions to owners. The most significant items within “Other equity reserves” during the reported periods are as follows:Items of “Other equity reserves” included within other comprehensive income (loss):Currency translation effects from the translation of foreign subsidiaries, net of: a) exchange results from foreign currency debt directly related to the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries; and b) exchange results fromforeign currency related parties balances that are of a long-term investment nature (note 2D);The effective portion of the valuation and liquidation effects from derivative instruments under cash flow hedging relationships, which are recorded temporarily in stockholders’ equity (note 2F);Changes in fair value during the tenure of available-for-sale investments until their disposal (note 2F); andCurrent and deferred income taxes during the period arising from items whose effects are directly recognized in stockholders’ equity.110



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsItems of “Other equity reserves” not included in comprehensive income (loss):Effects related to controlling stockholders’ equity for changes or transactions affecting non-controlling interest stockholders in CEMEX’s consolidated subsidiaries;Effects attributable to controlling stockholders’ equity for financial instruments issued by consolidated subsidiaries that qualify for accounting purposes as equity instruments, such as the interest expense paid onperpetual debentures;The equity component of securities which are mandatorily or optionally convertible into shares of the Parent Company (notes 2F and 16B). Upon conversion, this amount will be reclassified to common stockand additional paid-in capital; andThe cancellation of the Parent Company’s shares held by consolidated entities.Retained earnings (note 20C)Retained earnings represent the cumulative net results of prior years including the effects generated form initial adoption of IFRS as of January 1, 2010, net of: a) dividends declared; b) capitalization of retainedearnings; and c) restitution of retained earnings when applicable.Non-controlling interest and perpetual debentures (note 20D)This caption includes the share of non-controlling stockholders in the results and equity of consolidated subsidiaries. This caption also includes the nominal amount as of the balance sheet date of financialinstruments (perpetual notes) issued by consolidated entities that qualify as equity instruments considering that there is: a) no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset; b) no predefinedmaturity date; and c) an unilateral option to defer interest payments or preferred dividends for indeterminate periods.2O) Revenue recognition (note 3)CEMEX’s consolidated net sales represent the value, before tax on sales, of revenues originated by products and services sold by consolidated subsidiaries as a result of their ordinary activities, after theelimination of transactions between related parties, and are quantified at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, decreased by any trade discounts or volume rebates granted to customers.Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognized when goods are delivered or services are rendered to customers, there is no condition or uncertainty implying a reversal thereof, and they have assumedthe risk of loss. Revenue from trading activities, in which CEMEX acquires finished goods from a third party and subsequently sells the goods to another third-party, are recognized on a gross basis, consideringthat CEMEX assumes the total risk on the goods purchased, not acting as agent or broker.Revenue and costs related to construction contracts are recognized in the period in which the work is performed by reference to the contract’s stage of completion at the end of the period, considering that thefollowing have been defined: a) each party’s enforceable rights regarding the asset under construction; b) the consideration to be exchanged; c) the manner and terms of settlement; d) actual costs incurred andcontract costs required to complete the asset are effectively controlled; and e) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the contract will flow to the entity.The stage of completion of construction contracts represents the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs or the surveys of work performed or thephysical proportion of the contract work completed, whichever better reflects the percentage of completion under the specific circumstances. Progress payments and advances received from customers do not reflectthe work performed and are recognized as a short or long term advanced payments, as appropriate.2P) Cost of sales and operating expenses (note 5)Cost of sales represents the production cost of inventories at the moment of sale. Such cost of sales includes depreciation, amortization and depletion of assets involved in production, expenses related to storagein production plants and freight expenses of raw material in plants and delivery expenses of CEMEX’s ready-mix concrete business.Administrative expenses represent the expenses associated with personnel, services and equipment, including depreciation and amortization, related to managerial activities and back office for the Company’smanagement.111



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsSales expenses represent the expenses associated with personnel, services and equipment, including depreciation and amortization, involved specifically in sales activities.Distribution and logistics expenses refer to expenses of storage at points of sales, including depreciation and amortization, as well as freight expenses of finished products between plants and points of sale andfreight expenses between points of sales and the customers’ facilities.2Q) Executive share-based compensation (note 21)Share-based payments to executives are defined as equity instruments when services received from employees are settled by delivering shares of the Parent Company and/or a subsidiary; or as liability instrumentswhen CEMEX commits to make cash payments to the executives on the exercise date of the awards based on changes in CEMEX’s own stock (intrinsic value). The cost of equity instruments represents theirestimated fair value at the date of grant and is recognized in profit or loss during the period in which the exercise rights of the employees become vested. In respect of liability instruments, these instruments arevalued at their estimated fair value at each reporting date, recognizing the changes in fair value through the operating results. CEMEX determines the estimated fair value of options using the binomial financialoption-pricing model.2R) Emission rightsIn certain countries where CEMEX operates, such as EU countries, mechanisms aimed at reducing carbon dioxide emissions (“CO2”) have been established by means of which, the relevant environmentalauthorities have granted certain number of emission rights (“certificates”) free of cost to the different industries releasing CO2, which must submit to such environmental authorities at the end of a complianceperiod, certificates for a volume equivalent to the tons of CO2 released. Companies must obtain additional certificates to meet deficits between actual CO2 emissions during the compliance period and certificatesreceived, or they can dispose of any surplus of certificates in the market. In addition, the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (“UNFCCC”) grants Certified Emission Reductions(“CERs”) to qualified CO2 emission reduction projects. CERs may be used in specified proportions to settle emission rights obligations in the EU. CEMEX actively participates in the development of projectsaimed to reduce CO2 emissions. Some of these projects have been awarded with CERs.CEMEX does not maintain emission rights, CERs and/or enter into forward transactions with trading purposes. CEMEX accounts for the effects associated with CO2 emission reduction mechanisms as follows:Certificates received free of cost are not recognized in the balance sheet. Revenues from the sale of any surplus of certificates are recognized by decreasing cost of sales. In forward sale transactions, revenues arerecognized upon physical delivery of the emission certificates.Certificates and/or CERs acquired to hedge current CO2 emissions are recognized as intangible assets at cost, and are further amortized to cost of sales during the compliance period. In the case of forwardpurchases, assets are recognized upon physical reception of the certificates.CEMEX accrues a provision against cost of sales when the estimated annual emissions of CO2 are expected to exceed the number of emission rights, net of any benefit obtained through swap transactions ofemission rights for CERs.CERs received from the UNFCCC are recognized as intangible assets at their development cost, which are attributable mainly to legal expenses incurred in the process of obtaining such CERs.During 2016, 2015 and 2014, there were no sales of emission rights to third parties. In addition, in certain countries, the environmental authorities impose levies per ton of CO2 or other greenhouse gasesreleased. Such expenses are recognized as part of cost of sales as incurred.2S) Concentration of creditCEMEX sells its products primarily to distributors in the construction industry, with no specific geographic concentration within the countries in which CEMEX operates. As of and for the years endedDecember 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, no single customer individually accounted for a significant amount of the reported amounts of sales or in the balances of trade receivables. In addition, there is no significantconcentration of a specific supplier relating to the purchase of raw materials.112



 Notes to the consolidated financial statements2T) Newly issued IFRS not yet adoptedThere are a number of IFRS issued as of the date of issuance of these financial statements but which have not yet been adopted, which are listed below. Except as otherwise indicated, CEMEX expects to adoptthese IFRS when they become effective.IFRS 9, Financial instruments: classification and measurement (“IFRS 9”). IFRS 9 sets forth the guidance relating to the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, to the accounting forexpected credit losses on an entity’s financial assets and commitments to extend credits, as well as the requirements related to hedge accounting; and will replace IAS 39, Financial instruments: recognition andmeasurement (“IAS 39”) in its entirety. IFRS 9 requires an entity to recognize a financial asset or a financial liability when, and only when, the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of theinstrument. At initial recognition, an entity shall measure a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit orloss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, and includes a category of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income(loss) for simple debt instruments. In respect to impairment requirements, IFRS 9 eliminates the threshold set forth in IAS 39 for the recognition of credit losses. Under the impairment approach in IFRS 9 it isno longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognized, instead, an entity always accounts for expected credit losses, and changes in those expected losses through profit or loss.In respect to hedging activities, the requirements of IFRS 9 align hedge accounting more closely with an entity’s risk management through a principles-based approach, by means of which, among other changes;the current range of 0.8 to 1.25 to declare and maintain a hedge is eliminated, and in its place, under IFRS 9, a hedging instrument will be declared only if it supports the entity’s risk management strategy.Nonetheless, the IASB provided entities with an accounting policy choice between applying the hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 or continuing to apply the existing hedge accounting requirements inIAS 39; until the IASB completes its project on the accounting for macro hedging.CEMEX is currently evaluating the impact that IFRS 9 will have on the classification and measurement of its financial assets and financial liabilities, impairment of financial assets and hedging activities.Preliminarily: a) CEMEX does not maintain fixed income investments held to maturity; and b) it is considered that the expected loss on trade receivables will replace the current allowance for doubtful accounts.The Company is considering the full adoption of IFRS 9 on January 1, 2018, including hedge accounting. CEMEX does not expect any significant effect in its results from the adoption of IFRS 9. Nonetheless,CEMEX is not considering an early application of IFRS 9.In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers (“IFRS 15”). Under IFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in anamount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services, following a five step model: Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer, which is anagreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations; Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract, considering that if a contract includes promises to transferdistinct goods or services to a customer, the promises are performance obligations and are accounted for separately; Step 3: Determine the transaction price, which is the amount of consideration in a contract towhich an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer; Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, on the basis of therelative stand-alone selling prices of each distinct good or service promised in the contract; and Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation, by transferring a promisedgood or service to a customer (which is when the customer obtains control of that good or service). A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time (typically for promises to transfer goods to acustomer) or over time (typically for promises to transfer services to a customer). IFRS 15 also includes disclosure requirements that would provide users of financial statements with comprehensive informationabout the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity’s contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede all existing guidance onrevenue recognition. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted considering certain additional disclosure requirements.113



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILNotes to the consolidated financial statementsCEMEX started in 2015 the evaluation of the impact that IFRS 15 will have on its accounting and disclosures related to its revenue. As of the reporting date, CEMEX has analyzed its contracts with customersin all countries in which it operates in order to indentify the several performance obligations and other offerings (discounts, loyalty programs, etc.) included in such contracts, among other aspects, aimed todetermine potential differences in the accounting recognition of revenues in respect to current IFRS. In addition, CEMEX has provided training in IFRS 15 to key personnel with the support of external expertsand has developed an online training. Preliminarily, considering its assessments at the reporting date, the nature of its business, its main transactions and current accounting policies, the fact that the transactionprice is allocated to goods delivered or services rendered to customers when customers have assumed the risk of loss, CEMEX does not expect a significant effect in the timing of its accounting of its revenuefrom the adoption of IFRS 15. During 2017, CEMEX plans to complete its assessment and quantify any adjustment that would be necessary if certain portion of revenue that currently is being recognized at thetransaction date or deferred during time, as applicable, should otherwise be recognized differently upon the adoption of IFRS 15. Beginning January 1, 2018, CEMEX plans to adopt IFRS 15 using the fullretrospective approach. CEMEX is not considering the early application of IFRS 15.On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”), which will supersede all current standards and interpretations related to lease accounting. IFRS 16, defines leases as any contract or part of acontract that conveys to the lessee the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration and the lessee directs the use of the identified asset throughout that period. In summary, IFRS 16introduces a single lessee accounting model, and requires a lessee to recognize, for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value, assets for the right-of-use theunderlying asset against a corresponding financial liability, representing the NPV of estimated lease payments under the contract, with a single income statement model in which a lessee recognizes depreciationof the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease liability. A lessee shall present either in the balance sheet, or disclose in the notes, right-of-use assets separately from other assets, as well as, lease liabilitiesseparately from other liabilities. IFRS 16 is effective beginning January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted considering certain requirements.As of the reporting date, CEMEX has performed an assessment of its main outstanding operating and finance lease contracts, in order to inventory the most relevant characteristics of such contracts (type ofassets, committed payments, maturity dates, renewal clauses, etc.). During 2017, CEMEX expects to define its future policy under IFRS 16 in connection with the exemption for short-term leases and low valueassets in order to set the basis and be able to start quantifying the required adjustments for the proper recognition of the assets for the “right-of-use” and the corresponding financial liability, with a plan to adoptIFRS 16 beginning January 1, 2019 full retrospectively.Preliminarily, based on its assessment as of the reporting date, CEMEX considers that upon adoption of IFRS 16; most of its outstanding operating leases will be recognized on balance sheet increasing assetsand liabilities, with no significant initial effect on CEMEX’s net assets. CEMEX is not considering the early application of IFRS 16.On January 29, 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows, which are effective beginning January 1, 2017. The amendments aim to enable users of financial statements to evaluatechanges in liabilities arising from financing activities. To achieve this objective, the IASB requires that the following changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are disclosed (to the extent necessary):(i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and(v) other changes. The amendments state that one way to fulfill the new disclosure requirement is to provide a rollforward between the opening and closing balances in the statement of financial position forliabilities arising from financing activities. Finally, the amendments state that changes in liabilities arising from financing activities must be disclosed separately from changes in other assets and liabilities.CEMEX does not expect a significant effect from the adoption of these amendments.114



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILNotes to the consolidated financial statements3) REVENUES AND CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTSFor the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, net sales, after sales and eliminations between related parties resulting from consolidation, were as follows:From the sale of goods associated to CEMEX’s main activities 1From the sale of services 2From the sale of other goods and services 32016$ 240,3793,1107,420$ 250,9092015212,0192,8115,496220,3262014192,5182,6184,806199,9421 Includes in each period those revenues generated under construction contracts that are presented in the table below.2 Refers mainly to revenues generated by Neoris N.V., a subsidiary involved in providing information technology solutions and services.3 Refers mainly to revenues generated by subsidiaries not individually significant operating in different lines of business.For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, revenues and costs related to construction contracts in progress were as follows:Revenue from construction contracts included in consolidated net sales 2Costs incurred in construction contracts included in consolidated cost of sales 3Construction contracts gross operating profit (loss)Recognized 1 todate$ 4,066(3,185)$ 88120161,033(1,133)(100)2015994(919)7520141,507(1,332)1751 Revenues and costs recognized from inception of the contracts until December 31, 2016 in connection with those projects still in progress.2 Revenues from construction contracts during 2016, 2015 and 2014, determined under the percentage of completion method, were mainly obtained in Mexico and Colombia.3 Refers to actual costs incurred during the periods. The oldest contract in progress as of December 31, 2016 started in 2010.As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, amounts receivable for progress billings to customers of construction contracts and/or advances received by CEMEX from these customers were not significant.4) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, SALE OF OTHER DISPOSAL GROUPS AND SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY GEOGRAPHIC OPERATING SEGMENT4A) Discontinued operationsOn November 28, 2016, CEMEX announced that one of its subsidiaries in the United States signed a definitive agreement to divest its Concrete Reinforced Pipe Manufacturing Business (“Concrete PipeBusiness”) in the United States to Quikrete Holdings, Inc. (“Quikrete”) for approximately US$500 plus an additional US$40 contingent consideration based on future performance. The closing of this transactionis subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including approval from regulators. CEMEX currently expects to finalize this sale during the first quarter of 2017. Considering the disposal of the entireconcrete pipe division, the operations of the Pipe Business for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, included in CEMEX’s statements of operations were reclassified to the single line item“Discontinued operations”. In addition, the balance sheet of CEMEX’s Pipe Business as of December 31, 2016 was reclassified to assets held for sale and directly related liabilities on the face of the consolidatedbalance sheet, including approximately US$260 ($5,369) of goodwill associated to the reporting segment in the United States that was proportionally allocated to these net assets based on their relative fair values(see note 26).On May 26, 2016, CEMEX closed the sale of its operations in Bangladesh and Thailand to Siam City Cement Public Company Ltd. for approximately US$70 ($1,450), generating a net gain on sale ofapproximately US$24 ($424) and included in the statement of operations in 2016 within the line item “Discontinued operations”, which includes the reclassification of foreign currency translation gainsassociated with these operations accrued in equity until disposal for approximately US$7 ($122).115



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILNotes to the consolidated financial statementsWith effective date October 31, 2015, after all agreed upon conditions precedent were satisfied, CEMEX completed the process for the sale of its operations in Austria and Hungary that started on August 12,2015 to the Rohrdorfer Group for approximately €165 (US$179 or $3,090), after final adjustments negotiated for changes in cash and working capital balances as of the transfer date. The combined operations inAustria and Hungary consisted of 29 aggregate quarries and 68 ready-mix plants. The operations in Austria and Hungary for the ten-month period ended October 31, 2015 and the year ended December 31, 2014,included in CEMEX’s statements of operations, were reclassified to the single line item “Discontinued operations”, which includes, in 2015, a gain on sale of approximately US$45 ($741). Such gain on saleincludes the reclassification to the statement of operations of foreign currency translation gains accrued in equity until October 31, 2015 for an amount of approximately US$10 ($215).In addition, on August 12, 2015, CEMEX agreed with Duna-Dráva Cement, the sale of its Croatia operations, including assets in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia, for approximately €231(US$243 or $5,032), amount that is subject to final adjustments negotiated for changes in cash and working capital balances as of the change of control date. The operations in Croatia, including assets in Bosniaand Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia, mainly consist of three cement plants with aggregate annual production capacity of approximately 2.4 million tons of cement, two aggregates quarries and seven ready-mix plants. As of December 31, 2016, after the compliance of customary conditions precedent agreed by the parties, the closing of this transaction is still subject to approval from the relevant authorities.CEMEX expects to conclude the sale of its operations in Croatia, including assets in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia, in the short-term. The operations in Croatia, including assets in Bosnia andHerzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia, for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, included in CEMEX’s statements of operations were reclassified, to the single line item “Discontinued operations”.The following table presents condensed combined information of the statement of operations of CEMEX’s discontinued operations in Bangladesh and Thailand for the five-months period ended May 31, 2016and for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, in Austria and Hungary for the ten-months period ended October 31, 2015 and for the year ended December 31, 2014; as well as of CEMEX’s operations inCroatia, including assets in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia, and the Pipe Business in the United States for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014:SalesCost of sales and operating expensesOther products (expenses), netFinancial expenses, net and othersEarnings before income taxIncome taxNet incomeNet income of non-controlling interestNet income of controlling interest2016$ 8,016(7,198)(15)(25)778(130)6481$ 647201510,861(10,251)33(65)578(34)5446538201410,081(9,750)(83)(55)193(103)90–90As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the balance sheets of CEMEX’s Croatian discontinued operations, including its assets in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia, were reclassified to current assetsand current liabilities held for sale. In addition, as mentioned above, the balance sheet of CEMEX’s Pipe Business as of December 31, 2016 was reclassified to current assets and current liabilities held for sale.Selected combined condensed financial information of balance sheet of these operations was as follows:Current assetsProperty, machinery and equipment, netIntangible assets, net and other non-current assetsTotal assets held for saleCurrent liabilitiesNon-current liabilitiesTotal liabilities directly related to assets held for saleNet assets held for sale2016$ 1,5705,7986,22213,5905996941,293$ 12,29720154382,5624463,4464422316732,773116



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsThe balance sheet of CEMEX as of December 31, 2015 was not restated as a result of the expected sale of its Concrete Pipe Business nor for the sale of the operations in Bangladesh and Thailand describedabove. Selected condensed combined financial information of balance sheet at this date of CEMEX’s Concrete Pipe Business, Bangladesh and Thailand was as follows:Current assetsProperty, machinery and equipment, netIntangible assets, net and other non-current assetsTotal assetsCurrent liabilitiesNon-current liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesNet assets2015$ 8322,4464,9218,19970387457$ 7,7424B) Other disposal groupsOn November 18, 2016, a subsidiary of CEMEX in the United States closed the sale to an affiliate of Grupo Cementos de Chihuahua, S.A.B. de C.V. (“GCC”) of certain assets consisting in CEMEX’s cementplant in Odessa, Texas, two cement terminals and the building materials business in El Paso, Texas and Las Cruces, New Mexico, for an amount of approximately US$306 ($6,340). Odessa plant has an annualproduction capacity of approximately 537 thousand tons. The transfer of control was effective on November 18, 2016. As a result of the sale of these assets, CEMEX recognized a net gain of approximatelyUS$104 ($2,159) as part of “Other expenses, net” in the statement of operations, which includes an expense related to the proportional write off of goodwill associated to CEMEX’s reporting segment in theUnited States based on their relative fair values for approximately US$161 ($3,340) and the reclassification of proportional foreign currency translation gains associated with these net assets accrued in equity untildisposal for approximately US$65 ($1,347).On September 12, 2016, CEMEX announced that one of its subsidiaries in the United States signed a definitive agreement for the sale of its Fairborn, Ohio cement plant and cement terminal in Columbus, Ohioto Eagle Materials Inc. (“Eagle Materials”) for approximately US$400($8,288). Fairborn plant has an annual production capacity of approximately 730 thousand tons. The closing of this transaction is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including approval fromregulators. CEMEX currently expects to finalize this divestiture during the first quarter of 2017. The balance sheet of these assets as of December 31, 2016 was reclassified to assets held for sale and liabilitiesdirectly related to assets held for sale (note 12A), including approximately US$211 ($4,365) of goodwill associated to the reporting segment in the United States that was proportionally allocated to these netassets based on their relative fair values.The operations of the net assets sold to GCC on November 18, 2016 and those expected to be sold to Eagle Materials, mentioned above, did not represent discontinued operations and were consolidated byCEMEX line-by-line for all the periods presented in the statement of operations. In arriving to this conclusion, CEMEX evaluated: a) the Company’s ongoing cement operations on its CGUs in Texas and theEast coast; and b) the relative size of the net assets sold and held for sale in respect to theCompany’s remaining overall ongoing cement operations in the United States. Moreover, as a reasonability check, CEMEX measured the materiality of such net assets using a threshold of 5% of consolidated netsales, operating earnings before other expenses, net gain (loss) and total assets. In no case was the 5% threshold reached.For 2016, 2015 and 2014, selected combined statement of operations information of the net assets sold to GCC on November 18, 2016 and those expected to be sold to Eagle Materials was as follows:Net salesOperating costs and expensesOperating earnings before other expenses, net2016$ 3,122(2,450)$ 67220153,538(2,795)74320144,465(3,240)1,225117



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsAs of December 31, 2016, the condensed balance sheet of the net assets expected to be sold to Eagle Materials was as follows:Current assetsNon-current assetsTotal assets of the disposal groupCurrent liabilitiesNon-current liabilitiesTotal liabilities directly related to disposal groupTotal net assets of disposal group2016$ 1235,8345,9576158164$ 5,793In addition, on December 2, 2016, CEMEX agreed the definite transfer of its assets and activities related to the ready-mix concrete pumping in Mexico to Cementos Espańoles de Bombeo, S. de R.L., subsidiaryin Mexico of Pumping Team S.L.L. (“Pumping Team”), specialist in the supply of ready-mix concrete pumping services based in Spain, for US$80 ($1,658), which includes the sale of fixed assets upon closingof the transaction for approximately US$15 ($311) plus administrative and client and market development services, as well as the lease of facilities that CEMEX will supply to Pumping Team over a period often years with the possibility to extend for three additional years, for an aggregate initial amount of approximately US$65 ($1,347), plus a contingent revenue subject to results for up to US$29 ($601) linked toannual metrics beginning in the first year and up to the fifth year of the agreement. As of December 31, 2016, the closing of the transaction is subject to certain conditions, including approval by the Mexicanauthorities. CEMEX expects to conclude this transaction during the first quarter of 2017.Effective January 1, 2015, as part of a series of related transactions agreed on October 31, 2014 with Holcim Ltd. (“Holcim”), then a global producer of building materials based in Switzerland, currentlyLafargeHolcim after the merger of Holcim with Lafarge, S.A., during 2015, CEMEX sold to Holcim its assets in the western region of Germany, consisting of one cement plant, two cement grinding mills, oneslag granulator, 22 aggregates quarries and 79 ready-mix plants for approximately € 171 (US$207 or $3,047), while CEMEX maintained its operations in the northern, eastern and southern regions of the country.The operations of the net assets sold by CEMEX to Holcim were consolidated by CEMEX line-by-line for the year ended December 31, 2014, considering that this transaction did not represent the disposal ofentire reportable operating segment. In arriving to this conclusion, CEMEX evaluated: a) the Company’s remaining operations in the North, East and South regions of Germany; and b) the relative size of the netassets sold in respect to the Company’s remaining overall ongoing operations in such country. Moreover, as a reasonability check, CEMEX measured the materiality of such net assets using a threshold of 5% ofconsolidated net sales, operating earnings before other expenses, net, net income (loss) and total assets. In any case the 5% threshold was reached.For the year 2014, selected combined statement of operations information of the net assets sold in Germany was as follows:Net salesOperating costs and expensesOperating earnings before other expenses, net2014$ 6,655(6,428)$ 227During 2014, CEMEX sold significantly all the operating assets of Readymix plc (“Readymix”), CEMEX’s main operating subsidiary in the Republic of Ireland, and an indirect subsidiary of CEMEX Espańa,for € 19 (US$23 or $339), recognizing a loss on sale of approximately € 14 (US$17 or $250).118



 Notes to the consolidated financial statements4C) Selected financial information by geographic operating segmentGeographic operating segments represent the components of CEMEX that engage in business activities from which CEMEX may earn revenues and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewedby the entity’s top management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and assess their performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.CEMEX’s main activities are oriented to the construction industry segment through the production, distribution, marketing and sale of cement, ready-mix concrete, aggregates and other construction materials.CEMEX operates geographically on a regional basis. Effective January 1, 2016, according to an announcement made by CEMEX’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), the Company’s operations were reorganizedinto five geographical regions, each under the supervision of a regional president, as follows: 1) Mexico, 2) United States, 3) Europe, 4) South, Central America and the Caribbean, and 5) Asia, Middle East andAfrica. Each regional president supervises and is responsible for all the business activities in the countries comprising the region. These activities refer to the production, distribution, marketing and sale ofcement, ready-mix concrete, aggregates and other construction materials, the allocation of resources and the review of their performance and operating results. All regional presidents report directly to CEMEX’sCEO. The country manager, who is one level below the regional president in the organizational structure, reports the performance and operating results of its country to the regional president, including all theoperating sectors. CEMEX’s top management internally evaluates the results and performance of each country and region for decision-making purposes and allocation of resources, following a vertical integrationapproach considering: a) that the operating components that comprise the reported segment have similar economic characteristics; b) that the reported segments are used by CEMEX to organize and evaluate itsactivities in its internal information system; c) the homogeneous nature of the items produced and traded in each operative component, which are all used by the construction industry; d) the vertical integration inthe value chain of the products comprising each component; e) the type of clients, which are substantially similar in all components; f) the operative integration among components; and g) that the compensationsystem for employees of a specific country is based on the consolidated results of the geographic segment and not on the particular results of the components. In accordance with this approach, in CEMEX’s dailyoperations, management allocates economic resources and evaluates operating results on a country basis rather than on an operating component basis. The financial information by geographic operating segmentreported in the tables below for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was restated in order to give effect to: a) the discontinued operations described in note 4A, and b) the new geographical operatingorganization described above. Until December 31, 2015, CEMEX’s operations were organized into six geographical regions, also each under the supervision of a regional president: 1) Mexico, 2) United States,3) Northern Europe, 4) Mediterranean, 5) South, Central America and the Caribbean, and 6) Asia. Under the current operating organization, the geographical operating segments under the former Mediterraneanregion were incorporated into the current Europe region or the Asia, Middle East and Africa region, as corresponded.Considering the financial information that is regularly reviewed by CEMEX’s top management, each of the five geographic regions in which CEMEX operates and the countries that comprise such regionsrepresent reportable operating segments. However, for disclosure purposes in the notes to the financial statements, considering similar regional and economic characteristics and/or the fact that certain countries donot exceed certain materiality thresholds to be reported separately, such countries have been aggregated and presented as single line items as follows: a) “Rest of Europe” is mainly comprised of CEMEX’soperations in the Czech Republic, Poland and Latvia, as well as trading activities in Scandinavia and Finland; b) “Rest of South, Central America and the Caribbean” is mainly comprised of CEMEX’soperations in Costa Rica, Panama, Puerto Rico, the Dominican Republic, Nicaragua, Jamaica and other countries in the Caribbean, Guatemala, and small ready-mix concrete operations in Argentina; and c) “Restof Asia, Middle East and Africa” is mainly comprised of CEMEX’s operations in the United Arab Emirates, Israel and Malaysia. The segment “Others” refers to: 1) cement trade maritime operations, 2) NeorisN.V., CEMEX’s subsidiary involved in the development of information technology solutions, 3)the Parent Company and other corporate entities, and 4) other minor subsidiaries with different lines of business.119



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsThe main indicator used by CEMEX’s management to evaluate the performance of each country is “Operating EBITDA” representing operating earnings before other expenses, net, plus depreciation andamortization, considering that such amount represents a relevant measure for CEMEX’s management as an indicator of the ability to internally fund capital expenditures, as well as a widely accepted financialindicator to measure CEMEX’s ability to service or incur debt (note 16). Operating EBITDA should not be considered as an indicator of CEMEX’s financial performance, as an alternative to cash flows, as ameasure of liquidity, or as being comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies. This indicator, which is presented in the selected financial information by geographic operating segment, isconsistent with the information used by CEMEX’s management for decision-making purposes. The accounting policies applied to determine the financial information by geographic operating segment areconsistent with those described in note 2. CEMEX recognizes sales and other transactions between related parties based on market values.Selected information of the consolidated statements of operations by geographic operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 was as follows:2016MexicoUnited StatesEuropeUnited KingdomGermanyFranceSpainRest of EuropeSouth, Central Americaand the CaribbeanColombia 1Rest of South, Central Americaand the Caribbean 1Asia, Middle Eastand Africa(“AMEA”)EgyptPhilippines 2Rest of AMEAOthersContinuing operationsDiscontinued operationsTotalNet sales(includingrelatedparties)$ 53,57968,55321,1539,57214,5356,56310,88112,41518,8206,9509,65512,67619,128264,4808,223$ 272,703Less:Relatedparties(848)–  –  (1,385)–  (841)(629)(1)(1,252)(5)–  (12)(8,598)(13,571)(207)(13,778)Net sales52,73168,55321,1538,18714,5355,72210,25212,41417,5686,9459,65512,66410,530250,9098,016258,925OperatingEBITDA19,25611,1593,6065536698141,4203,9756,1262,4542,6871,607(2,915)51,4111,35552,766Less:Depreciationandamortization2,3906,6051,04746448466391448989253953032580516,14753716,684Operatingearningsbefore otherexpenses, net16,8664,5542,559891851515063,4865,2341,9152,1571,282(3,720)35,26481836,082Otherexpenses,net(608)2,911711(64)(110)(112)(63)(575)(1,255)(213)21(122)(2,167)(1,646)(15)



(1,661)Financialexpense(339)(489)(63)(15)(53)(37)(23)46(65)(78)(1)(27)(20,324)(21,468)(29)(21,497)Otherfinancingitems, net2,695(205)(393)(85)2(9)20338(150)(253)(24)(33)2,6554,44144,4451 CEMEX Latam Holdings, S.A. (“CLH”), entity incorporated in Spain which since 2012 trades its ordinary shares in the Colombian Stock Exchange under the symbol CLH is the indirect holding company ofCEMEX’s operations in Colombia, Panama, Costa Rica, Guatemala, El Salvador and Brazil. At year end 2016, there is a non controlling interest in CLH of approximately 26.72% of its ordinary shares,excluding shares held in CLH’s treasury.2 CEMEX’s operations in the Philippines are conducted through CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. (“CHP”), subsidiary incorporated in the Philippines which since July 2016 trades its ordinary shares in thePhilippines Stock Exchange under the symbol CHP (note 20D). At year end 2016, there is a non-controlling interest in CHP of 45.0% of its ordinary shares.120



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILNotes to the consolidated financial statements2015Mexico United StatesEuropeUnited Kingdom Germany France Spain Rest of EuropeSouth,CentralAmerica andtheCaribbeanColombiaRest of South, Central America and the CaribbeanAsia,MiddleEast andAfrica(“AMEA”)Egypt Philippines Rest of AMEAOthersContinuingoperations Discontinuedoperations TotalNet sales (including related parties)$ 50,260 58,66820,227 8,285 12,064 6,151 10,010 11,562 19,169 6,923 8,436 11,025 17,058 239,83810,918 $ 250,756Less: Related parties(5,648) (18) –(1,276) – (755) (767) (2) (2,285) (5) (4) – (8,752) (19,512) (57) (19,569)Net sales44,612 58,65020,227 7,00912,064 5,3969,243 11,56016,884 6,9188,43211,025 8,306 220,32610,861 231,187Operating EBITDA15,362 8,0802,705 542 670 1,0311,4194,0415,2111,777 2,206 1,264 (2,954) 41,354 1,381 42,735Less:Depreciationandamortization2,399 5,8651,004 389438 604972 500 844 536 447 277 590 14,865 771 15,636Operatingearningsbefore otherexpenses, net12,963 2,2151,701 153 232427 4473,541 4,3671,241 1,759987 (3,544)26,489 610 27,099Otherexpenses,net(684) 252(147) 49(8) (735)(182) (88) (267)(254) (12)(69) (898)(3,043) 33(3,010)Financial expense(210) (439) (95) (14) (48) (72) (57) (50) (43) (115) (20) (23) (18,581) (19,767) (33) (19,800)Other financing items, net915(159) (299) (61) (10) (2) (75) (570) (113) 114 19 97 (1,091) (1,235) (32) (1,267)2014MexicoUnited StatesEuropeUnited KingdomGermanyFranceSpainRest of EuropeSouth,CentralAmericaandtheCaribbeanColombiaRest of South, Central America andthe CaribbeanAsia,MiddleEastandAfrica(“AMEA”)EgyptPhilippinesRest of AMEAOthersContinuingoperationsDiscontinuedoperationsTotalNet sales (including related parties)$ 51,41245,691 17,071 14,138 12,914 4,717 9,101 13,242 16,292 7,123 5,912 9,694 13,531 220,838 10,134 $ 230,972Less:Relatedparties(10,143) (33) – (1,247) – (559) (921) (1) (1,865) (12) (2) (6) (6,107) (20,896) (53) (20,949)Net sales41,269 45,658 17,071 12,891 12,914 4,158 8,180 13,241 14,427 7,111 5,910 9,688 7,424 199,942 10,081 210,023OperatingEBITDA13,480 4,962 1,672 869 852 363 1,080 4,838 4,767 2,664 1,374 1,098 (2,463) 35,556 1,084 36,640Less:Depreciation and amortization2,420 5,296 1,004 625 516 571 667 476 688 474 338 254 374 13,703 753 14,456Operating earnings before other expenses, net11,060 (334) 668 244 336 (208) 413 4,362 4,079 2,190 1,036 844 (2,837) 21,853 331 22,184Other expenses, net734 (352) 1,062 (797) (94) (2,107) (367) 52 (101) (209) 40 (147) (2,759) (5,045) (83) (5,128)Financialexpense(262) (411) (33) (29) (72) (29) (26) (90) (44) (28) (5) (19) (20,435) (21,483) (18) (21,501)Other financing items, net481 (123) (378) (122) (4) (4) (56) (353) 915 (8) 27 3,047 2,531 (37) 2,494121



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILNotes to the consolidated financial statementsThe information of share of profits of equity accounted investees by geographic operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 is included in the note 13A.As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, selected balance sheet information by geographic segment was as follows:2016Mexico United StatesEuropeUnited Kingdom Germany France Spain Rest of EuropeSouth, Central America and the CaribbeanColombia Rest of South, Central America and the CaribbeanAsia, Middle East and AfricaEgypt Philippines Rest of Asia, Middle East and AfricaOthersContinuing operationsAssets held for sale and directly related liabilities (note 12A)TotalEquity accounted investees$ 490 1,587 104 74 909 13 276 – 28 1 6 – 6,996 10,484 4 $ 10,488Other segment assets70,012 287,492 32,469 8,396 16,855 27,251 16,223 26,532 22,321 5,512 12,308 12,347 26,333 564,051 25,189 589,240Total assets70,502 289,079 32,573 8,470 17,764 27,264 16,499 26,532 22,349 5,513 12,314 12,347 33,329 574,535 25,193 599,728Total liabilities20,752 30,118 22,914 6,694 6,829 3,206 4,643 11,548 5,9312,907 2,696 6,994 276,305 401,537 1,466 403,003Net assets by segment49,750 258,961 9,659 1,776 10,935 24,058 11,856 14,984 16,418 2,606 9,618 5,353(242,976) 72,998 23,727 196,725Additions to fixed assets 11,651 3,760599 507 379 490 440 3,633 637 381 341 394 67 13,279 (1) 13,2782015Mexico United StatesEuropeUnited Kingdom Germany France Spain Rest of EuropeSouth, Central America and the CaribbeanColombia Rest of South, Central America and the CaribbeanAsia, Middle East and AfricaEgypt Philippines Rest of Asia, Middle East and AfricaOthers Continuing operations Assets held for sale and directly related liabilities (note 12A)TotalEquity accounted investees$ 438 1,228 103 64 582 94 291 – 24 11 6 – 9,309 12,150 4 $ 12,154  Other segment assets75,215 260,847 32,339 7,278 14,577 23,544 15,043 19,499 21,714 9,310 10,447 12,055 22,855 524,723 5,387 530,110Total assets75,653 262,075 32,442 7,342 15,159 23,638 15,334 19,499 21,738 9,321 10,453 12,055 32,164 536,873 5,391 542,264Total liabilities16,936 22,832 19,054 5,988 6,704 2,810 4,025 8,959 5,110 4,499 2,907 6,205 271,794 377,823 673 378,496Net assets by segment58,717 239,243 13,388 1,354 8,455 20,828 11,309 10,540 16,628 4,822 7,546 5,850 (239,630) 159,050 4,718163,768Additions to fixed assets 11,177 3,453 925 362 515 281 594 2,601 965 762 329 288 61 12,313 154 12,4671 In 2016 and 2015, the total “Additions to fixed assets” includes capital expenditures of approximately $12,676 and $11,454, respectively (note 14).122



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsTotal consolidated liabilities as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 included debt of $236,232 and $229,343, respectively. Of such balances, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, approximately 73% and 71% was inthe Parent Company, less than 1% and 1% was in Spain, 25% and 27% was in finance subsidiaries in the Netherlands, Luxembourg and the United States, and 2% and 1% was in other countries, respectively.The Parent Company and the finance subsidiaries mentioned above are included within the segment “Others”.Net sales by product and geographic segment for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:2016Mexico United StatesEuropeUnited Kingdom Germany France Spain Rest of EuropeSouth, Central America and the CaribbeanColombia Rest of South, Central America and the CaribbeanAsia, Middle East and AfricaEgypt Philippines Rest of Asia, Middle East and AfricaOthersContinuing operationsDiscontinued operationsTotalCement$ 37,64728,5855,2673,416–5,4786,3978,81416,6606,0769,405961–128,7062,122$ 130,828Concrete13,66436,4527,8304,53911,8838234,2414,5223,49394314310,293–98,82625099,076Aggregates3,15615,2968,1952,1125,6401961,4751,364914261642,573–41,1111541,126Others11,773 7,9997,889 2,262 278 472 5551,761 563217 70 1,407 19,127 54,373 5,747 60,120Eliminations(13,509) (19,779)(8,028) (4,142) (3,266) (1,247) (2,416)(4,047) (4,062)(317) (127) (2,570) (8,597) (72,107) (118) (72,225)Net sales52,73168,55321,1538,18714,5355,72210,25212,41417,5686,9459,65512,66410,530250,9098,016258,9252015MexicoUnited StatesEuropeUnited KingdomGermanyFranceSpainRest of EuropeSouth, Central America and the CaribbeanColombiaRest of South, Central America and the CaribbeanAsia, Middle East and AfricaEgyptPhilippinesRest of Asia, Middle East and AfricaOthersContinuing operationsDiscontinued operationsTotalCement$ 30,38423,3584,7053,098–5,2655,9668,15814,8466,0528,270880–110,9822,787$ 113,769Concrete13,16330,5757,7293,74910,0267213,6234,4283,8509751158,945–87,8992,67890,577Aggregates2,86012,5247,6141,7904,4101501,1911,32989836951,980–



34,8771,29636,173Others9,9568,7587,8592,1032243925191,345731236621,18017,05750,4224,88555,307Eliminations(11,751)(16,565)(7,680)(3,731)(2,596)(1,132)(2,056)(3,700)(3,441)(381)(110)(1,960)(8,751)(63,854)(785)(64,639)Net sales44,61258,65020,2277,00912,0645,3969,24311,56016,8846,9188,43211,0258,306220,32610,861231,187123



 Notes to the consolidated financial statements2014 Mexico United States Europe United Kingdom Germany France Spain Rest of Europe South, Central America and the Caribbean Colombia Rest of South, Central America and the Caribbean Asia, MiddleEast and Africa Egypt Philippines Rest of Asia, Middle East and Africa Others Continuing operations Discontinued operations TotalCement$ 27,667 17,937 3,824 4,883 – 3,856 5,305 9,544 13,123 6,402 5,849 593 – 98,983 2,694 $ 101,677Concrete12,855 21,490 6,666 6,600 10,826 783 3,154 4,964 3,417 542 48 7,993 – 79,338 2,827 82,165Aggregates2,963 9,886 6,128 4,042 4,585 168 1,089 1,547 712 19 – 1,831 – 32,970 1,356 34,326Others9,056 8,857 7,929 2,434 215 359 341 770 690 318 27 1,093 11,607 43,696 3,992 47,688Eliminations(11,272) (12,512) (7,476) (5,068) (2,712) (1,008) (1,709) (3,584) (3,515) (170) (14) (1,822) (4,183) (55,045) (788) (55,833)Net sales41,269 45,658 17,071 12,891 12,914 4,158 8,180 13,241 14,427 7,111 5,910 9,688 7,424 199,942 10,081 210,023 5) OPERATING EXPENSES, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION Consolidatedoperating expenses during 2016, 2015 and 2014 by function are as follows:Administrative expenses 1Selling expensesDistribution and logistics expenses2016 $ 20,883 6,954 25,925 $ 53,7622015 18,717 5,943 23,109 47,7692014 16,984 5,674 20,689 43,3471 The Technology and Energy departments in CEMEX undertake all significant R&D activities as part of their daily activities. In 2016, 2015 and 2014, total combined expenses of these departments recognizedwithin administrative expenses were approximately $712 (US$38), $660 (US$41) and $538 (US$36), respectively. Depreciation and amortization recognized during 2016, 2015 and 2014 are detailed as follows:Depreciation and amortization expense included in cost of sales Depreciation and amortization expense included in administrative, selling and distribution and logistics expenses2016 $ 14,299 1,848 $ 16,1472015 13,329 1,536 14,8652014 12,379 1,324 13,7036) OTHER EXPENSES, NETThe detail of the line item “Other expenses, net” in 2016, 2015 and 2014 was as follows: Impairment losses and remeasurement of assets held for sale 1 Restructuring costs 2 Charitable contributions Resultsfrom the sale of assets and others, net2016 $ (2,516) (778) (93) 1,741 $ (1,646)2015 (1,526) (845) (60) (612) (3,043)2014 (3,848) (544) (18) (635) (5,045)1 The main effects included in this line item for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 are described in notes 13B, 14, 15 and 24A.2 In 2016, 2015 and 2014, restructuring costs mainly refer to severance payments.124



 Notes to the consolidated financial statements7) OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE), NETThe detail of the line item “Other financial income (expense), net” in 2016, 2015 and 2014 was as follows:Financial incomeResults from financial instruments, net (notes 13B and 16D)Foreign exchange resultsEffects of NPV on assets and liabilities and others, net2016 $ 417 113 4,943 (1,032) $ 4,4412015 315 (2,729) 2,083 (904) (1,235)2014 312 (880) 3,936 (837) 2,5318) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, consolidated cash and cash equivalents consisted of:Cash and bank accountsFixed-income securities and other cash equivalents2016 $ 9,044 2,511 $ 11,5552015 11,395 3,885 15,280Based on net settlement agreements, the balance of cash and cash equivalents excludes deposits in margin accounts that guarantee several obligations of CEMEX of approximately $250 in 2016 and $258 in2015, which were offset against the corresponding obligations of CEMEX with the counterparties, considering CEMEX’s right, ability and intention to settle the amounts on a net basis.9) TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NETAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, consolidated trade accounts receivable consisted of:Trade accounts receivableAllowances for doubtful accounts2016 $ 32,088 (2,139) $ 29,9492015 29,773 (1,999) 27,774As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, trade accounts receivable include receivables of $13,644 (US$658) and $12,858 (US$746), respectively, that were sold under outstanding securitization programs for the saleof trade accounts receivable and/or factoring programs with recourse in Mexico, the United States, France and the United Kingdom. Under the outstanding securitization programs, CEMEX effectively surrenderscontrol associated with the trade accounts receivable sold and there is no guarantee or obligation to reacquire the assets. However, CEMEX retains certain residual interest in the programs and/or maintainscontinuing involvement with the accounts receivable; therefore, the amounts received are recognized within “Other financial obligations”. Trade accounts receivable qualifying for sale exclude amounts over certaindays past due or concentrations over certain limits to any one customer, according to the terms of the programs. The portion of the accounts receivable sold maintained as reserves amounted to $2,549 in 2016and $2,357 in 2015. Therefore, the funded amount to CEMEX was $11,095 (US$535) in 2016 and $10,501 (US$609) in 2015, representing the amounts recognized within the line item of “Other financialobligations”. The discount granted to the acquirers of the trade accounts receivable is recorded as financial expense and amounted to approximately $258 (US$14) in 2016, $249 (US$16) in 2015 and $298(US$22) in 2014. CEMEX’s securitization programs are negotiated for specific periods and may be renewed at their maturity. The securitization programs outstanding as of December 31, 2016 in Mexico, theUnited States, France and the United Kingdom mature in March 2017, respectively. Allowances for doubtful accounts are established according to the credit history and risk profile of each customer. Changes inthe valuation of this caption allowance for doubtful accounts in 2016, 2015 and 2014, were as follows:Allowances for doubtful accounts at beginning of periodCharged to selling expensesDeductionsForeign currency translation effectsAllowances for doubtful accounts at end of period2016 $ 1,999 556 (867) 451 $ 2,1392015 1,856 439 (270) (26) 1,9992014 1,804 442 (394) 4 1,856125



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILNotes to the consolidated financial statements10) OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLEAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, consolidated other accounts receivable consisted of:Non-trade accounts receivable 1Interest and notes receivable 2Loans to employees and othersRefundable taxes2016 $ 2,503 1,523 188 965 $ 5,1792015 2,332 1,332 177 976 4,8171 Non-trade accounts receivable are mainly attributable to the sale of assets.2 Includes $27 in 2016 and $148 in 2015, representing the short-term portion of a restricted investment related to coupon payments under CEMEX’s perpetual debentures (note 20D). In addition, in 2016,includes CEMEX Colombia’s beneficial interest in a trust oriented to promote housing projects, which its only asset is land in the municipality of Zipaquira, Colombia and its only liability is a bank credit forapproximately $148, guaranteed by CEMEX Colombia, obtained to purchase the land. The estimated fair value of the land as determined by external appraiser significantly exceeds the amount of the loan.11) INVENTORIES, NETAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the consolidated balance of inventories was summarized as follows:Finished goodsWork-in-processRaw materialsMaterials and spare partsInventory in transitAllowance for obsolescence2016 $ 5,805 3,316 3,112 4,888 1,176 (435) $ 17,8622015 6,439 3,160 3,217 4,822 525 (447) 17,716For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, CEMEX recognized within “Cost of sales” in profit or loss, inventory impairment losses of approximately $52, $49 and $36, respectively.12) ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS12A) Assets held for saleAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, assets held for sale, which are measured at the lower of their estimated realizable value, less costs to sell, and their carrying amounts, as well as liabilities directly related withsuch assets are detailed as follows:Concrete Pipe Division (note 4A)CEMEX’s operations in Croatia (note 4A)Fairborn cement plant (note 4B)Concrete pumping equipment (note 4B)Idle assets in Andorra, SpainInvestment in GCC shares (note 13A) 1Other assets held for sale 22016Assets Liabilities Net assets$ 9,426 642 8,784 4,164 651 3,513 5,957 164 5,793 213 – 213 560 – 560 3,882 – 3,882 991 9 982 $ 25,193 1,466 23,7272015Assets Liabilities Net assets$ – – – 3,446 673 2,773 – – – – – – 481 – 481 – – –1,464 – 1,464 $ 5,391 673 4,7181 CEMEX analyzes alternatives to sell its investment in 23% of GCC’s common stock in the short-term. See note 26 for subsequent events related to this investment.2 During 2014, CEMEX recognized impairment losses in connection with the remeasurement of other assets held for sale for approximately $55.126



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILNotes to the consolidated financial statements12B) Other current assetsAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, other current assets are mainly comprised of advance payments.13) EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES, OTHER INVESTMENTS AND NON-CURRENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE13A) Equity accounted investeesAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the main investments in common shares of associates were as follows:Camcem, S.A. de C.V.Control Administrativo Mexicano, S.A. de C.V.Trinidad Cement LimitedConcrete Supply Co. LLCAkmenes Cementas ABABC Capital, S.A. Institución de Banca MúltipleLehigh White Cement CompanySociété Méridionale de CarrièresSociété d’Exploitation de CarričresIndustrias Básicas, S.A.Other companiesActivityCement Cement Cement Concrete Cement Financing Cement Aggregates Aggregates Cement —CountryMexico Mexico Trinidad and Tobago United States Lithuania Mexico United States France France Panama —%40.1 – 39.5 40.0 37.8 33.9 24.5 33.3 50.0 25.0 —2016$ 3,674 – 1,689 1,234 586 474 334 300 257 155 1,781 $ 10,4842015600 5,613 1,543 932 560 385 276 241 202 133 1,665 12,150Out of which:Book value at acquisition dateChanges in stockholders’ equity$ 8,260$ 2,2244,6837,467As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were no written put options for the purchase of investments in associates.On December 5, 2016, through one of its indirect subsidiaries, Sierra Trading (“Sierra”), CEMEX presented an offer and take-over bid (the “Offer”) to all shareholders of Trinidad Cement Limited (“TCL”), acompany publicly listed in Trinidad and Tobago, Jamaica and Barbados, to acquire up to 132,616,942 ordinary shares in TCL for $4.50 trinitarian dollars (“TT”) in cash per TCL share, which together withSierra’s existing share ownership in TCL of approximately 39.5%, would, if successful, result in Sierra holding up to 74.9% of the equity share capital in TCL. Full acceptance of the Offer would result in a cashpayment by Sierra of approximately TT$597 million (US$89 or $1,844). The Offer price represents a premium of 33.1% over the December 1, 2016 closing price of TCL’s shares in the Trinidad and TobagoStock Exchange. Among other conditions, the Offer is conditional on Sierra acquiring at least an amount of TCL shares that would allow CEMEX to consolidate TCL. Unless extended, the Offer period isexpected to close on January 10, 2017. If the Offer is successful, TCL will continue operating as usual and will be maintained as a publicly listed company on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange with thebenefit of a strong local shareholding together with the enhanced benefit of proven management and operational expertise from CEMEX. TCL’s main operations are in Trinidad and Tobago, Jamaica andBarbados. TCL is the majority shareholder of Caribbean Cement Company Limited, a main cement producer in Jamaica. In connection with the Offer, on December 23, 2016, the Board of Directors of TCLannounced its recommendation to TCL’s shareholders of not selling their shares (see note 26 for recent developments related to the Offer).During 2016, the Parent Company participated as shareholder in a share restructuring executed by Camcem, S.A. de C.V. (“Camcem”), indirect parent company of Control Administrativo Mexicano, S.A. deC.V. (“Camsa”) and GCC, aimed to simplify its corporate structure, by means of which, Imin de México, S.A. de C.V., intermediate holding company, Camsa and GCC were merged, prevailing GCC as thesurviving entity. As a result of the share restructuring, CEMEX’s 10.3% interest in Camcem and 49% interest in Camsa, both before the restructuring, were exchanged on equivalent basis into a 40.1% interest inCamcem and a 23% interest in GCC, which shares of the latest trade in the MSE (note 12A).127



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsIn addition, during 2015, through the exercise of its preemptive rights in TCL’s rights issuance and the purchase of shares not subscribed and fully paid up by other eligible TCL shareholders in the rightsissuance, Sierra increased its participation in TCL from 20% to 39.5% for approximately $774 (US$45). Moreover, in April 2015, CEMEX and TCL entered into a Technical Services Agreement (the “TSA”)pursuant to which CEMEX will provide TCL with technical, managerial and other assistance from May 1, 2015 to May 1, 2018, unless earlier terminated.Share of profit of equity accounted investees by geographic operating segment in 2016, 2015 and 2014 is detailed as follows:MexicoUnited StatesEuropeCorporate and others2016 $ 452 253 54 (71) $ 6882015 330 92 340 (24) 7382014 242 4 74 (26) 294Combined condensed balance sheet information of CEMEX’s associates as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 is set forth below:Current assetsNon-current assetsTotal assetsCurrent liabilitiesNon-current liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal net assets2016 $ 21,651 41,085 62,736 11,612 22,436 34,048 $ 28,6882015 16,002 30,435 46,437 8,342 15,242 23,584 22,853Combined selected information of the statements of operations of CEMEX’s associates in 2016, 2015 and 2014 is set forth below:SalesOperating earningsIncome before income taxNet income2016 2015 2014$ 29,791 25,484 21,1734,730 3,523 1,9313,111 3,350 4841,860 2,403 22813B) Other investments and non-current accounts receivableAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, consolidated other investments and non-current accounts receivable were summarized as follows:Non-current portion of valuation of derivative financial instrumentsNon-current accounts receivable and other investments 1Investments available-for-sale 2Investments held for trading 32016 $ 1,900 4,501 491 157 $ 7,0492015 869 4,731 632 317 6,5491 Includes, among other items: a) advances to suppliers of fixed assets of approximately $52 in 2016 and $54 in 2015; and b) the non-current portion of a restricted investment used to pay coupons under theperpetual debentures (note 20D) of $83 in 2015. CEMEX recognized impairment losses of non-current accounts receivable in Costa Rica of approximately $21 in 2016, Egypt and Colombia of approximately $71and $22 in 2015, respectively; and the United Kingdom of approximately $16 in 2014.2 This line item refers mainly to an investment in CPOs of Axtel, S.A.B. de C.V. (“Axtel”). This investment is recognized as available for sale at fair value and changes in valuation are recorded in othercomprehensive loss until its disposal.3 This line item refers to investments in private funds. In 2016 and 2015, no contributions were made to such private funds.128



 Notes to the consolidatedfinancial statements14) PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT, NETAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, consolidated property, machinery and equipment, net and the changes in such line item during 2016, 2015 and 2014, were as follows:Cost at beginning of periodAccumulated depreciation and depletionNet book value at beginning of periodCapital expendituresAdditions through capital leasesCapitalization of financial expenseStripping costsTotal capital expendituresDisposals 4Reclassifications 5Depreciation and depletion for the periodImpairment lossesForeign currency translation effectsCost at end of periodAccumulated depreciation and depletionNet book value at end of periodLand and mineral reserves1$ 85,763 (12,194) 73,569 2,149 – – 421 2,570 (388) (2,029) (2,430) (671) 9,516 96,410 (16,273) $ 80,137Building147,205 (20,852) 26,353 1,856 – – – 1,856 (140) (703) (2,068) (302) 1,388 50,131 (23,747) 26,3842016Machinery and equipment2210,175 (109,777) 100,398 8,671 7 – – 8,678 (1,268) (1,731) (9,658) (547) 7,548 228,438 (125,018) 103,420 Construction in progress313,813 – 13,813 – – 175 – 175 (44) (86) – (378) 3,690 17,170 – 17,170Total356,956 (142,823) 214,133 12,676 7 175 421 13,279 (1,840) (4,549) (14,156) (1,898) 22,142 392,149 (165,038) 227,111Cost at beginning of periodAccumulated depreciation and depletionNet book value at beginning of periodCapital expendituresAdditions through capital leasesCapitalization of financial expenseStripping costsTotal capital expendituresDisposals 4Reclassifications 5Business combinationsDepreciation and depletion for the periodImpairment lossesForeign currency translation effectsCost at end of periodAccumulated depreciation and depletionNet book value at end of periodLand and mineral reserves1$ 78,511 (9,836) 68,675 1,429 – – 723 2,152 (713) (1,147) 1,372 (2,007) (338) 5,575 85,763 (12,194) $ 73,569Building143,473 (16,970) 26,503 1,198 – – – 1,198 (544) (982) 757 (1,969) (114) 1,504 47,205 (20,852) 26,3532015Machinery and equipment2185,629 (91,359) 94,270 8,827 63 – – 8,890 (987) (929) 1,869 (9,552) (693) 7,530 210,175 (109,777) 100,398Construction in progress313,480 – 13,480 – – 73 – 73 (3) (41) 6 – – 298 13,813 – 13,813Total321,093 (118,165) 202,928 11,454 63 73 723 12,313 (2,247) (3,099) 4,004 (13,528) (1,145) 14,907 356,956 (142,823) 214,1332014 309,668 (103,951) 205,717 8,866 108 – 512 9,486 (2,461) (6,828) – (12,949) (589) 10,552 321,093 (118,165)202,9281 Includes corporate buildings and related land sold to financial institutions in previous years, which were leased back. The aggregate carrying amount of these assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 wasapproximately $1,777 and $1,865, respectively.2 Includes assets, mainly mobile equipment, acquired through capital leases, which carrying amount as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 was approximately $48 and $63, respectively.129



 Notes to the consolidatedfinancial statements3 In July 2014, CEMEX began the construction of a new cement plant in the municipality of Maceo, Antioquia department in Colombia with an annual production capacity of approximately 1.1 million tons.The first phase included the construction of a cement mill, which has been in testing phase with supplies of clinker from Caracolito plant in Ibague and the cement produced has been used entirely in theconstruction of the plant. The next phase that includes the construction of the kiln and the plant’s access road is expected to be completed in phases by the first half of 2017, in order to start commercialoperations during the second half of 2017, considering the successful conclusion of several undergoing procedures related to certain operational permits. In 2016, includes an investment reduction ofapproximately $483 (US$23), of which, approximately $295 (US$14) were recognized as impairment against the line item of “Other expenses, net”, considering that the assets, mainly advances for the purchaseof land through a representative, were considered contingent assets considering based on low probability for their recoverability due to deficiencies in the legal processes, and approximately $188 (US$9) weredecreased against “Other accounts payable” in connection with the cancellation of the portion payable of such assets (notes 6 and 24A). CEMEX determined an original total investment in the plant ofapproximately US$340. As of December 31, 2016, Maceo project’s book value, net of adjustments, is for an amount in Colombian pesos equivalent to approximately US$275, excluding US$11 of interestcapitalized during the construction period.4 In 2016, includes sales of non-strategic fixed assets in the United States, Mexico, and France for $317, $281 and $165, respectively. In 2015, includes the sales of non-strategic fixed assets in the UnitedKingdom, the United States and Spain for $584, $451 and $417, respectively. In 2014, includes the sales of non-strategic fixed assets in the United States, the United Kingdom and Ireland for $757, $539 and$537, respectively.5 In 2016, refers mainly to those assets of the Concrete Pipe Business in the United States for $2,747, as well as other disposal groups in the United States reclassified to assets available for sale for $1,386(notes 4A, 4B and 12A). In 2015, refers to assets in Croatia for $2,562 and other disposal groups in the United States reclassified to assets available for sale for $537 (notes 4A, 4B and 12A). In 2014 refersprimarily to the reclassification to other current assets in connection with the sale of assets in the western region of Germany and the projected sale of idle assets in Andorra, Spain (notes 4B and 12A) for $3,956and $2,601, respectively.As a result of impairment tests conducted on several CGUs considering certain triggering events, mainly: a) the closing and/or reduction of operations of cement and ready-mix concrete plants resulting fromadjusting the supply to current demand conditions, such as the situation in Puerto Rico in the last quarter of 2016 due to the adverse outlook and the overall uncertain economic conditions in such country; b) thetransferring of installed capacity to more efficient plants, such as the projected closing in the short-term of a cement mill in Colombia; as well as c) the recoverability of certain investments in Colombia asdescribed above, for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, CEMEX adjusted the related fixed assets to their estimated value in use in those circumstances in which the assets would continue inoperation based on estimated cash flows during the remaining useful life, or to their realizable value, in case of permanent shut down, and recognized impairment losses within the line item of “Other expenses,net” (note 2J) during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 in the following countries and for the following amounts:Puerto RicoColombiaSpainUnited StatesLatviaPanamaMexicoUnited KingdomGermanyOther countries2016$ 1,087 454 – 277 – – 46 – – 34 $ 1,8982015172 – 392 269 126 118 46 19 – 3 1,1452014– – 125 108 – – 221 59 19 43 575130



 Notes to the consolidated financial statements15) GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET15A) Balances and changes during the periodAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, consolidated goodwill, intangible assets and deferred charges were summarized as follows:Intangible assets of indefinite useful life:GoodwillIntangible assets of definite useful life:Extraction rightsIndustrial property and trademarksCustomer relationshipsMining projectsOthers intangible assetsCost$ 205,835 40,994 707 4,343 961 13,796 $ 266,6362016Accumulated amortization– (5,948) (350) (4,084) (84) (9,150) (19,616)Carrying amount205,835 35,046 357 259 877 4,646 247,020Cost$ 183,752 34,927 822 6,166 992 10,900 $ 237,5592015Accumulated amortization– (4,600) (200) (5,162) (187) (7,092) (17,241)Carrying amount183,752 30,327 622 1,004 805 3,808 220,318The amortization of intangible assets of definite useful life was approximately $1,991 in 2016, $1,848 in 2015 and $1,508 in 2014, and was recognized within operating costs and expenses.GoodwillChanges in consolidated goodwill in 2016, 2015 and 2014, were as follows:Balance at beginning of periodBusiness combinationsDisposals, net (note 4B)Reclassification to assets held for sale and other current assets (notes 4A, 4B and 12)Foreign currency translation effectsBalance at end of period2016$ 183,752 – (3,340) (9,734) 35,157 $ 205,8352015160,544 64 (552) (404) 24,100 183,7522014144,457 – – – 16,087 160,544Intangible assets of definite lifeChanges in intangible assets of definite life in 2016, 2015 and 2014, were as follows:Balance at beginning of periodAdditions (disposals), net 1AmortizationImpairment lossesForeign currency translation effectsBalance at the end of periodExtraction rights$ 30,327 202 (712) (6) 5,235 $ 35,046Industrial property and trademarks622 (760) (293) – 788 3572016Customer relations1,004 – (658) – (87) 259Mining projects805 (382) (12) – 466 877Others 13,808 343 (316) (19) 830 4,646Total36,566 (597) (1,991) (25) 7,232 41,185131



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL2015Industrial property and trademarksExtraction rightsCustomer relationsMining projectsOthers 1Total2014Balance at beginning of period$27,3301221,3931,5012,59432,94030,483Business combinations458–156–2616–Additions (disposals), net 1157133(1)(577)102(186)653Reclassifications (notes 4A, 4B and 12)1––––1(5)Amortization(813)(132)(601)(32)(270)(1,848)(1,508)Impairment losses(10)––––(10)–Foreign currency translation effects3,20449957(87)1,3805,0533,317Balance at the end of period$30,3276221,0048053,80836,56632,9401 As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, “Others” includes the carrying amount of internal-use software of approximately $2,544 and $2,077, respectively. Capitalized direct costs incurred in the development stageof internal-use software, such as professional fees, direct labor and related travel expenses, amounted to approximately $769 in 2016, $615 in 2015 and $702 in 2014.15B) Main acquisitions during the reported periodsIn connection with the agreements entered into with Holcim on October 31, 2014 as described in note 4B, CEMEX and Holcim agreed to conduct a series of related transactions, finally executed on January 5,2015 after customary conditions precedent were concluded, with retrospective effects as of January 1, 2015, by means of which: a) in the Czech Republic, CEMEX acquired all of Holcim’s assets, including acement plant, four aggregates quarries and 17 ready-mix plants for approximately €115 (US$139 or $2,049); b) in Germany, CEMEX sold to Holcim its assets in the western region of the country; c) in Spain,CEMEX acquired from Holcim one cement plant in the southern part of the country with a production capacity of 850 thousand tons, and one cement mill in the central part of the country with grinding capacityof 900 thousand tons, among other related assets for approximately € 88 (US$106 or $1,562), after working capital adjustments; and d) CEMEX agreed a final payment in cash, after combined debt and workingcapital adjustments agreed with Holcim of approximately €33 (US$40 or $594). The aforementioned transactions were authorized by the European competition authority in the case of Germany and Spain, and bythe Czech Republic authority in respect to the transaction in this country. As of January 1, 2015, after concluding the purchase price allocation to the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, nogoodwill was determined in respect of the Czech Republic, while in Spain, the fair value of the net assets acquired for approximately €106 (US$129 or $1,894) exceeded the purchase price in approximately €19(US$22 or $328), mainly as a result of market conditions in Spain and production overcapacity in the region.After performing the required reassessment of fair values, this gain was recognized during 2015 in profit or loss. The purchase price allocation was as follows:Czech RepublicSpainTotalCurrent assets$23159290Property, machinery and equipment1,4192,0043,423Other non-current assets270–270Intangible assets5902592Fair value of assets acquired2,5102,0654,575Current liabilities11757174Non-current liabilities344114458Fair value of liabilities assumed461171632Fair value of net assets acquired$2,0491,8943,943132



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL15C) Analysis of goodwill impairmentAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, goodwill balances allocated by operating segment were as follows:20162015Mexico$7,5297,015United States162,692146,161EuropeSpain12,31610,659United Kingdom6,0435,330France4,5243,860Czech Republic546488South, Central America and the CaribbeanColombia6,4615,236Dominican Republic250215Rest of South, Central America and the Caribbean 11,034877Asia, Middle East and AfricaPhilippines1,9111,660United Arab Emirates1,7481,562Egypt231232OthersOther reporting segments 2550457$205,835183,7521 This caption refers to the operating segments in the Caribbean, Argentina, Costa Rica and Panama.2 This caption is primarily associated with Neoris N.V., CEMEX’s subsidiary involved in the sale of information technology and services.For purposes of goodwill impairment tests, all cash-generating units within a country are aggregated, as goodwill is allocated at that level. Considering materiality for disclosure purposes, certain balances ofgoodwill were presented for Rest of South, Central America and the Caribbean, but this does not represent that goodwill was tested at a higher level than for operations in an individual country.Impairment tests are significantly sensitive to, among other factors, the estimation of future prices of CEMEX’s products, the development of operating expenses, local and international economic trends in theconstruction industry, the long-term growth expectations in the different markets, as well as the discount rates and the long-term growth rates applied. CEMEX’s cash flow projections to determine the value inuse of its CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated consider the use of long-term economic assumptions. CEMEX believes that its discounted cash flow projections and the discount rates used reasonablyreflect current economic conditions at the time of the calculations, considering, among other factors that: a) the cost of capital reflects current risks and volatility in the markets; and b) the cost of debt representsthe average of industry specific interest rates observed in recent transactions. Other key assumptions used to determine CEMEX’s discounted cash flows are volume and price increases or decreases by mainproduct during the projected periods. Volume increases or decreases generally reflect forecasts issued by trustworthy external sources, occasionally adjusted based on CEMEX’s actual backlog, experience andjudgment considering its concentration in certain sectors, while price changes normally reflect the expected inflation in the respective country. Operating costs and expenses during all periods are maintained as afixed percent of revenues considering historic performance. During the last quarter of 2016, 2015 and 2014, CEMEX performed its annual goodwill impairment test. Based on these analyses, CEMEX did notdetermine impairment losses of goodwill in any of the reported periods.133



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILCEMEX’s pre-tax discount rates and long-term growth rates used to determine the discounted cash flows in the group of CGUs with the main goodwill balances were as follows:Discount ratesGrowth ratesGroups of CGUs201620152014201620152014United States8.6%8.6%8.7%2.5%2.5%2.5%Spain9.5%9.9%10.1%1.6%1.9%2.0%Mexico9.8%9.6%9.7%2.9%3.5%3.8%Colombia10.0%9.8%9.7%4.0%4.0%3.0%France9.1%9.0%9.2%1.8%1.6%1.7%United Arab Emirates10.2%10.2%10.4%3.4%3.6%3.4%United Kingdom8.8%8.8%9.0%1.9%2.3%2.4%Egypt11.4%12.5%11.6%6.0%4.6%4.0%Range of rates in other countries9.1% - 12.8%9.0% - 13.8%9.2% - 14.0%2.2% - 7.0%2.4% - 4.3%2.1% - 4.9%As of December 31, 2016, the discount rates used by CEMEX in its cash flows projections remained relatively flat in the countries with the most significant goodwill balances as compared to the valuesdetermined in 2015. During the year, the funding cost observed in industry decreased from 6.9% in 2015 to 6.2% in 2016, and the risk free rate also decreased from approximately 3.2% in 2015 to 2.7% in 2016.These reductions were partially offset by overall increases in the sovereign risk rate of the majority of the countries as well as in the risk multiple associated to the Company which increased from 1.08 in 2015 to1.29 in 2016. As of December 31, 2015, the discount rates remained almost flat in most cases as compared to the values determined in 2014. Among other factors, the funding cost observed in industry increasedfrom 6.1% in 2014 to 6.9% in 2015, and the risk free rate increased from approximately 3.1% in 2014 to 3.2 % in 2015. Nonetheless, these increases were offset by reductions in 2015 in the country specificsovereign yields in the majority of the countries where CEMEX operates. As of December 31, 2014, the discount rates decreased mainly as a result of the reduction of the funding cost as compared to the prioryear and the reduction in the risk free rate, significant assumptions in the determination of the discount rates. In respect to long-term growth rates, following general practice under IFRS, CEMEX uses countryspecific rates, which are mainly obtained from the Consensus Economics, a compilation of analysts’ forecast worldwide, or from the International Monetary Fund when the first are not available for a specificcountry.In connection with the assumptions included in the table above, CEMEX made sensitivity analyses to changes in assumptions, affecting the value in use of all groups of CGUs with an independent reasonablepossible increase of 1% in the pre-tax discount rate, and an independent possible decrease of 1% in the long-term growth rate. In addition, CEMEX performed cross-check analyses for reasonableness of its resultsusing multiples of Operating EBITDA. In order to arrive at these multiples, which represent a reasonableness check of the discounted cash flow models, CEMEX determined a weighted average multiple ofOperating EBITDA to enterprise value observed in the industry. The average multiple was then applied to a stabilized amount of Operating EBITDA and the result was compared to the corresponding carryingamount for each group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated. CEMEX considered an industry weighted average Operating EBITDA multiple of 9.0 times in 2016 and 2015, respectively; and 9.5 timesin 2014. CEMEX’s own Operating EBITDA multiple was 8.9 times in 2016, 8.7 times in 2015 and10.9 times in 2014. The lowest multiple observed in CEMEX’s benchmark was 5.9 times in 2016, 5.8 times in 2015 and 6.0 times in 2014, and the highest being 18.3 times in 2016, 18.0 times in 2015 and16.4 times in 2014.134



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILAs of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, none of CEMEX’s sensitivity analyses resulted in a relative impairment risk in CEMEX’s operating segments. CEMEX continually monitors the evolution of thespecific CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated that have presented relative goodwill impairment risk in any of the reported periods and, in the event that the relevant economic variables and the related cashflows projections would be negatively affected, it may result in a goodwill impairment loss in the future.CEMEX market capitalization has been affected over several years after the 2008 global crisis, which CEMEX believes is due to several factors, among others: a) the slower recovery of the construction industryin the United States, one of CEMEX’s main markets, which suffered one of the most deepest recessions since the Great Depression, which also significantly affected CEMEX’s operations in key countries andregions such as Mexico and Europe, and consequently CEMEX’s overall generation of cash flows; b) CEMEX’s significant amount of consolidated debt, which generates uncertainty regarding CEMEX’s abilityto meet its financial obligations; and c) the generalized capital outflows from Emerging Markets securities, such as Mexico and Colombia, to safer assets in developed countries such as the United States. Indollar terms, CEMEX’s market capitalization as of December 31, 2016 was approximately US$11.2 billion ($232.2 billion), reflecting an increase of approximately 52% as compared to 2015, which was mainlygenerated by initiatives taken by CEMEX to increase free cash flow from its operations and asset divestments aimed to reduce indebtedness and financial leverage, along with a reduction of risk aversion acrossglobal financial markets as U.S. stock indexes reached to new all-time highs and international oil prices partially recovered during 2016 amid reduced global growth concerns, despite the continued depreciation ofEmerging Markets currencies against the dollar in 2016 and continued uncertainty of the pace and timing of actions to increase interest rates in the United States. CEMEX market capitalization decreasedapproximately 41% in 2015 compared to 2014 to approximately US$7.4 billion ($126.8 billion), due to the continuing significant depreciation of the Emerging Markets currencies against the dollar in 2015,which intensified in the second half of the year, driven by the material reduction in the international oil prices, uncertainty generated by the pace and timing of actions to increase interest rates in the UnitedStates, China growth concerns, lower global growth expectations and the uncertainty of CEMEX’s income in US dollar terms from its operations in Emerging Markets such as Mexico and Colombia, countrieswith important dependence of oil revenues in its government budgets, which may result in the cancellation or delay of government infrastructure projects.As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, goodwill allocated to the United States accounted for approximately 79% and 80%, respectively, of CEMEX’s total amount of consolidated goodwill. In connection withCEMEX’s determination of value in use relative to its groups of CGUs in the United States in the reported periods, CEMEX has considered several factors, such as the historical performance of such operatingsegment, including operating losses in recent years, the long-term nature of CEMEX’s investment, the signs of recovery in the construction industry over the last three years, the significant economic barriers fornew potential competitors considering the high investment required, and the lack of susceptibility of the industry to technology improvements or alternate construction products, among other factors. CEMEXhas also considered recent developments in its operations in the United States, such as the increases in ready-mix concrete volumes of approximately 1% in 2016, 13% in 2015 and 2% in 2014, and the increasesin ready-mix concrete prices of approximately 1% in 2016, 5% in 2015 and 8% in 2014, which are key drivers for cement consumption and CEMEX’s profitability, and which trends are expected to continue overthe next few years, as anticipated in CEMEX’s cash flow projections.135



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL16) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS16A) Short-term and long-term debtAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX´s consolidated debt summarized by interest rates and currencies, was as follow:20162015Short-termLong-termTotalShort-termLong-termTotalFloating rate debt$51964,55065,069$17662,31962,495Fixed rate debt697170,466171,16342166,806166,848$1,216235,016236,232$218229,125229,343Effective rate 1Floating rate9.7%4.4%5.5%4.0%Fixed rate4.4%6.5%1.5%7.0%20162015EffectiveEffectiveCurrencyShort-termLong-termTotalrate 1Short-termLong-termTotalrate 1Dollars$114179,675179,7896.3%$87187,427187,5146.5%Euros5055,29255,3424.3%3840,95440,9924.8%Pesos648–  6484.4%–  6276274.4%Other currencies4044945310.2%931172106.3%$1,216235,016236,232$218229,125229,3431 In 2016 and 2015, represents the weighted average interest rate of the related debt agreements.As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX´s consolidated debt summarized by type of instrument, was as follow:2016Short-termLong-term2015Short-termLong-termBank loansBank loansLoans in foreign countries, 2017 to 2022$2551,090Loans in foreign countries, 2016 to 2022$78996Syndicated loans, 2017 to 20203657,032Syndicated loans, 2016 to 20203152,82529158,12210953,821Notes payableNotes payableNotes payable in Mexico, 2017–  648Notes payable in Mexico, 2016 to 2017–  627Medium-term notes, 2017 to 2026–  173,656Medium-term notes, 2016 to 2025–  171,988Other notes payable, 2017 to 20251733,342Other notes payable, 2016 to 2025232,775173177,64623175,390Total bank loans and notes payable464235,768Total bank loans and notes payable132229,211Current maturities752(752)Current maturities86(86)$1,216235,016



$218229,125As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, discounts, fees and other direct costs incurred in the issuance of CEMEX’s outstanding notes payable for approximately US$84 and US$108, respectively, adjust the balanceof payable instruments, and are amortized to financing expense over the maturity of the related debt instruments.Changes in consolidated debt for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:201620152014Debt at beginning of year$229,343205,834190,980Proceeds from new debt instruments48,74852,76472,534Debt repayments(85,798)(64,237)(79,248)Foreign currency translation and inflation effects43,93934,98221,568Debt at end of year$236,232229,343205,834136



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, as presented in the table above of debt by type of instrument, approximately 25% and 24%, respectively, of CEMEX’s total indebtedness, was represented by bank loans, ofwhich the most significant portion corresponded to those balances under CEMEX’s facilities agreement entered into on September 29, 2014, as amended several times in 2015 and 2016 (the “Credit Agreement”)of approximately US$2,745 ($56,879) in 2016 and US$3,062 ($52,763) in 2015.In addition, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, as presented in the table above of debt by type of instrument, approximately 75% and 76%, respectively, of CEMEX’s total indebtedness, was represented bynotes payable, of which, the most significant portion was long-term in both periods. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX’s long-term notes payable are detailed as follows:RepurchasedOutstandingDate ofPrincipalMaturityamountamount 3DescriptionissuanceIssuer 1, 2CurrencyamountRate 1dateUS$US$20162015April 2026 Notes 416/Mar/16CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Dollar1,0007.75%16/Apr/26–  1,000$20,631–  July 2025 Notes02/Apr/03CEMEX Materials, LLCDollar1507.70%21/Jul/25–  1503,2492,720July 2025 Notes08/Jul/15CEMEX Colombia, S.A.COP10,0008.30%08/Jul/25(3)–  –  55March 2025 Notes 503/Mar/15CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Dollar7506.125%05/May/25–  75015,48812,866January 2025 Notes 611/Sep/14CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Dollar1,1005.70%11/Jan/25(29)1,07122,12418,382June 2024 Notes14/Jun/16CEMEX Finance LLCEuro4004.625%15/Jun/24–  4218,665–  April 2024 Notes01/Apr/14CEMEX Finance LLCDollar1,0006.00%01/Apr/24(10)99019,88616,483March 2023 Notes 503/Mar/15CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Euro5504.375%05/Mar/23–  57911,94810,251October 2022 Notes 412/Oct/12CEMEX Finance LLCDollar1,5009.375%12/Oct/22(444)1,05621,73824,634January 2022 Notes 611/Sep/14CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Euro4004.75%11/Jan/22–  4218,6967,462April 2021 Notes01/Apr/14CEMEX Finance LLCEuro4005.25%01/Apr/21–  4218,6797,448January 2021 Notes 402/Oct/13CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Dollar1,0007.25%15/Jan/21(273)72714,84517,009December 2019 Notes 412/Aug/13CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Dollar1,0006.50%



10/Dec/19(292)70814,47116,764April 2019 USD Notes28/Mar/12CEMEX España, S.A.Dollar7049.875%30/Apr/19(704)–  –  10,702April 2019 Euro Notes28/Mar/12CEMEX España, S.A.Euro1799.875%30/Apr/19(188)–  –  3,355March 2019 Notes25/Mar/13CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Dollar6005.875%25/Mar/19(600)–  –  10,302October 2018 Variable Notes 402/Oct/13CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Dollar500L+475bps15/Oct/18(187)3136,4858,564June 2018 Notes17/Sep/12CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Dollar5009.50%15/Jun/18(500)–  –  7,702November 2017 Notes30/Nov/07CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Peso6274.40%17/Nov/17(292)30648627Other notes payable9364$177,646175,3901 In all applicable cases the issuer refers to CEMEX España, S.A. acting through its Luxembourg Branch. The letter “L” included above refers to LIBOR, which represents the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate,variable rate used in international markets for debt denominated in U.S. dollars. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 3-Month LIBOR rate was 0.9979% and 0.6127%, respectively. The contraction “bps” meansbasis points. One hundred basis points equal 1%.2 Unless otherwise indicated, all issuances are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V., CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V., CEMEX Concretos S.A. de C.V., Empresas Tolteca deMéxico, S.A. de C.V., New Sunward Holding B.V., CEMEX España, S.A., CEMEX Asia, B.V., CEMEX Corp., CEMEX Egyptian Investments, B.V., CEMEX Finance LLC, CEMEX France Gestion,(S.A.S.), CEMEX Research Group AG and CEMEX UK. CEMEX Egyptian Investments II, B.V. and CEMEX Shipping B.V. originally guaranteed the issuances listed above but were merged into CEMEXEspaña, S.A. on October 3, 2016.3 Presented net of all outstanding notes repurchased and held by CEMEX’s subsidiaries.4 On May 9, 2016, using available funds from the issuance of the April 2026 Notes, the sale of assets and cash flows provided by operating activities, and by means of tender offers, CEMEX completed thepurchase of approximately US$178 principal amount of the October 2018 Variable Notes, and the purchase of approximately US$219 principal amount of the December 2019 Notes. In addition, on July 28,2016, CEMEX repurchased additional US$355 principal amount of the October 2022 Notes. Morover, on October 28, 2016, CEMEX repurchased US$242 principal amount of the January 2021 Notes.5 On March 30, 2015, in connection with the issuance of the March 2023 Notes and the March 2025 Notes, CEMEX repurchased US$344 of the remaining principal amount of the then outstanding January 2018Notes. In addition, on May 15, 2015, CEMEX repurchased US$213 of the remaining principal amount of the then outstanding May 2020 Notes, and on June 30, 2015, the purchase of the remaining principalamount for US$746 of the then outstanding September 2015 Variable Notes.6 On January 11, 2015, in connection with the issuance of the January 2025 Notes and the January 2022 Notes, CEMEX completed the purchase of additional US$217 principal amount of the then outstandingJanuary 2018 Notes.137



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILDuring 2016, 2015 and 2014, as a result of the debt transactions incurred by CEMEX mentioned above, including exchange offers and tender offers to replace and/or repurchase existing debt instruments,CEMEX paid combined premiums, fees and issuance costs for approximately US$196 ($4,061), US$61 ($1,047) and US$232 ($3,107), respectively, of which approximately US$151 ($3,129) in 2016, US$35($604) in 2015 and US$167 ($2,236) in 2014, associated with the extinguished portion of the exchanged or repurchased notes, were recognized in the statement of operations in each year within “Financialexpense”. In addition, approximately US$8 ($166) in 2016, US$26 ($443) in 2015 and US$65 ($871) in 2014, corresponding to issuance costs of new debt and/or the portion of the combined premiums, feesand issuance costs treated as a refinancing of the old instruments by considering that: a) the relevant economic terms of the old and new notes were not substantially different; and b) the final holders of the newnotes were the same of such portion of the old notes; adjusted the carrying amount of the new debt instruments, and are amortized over the remaining term of each instrument. Moreover, proportional fees andissuance costs related to the extinguished debt instruments for approximately US$37 ($767) in 2016, US$31 ($541) in 2015 and US$87 ($1,161) in 2014 that were pending for amortization were recognized inthe statement of operations of each year as part of “Financial expense”.The maturities of consolidated long-term debt as of December 31, 2016, were as follows:20162018$22,802201932,638202022,492202123,5252022 and thereafter133,559$235,016As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX had the following lines of credit, the majority of which are subject to the banks’ availability, at annual interest rates ranging between 1.25% and 6.50%, depending on thenegotiated currency:Lines ofcreditAvailableOther lines of credit in foreign subsidiaries$9,6017,230Other lines of credit from banks5,8345,834$15,43513,064Credit Agreement, Facilities Agreement and Financing AgreementOn September 29, 2014, CEMEX entered into the Credit Agreement for US$1,350 with nine of the main participating banks under its Facilities Agreement. The proceeds from the Credit Agreement were used torepay US$1,350 of debt under the then existing Facilities Agreement entered into on September 17, 2012, as amended from time to time (the “Facilities Agreement”). In addition, on November 3, 2014,CEMEX received US$515 of additional commitments from banks that agreed to join the Credit Agreement, increasing the total principal amount to US$1,865. The incremental amount was applied to partiallyprepay the Facilities Agreement and other debt. Considering the aforementioned reductions to the Facilities Agreement, along with the repayment on September 12, 2014 of US$350 of debt under the FacilitiesAgreement using the proceeds from the January 2025 Notes, as of December 31, 2014, the total outstanding amount under the Facilities Agreement was approximately US$2,050, scheduled to mature in 2017.On July 30, 2015, CEMEX repaid in full the then total amount outstanding of approximately US$1,937 ($33,375) under the Facilities Agreement with new funds from 21 financial institutions, which joined theCredit Agreement under new tranches, allowing CEMEX to increase the average life of its syndicated bank debt to approximately 4 years as of such date. The tranches share the same guarantors and collateralpackage as the original tranches under the Facilities Agreement. On September 21, 2015 three additional financial institutions provided additional commitments for approximately US$30. As of December 31,2015, total commitments under the Credit Agreement included approximately €621 (US$675 or $11,624) and approximately US$3,149 ($54,257), out of which about US$735 ($12,664) were in a revolvingcredit facility. At the same date, the Credit Agreement had an amortization profile, considering all commitments, of approximately 10% in 2017; 25% in 2018; 25% in 2019; and 40% in 2020. On November 30,2016, CEMEX prepaid US$373 ($7,729) corresponding to the September 2017 amortization under the Credit Agreement and agreed with the lenders to exchange current funded commitments for US$664maturing in 2018 into the revolving facility, maintaining their original amortization schedule and the same terms and conditions.138



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILAs of December 31, 2016, total commitments under the Credit Agreement amounted to approximately €746 (US$785 or $16,259) and approximately US$2,826 ($58,555), out of which approximately US$1,413($29,277) were in the revolving credit facility. At the same date, the Credit Agreement had an amortization profile, considering all commitments, of approximately US$783 in 2018; US$883 in 2019; andUS$1,096 in 2020.On August 14, 2009, CEMEX entered into a financing with its major creditors, as amended from time to time during 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 (the “Financing Agreement”), by means of which CEMEXextended the maturities of US$14,961 of syndicated loans, private placement notes and other obligations. After the application of the proceeds from several refinancing transactions, the sale of assets, and a ParentCompany’s equity offering in 2009, in September 2012, CEMEX entered into the Facilities Agreement pursuant to an exchange with the creditors under the Financing Agreement of their existing loans andprivate placement notes for new loans and new private placement notes of approximately US$6,155 maturing in February 2017, US$500 of the June 2018 Notes and approximately US$525 of loans and privateplacement notes remained outstanding under the existing Financing Agreement. Subsequently, after the application in 2012 of proceeds resulting from the October 2022 Notes, the aggregate principal amount ofloans and U.S. dollar private placement notes under the amended Financing Agreement decreased to US$55. This amount was repaid in full in March 2013 with proceeds from the issuance of the March 2019Notes.All tranches under the Credit Agreement have substantially the same terms, including an applicable margin over LIBOR of between 250 to 425 basis points, depending on the leverage ratio (as defined below) ofCEMEX, as follows:Consolidated leverage ratioApplicable margin> 5.50x425 bps< 5.50x > 5.00350 bps< 5.00x > 4.50325 bps< 4.50x > 4.00300 bps< 4.00x > 3.50275 bps< 3.50x250 bpsIn February 2016, CEMEX launched a consent request to lenders under the Credit Agreement, in connection with its plan to sell a non-controlling interest in CHP, main holding company of CEMEX’soperations in the Philippines (notes 4C and 20D). On March 7, 2016, CEMEX obtained such consent. Jointly with this consent, in respect to the table above, some amendments were applicable to the CreditAgreement. Such amendments are in connection with the consolidated leverage ratio on the applicable margin over LIBOR. If the consolidated leverage ratio exceeds 5.50 times on December 31, 2016, March 31,2017, June 30, 2017 and September 30, 2017, the applicable margin over LIBOR would be 425 bps instead of 400 bps. The amendments also modify the consolidated leverage ratio limits as described in thefinancial covenants section.For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, under the Credit Agreement, CEMEX observed the following thresholds: (a) the aggregate amount allowed for capital expenditures cannot exceed US$1,000 peryear excluding certain capital expenditures, and, joint venture investments and acquisitions by CHP and its subsidiaries and CLH and its subsidiaries, which capital expenditures, joint venture investments andacquisitions at any time then incurred are subject to a separate aggregate limit for each of CHP and CLH of US$500 (or its equivalent); and (b) the amounts allowed for permitted acquisitions and investments injoint ventures cannot exceed US$400 per year. Nonetheless, such limitations do not apply if capital expenditures or acquisitions are funded with equity, equity-like issuances or asset disposals proceeds.The debt under the Credit Agreement and previously under the Facilities Agreement is guaranteed by CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V., CEMEX Concretos, S.A. de C.V., Empresas Tolteca de México, S.A. deC.V., New Sunward Holding B.V., CEMEX España, S.A., CEMEX Asia, B.V., CEMEX Corp., CEMEX Egyptian Investments, B.V., CEMEX Finance LLC, CEMEX France Gestion, (S.A.S.), CEMEXResearch Group AG and CEMEX UK. In addition, the debt under such agreements (together with all other senior capital markets debt issued or guaranteed by CEMEX, and certain other precedent facilities) isalso secured by a first-priority security interest in: (a) substantially all the shares of CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V., CEMEX Operaciones México, S.A. de C.V, New Sunward Holding B.V., CEMEXTrademarks Holding Ltd. and CEMEX España, S.A. (the “Collateral”); and (b) all proceeds of such Collateral. CEMEX Egyptian Investments II, B.V. and CEMEX Shipping, B.V. originally guaranteed theCredit Agreement but were merged into CEMEX España, S.A. on October 3, 2016.139



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILIn addition to the restrictions mentioned above, and subject in each case to the permitted negotiated amounts and other exceptions, CEMEX is also subject to a number of negative covenants that, among otherthings, restrict or limit its ability to: (i) create liens; (ii) incur additional debt; (iii) change CEMEX’s business or the business of any obligor or material subsidiary (in each case, as defined in the CreditAgreement and the Facilities Agreement); (iv) enter into mergers; (v) enter into agreements that restrict its subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends or repay intercompany debt; (vi) acquire assets; (vii) enter into orinvest in joint venture agreements; (viii) dispose of certain assets; (ix) grant additional guarantees or indemnities; (x) declare or pay cash dividends or make share redemptions; (xi) enter into certain derivativestransactions; and (xii) exercise any call option in relation to any perpetual bonds CEMEX issues unless the exercise of the call options does not have a materially negative impact on its cash flow. The CreditAgreement contains a number of affirmative covenants that, among other things, require CEMEX to provide periodic financial information to its lenders. However, a number of those covenants and restrictionswill automatically cease to apply or become less restrictive if CEMEX so elects when (i) CEMEX’s Leverage Ratio (as defined hereinafter) for the two most recently completed quarterly testing periods is lessthan or equal to 4.0 times; and (ii) no default under the Credit Agreement is continuing. At that point the Leverage Ratio must not exceed 4.25 times. Restrictions that will cease to apply when CEMEX satisfiessuch conditions include the capital expenditure limitations mentioned above and several negative covenants, including limitations on CEMEX’s ability to declare or pay cash dividends and distributions toshareholders, limitations on CEMEX’s ability to repay existing financial indebtedness, certain asset sale restrictions, certain mandatory prepayment provisions, and restrictions on exercising call options inrelation to any perpetual bonds CEMEX issues. At such time, several baskets and caps relating to negative covenants will also increase, including permitted financial indebtedness, permitted guarantees andlimitations on liens. However, CEMEX cannot assure that it will be able to meet the conditions for these restrictions to cease to apply prior to the final maturity date under the Credit Agreement.In addition, the Credit Agreement contains events of default, some of which may occur and are outside of CEMEX’s control such as expropriation, sequestration and availability of foreign exchange. As ofDecember 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX was not aware of any event of default. CEMEX cannot assure that it will be able to comply with the restrictive covenants and limitations contained in the CreditAgreement. CEMEX’s failure to comply with such covenants and limitations could result in an event of default, which could materially and adversely affect CEMEX’s business and financial condition.Financial CovenantsThe Credit Agreement and previously the Facilities Agreement requires CEMEX the compliance with financial ratios, which mainly include: a) the consolidated ratio of debt to Operating EBITDA (the “LeverageRatio”); and b) the consolidated ratio of Operating EBITDA to interest expense (the “Coverage Ratio”). These financial ratios are calculated according to the formulas established in the debt contracts using theconsolidated amounts under IFRS. Considering the amendments of March 7, 2016 mentioned above. As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX must comply with a Coverage ratio and a Leverage ratio for each periodof four consecutive fiscal quarters as follows:PeriodCoverage ratioPeriodLeverage ratioFor the period ending on December 31, 2016 up to andFor the period ending on December 31, 2016 up to andincluding the period ending on March 31, 2017> = 1.85including the period ending on March 31, 2017< = 6.00For the period ending on June 30, 2017 up to and includingthe period ending on September 30, 2017< = 5.75For the period ending on June 30, 2017 up to andFor the period ending on December 31, 2017 up to andincluding the period ending on September 30, 2017> = 2.00including the period ending on March 31, 2018< = 5.50For the period ending on June 30, 2018 up to and includingthe period ending on September 30, 2018< = 5.25For the period ending on December 31, 2017 and eachFor the period ending on December 31, 2018 up to and subsequent reference period> = 2.25including the period ending on March 31, 2019< = 5.00For the period ending on June 30, 2019 up to and includingthe period ending on September 30, 2019< = 4.50For the period ending on December 31, 2019 up to andincluding the period ending on March 31, 2020< = 4.25For the period ending on June 30, 2020 and eachsubsequent reference period< = 4.00140



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILCEMEX’s ability to comply with these ratios may be affected by economic conditions and volatility in foreign exchange rates, as well as by overall conditions in the financial and capital markets. For thecompliance periods ended as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, taking into account the Credit Agreement and the Facilities Agreement, as applicable, CEMEX was in compliance with the financialcovenants imposed by its debt contracts. The main consolidated financial ratios as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:Consolidated financial ratios201620152014Leverage ratio 1, 2Limit=< 6.00=< 6.00=< 6.50Calculation4.225.215.19Coverage ratio 3Limit=> 1.85=> 1.85=> 1.75Calculation3.182.612.341 The leverage ratio is calculated in pesos by dividing “Funded debt” by pro forma Operating EBITDA for the last twelve months as of the calculation date. Funded debt equals debt, as reported in the balancesheet excluding finance leases, components of liability of convertible subordinated notes, plus perpetual debentures and guarantees, plus or minus the fair value of derivative financial instruments, as applicable,among other adjustments.2 Pro forma Operating EBITDA represents, all calculated in pesos, Operating EBITDA for the last twelve months as of the calculation date, plus the portion of Operating EBITDA referring to such twelve-monthperiod of any significant acquisition made in the period before its consolidation in CEMEX, minus Operating EBITDA referring to such twelve-month period of any significant disposal that had already beenliquidated.3 The coverage ratio is calculated in pesos using the amounts from the financial statements, by dividing the pro forma operating EBITDA by the financial expense for the last twelve months as of the calculationdate. Financial expense includes interest accrued on the perpetual debentures.CEMEX will classify all of its outstanding debt as current debt in its balance sheet if: 1) as of any measurement date CEMEX fails to comply with the aforementioned financial ratios; or 2) the cross defaultclause that is part of the Credit Agreement is triggered by the provisions contained therein; 3) as of any date prior to a subsequent measurement date CEMEX expects not to be in compliance with such financialratios in the absence of: a) amendments and/or waivers covering the next succeeding 12 months; b) high probability that the violation will be cured during any agreed upon remediation period and be sustained forthe next succeeding 12 months; and/or c) a signed refinancing agreement to refinance the relevant debt on a long-term basis. Moreover, concurrent with the aforementioned classification of debt in the short-term,the noncompliance of CEMEX with the financial ratios agreed upon pursuant to the Credit Agreement or, in such event, the absence of a waiver of compliance or a negotiation thereof, after certain proceduresupon CEMEX’s lenders’ request, they would call for the acceleration of payments due under the Credit Agreement. That scenario will have a material adverse effect on CEMEX’s liquidity, capital resources andfinancial position.16B) Other financial obligationsAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, other financial obligations in the consolidated balance sheet are detailed as follows:20162015Short-termLong-termTotalShort-termLong-termTotalI. Convertible subordinated notes due 2020$–  10,41710,417$–  8,5698,569II. Convertible subordinated notes due 2018–  13,57513,575–  10,82610,826II. Convertible subordinated notes due 2016–  –  –  6,007–  6,007III. Mandatory convertible securities 20192786899672399611,200IV. Liabilities secured with accounts receivable11,095–  11,0959,0711,43010,501V. Capital leases2851,2911,5762701,4821,752$11,65825,97237,630$15,58723,26838,855Financial instruments convertible into CEMEX’s shares contain components of liability and equity, which are recognized differently depending upon the currency in which the instrument is denominated and thefunctional currency of the issuer (note 2F).141



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILI. Optional convertible subordinated notes due 2020During 2015, the Parent Company issued US$521 aggregate principal amount of 3.72% convertible subordinated notes due in March 2020 (the “2020 Convertible Notes”). The 2020 Convertible Notes wereissued: a) US$200 as a result of the exercise in March 13, 2015 of US$200 notional amount of Contingent Convertible Units (“CCUs”) (described below), and b) US$321 as a result of the exchange with certaininvestors in May 2015, which together with early conversions, resulted in settlement of approximately US$626 aggregate principal amount of 3.25% convertible subordinated notes due in 2016 (the “2016Convertible Notes”) held by such investors and the issuance and delivery by CEMEX of an estimated 42 million ADSs, which included a number of additional ADSs issued to the holders as non-cashinducement premiums. The 2020 Convertible Notes, which are subordinated to all of CEMEX’s liabilities and commitments, are convertible into a fixed number of CEMEX’s ADSs at any time at the holder’selection and are subject to anti dilution adjustments. The difference at the exchange date between the fair value of the 2016 Convertible Notes and the 42 million ADSs against the fair value of the 2020Convertible Notes represented a loss of approximately $365 recognized in 2015 as part of “Other financial income (expense), net”. The aggregate fair value of the conversion option as of the issuance dates whichamounted to approximately $199 was recognized in other equity reserves. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the conversion price per ADS was approximately 11.45 dollars and 11.90 dollars, respectively.After antidilution adjustments, the conversion rate as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 was 87.3646 ADS and 84.0044 ADS per each 1 thousand dollars principal amount of such notes, respectively.II. Optional convertible subordinated notes due in 2016 and 2018On March 15, 2011, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. closed the offering of US$978 aggregate principal amount of the 2016 Convertible Notes and US$690 principal amount of 3.75% convertible subordinated notesdue in 2018 (the “2018 Convertible Notes”). The notes were subordinated to all of CEMEX’s liabilities and commitments. The notes are convertible into a fixed number of CEMEX’s ADSs, and are subject toantidilution adjustments. After the exchange of notes described in the paragraph above, as of December 31, 2015, US$352 of the 2016 Convertible Notes remained outstanding, which were repaid in cash at theirmaturity on March 15, 2016. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the conversion price per ADS of the notes then outstanding was approximately 8.92 dollars and 9.27 dollars, respectively. After antidilutionadjustments, the conversion rate as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 was 112.1339 ADS and 107.8211 ADS, respectively, per each 1 thousand dollars principal amount of such notes. Concurrent with theoffering, a portion of the net proceeds from this transaction were used to fund the purchase of capped call options, which are generally expected to reduce the potential dilution cost to CEMEX upon the potentialconversion of such notes (note 16D).III. Mandatorily convertible securities due in 2019In December 2009, the Parent Company exchanged debt into approximately US$315 principal amount of 10% mandatorily convertible securities in pesos with maturity in 2019 (the “2019 MandatorilyConvertible Securities”). Reflecting antidilution adjustments, the notes will be converted at maturity or earlier if the price of the CPO reaches approximately $29.50 into approximately 210 million CPOs at aconversion price of approximately $19.66 per CPO. Holders have an option to voluntarily convert their securities on any interest payment date into CPOs. The conversion option embedded in these securities istreated as a stand-alone derivative liability at fair value through the statement of operations (note 16D).IV. Liabilities secured with accounts receivableAs mentioned in note 9, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX maintained securitization programs for the sale of trade accounts receivable established in Mexico, the United States, France and the UnitedKingdom, by means of which, CEMEX effectively surrenders control associated with the trade accounts receivable sold and there is no guarantee or obligation to reacquire the assets. However, considering thatCEMEX retains certain residual interest in the programs and/or maintains continuing involvement with the accounts receivable, the funded amounts of the trade receivables sold are recognized in “Other financialobligations”, and the receivables sold are maintained in the balance sheet.V. Capital leasesCEMEX has several operating and administrative assets, including buildings and mobile equipment, under capital lease contracts. Future payments associated with these contracts Are presented in note 23E.142



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILOptional convertible subordinated notes due in 2015On March 30, 2010, the Parent Company issued US$715 aggregate principal amount of 4.875% Optional Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2015 (the “2015 Convertible Notes”), which were subordinated toall of CEMEX’s liabilities and commitments, and were convertible into a fixed number of CEMEX’s ADSs, at the holder’s election considering antidilution adjustments. As of December 31, 2014, theconversion price per ADS was approximately 11.18 dollars. After antidilution adjustments, the conversion rate as of December 31, 2014 was 89.4729 ADS per each 1 thousand dollars principal amount of suchnotes. Concurrent with the offering, a portion of the proceeds were used to enter into a capped call transaction that was expected to generally reduce the dilution cost to CEMEX upon the potential conversion ofthe notes (note 16D).On several dates during 2014, CEMEX agreed the early conversion of approximately US$511 in aggregate principal amount of the 2015 Convertible Notes in exchange for approximately 50.4 million ADSs,which included the number of additional ADSs issued to the holders as non-cash inducement premiums. As a result of the early conversion agreements the liability component of the converted notes ofapproximately $6,483, was reclassified from other financial obligations to other equity reserves. In addition, considering the issuance of shares, CEMEX increased common stock for $4 and additional paid-incapital for $8,037 against other equity reserves, and recognized expense for the inducement premiums of approximately $957, representing the fair value of the ADSs at the issuance dates, in the statement ofoperations in 2014 within “Other financial income (expense), net”. As of December 31, 2014, the outstanding principal amount of the 2015 Convertible Notes was of approximately US$204. In March 2015CEMEX repaid at maturity the remaining balance of these notes as described in the paragraph below. In October 2014, in connection with the 2015 Convertible Notes, the Parent Company issued US$200notional amount of CCUs at an annual rate of 3.0% on the notional amount, by means of which, in exchange for cupon payments, CEMEX secured the refinancing for any of the 2015 Convertible Notes thatwould mature without conversion up to US$200 of the principal amount. Pursuant to the CCUs, holders invested the US$200 in U.S. treasury bonds, and irrevocably agreed to apply such investment in March2015, if necessary, to subscribe new convertible notes of the Parent Company for up to US$200. As previously mentioned, in March 2015, CEMEX exercised the CCUs, issued US$200 principal amount of the2020 Convertible Notes to the holders of the CCUs and repaid the US$204 remaining principal amount of the 2015 Convertible Notes described above.16C) Fair value of financial instrumentsFinancial assets and liabilitiesThe carrying amounts of cash, trade accounts receivable, other accounts receivable, trade accounts payable, other accounts payable and accrued expenses, as well as short-term debt, approximate their correspondingestimated fair values due to the short-term maturity and revolving nature of these financial assets and liabilities. Cash equivalents and certain long-term investments are recognized at fair value, considering to theextent available, quoted market prices for the same or similar instruments. The estimated fair value of CEMEX´s long-term debt is Level 2, and is either based on estimated market prices for such or similarinstruments, considering interest rates currently available for CEMEX to negotiate debt with the same maturities, or determined by discounting future cash flows using market-based interest rates currentlyavailable to CEMEX. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities and their respective fair values were as follows:2016 2015Carrying amountFair valueCarrying amountFair valueFinancial assetsDerivative instruments (notes 13B and 16D) $1,900 1,900 $869 869Other investments and non-current accounts receivable (note 13B)5,149 5,149 5,680 5,537 $7,049 7,049 $6,549 6,406Financial liabilitiesLong-term debt (note 16A) $235,016 241,968 $229,125 220,662Other financial obligations (note 16B) 25,972 27,419 23,268 24,863Derivative instruments (notes 16D and 17) 818 818 178 178$261,806270,205$252,571245,703143



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILFair Value HierarchyAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, assets and liabilities carried at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets are included in the following fair value hierarchy categories:16D) Derivative financial instruments2016Level 1 Level 2 Level 3Total Assets measured at fair valueDerivative instruments (notes 13B and 16D)$– 1,900 – 1,900Investments available-for-sale (note 13B)491 – – 491Investments held for trading (note 13B)– 157 – 157 $491 2,057 – 2,548Liabilities measured at fair valueDerivative instruments (notes 16D and 17)$– 818 – 818 2015Level 1 Level 2 Level 3Total Assets measured at fair valueDerivative instruments (notes 13B and 16D)$– 869 – 869Investments available-for-sale (note 13B)632 – – 632Investments held for trading (note 13B)– 317 – 317 $632 1,186 – 1,818Liabilities measured at fair valueDerivative instruments (notes 16D and 17)$– 178 – 178During the reported periods, in compliance with the guidelines established by its Risk Management Committee, the restrictions set forth by its debt agreements and its hedging strategy (note 16E), CEMEX heldderivative instruments, with the objectives of, as the case may be of: a) changing the risk profile or fixed the price of fuels and electric energy; b) foreign exchange hedging; and c) other corporate purposes. As ofDecember 31, 2016 and 2015, the notional amounts and fair values of CEMEX’s derivative instruments were as follows:2016 2015Notional amountFair valueNotional amountFair value(U.S. dollars millions)I. Interest rate swapsUS$14723 157 28II. Equity forwards on third party shares– – 24 6III. Options on the Parent Company’s own shares576 26 1,145 12IV. Foreign exchange forward contracts80 – 173 (1)V. Fuels price hedging77 15 16 (3) US$880 64 1,515 42The fair values determined by CEMEX for its derivative financial instruments are Level 2. There is no direct measure for the risk of CEMEX or its counterparties in connection with the derivative instruments.Therefore, the risk factors applied for CEMEX’s assets and liabilities originated by the valuation of such derivatives were extrapolated from publicly available risk discounts for other public debt instruments ofCEMEX and its counterparties.The caption “Other financial income (expense), net” includes gains and losses related to the recognition of changes in fair values of the derivative instruments during the applicable period and that represented netgains of US$17 ($317) in 2016, net losses of US$173 ($2,981) and of US$46 ($679) in 2015 and 2014, respectively.The estimated fair value of derivative instruments fluctuates over time and is determined by measuring the effect of future relevant economic variables according to the yield curves shown in the market as of thereporting date. These values should be analyzed in relation to the fair values of the underlying transactions and as part of CEMEX’s overall exposure attributable to fluctuations in interest rates and foreignexchange rates. The notional amounts of derivative instruments do not represent amounts exchanged by the parties, and consequently, there is no direct measure of CEMEX’s exposure to the use of thesederivatives. The amounts exchanged are determined based on the basis of the notional amounts and other terms included in the derivative instruments.144



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILI. Interest rate swap contractsAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX had an interest rate swap maturing in September 2022 associated with an agreement entered into by CEMEX for the acquisition of electric energy in Mexico, whichfair value represented assets of US$23 ($477) and US$28 ($482), respectively. Pursuant to this instrument, during the tenure of the swap and based on its notional amount, CEMEX will receive a fixed rate of5.4% and will pay LIBOR. Changes in the fair value of this interest rate swap generated losses of US$6 ($112) in 2016, losses of US$4 ($69) in 2015 and losses of US$1 ($3) in 2014, recognized in profit orloss for each year.II. Equity forwards in third party sharesAs of December 31, 2015, CEMEX held a forward contract to be settled in cash maturing in October 2016 over the price of 59.5 million CPOs of Axtel, a Mexican telecommunications company traded in theMSE. Changes in the fair value of this instrument generated losses of US$2 ($30) in 2016, gains of US$15 ($258) in 2015 and losses of US$9 ($133) in 2014, recognized in profit or loss for each period. InOctober, 2015, Axtel announced its merger with Alestra, a Mexican entity provider of information technology solutions and member of Alfa Group which was effective beginning February 15, 2016. Inconnection with this merger, on January 6, 2016, CEMEX settled in cash the forward contract and received approximately US$4, net of transaction costs. In a separate transaction, considering that as ofDecember 31, 2015, CEMEX held an investment in Axtel that upon completion of the Alestra and Axtel merger would be exchanged proportionately according to the new ownership interests for shares in thenew merged entity that will remain public and the attractive business outlook of such new entity, after the settlement of the Axtel forward contract, CEMEX decided to purchase in the market the 59.5 millionCPOs of Axtel and incorporate them to its existing investment in Axtel as part of CEMEX’s investments available for sale.III. Options on the Parent Company’s own sharesOn March 15, 2011, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. entered into a capped call transaction, subject to antidilution adjustments, over 173 million CEMEX’s ADSs (101 million ADSs maturing in March 2016 inconnection with the 2016 Convertible Notes and 72 million ADSs maturing in March 2018 in connection with the 2018 Convertible Notes) in order to effectively increase the conversion price of the ADSs undersuch notes, by means of which, at maturity of the notes, originally CEMEX would receive in cash the excess between the market price and the strike price of approximately 9.65 dollars per ADS, with amaximum appreciation per ADS of approximately 4.45 dollars for the 2016 Convertible Notes and 5.94 dollars for the 2018 Convertible Notes. CEMEX paid aggregate premiums of approximately US$222.During 2015, CEMEX amended a portion of the capped calls relating to the 2016 Convertible Notes and, as a result, CEMEX received approximately US$44 in cash, equivalent to the unwind of44.2% of the total notional amount of such capped call. On March 15, 2016, the remaining options for the 55.8% of the 2016 Convertible Notes expired out of the money. During August 2016, CEMEXamended the capped calls relating to the 2018 Convertible Notes and, as a result, the exercise price was adjusted to 8.92 dollars per ADS and the underlying to 6 million ADSs. As of December 31, 2016 and2015, the fair value of the existing options represented an asset of approximately US$66 ($1,368) and US$22 ($379), respectively. Changes in the fair value of these instruments generated gains of US$44 ($818)in 2016, losses of US$228 ($3,928) in 2015 and losses of US$65 ($962) in 2014, recognized within “Other financial income (expense), net” in profit or loss.On March 30, 2010, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. entered into a capped call transaction, subject to antidilution adjustments, over approximately 64 million CEMEX’s ADSs maturing in March 2015, in connectionwith the 2015 Convertible Notes in order to effectively increase the conversion price of the ADSs under such notes, by means of which, at maturity of the notes, if the market price per ADS was above the strikeprice of approximately11.18 dollars, CEMEX would receive in cash the difference between the market price and the strike price, with a maximum appreciation per ADS of approximately 4.30 dollars. CEMEX paid a premium ofapproximately US$105. In January, 2014, CEMEX amended the terms of this capped call transaction, pursuant to which, using the then existing market valuation of the instrument, CEMEX receivedapproximately 7.7 million zero-strike call options over the same number of ADSs. In July 2014, CEMEX amended the zero-strike call options to fix a minimum value of approximately US$94 and retained theeconomic value of approximately 1 million ADSs. During December 2014, CEMEX further amended and unwound the zero-strike call options, monetizing the remainder value of the approximately 1 millionADSs it had retained, pursuant to which CEMEX received a total payment of approximately US$105. During 2014, changes in the fair value of these options generated gains of US$17 ($253), which wererecognized within “Other financial income (expense), net” in profit or loss.145



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILIn addition, in connection with the 2019 Mandatorily Convertible Securities (note 16B); that the securities are denominated in pesos and the functional currency of the Parent Company’s division that issued thesecurities is the dollar (note 2D), CEMEX separated the conversion option embedded in such instruments and recognized it at fair value through profit or loss, which as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, resultedin a liability of US$40 ($829) and US$10 ($178), respectively. Changes in fair value generated losses of US$29 ($545) in 2016, gains of US$18 ($310) in 2015 and gains of US$11 ($159) in 2014.IV. Foreign exchange forward contractsAs of December 31, 2016, CEMEX held foreign exchange forward contracts maturing in February 2017, negotiated to hedge the U.S. dollar value of future proceeds in other currencies from expected sale ofassets. As of December 31, 2015, CEMEX held foreign exchange forward contracts maturing in April 2016, negotiated to hedge the U.S. dollar value of future proceeds in euros from the sale of CEMEX’soperations in Austria and Hungary (note 4A). For the years 2016 and 2015, changes in the estimated fair value of these instruments, including the effects resulting from positions entered and settled during theyear, generated gains of US$10 ($186) in 2016 and gains of US$26 ($448) in 2015, recognized within “Other financial income (expense), net” in profit or loss.V. Fuel price hedgingAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX maintained forward contracts negotiated to hedge the price of diesel fuel in several countries in 2016 and in the United Kingdom in 2015 for aggregate notionalamounts as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 of US$44 ($912) and US$16 ($276), respectively, with an estimated fair value representing an asset of US$7 ($145) in 2016 and a liability of US$3 ($52) in 2015.By means of these contracts, for own consumption only, CEMEX fixed the fuel component of the market price of diesel over certain volume representing a portion of the estimated diesel consumption in suchoperations. These contracts have been designated as cash flow hedges of diesel fuel consumption, and as such, changes in fair value are recognized temporarily through other comprehensive income (loss) and arerecycled to operating expenses as the related diesel volumes are consumed. For the years 2016 and 2015, changes in fair value of these contracts recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) represented gainsof US$7 ($145) and losses of US$3 ($52), respectively.In addition, as of December 31, 2016, CEMEX held forward contracts negotiated in 2016 to hedge the price of coal, as solid fuel, for an aggregate notional amount as of December 31, 2016 of US$33 ($684) andan estimated fair value representing an asset of US$8 ($166). By means of these contracts, for own consumption only, CEMEX fixed the price of coal over certain volume representing a portion of the estimatedcoal consumption in CEMEX’s applicable operations. These contracts have been designated as cash flow hedges of coal consumption, and as such, changes in fair value are recognized temporarily through othercomprehensive income (loss) and are recycled to operating expenses as the related coal volumes are consumed. For the year 2016, changes in fair value of these contracts recognized in other comprehensive income(loss) represented gains of US$8 ($166).16E) Risk managementIn recent years, CEMEX has significantly decreased its use of derivatives instruments related to debt, both currency and interest rate derivatives, thereby reducing the risk of cash margin calls. In addition, theCredit Agreement may restrict CEMEX’s ability to enter into certain derivative transactions.Credit riskCredit risk is the risk of financial loss faced by CEMEX if a customer or counterpart of a financial instrument does not meet its contractual obligations and originates mainly from trade accounts receivable. As ofDecember 31, 2016 and 2015, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the balance of financial assets. Management has developed policies for the authorization of credit to customers. The exposureto credit risk is monitored constantly according to the behavior of payment of the debtors. Credit is assigned on a customer-by-customer basis and is subject to assessments which consider the customers’payment capacity, as well as past behavior regarding due dates, balances past due and delinquent accounts. In cases deemed necessary, CEMEX’s management requires guarantees from its customers and financialcounterparties with regard to financial assets.146



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILThe Company’s management has established a policy of low risk which analyzes the creditworthiness of each new client individually before offering the general conditions of payment terms and delivery, thereview includes external ratings, when references are available, and in some cases bank references. Threshold of purchase limits are established for each client, which represent the maximum purchase amounts thatrequire different levels of approval. Customers that do not meet the levels of solvency requirements imposed by CEMEX can only carry out transactions by paying cash in advance. As of December 31, 2016,considering CEMEX’s best estimate of potential losses based on an analysis of age and considering recovery efforts, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $2,139.Interest rate riskInterest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates, which only affects CEMEX’s results if the fixed-rate long-termdebt is measured at fair value. All of CEMEX’s fixed-rate long-term debt is carried at amortized cost and therefore is not subject to interest rate risk. CEMEX’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interestrates relates primarily to its long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX was subject to the volatility of floating interest rates, which, if such rates were toincrease, may adversely affect its financing cost and the results for the period. CEMEX manages its interest rate risk by balancing its exposure to fixed and variable rates while attempting to reduce its interestcosts. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, approximately 28% and 27%, respectively, of CEMEX’s long-term debt was denominated in floating rates at a weighted average interest rate of LIBOR plus 306 basispoints in 2016 and 367 basis points in 2015. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, if interest rates at that date had been 0.5% higher, with all other variables held constant, CEMEX’s net income for 2016 and2015 would have reduced by approximately US$18 ($373) and US$18 ($312), respectively, as a result of higher interest expense on variable rate denominated debt. This analysis does not include the interest rateswaps held by CEMEX during 2016 and 2015.Foreign currency riskForeign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. CEMEX’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreignexchange rates relates primarily to its operating activities. Due to its geographic diversification, CEMEX’s revenues and costs are generated and settled in various countries and in different currencies. For the yearended December 31, 2016, approximately 20% of CEMEX’s net sales, before eliminations resulting from consolidation, were generated in Mexico, 26% in the United States, 8% in the United Kingdom, 4% inGermany, 5% in France, 4% in the Europe region, 2% in Spain, 5% in Colombia, 7% in the Rest of South, Central America and the Caribbean region, 3% in Egypt, 9% in Asia, Middle East and Africa and 7%in CEMEX’s other operations.Foreign exchange gains and losses occur by monetary assets or liabilities in a currency different from its functional currency, and are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations, except for exchangefluctuations associated with foreign currency indebtedness directly related to the acquisition of foreign entities and related parties’ long-term balances denominated in foreign currency, for which are reported in thestatement of other comprehensive income (loss). As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, excluding from the sensitivity analysis the impact of translating the net assets of foreign operations into CEMEX’s reportingcurrency, considering a hypothetic 10% strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Mexican peso, with all other variables held constant, CEMEX’s net income for 2016 and 2015 would have increased byapproximately US$136 ($2,829) and US$232 ($3,998), respectively, as a result of higher foreign exchange losses on CEMEX’s dollar-denominated net monetary liabilities held in consolidated entities with otherfunctional currencies. Conversely, a hypothetic 10% weakening of the U.S. dollar against the Mexican peso would have the opposite effect.As of December 31, 2016, approximately 76% of CEMEX’s financial debt was dollar-denominated, approximately 23% was euro-denominated, less than 1% was peso-denominated and immaterial amounts weredenominated in other currencies; therefore, CEMEX had a foreign currency exposure arising from the dollar-denominated financial debt, and the euro-denominated financial debt, versus the currencies in whichCEMEX’s revenues are settled in most countries in which it operates. CEMEX cannot guarantee that it will generate sufficient revenues in dollars and euros from its operations to service these obligations. As ofDecember 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX had not implemented any derivative financing hedging strategy to address this foreign currency risk.147



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX’s consolidated net monetary assets (liabilities) by currency are as follows:2016South, CentralAsia, MiddleUnitedAmerica andEast andMexicoStatesEuropethe CaribbeanAfricaOthers 1TotalMonetary assets$10,26126,68512,7246,13213,10111,83680,739Monetary liabilities10,56433,14542,3369,13011,305277,117383,597Net monetary assets (liabilities) 2$(303)(6,460)(29,612)(2,998)1,796(265,281)(302,858)Out of which:Dollars$(483)(6,463)3835364(214,751)(221,260)Pesos1803–––(3,395)(3,212)Euros––(9,465)––(48,470)(57,935)Other currencies––(20,185)(3,033)1,4321,335(20,451)$(303)(6,460)(29,612)(2,998)1,796(265,281)(302,858)2015MexicoUnited StatesEuropeSouth, Central America and the CaribbeanAsia, Middle East and AfricaOthers 1TotalMonetary assets$13,41810,26615,0525,6469,9687,74862,098Monetary liabilities12,69022,59336,3496,69711,615268,059358,003Net monetary assets (liabilities) 2$728(12,327)(21,297)(1,051)(1,647)(260,311)(295,905)Out of which:Dollars$(69)(12,334)19160455(187,553)(199,106)Pesos7979–––(29,407)(28,601)Euros––(8,837)–(827)(45,183)(54,847)Other currencies–(2)(12,651)(1,655)(875)1,832(13,351)$728(12,327)(21,297)(1,051)(1,647)(260,311)(295,905)1 Includes the Parent Company, CEMEX’s financing subsidiaries, as well as Neoris N.V., among other entities.2 Includes assets held for sale and liabilities directly related with these assets considering that such items will be realized in the short-term.Equity riskEquity risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the market price of CEMEX’s and/or third party’s shares. As described in note 16D,CEMEX has entered into equity forward contracts on Axtel CPOs, as well as capped call options based on the price of CEMEX’s own ADSs. Under these equity derivative instruments, there is a directrelationship in the change in the fair value of the derivative with the change in price of the underlying share. All changes in fair value of such derivative instruments are recognized in profit or loss as part of“Other financial income (expense), net”. A significant decrease in the market price of CEMEX’s ADSs would negatively affect CEMEX’s liquidity and financial position.As of December 31, 2015, the potential change in the fair value of CEMEX’s forward contracts in Axtel’s shares that would result from a hypothetical, instantaneous decrease of 10% in the market price ofAxtel’s CPO, with all other variables held constant, CEMEX’s net income for 2015 would have reduced in approximately US$3 ($51); as a result of additional negative changes in fair value associated with suchforward contracts. A 10% hypothetical increase in the Axtel CPO price would have generated approximately the opposite effects.As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the potential change in the fair value of CEMEX’s options (capped calls) that would result from a hypothetical, instantaneous decrease of 10% in the market price of



CEMEX’s ADSs, with all other variables held constant, CEMEX’s net income for 2016 and 2015 would have reduced in approximately US$23 ($476) and US$8 ($137), respectively, as a result of additionalnegative changes in fair value associated with these contracts. A 10% hypothetical increase in CEMEX’s ADS price would generate approximately the opposite effect.148



 OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILNotes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILIn addition, even though the changes in fair value of CEMEX’s embedded conversion option in the Mandatorily Convertible Notes 2019 denominated in a currency other than the functional issuer’s currencyaffect profit or loss, they do not imply any risk or variability in cash flows, considering that through their exercise, CEMEX will settle a fixed amount of debt with a fixed amount of shares. As of December 31,2016 and 2015, the potential change in the fair value of the embedded conversion options in the Mandatorily Convertible Notes 2019 that would result from a hypothetical, instantaneous decrease of 10% in themarket price of CEMEX’s CPOs, with all other variables held constant, would have increased CEMEX’s net income for 2016 and 2015 by approximately US$7 ($154) and US$3 ($47), respectively; as a resultof additional positive changes in fair value associated with this option. A 10% hypothetical increase in the CEMEX CPO price would generate approximately the opposite effect.Liquidity riskLiquidity risk is the risk that CEMEX will not have sufficient funds available to meet its obligations. In addition to cash flows provided by its operating activities, in order to meet CEMEX’s overall liquidityneeds for operations, servicing debt and funding capital expenditures and acquisitions, CEMEX relies on cost-cutting and operating improvements to optimize capacity utilization and maximize profitability, aswell as borrowing under credit facilities, proceeds of debt and equity offerings, and proceeds from asset sales. CEMEX is exposed to risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, prices and currencycontrols, interest rates, inflation, governmental spending, social instability and other political, economic and/or social developments in the countries in which it operates, any one of which may materially affectCEMEX’s results and reduce cash from operations. The maturities of CEMEX’s contractual obligations are included in note 23E. As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX has approximately US$1,413 ($29,277)available in its committed revolving credit tranche under its Credit Agreement (note 16A).As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the potential requirement for additional margin calls under our different commitments is not significant.17) OTHER CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIESAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, consolidated other current liabilities were as follows:Provisions 1Interest payableAdvances from customersOther accounts payable and accrued expenses2016$11,6703,4253,4083,949$22,452201510,4383,4212,6064,30420,7691 Current provisions primarily consist of accrued employee benefits, insurance payments, and accruals for legal assessments, among others. These amounts are revolving in nature and are expected to be settledand replaced by similar amounts within the next 12 months.As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, consolidated other non-current liabilities were as follows:Asset retirement obligations 1Accruals for legal assessments and other responsibilities 2Non-current liabilities for valuation of derivative instrumentsEnvironmental liabilities 3Other non-current liabilities and provisions 42016$8,1431,5148181,1725,29320157,0361,9842318274,796$16,94014,8741 Provisions for asset retirement include future estimated costs for demolition, cleaning and reforestation of production sites at the end of their operation, which are initially recognized against the related assetsand are depreciated over their estimated useful life.2 Provisions for legal claims and other responsibilities include items related to tax contingencies.3 Environmental liabilities include future estimated costs arising from legal or constructive obligations, related to cleaning, reforestation and other remedial actions to remediate damage caused to theenvironment. The expected average period to settle these obligations is greater than 15 years.4 As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, includes approximately $2,300 and $3,131, respectively, of the non-current portion of taxes payable recognized since 2009 as a result of the changes to the tax consolidationregime in Mexico approved in 2009 and 2013 as described in note 19D. Approximately $936 and $840 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 respectively, were included within current taxes payable.149



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILChanges in consolidated other current and non-current liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, were as follows:2016Asset retirement obligationsEnvironmental liabilitiesAccruals for legal proceedingsValuation of derivative instrumentsOther liabilities and provisionsTotal2015Balance at beginning of period$7,0368271,98423115,23425,31241,832Business combinations–  –  –  –  –  –  629Additions or increase in estimates1,437307–  92565,00367,67246,408Releases or decrease in estimates(610)(54)(292)(451)(59,896)(61,303)(67,604)Reclassifications544(39)11–  (1,257)(741)(3,754)Accretion expense(9)–  (14)–  (1,010)(1,033)(904)Foreign currency translation(255)131(175)118(1,116)(1,297)8,705Balance at end of period$8,1431,1721,51482316,95828,61025,312Out of which:Current provisions$–  –  –  511,66511,67010,43818) PENSIONS AND POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITSDefined contribution pension plansThe costs of defined contribution plans for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 were approximately $865, $706 and $497, respectively. CEMEX contributes periodically the amounts offered bythe pension plan to the employee’s individual accounts, not retaining any remaining liability as of the financial statements’ date.Defined benefit pension plansMost CEMEX’s defined benefit plans have been closed to new participants for several years. Actuarial results related to pension and other post retirement benefits are recognized in the results and/or in “Othercomprehensive income (loss) for the period” in which they are generated, as correspond. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the effects of pension plans and other post-employment benefitsare summarized as follows:PensionsOther benefitsTotalNet period cost (revenue):201620152014201620152014201620152014Recorded in operating costs and expensesService cost$151128108253032176158140Past service cost8124–  (20)–  8(8)4Loss for settlements and curtailments–  –  –  –  (13)(110)–  (13)(110)15914011225(3)(78)18413734Recorded in other financial expensesNet interest cost711596527575654768652581Recorded in other comprehensive income(loss) for the periodActuarial (gains) losses for the period3,9858723,01434(124)



(13)4,0197483,001$4,8551,6083,653116(71)(37)4,9711,5373,616150



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILThe reconciliations of the actuarial benefits obligations, pension plan assets, and liabilities recognized in the balance sheet as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are presented as follows:PensionsOther benefitsTotal201620152016201520162015Change in benefits obligation:Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year$42,74040,2851,1001,32143,84041,606Service cost1511282530176158Interest cost1,6851,56159581,7441,619Actuarial (gains) losses for the period6,263(693)35(129)6,298(822)Reduction for disposal of assets (notes 4A and 4B)–  (196)–  (161)–  (357)Settlements and curtailments–  –  (19)(13)(19)(13)Plan amendments812–  (20)8(8)Benefits paid(2,379)(2,186)(74)(60)(2,453)(2,246)Foreign currency translation2,5873,82938742,6253,903Projected benefit obligation at end of year51,05542,7401,1641,10052,21943,840Change in plan assets:Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year25,54724,698242725,57124,725Return on plan assets97496522976967Actuarial results2,278(1,565)1(5)2,279(1,570)Employer contributions1,2891,03193601,3821,091Reduction for disposal of assets (notes 4A and 4B)–  (79)–  –  –  (79)Settlements and curtailments–  –  (19)–  (19)–  Benefits paid(2,379)(2,186)(74)(60)(2,453)(2,246)Foreign currency translation1,1192,683(1)–  1,1182,683Fair value of plan assets at end of year28,82825,547262428,85425,571Amounts recognized in the balance sheets:Net projected liability recognized in the balance sheet$22,22717,1931,1381,07623,36518,269For the years 2016, 2015 and 2014, actuarial (gains) losses for the period were generated by the following main factors as follows:201620152014Actuarial (gains) losses due to experience$(511)(105)238



Actuarial (gains) losses due to demographic assumptions(231)(153)330Actuarial (gains) losses due financial assumptions4,7611,0062,433$4,0197483,001Net actuarial losses due to financial assumptions during 2016 were mainly generated by a significant reduction in the discount rates applicable to the benefit obligations in the United Kingdom, Germany andother European countries, considering macroeconomic and political uncertainty, partially offset by an increase in the discount rate in Mexico. These actuarial losses originated by the reduction in the discount ratesin 2016 were also partially offset by actual returns higher than estimated in some of the plan assets related to CEMEX’s defined benefit plans. During 2015, discounts rates increased slightly or remained flat ascompared to 2014, but the resulting actuarial gains were offset and reversed by actuarial losses generated by actual returns lower than estimated in certain of CEMEX’s plan assets. In 2014 there was also areduction in the discount rates applicable to the obligations at the end of the period in the United Kingdom, Germany and the United States.151



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, plan assets were measured at their estimated fair value and, based on the hierarchy of fair values, are detailed as follows:20162015Level 1Level 2Level 3TotalLevel 1Level 2Level 3TotalCash$1,0751,024–  2,099$649884–  1,533Investments in corporate bonds1,0502,617–  3,6678962,615–  3,511Investments in government bonds20910,081–  10,2901539,122–  9,275Total fixed-income securities2,33413,722–  16,0561,69812,621–  14,319Investment in marketable securities2,0015,956–  7,9571,5035,441–  6,944Other investments and private funds7703,4785934,8416183,2444464,308Total variable-income securities2,7719,43459312,7982,1218,68544611,252Total plan assets$5,10523,15659328,854$3,81921,30644625,571As of December 31, 2016, estimated payments for pensions and other post-employment benefits over the next 10 years were as follows:20162017$2,93420182,85020192,89220202,77120212,8082022-202615,047The most significant assumptions used in the determination of the benefit obligation were as follows:20162015UnitedUnitedRange of rates inUnitedUnitedRates ranges inMexicoStatesKingdomother countriesMexicoStatesKingdomother countriesDiscount rates9.0%4.2%2.6%1.1% – 7.0%8.0%4.4%3.7%1.6% – 7.3%Rate of return on plan assets9.0%4.2%2.6%1.1% – 7.0%8.0%4.4%3.7%1.6% – 7.3%Rate of salary increases4.0%–3.3%1.5% – 6.0%4.0%–3.1%2.0% – 6.0%As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the aggregate projected benefit obligation (“PBO”) for pension plans and other post-employment benefits and the plan assets by country were as follows:20162015PBOAssetsDeficitPBOAssetsDeficitMexico$3,2478242,423$3,6995383,161United States7,1104,1922,918



5,9883,5522,436United Kingdom33,92522,15411,77127,52220,0427,480Germany4,4292274,2023,7002053,495Other countries3,5081,4572,0512,9311,2341,697$52,21928,85423,365$43,84025,57118,269152



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILApplicable regulation in the United Kingdom requires entities to maintain plan assets at a level similar to that of the obligations. In November 2012, in order to better manage CEMEX’s obligations under itsdefined benefit pension schemes and future cash funding requirements thereof, CEMEX implemented an asset backed pension funding arrangement in its operations in the United Kingdom by means of whichCEMEX transferred certain operating assets to a non-transferable limited partnership, owned, controlled and consolidated by CEMEX UK with a total value of approximately US$553 and entered into leaseagreements for the use of such assets with the limited partnership, in which the pension schemes hold a limited interest. On an ongoing basis CEMEX UK will make annual rental payments of approximatelyUS$20, increasing at annual rate of 5%, which will generate profits in the limited partnership that are then distributed to the pension schemes. As previously mentioned, the purpose of the structure, in additionto provide the pension schemes with secured assets producing an annual return over a period of 25 years, improves the security for the trustees of the pension schemes, and reduces the level of cash funding thatCEMEX UK will have to make in future periods. In 2037, on expiry of the lease arrangements, the limited partnership will be terminated and under the terms of the agreement, the remaining assets will bedistributed to CEMEX UK. Any future profit distribution from the limited partnership to the pension fund will be considered as an employer contribution to plan assets in the period in which they occur.In some countries, CEMEX has established health care benefits for retired personnel limited to a certain number of years after retirement. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the projected benefits obligationrelated to these benefits was approximately $837 and $786, respectively. The medical inflation rates used to determine the projected benefits obligation of these benefits in 2016 and 2015 for Mexico were 7.0%and 7.0%, respectively, for Puerto Rico 4.3% and 4.5%, respectively, and for the United Kingdom were 6.8% and 6.6%, respectively. Eligibility for retiree medical in the United States has been terminated forall new employees on December 31, 2014, and remaining participants are under a capped group and future health care cost trend rates are not applicable. The medical inflation rate for 2014 in the United Stateswas 4.4%.Significant events related to employees’ pension benefits and other post-employment benefits during the reported periodsDuring 2015, CEMEX in the United States terminated the retiree medical coverage for certain participants not yet retired. In addition, during 2014, CEMEX in the United States terminated the retiree medicaland life insurance coverage for most new retirees, and changed the existing retirees program effective January 1, 2015, where participants will cease their current plans and instead receive a Health ReimbursementAccount (HRA) contribution, if they become eligible. These curtailment events resulted in an adjustment to past service cost which generated gains of approximately $13 (US$1) in 2015 and $110 (US$8) in2014, recognized immediately through the benefit cost of the respective year.Sensitivity analysis of pension and other post-employment benefitsFor the year ended December 31, 2016, CEMEX performed sensitivity analyses on the most significant assumptions that affect the PBO, considering reasonable independent changes of plus or minus 50 basispoints in each of these assumptions. The increase (decrease) that would have resulted in the PBO of pensions and other post-employment benefits as of December 31, 2016 are shown below:PensionsOther benefitsTotalAssumptions:+50 bps-50 bps+50 bps-50 bps+50 bps-50 bpsDiscount Rate Sensitivity$(3,699)4,033(53)58(3,752)4,091Salary Increase Rate Sensitivity91(83)6(7)97(90)Pension Increase Rate Sensitivity2,254(2,127)––2,254(2,127)153



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL19) INCOME TAXES19A) Income taxes for the periodThe amounts of income tax revenue (expense) in the statements of operations for 2016, 2015 and 2014 are summarized as follows:201620152014Current income taxes$(3,448)6,149(4,184)Deferred income taxes352(8,477)264$(3,096)(2,328)(3,920)19B) Deferred income taxesAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the main temporary differences that generated the consolidated deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented below:20162015Deferred tax assets:Tax loss carryforwards and other tax credits$17,51416,658Accounts payable and accrued expenses9,2628,220Intangible assets and deferred charges, net6,3585,487Others359130Total deferred tax assets, net33,49330,495Deferred tax liabilities:Property, machinery and equipment(35,095)(32,742)Investments and other assets(1,958)(2,689)Total deferred tax liabilities, net(37,053)(35,431)Net deferred tax liabilities$(3,560)(4,936)Out of which:Net deferred tax (liability) asset in Mexican entities$(2,509)255Net deferred tax (liability) asset in Foreing entities$(1,051)201620152014Deferred income tax (charged) credited to profit or loss$352(8,477)264Deferred income tax (charged) credited to stockholders’ equity5141,089229Reclassification to other captions in the balance sheet and in the statement of operations 1, 2510(5,479)410Change in deferred income tax during the period$1,376(12,867)903(5,191)The breakdown of changes in consolidated deferred income taxes during 2016, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:1 In 2016, 2015 and 2014, includes the effects of discountinued operations (note 4A) and in 2015 the effects of the termination of tax consolidation regime.2 In 2014, includes the effect of the divest assets in the western region of Germany (note 15B).Current and/or deferred income tax relative to items of other comprehensive income (loss) during 2016, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:201620152014Tax effects relative to foreign exchange fluctuations from debt (note 20B)$(410)(272)(75)Tax effects relative to foreign exchange fluctuations from intercompany balances (note 20B)(12)(181)247Tax effects relative to actuarial (gains) and losses (note 20B)788183486Foreign currency translation and other effects(274)906(257)$92636401154



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILFor the recognition of deferred tax assets, CEMEX analyzes the aggregate amount of self-determined tax loss carryforwards included in its income tax returns in each country where CEMEX believes, based onavailable evidence, that the tax authorities would not reject such tax loss carryforwards; and the likelihood of the recoverability of such tax loss carryforwards prior to their expiration through an analysis ofestimated future taxable income. If CEMEX believes that it is probable that the tax authorities would reject a self-determined deferred tax asset, it would decrease such asset. Likewise, if CEMEX believes that itwould not be able to use a tax loss carryforward before its expiration or any other tax asset, CEMEX would not recognize such asset. Both situations would result in additional income tax expense for the periodin which such determination is made. In order to determine whether it is probable that deferred tax assets will ultimately be realized, CEMEX takes into consideration all available positive and negative evidence,including factors such as market conditions, industry analysis, expansion plans, projected taxable income, carryforward periods, current tax structure, potential changes or adjustments in tax structure, taxplanning strategies, future reversals of existing temporary differences, etc. In addition, every reporting period, CEMEX analyzes its actual results versus its estimates, and adjusts, as necessary, its tax assetvaluations. If actual results vary from CEMEX’s estimates, the deferred tax asset may be affected and necessary adjustments will be made based on relevant information, any adjustments recorded will affectCEMEX’s statements of operations in such period.As of December 31, 2016, consolidated tax loss and tax credits carryforwards expire as follows:20172018201920202021 and thereafterAmount ofcarryforwards$9351,9167,9568,922373,840$393,569Amount ofreservedcarryforwards5791,5777,8212,375325,292337,644Amount ofunreservedcarryforwards3563391356,54748,54855,925As of December 31, 2016, in connection with CEMEX’s deferred tax loss carryforwards presented in the table above, in order to realize the benefits associated with such deferred tax assets that have not beenreserved, before their expiration, CEMEX would need to generate approximately $55,925 in consolidated pre-tax income in future periods. For the year ended December 31, 2014, CEMEX reported pre-tax losseson a worldwide consolidated basis. Nonetheless, based on the same forecasts of future cash flows and operating results used by CEMEX’s management to allocate resources and evaluate performance in thecountries in which CEMEX operates, which include expected growth in revenues and reductions in interest expense in several countries due to a reduction in intra-group debt balances, along with theimplementation of feasible tax strategies, CEMEX believes that it will recover the balance of its tax loss carryforwards that have not been reserved before their expiration. In addition, CEMEX concluded that, thedeferred tax liabilities that were considered in the analysis of recoverability of its deferred tax assets will reverse in the same period and tax jurisdiction of the related recognized deferred tax assets. Moreover, acertain amount of CEMEX’s deferred tax assets refer to operating segments and tax jurisdictions in which CEMEX is currently generating taxable income or in which, according to CEMEX’s management cashflow projections, will generate taxable income in the relevant periods before the expiration of the deferred tax assets.CEMEX does not recognize a deferred income tax liability related to its investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, considering that CEMEX controls the reversal of the temporary differencesarising from these investments and management is satisfied that such temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.155



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL19C) Effective tax rateFor the years ended as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the effective consolidated income tax rates were as follows:201620152014Income (loss) before income tax$17,2793,182(1,850)Income tax expense(3,096)(2,328)(3,920)Effective consolidated income tax rate 1(17.9)%(73.2)%211.9%1 The average effective tax rate equals the net amount of income tax revenue or expense divided by income or loss before income taxes, as these line items are reported in profit or loss.Differences between the financial reporting and the corresponding tax basis of assets and liabilities and the different income tax rates and laws applicable to CEMEX, among other factors, give rise to permanentdifferences between the statutory tax rate applicable in Mexico, and the effective tax rate presented in the consolidated statements of operations, which in 2016, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:201620152014%$%$%$Mexican statutory tax rate(30.0)(5,184)(30.0)(955)(30.0)555Non-taxable dividend income0.23240.21,280(3.9)73Difference between accounting and tax expenses, net84.014,514(93.1)(2,963)71.4(1,320)Termination of tax consolidation regime––35.71,136––Unrecognized effects during the year related to applicable tax consolidation regimes(3.6)(622)9.22935.5(101)Non-taxable sale of marketable securities and fixed assets3.865739.71,263(47.1)871Difference between book and tax inflation(11.2)(1,935)(29.0)(922)31.7(586)Differences in the income tax rates in the countries whereCEMEX operates 111.21,93553.21,693(393.5)7,280Changes in deferred tax assets 2(71.3)(12,320)(109.1)(3,473)547.8(10,135)Changes in provisions for uncertain tax positions0.71218.527231.7(586)Others(1.7)(294)1.548(1.7)29Effective consolidated tax rate(17.9)(3,096)(73.2)(2,328)211.9(3,920)1 Refers mainly to the effects of the differences between the statutory income tax rate in Mexico of 30% against the applicable income tax rates of each country where CEMEX operates.2 Refers to the effects in the effective income tax rate associated with changes during the period in the amount of deferred income tax assets related to CEMEX’s tax loss carryforwards.The following table compares variations between the line item “Changes in deferred tax assets” as presented in the table above against the changes in deferred tax assets in the balance sheet for the years ended asof December 31, 2016 and 2015:20162015Changes inChanges inthe balanceAmounts inthe balanceAmounts insheetreconciliationsheetreconciliationTax loss carryforwards generated and not recognized during the year$–(9,108)–(3,687)Utilization of deferred tax assets to settle liabilities (note 19D)––(11,136)–Derecognition related to tax loss carryforwards recognized in prior years(4,843)(4,843)(2,554)(2,554)Recognition related to unrecognized tax loss carryforwards1,6311,6312,7682,768Foreign currency translation and other effects4,068–1,860–Changes in deferred tax assets$856(12,320)(9,062)(3,473)156



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL19D) Uncertain tax positions and significant tax proceedingsAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, as part of short-term and long-term provisions and other liabilities (note 17), CEMEX has recognized provisions related to unrecognized tax benefits in connection withuncertain tax positions taken, in which it is deemed probable that the tax authority would differ from the position adopted by CEMEX. As of December 31, 2016, the tax returns submitted by some subsidiariesof CEMEX located in several countries are under review by the respective tax authorities in the ordinary course of business. CEMEX cannot anticipate if such reviews will result in new tax assessments, whichwould, should any arise, be appropriately disclosed and/or recognized in the financial statements.A summary of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, excluding interest and penalties, is as follows:201620152014Balance of tax positions at beginning of year$1,1901,3961,283Additions for tax positions of prior years200134216Additions for tax positions of current year9071278Reductions for tax positions related to prior years and other items(131)(95)(71)Settlements and reclassifications(163)(204)(317)Expiration of the statute of limitations(126)(231)(73)Foreign currency translation effects7211980Balance of tax positions at end of year$1,1321,1901,396Tax examinations can involve complex issues, and the resolution of issues may span multiple years, particularly if subject to negotiation or litigation. Although CEMEX believes its estimates of the totalunrecognized tax benefits are reasonable, uncertainties regarding the final determination of income tax audit settlements and any related litigation could affect the amount of total unrecognized tax benefits infuture periods. It is difficult to estimate the timing and range of possible changes related to the uncertain tax positions, as finalizing audits with the income tax authorities may involve formal administrative andlegal proceedings. Accordingly, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the expected changes to the total unrecognized tax benefits over the next 12 months, although any settlements or statute of limitationsexpirations may result in a significant increase or decrease in the total unrecognized tax benefits, including those positions related to tax examinations being currently conducted.As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s most significant tax proceedings, some of which are associated with the uncertain tax positions described above are as follows:• As of December 31, 2016, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) has concluded its audit for the year 2014. The final findings did not alter the originally filed tax return, which had no reserves set aside forany potential tax issue. In addition, there is any tax matter considered material to CEMEX’s financial results related to the IRS’ audits of prior periods. On May 18, 2016 and April 24, 2015, the IRScommenced its audits of the 2016 and 2015 tax years, respectively, under the Compliance Assurance Process. CEMEX has not identified any material audit issues and, as such, no reserves are recorded for eitherthe 2016 or 2015 audits in CEMEX’s financial statements.• On July 7, 2011, the tax authorities in Spain notified CEMEX España of a tax audit process in Spain covering the tax years from and including 2006 to 2009. The tax authorities in Spain have challenged partof the tax losses reported by CEMEX España for such years. The tax authorities in Spain notified CEMEX España of fines in the aggregate amount of approximately € 456 (US$480 or $9,938). The laws ofSpain provide a number of appeals that could be filed against such penalty without making any payment until they are finally resolved. On April 22, 2014, CEMEX España filed appeals against such fines. Atthis stage, CEMEX does not consider probable an adverse resolution in this proceeding. Nonetheless, is difficult to assess with certainty the likelihood of an adverse result, and the appeals that CEMEX Españahas file could take an extended amount of time to be resolved, but if adversely resolved, it could have a material adverse impact on CEMEX’s results of operations, liquidity or financial position.157



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL• In November 2009, amendments to the income tax law in Mexico effective on January 1, 2010 modified the tax consolidation regime by requiring entities to determine income taxes as if the tax consolidationrules did not exist from 1999 onward, specifically, turning into taxable items: a) the difference between the sum of the equity of the controlled entities for tax purposes and the equity of the consolidated entityfor tax purposes; b) dividends from the controlled entities for tax purposes to the Parent Company; and c) other transactions that represented the transfer of resources between the companies included in the taxconsolidation. In December 2010, the tax authority in Mexico had granted the option to defer the calculation and payment of the income tax over the difference in equity explained above, until the subsidiary wasexcluded or the elimination of the tax consolidation. Nonetheless, in December 2013 new amendments to the income tax law in Mexico were approved effective January 1, 2014, which eliminated the taxconsolidation regime and implemented prospectively a new voluntary integration regime that CEMEX did not join. As a result, beginning in 2014, each Mexican entity determines its income taxes based solelyin its individual results. A period of up to 10 years was established for the settlement of the liability for income taxes related to the tax consolidation regime accrued until December 31, 2013, amount whichconsidering the rules issued for the disconnection of the tax consolidation regime as well as payments made during 2013 amounted to approximately $24,804 as of December 31, 2013. In 2014, consideringpayments incurred net of inflation adjustments, as of December 31, 2014, the balance payable was reduced to approximately $21,429. Furthermore, in October 2015, a new tax reform approved by Congress (the“new tax reform”) granted entities the option to settle a portion of the liability for the exit of the tax consolidation regime using available tax loss carryforwards of the previously consolidated entities, consideringa discount factor, and a tax credit to offset certain items of the aforementioned liability. Consequently, during 2015, as a result of payments made, the liability was further reduced to approximately $16,244,which after the application of tax credits and assets for tax loss carryforwards (as provided by the new tax reform) which had a book value for CEMEX before discount of approximately $11,136, as ofDecember 31, 2015, the Parent Company’s liability was reduced to approximately $3,971. In 2016, considering payments made during the year net of inflation adjustments, as of December 31, 2016, CEMEXreduced the balance payable to approximately $3,236.• On April 1, 2011, the Colombian Tax Authority notified CEMEX Colombia of a special proceeding rejecting certain deductions taken by CEMEX Colombia in its 2009 tax return. The Colombian TaxAuthority assessed an increase in taxes to be paid by CEMEX Colombia in an amount in Colombian pesos equivalent to approximately US$30 ($622) and imposed a penalty in an amount in Colombian pesosequivalent to approximately US$48 ($995), both as of December 31, 2016. The Colombian Tax Authority argues that certain expenses are not deductible for fiscal purposes because they are not linked to directrevenues recorded in the same fiscal year, without considering that future revenue will be taxed under the income tax law in Colombia. CEMEX Colombia responded to the special proceeding on June 25, 2011.On December 15, 2011, the Colombian Tax Authority issued its final resolution, which confirmed the information in the special proceeding. CEMEX Colombia appealed such resolution on February 15, 2012.On January 17, 2013, the Colombian Tax Authority confirmed CEMEX Colombia its final resolution. On May 10, 2013, CEMEX Colombia appealed the final resolution before the Administrative Tribunal ofCundinamarca, which was admitted on June 21, 2013. On July 14, 2014, CEMEX Colombia was notified about an adverse resolution to its appeal, which confirms the official liquidation notified by theColombian Tax Authority. On July 22, 2014, CEMEX Colombia filed an appeal against this resolution before the Colombian State Council (Consejo de Estado). On September 17, 2015, CEMEX Colombiapresented arguments in second instance on this proceeding. At this stage of the proceeding, as of December 31, 2016, CEMEX does not consider probable an adverse resolution in this proceeding. Nonetheless, isdifficult to assess with certainty the likelihood of an adverse result; but if adversely resolved, this proceeding could have a material adverse impact on CEMEX’s results of operations, liquidity or financialposition.158



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL20) STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITYAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, stockholders’ equity excludes investments in CPOs of the Parent Company held by subsidiaries of approximately $327 (19,751,229 CPOs) and $179 (18,991,576 CPOs),respectively, which were eliminated within “Other equity reserves”.20A) Common stock and additional paid-in capitalAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the breakdown of common stock and additional paid-in capital was as follows:20162015Common stock$4,1624,158Additional paid-in capital123,174115,466$127,336119,624As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 the common stock of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. was presented as follows:20162015Shares 1Series A 2Series B 2Series A 2Series B 2Subscribed and paid shares28,121,583,14814,060,791,57426,935,196,07213,467,598,036Unissued shares authorized for stock compensation programs638,468,154319,234,077747,447,386373,723,693Shares that guarantee the issuance of convertible securities 35,218,899,9202,609,449,9605,020,899,9202,510,449,96033,978,951,22216,989,475,61132,703,543,37816,351,771,6891 As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 13,068,000,000 shares correspond to the fixed portion, and 37,900,426,833 shares in 2016 and 35,987,315,067 shares in 2015, correspond to the variable portion.2 Series “A” or Mexican shares must represent at least 64% of CEMEX’s capital stock; meanwhile, Series “B” or free subscription shares must represent at most 36% of CEMEX’s capital stock.3 Shares that guarantee the conversion of both the outstanding voluntary and mandatorily convertible securities and new securities issues (note 16B).On March 31, 2016, stockholders at the annual ordinary shareholders’ meeting approved resolutions to: (i) increase the variable common stock through the capitalization of retained earnings by issuing up to1,616 million shares (539 million CPOs), which shares were issued, representing an increase in common stock of approximately $4, considering a nominal value of $0.00833 per CPO, and additional paid-incapital of approximately $6,966; (ii) increase the variable common stock by issuing up to 297 million shares (99 million CPOs), which will be kept in the Parent Company’s treasury to be used to preserve theanti-dilutive rights of note holders pursuant CEMEX’s convertible securities (note 16B).On March 26, 2015, stockholders at the annual ordinary shareholders’ meeting approved resolutions to: (i) increase the variable common stock through the capitalization of retained earnings by issuing up to1,500 million shares (500 million CPOs), which shares were issued, representing an increase in common stock of approximately $4, considering a nominal value of $0.00833 per CPO, and additional paid-incapital of approximately $7,613; (ii) increase the variable common stock by issuing up to 297 million shares (99 million CPOs), which will be kept in the Parent Company’s treasury to be used to preserve theanti-dilutive rights of note holders pursuant CEMEX’s convertible securities (note 16B).On March 20, 2014, stockholders at the annual ordinary shareholders’ meeting approved resolutions to: (i) increase the variable common stock through the capitalization of retained earnings by issuing up to1,404 million shares (468 million CPOs), which shares were issued, representing an increase in common stock of approximately $4, considering a nominal value of $0.00833 per CPO, and additional paid-incapital of approximately $7,614; (ii) increase the variable common stock by issuing up to 387 million shares (129 million CPOs), which will be kept in the Parent Company’s treasury to be used to preserve theanti-dilutive rights of note holders pursuant CEMEX’s convertible securities (note 16B).In connection with the long-term executive share-based compensation program (note 21) in 2016, 2015 and 2014, CEMEX issued approximately53.9 million CPOs, 49.2 million and 61.1 million, respectively, generating an additional paid-in capital of approximately $742 in 2016, $655 in 2015 and $765 in 2014 associated with the fair value of thecompensation received by executives.159



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL20B) Other equity reservesAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015 other equity reserves are summarized as follows:20162015Cumulative translation effect, net of effects from perpetual debentures and deferred income taxes recognized directly in equity (notes 19B and 20D)$31,29317,606Cumulative actuarial losses(10,934)(6,915)Effects associated with CEMEX´s convertible securities 14,7614,761Treasury shares held by subsidiaries(327)(179)$24,79315,2731 Represents the equity component upon the issuance of CEMEX’s convertible securities described in note 16B, as well as the effects associated with such securities in connection with the change in the ParentCompany’s functional currency (note 2D). Upon conversion of these securities, the balances have been correspondingly reclassified to common stock and/or additional paid-in capital (note 16A).For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the translation effects of foreign subsidiaries included in the statements of comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:201620152014Foreign currency translation adjustment 1$20,64712,86015,157Foreign exchange fluctuations from debt 21,367908479Foreign exchange fluctuations from intercompany balances 3(10,385)(5,801)(15,135)$11,6297,9675011 These effects refer to the result from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.2 Generated by foreign exchange fluctuations over a notional amount of debt in CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V., associated with the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries and designated as a hedge of the net investmentin foreign subsidiaries (note 2D).3 Refers to foreign exchange fluctuations arising from balances with related parties in foreign currencies that are of a long-term investment nature considering that their liquidation is not anticipated in theforeseeable future and foreign exchange fluctuations over a notional amount of debt of a subsidiary of CEMEX España identified and designated as a hedge of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries.20C) Retained earningsThe Parent Company’s net income for the year is subject to a 5% allocation toward a legal reserve until such reserve equals one fifth of the common stock. As of December 31, 2016, the legal reserve amountedto $1,804.20D) Non-controlling interest and perpetual debenturesNon-controlling interestNon-controlling interest represents the share of non-controlling stockholders in the results and equity of consolidated subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, non-controlling interest in equity amountedto approximately $19,876 and $12,708, respectively.On July 18, 2016, CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. (“CHP”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CEMEX España, S.A., closed its initial offering of 2,337,927,954 new common shares, at a price of10.75 Philippine Pesos per common share, in a public offering to investors in the Philippines and in a concurrent private placement to eligible investors outside of the Philippines. The number of common sharesissued by CHP includes 304,947,124 shares which subscription option was exercised by the underwriters any time from June 30, 2016, the date of pricing, up to and including the day prior to the first day oftrading of the shares on July 18, 2016. CHP’s assets consist primarily of CEMEX’s cement manufacturing assets in the Philippines. After giving effect to the offering, and the exercise of the subscription option,CEMEX Asian South East Corporation (“CASE”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CEMEX España, S.A., owns approximately 55.0% of CHP’s outstanding common shares. CHP’s common shares arelisted on the Philippine Stock Exchange under the ticker CHP. The net proceeds from the offering of approximately US$507 (considering an exchange rate of 46.932 Philippines Pesos per U.S. dollar onJune 30, 2016), after deducting commissions and other offering expenses, were used by CEMEX for general corporate purposes, including the repayment of existing debt.160



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILPerpetual debenturesAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the balances of the non-controlling interest included approximately US$438 ($9,075) and US$440 ($7,581), respectively, representing the notional amount of perpetualdebentures, which exclude any perpetual debentures held by subsidiaries. Interest expense on the perpetual debentures, was included within “Other equity reserves” and amounted to approximately $507 in 2016,$432 in 2015 and $420 in 2014, excluding in all the periods the amount of interest accrued by perpetual debentures held by subsidiaries.CEMEX’s perpetual debentures have no fixed maturity date and there are no contractual obligations for CEMEX to exchange any series of its outstanding perpetual debentures for financial assets or financialliabilities. As a result, these debentures, issued entirely by Special Purpose Vehicles (“SPVs”), qualify as equity instruments and are classified within non-controlling interest, as they were issued by consolidatedentities. In addition, subject to certain conditions, CEMEX has the unilateral right to defer indefinitely the payment of interest due on the debentures. The classification of the debentures as equity instrumentswas made under applicable IFRS. The different SPVs were established solely for purposes of issuing the perpetual debentures and were included in CEMEX’s consolidated financial statements.As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the detail of CEMEX’s perpetual debentures, excluding the perpetual debentures held by subsidiaries, was as follows:20162015RepurchaseIssuerIssuance dateNominal amountNominal amountoptionInterest rateC10-EUR Capital (SPV) LtdMay 2007€64€64Tenth anniversary6.277%C8 Capital (SPV) LtdFebruary 2007US$135US$135Eighth anniversaryLIBOR + 4.40%C5 Capital (SPV) Ltd 1December 2006US$61US$61Fifth anniversaryLIBOR + 4.277%C10 Capital (SPV) LtdDecember 2006US$175US$175Tenth anniversaryLIBOR + 4.71%1 Under the Credit Agreement, and previously under the Facilities Agreement, CEMEX is not permitted to call these debentures.21) EXECUTIVE SHARE-BASED COMPENSATIONCEMEX has long-term restricted share-based compensation programs providing for the grant of CEMEX’s CPOs to a group of executives, pursuant to which, new CPOs are issued under each annual programover a service period of four years. The CPOs of the annual grant (25% of each annual program) are placed at the beginning of the service period in the executives’ accounts to comply with a one year restrictionon sale. Under these programs, the Parent Company issued new shares for approximately 53.9 million CPOs in 2016, 49.2 million CPOs in 2015 and 61.1 million CPOs in 2014 that were subscribed andpending for payment in CEMEX’s treasury. As of December 31, 2016, there are approximately 75.7 million CPOs associated with these annual programs that are expected to be issued in the following years asthe executives render services. Beginning January 1, 2013, eligible executives belonging to the operations of CLH and subsidiaries, ceased to receive CEMEX’s CPOs and instead started receiving shares ofCEMEX Latam, sharing significantly the same conditions of CEMEX’s plan also over a service period of four years. During 2016 and 2015, CEMEX Latam physically delivered 271,461 shares and 242,618shares, respectively, corresponding to the vested portion of prior years’ grants, which were subscribed and held in CEMEX Latam’s treasury. As of December 31, 2016, there are approximately 540,359 shares ofCEMEX Latam associated with these annual programs that are expected to be delivered in the following years as the executives render services.In addition, in 2012, CEMEX initiated a share-based compensation program for a group of executives which was linked to both, internal performance conditions (increase in Operating EBITDA) and marketconditions (increase in the price of CEMEX’s CPO), over a period of three years ending on December 31, 2014. Under this program, CEMEX granted awards over approximately 39.9 million CPOs, whichbecame fully vested upon achievement of the annual internal and/or external performance conditions in each of the three years. CPOs vested were delivered, fully unrestricted, to active executives in March 2015.The combined compensation expense related to the programs described above in 2016, 2015 and 2014, recognized in the operating results, amounted to approximately $742, $655 and $730, respectively. Theweighted average price per CPO granted during the period was approximately13.79 pesos in 2016, 13.34 pesos in 2015 and 12.53 pesos in 2014. Moreover, the weighted average price per CEMEX Latam share granted during the period was approximately 13,423 colombian pesos in2016, 14,291 colombian pesos in 2015 and 15,073 colombian pesos in 2014. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were no options or commitments to make payments in cash to the executives based onchanges in the market price of the Parent Company’s CPO or CLH’s shares.161



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL22) EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHAREBasic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent Company (the numerator) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding (thedenominator) during the period. Shares that would be issued depending only by the passage of time should be included in the determination of the basic weighted average number of shares outstanding. Dilutedearnings (loss) per share should reflect in both, the numerator and denominator, the assumption that convertible instruments are converted, that options or warrants are exercised, or that ordinary shares are issuedupon the satisfaction of specified conditions, to the extent that such assumption would led to a reduction in basic earnings per share or an increase in basic loss per share, otherwise, the effects of potential sharesare not considered because they generate antidilution.The amounts considered for calculations of earnings (loss) per share in 2016, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:201620152014Denominator (thousands of shares)Weighted average number of shares outstanding140,624,90539,905,16838,506,999Capitalization of retained earnings21,616,1121,616,1121,616,112Effect of dilutive instruments – mandatorily convertible securities (note 16B)3680,916680,916680,916Weighted average number of shares – basic42,921,93342,202,19640,804,027Effect of dilutive instruments – share-based compensation (note 21)3226,972171,747293,657Effect of potentially dilutive instruments – optionally convertible securities (note 16B)34,367,8954,870,7745,963,148Weighted average number of shares – diluted47,516,80047,244,71747,060,832NumeratorNet income (loss) from continuing operations$14,183854(5,770)Less: non-controlling interest net income1,1749321,103Controlling interest net income (loss) from continuing operations13,009(78)(6,873)Plus: after tax interest expense on mandatorily convertible securities119144164Controlling interest net income (loss) from continuing operations – for basic earnings per share calculations13,12866(6,709)Plus: after tax interest expense on optionally convertible securities1,0791,2881,424Controlling interest net income (loss) from continuing operations – for diluted earnings per share calculations$14,2071,354(5,285)Net income from discontinued operations$1,0241,27990Basic Earnings (Loss) Per ShareControlling Interest Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share$0.330.03(0.16)Controlling Interest Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share from continuing operations0.31–  (0.16)Controlling Interest Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share from discontinued operations0.020.03–  Controlling Interest Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share 4Controlling Interest Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share$0.330.03(0.16)Controlling Interest Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share from continuing operations0.31–  (0.16)Controlling Interest Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share from discontinued operations0.020.03–  1 The weighted average number of shares outstanding in 2015 and 2014 reflects the shares issued as a result of the capitalization of retained earnings declared on March 2015 and March 2014, as applicable (note20A).2 According to resolution of the stockholders’ meetings on March 31, 2016.3 The number of CPOs to be issued under the executive share-based compensation programs, as well as the total amount of CPOs committed for issuance in the future under the mandatorily and optionallyconvertible securities, are computed from the beginning of the reporting period. The number of shares resulting from the executives’ stock option programs is determined under the inverse treasury method.4 For 2016, 2015 and 2014, the effects on the denominator and numerator of potential dilutive shares generate antidilution; therefore, there is no change between the reported basic and diluted earning (loss) pershare.162



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL23) COMMITMENTS23A) GuaranteesAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V., had guaranteed loans of certain subsidiaries for approximately US$2,887 ($59,819) and US$3,726 ($64,195), respectively.23B) Pledged assetsCEMEX transferred to a guarantee trust the shares of its main subsidiaries, including CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V., New Sunward Holding B.V. and CEMEX España, S.A., and entered into pledge agreementsin order to secure payment obligations under the Credit Agreement (formerly under the Facilities Agreement) and other debt instruments entered into prior to the date of these agreements (note 16A).As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, there are no liabilities secured by property, machinery and equipment.23C) Other commitmentsAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX was party of other commitments for several purposes, including the purchase of fuel and energy, which estimated future cash flows over their maturity are presentedin note 23E. A description of the most significant contracts is as follows:In connection with the beginning of full commercial operations of the Ventika S.A.P.I. de C.V. and the Ventika II S.A.P.I. de C.V. wind farms (jointly “Ventikas”) located in the Mexican state of Nuevo Leonwith a combined generation capacity of 252 Megawatts (“MW”), CEMEX agreed to acquire a portion of the energy generated by Ventikas for its Mexican Plants for a period of 20 years, which began in April2016. During 2016, Ventikas supplied approximately 6.4% (unaudited) of CEMEX’s overall electricity needs in Mexico. This agreement is for CEMEX’s own use and there is no intention of energy trading.CEMEX participated in Ventikas project as sponsor, main developer and equity investor. On December 15, 2016, CEMEX sold its interest in Ventikas to Infraestructura Energética Nova, S.A.B. de C.V.(“IEnova”), current owner of 100% of Ventikas, for approximately US$21 ($435). In addition, during 2016 and in accordance with the established contracts CEMEX also received a total of US$35 ($725) fordevelopment fee and other concepts. CEMEX will remain as the manager of the Ventikas facilities in exchange of a management fee.On July 30, 2012, CEMEX signed a 10-year strategic agreement with International Business Machines Corporation (“IBM”) pursuant to which IBM provides, among others, data processing services (back office)in finance, accounting and human resources; as well as Information Technology (“IT”) infrastructure services, support and maintenance of IT applications in the countries in which CEMEX operates.Beginning in February 2010, CEMEX agreed with EURUS the purchase of electric energy for a period of no less than 20 years. EURUS is a wind farm with an installed capacity of 250 MW operated byACCIONA in the Mexican state of Oaxaca. For the years 2016, 2015 and 2014, EURUS supplied (unaudited) approximately 22.9%, 28.0% and 28.2%, respectively, of CEMEX’s overall electricity needs inMexico during such year.CEMEX maintains a commitment initiated in April 2004 to purchase the energy generated by Termoeléctrica del Golfo (“TEG”) until 2027. CEMEX committed to supply TEG and another third-party electricalenergy generating plant adjacent to TEG all fuel necessary for their operations, a commitment that has been hedged through four 20-year agreements entered with Petróleos Mexicanos (“PEMEX”), whichterminate in 2024. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, TEG supplied (unaudited) approximately 66.3%, 69.3% and 69.6% respectively, of CEMEX’s overall electricity needs during suchyear for its cement plants in Mexico.In regards with the above, in March 1998 and July 1999, CEMEX signed contracts with PEMEX providing that beginning in April 2004 PEMEX’s refineries in Cadereyta and Madero City would supplyCEMEX with a combined volume of approximately 1.75 million tons of petroleum coke per year. As per the petroleum coke contracts with PEMEX, 1.2 million tons of the contracted volume will be allocatedto TEG and the other energy producer and the remaining volume will be allocated to CEMEX’s operations in Mexico. By entering into the petroleum coke contracts with PEMEX, CEMEX expects to have aconsistent source of petroleum coke throughout the 20-year term.163



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILIn 2007, CEMEX Ostzement GmbH (“COZ”), CEMEX’s subsidiary in Germany, entered into a long-term energy supply contract with Vattenfall Europe New Energy Ecopower (“VENEE”), pursuant to whichVENEE committed to supply energy to CEMEX’s Rüdersdorf plant for a period of 15 years starting on January 1, 2008. Based on the contract, each year COZ has the option to fix in advance the volume ofenergy in terms of MW that it will acquire from VENEE, with the option to adjust the purchase amount one time on a monthly and quarterly basis. According to the contract, COZ acquired (unaudited)approximately 27 MW in 2016, 2015 and 2014, and COZ expects to acquire between 26 and 28 MW per year starting in 2015 and thereafter. The contract, which establishes a price mechanism for the energyacquired, based on the price of energy future contracts quoted on the European Energy Exchange, did not require initial investments and was expected to be performed at a future date. Considering that the contractis for CEMEX’s own use and CEMEX sells any energy surplus as soon as actual energy requirements are known, regardless of changes in prices and thereby avoiding any intention of trading in energy, suchcontract is not recognized at its fair value.23D) Commitments from employee benefitsIn some countries, CEMEX has self-insured health care benefits plans for its active employees, which are managed on cost plus fee arrangements with major insurance companies or provided through healthmaintenance organizations. As of December 31, 2016, in certain plans, CEMEX has established stop-loss limits for continued medical assistance derived from a specific cause (e.g., an automobile accident,illness, etc.) ranging from 23 thousand dollars to 400 thousand dollars. In other plans, CEMEX has established stop-loss limits per employee regardless of the number of events ranging from 100 thousanddollars to 2.5 million dollars. The contingency for CEMEX if all employees qualifying for health care benefits required medical services simultaneously is significantly. However, this scenario is remote. Theamount expensed through self-insured health care benefits was approximately US$69 ($1,430) in 2016, US$69 ($1,189) in 2015 and US$64 ($943) in 2014.23E) Contractual obligationsAs of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CEMEX had the following contractual obligations:20162015(U.S. dollars millions)Less than 11-33-5More thanObligationsyearyearsyears5 yearsTotalTotalLong-term debtUS$372,6752,2216,44611,37913,303Capital lease obligations 118363320107135Convertible notes 213689503–1,2051,543Total debt and other financial obligations 3683,4002,7576,46612,69114,981Operating leases 411719312778515434Interest payments on debt 56781,2409691,1093,9964,659Pension plans and other benefits 61422772697261,4141,568Purchases of raw materials, fuel and energy 75848167392,3014,4403,963Total contractual obligationsUS$1,5895,9264,86110,68023,05625,605$32,934122,787100,720221,290477,720441,1741 Represent nominal cash flows. As of December 31, 2016, the NPV of future payments under such leases was US$76 ($1,576), of which, US$24 ($497) refers to payments from 1 to 3 years, US$23 ($477) referto payments from 3 to 5 years, and US$16 ($332) refer payments of more than 5 years.2 Refers to the components of liability of the convertible notes described in note 16B and assumes repayment at maturity and no conversion of the notes.3 The schedule of debt payments, which includes current maturities, does not consider the effect of any refinancing of debt that may occur during the following years. In the past, CEMEX has replaced its long-term obligations for others of a similar nature.4 The amounts represent nominal cash flows. CEMEX has operating leases, primarily for operating facilities, cement storage and distribution facilities and certain transportation and other equipment, under whichannual rental payments are required plus the payment of certain operating expenses. Rental expense was US$121 ($2,507) in 2016, US$114 ($1,967) in 2015 and US$112 ($1,657) in 2014.5 Estimated cash flows on floating rate denominated debt were determined using the floating interest rates in effect as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.6 Represents estimated annual payments under these benefits for the next 10 years (note 18), including the estimate of new retirees during such future years.7 Future payments for the purchase of raw materials are presented on the basis of contractual nominal cash flows. Future nominal payments for energy were estimated for all contractual commitments on the basisof an aggregate average expected consumption of 3,124.1 GWh per year using the future prices of energy established in the contracts for each period. Future payments also include CEMEX’s commitments for thepurchase of fuel.164



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL24) CONTINGENCIES24A) Provisions resulting from legal proceedingsCEMEX is involved in various significant legal proceedings, the resolutions of which are deemed probable and imply cash outflows or the delivery of other resources owned by CEMEX. As a result, certainprovisions or losses have been recognized in the financial statements, representing the best estimate of the amounts payable or impaired assets. Therefore, CEMEX believes that it will not incur significantexpenditure or losses in excess of the amounts recorded. As of December 31, 2016, the details of the most significant events giving effect to provisions or losses are as follows:Regarding the Maceo project in Colombia (note 14), on August 28, 2012, CEMEX Colombia signed a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the representative of CI Calizas y Minerales S.A. (“CICalizas”), which objective was the acquisition and transfer of assets comprising land, the mining concession and the environmental permit, the common shares of the entity Zona Franca Especial Cementera delMagdalena Medio S.A.S. (“Zomam”) (holder of the free trade zone concession), as well as the beneficial rights of a trust entered between Acción Sociedad Fiduciaria S.A., CI Calizas and Zomam, to execute theconstruction of the new cement plant. During 2016, CEMEX received reports through its anonymous reporting line, related to possible deficiencies in the purchase process of land where the cement plant islocated. At this respect, CEMEX initiated an investigation and internal audit in accordance with its corporate governance policies and its code of ethics, confirming the irregularities in such process. As a result ofthis process, on September 23, 2016, CLH and CEMEX Colombia decided to terminate employment relationship with the Vice Precident of Planning of CLH and CEMEX Colombia, and with the LegalCounsel of CLH and CEMEX Colombia. In addition, effective the same date September 23, 2016, the Chief Executive Officer of CLH and President of CEMEX Colombia resigned to facilitate investigations.CEMEX and CLH have made these findings known to the appropriate authorities in Colombia. In order to strengthen the levels of leadership, management and best practices of corporate governance, onOctober 4, 2016, the Board of Directors of CLH decided to separate the roles of Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer of CLH and President of CEMEX Colombia. Consequently, newappointments for Chairman of the Board of Directors of CLH, new Chief Executive Officer of CLH, new President of CEMEX Colombia and new Vice president of Planning of CLH, were effective immediately.In addition, after signing the original MOU, a former shareholder of CI Calizas, who presumptively transferred its shares of CI Calizas two years before the signing of the MOU, was linked to a process ofexpiration of property initiated by Colombia’s Attorney General (the “Attorney General”). Amongst other measures, the Attorney General ordered the seizure and consequent suspension of the right to dispose theassets subject to the MOU. The shares of Zomam were fully acquired by CEMEX Colombia before the beginning of such process; nonetheless, the Attorney General decided to also include such shares in theaction of expiration of property. To protect its interests and defend its rights as a third party acting in good faith and free of guilt, CEMEX Colombia joined the expiration of property process, attending promptlyeach procedural stages, under the policy of full cooperation with the Attorney General. Additionally, CEMEX Colombia requested the inadmissibility of the action of expiration of property against the assetssubject to the MOU.In July 2013, CEMEX Colombia signed with the provisional depository of the assets, designed by the Drugs National Department (Dirección Nacional de Estupefacientes, then depository of the affected assets),which functions after its liquidation were assumed by the Administrator of Special Assets (Sociedad de Activos Especiales S.A.S. or the “SAE”), a lease contract for a period of five years, which can be earlyterminated by the SAE, by means of which CEMEX Colombia was duly authorized to continue with the necessary works for the construction and operation of the plant (the “Lease Contract”). Likewise, theprovisional depository granted a mandate to CEMEX Colombia for the same purpose.On May 2, 2016, the Attorney General resolved to deny CEMEX’s Colombia inadmissibility request to the action for expiration of property mentioned above, considering that it should broaden the obtention ofprobatory elements and its analisys in order to take a resolution according to law. Given on the nature of the process, despite the Colombian law has defined terms for the several procedural stages, as ofDecember 31, 2016, it is estimated that the issuance of a final resolution in respect to the applicability or not for the action of expiration of property over the aforementioned assets may take between five and tenyears. As of December 31, 2016, the expiration of property process is in its investigation stage, awaiting the appointment of the guardians ad litem designated by the Attorney General. The appointment of theguardian ad litem would open the probatory stage, in which evidence will be tested.The maturity of the Lease Contract is July 15, 2018, therefore, subject to the resolution of the ongoing legal process, CEMEX Colombia plans to negotiate and extension to such Lease Contract.165



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILMoreover, in connection with Maceo’s project, CEMEX Colombia also engaged the same representative of CI Calizas to also represent CEMEX Colombia in the acquisition of land adjacent to the plant, signinga new memorandum of understanding with this representative (the “MOU with the Representative”). CEMEX Colombia made cash advances to this representative for amounts in Colombian pesos equivalent toapproximately US$13.4 and has paid interest for approximately US$1.2, in both cases considering the Colombian peso to U.S. dollar exchange rate as of December 31, 2016. These payments were deposited inthe representative’s personal bank account as advance payments for CI Calizas’ assets and for the purchase in the name and on behalf of CEMEX Colombia under the MOU with the Representative of Maceo’sproject adjacent land, interest was paid by CEMEX Colombia according to the representative’s instructions. Pursuant to the expiration of property process of the assets subject to the MOU and the failures tolegally formalize the purchases under the MOU with the Representative, as of the reporting date, CEMEX Colombia is not the legitimate owner of the aforementioned assets. Moreover, considering that paymentsmade by CEMEX Colombia for the purchase of property, shares and transfer of the mining contract and the environmental permit, as well as the land adjacent to the manufacturing plant, were made in violationof CEMEX’s and CLH’s internal policies, both CLH and CEMEX Colombia reported these facts to the Attorney General, providing the findings obtained during the investigations and internal audits, in orderfor the Attorney General to take any actions it may deemed relevant. On December 20, 2016, CEMEX Colombia filed an extension of the original complaint of September 23, 2016, with information andfindings obtained to date.Pursuant to a requirement of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.’s Audit Committee and of CLH’s Audit Commission, an audit firm, experts in forensic audits, was engaged in order to perform an independentinvestigation of Maceo’s project. Aditionally, CEMEX Colombia and CLH engaged an external lawyers firm with the aim of assisting CLH and CEMEX Colombia on the necessary collaboration with theAttorney General. Moreover, considering CLH’s internal controls and usual best practices, management also engaged a team of external lawyers for its own legal advice.In relation to the irregularities detected in the purchase of CI Calizas’ assets and the aforementioned additional land, which led to the execution of the internal audit, the termination of employment of certainexecutives and the report of these findings, there is an ongoing investigation by the Attorney General. As of the financial statements date, the investigation by the Attorney General is in its initial stage (inquiry),in which CEMEX is neither able to predict the actions that the Attorney General could implement, nor the posibility and degree in which any of these possible actions, including the termination of employmentof the aforementioned executives, could have a material adverse effect on CEMEX’s results of operation, liquidity or financial position. At this respect, under the presumption that CEMEX Colombia conducteditself in good faith, and considering that the rest of its investments made in the development of Maceo’s project were made with the consent of the SAE and CI Calizas by virtue of the lease contract and themandate, such investments are protected by Colombian law, under which, if a person builds on the property of a third party, with full knowledge of such third party, this third party may: a) take ownership of theplant, provided a corresponding indemnity to CEMEX Colombia, or otherwise, b) oblige CEMEX Colombia to purchase the land.Considering this, CEMEX estimates that, during the term of the Lease Contract, it will be able to use and enjoy the land in order to operate the plant. Moreover, CEMEX considers that will be able to retainownership of the plant and other refurbishments made. Nonetheless, had this not be the case, CEMEX Colombia would take all necessary actions to safeguard the project in Maceo. At this respect, there is thepossibility that CEMEX considers remote, in which, in the event that the expiration of property over the assets subject to the MOU is ordered in favor of the State, the SAE may decide not to sell the assets toCEMEX Colombia, or, the SAE may elect to maintain ownership of the assets and not extend the Lease Contract. In both cases, under Colombian law, CEMEX Colombia would be entitled to an indemnity forthe amount of its incurred investments. However, an adverse resolution at this respect could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.166



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILIn connection with the investigation and internal audit related to Maceo’s project, and considering the findings and the legal opinions available, during the fourth quarter of 2016, CEMEX determined that: a)there is low probability of recover resources delivered under different memorandums of understanding for the purchase of the assets related to the project for an amount in Colombian pesos equivalent toapproximately US$14.3 ($295), which were recognized as part of investments in progress, have been considered as contingent assets and therefore were reduced to zero recognizing an impairment loss for suchamount against other expenses, net (nonetheless, on December 19, 2016, CEMEX filed a claim in the civil courts aiming that all property rights related to the additional land, some of which were assigned to therepresentative, would be effectively transferred to CEMEX); b) certain purchases of equipment installed in the plant were considered exempt for VAT purposes under the benefits of the free trade zone, however, asthose assets were actually installed outside of the free trade zone’s area, they lack of such benefits, therefore, CEMEX increased investments in progress against VAT accounts payable for approximately US$9.2($191); and c) the cancellation of the balance payable to CI Calizas under the MOU in connection with the acquisition of the assets for approximately US$9.1 ($188) against a reduction in investments inprogress, all these amounts considering the Colombian peso to U.S. dollar exchange rate as of December 31, 2016.On October 27, 2016, CLH communicated its decision to postpone the start-up of Maceo plant, for the following reasons that emerged from the audits already in progress: (i) there are pending permits required tofinalize the road access to the plant at Maceo. In the event that those permits are obtained, CLH estimates that road access could be concluded and be ready for use until July 2017. Using the only existing accessto the plant instead of the one under construction, would risk the safety of the operation and would probably limit the capacity to transport products from the plant at Maceo; (ii) CEMEX Colombia has requestedan expansion to the free trade zone; to commission the new clinker line at Maceo without such expansion would risk CEMEX’s capability to consolidate the fiscal benefits that would otherwise be available forCEMEX Colombia. It is possible that a final decision cannot be taken, with respect to the expansion of the free trade zone, due to the process of domain extinction already on course. With the objective ofprotecting the benefits to be had with the free trade zone, CLH will not commission the clinker line until the free trade zone is expanded to cover the totality of the cement plant at Maceo; and (iii) a subsidiary ofCEMEX Colombia holds the environmental permit for project Maceo, however, the transfer of the mining concession was revoked by the Antioquia Mining Government Ministry in December 2013, hence wasreasigned to CI Calizas. As a result, the environmental permit and the mining concession are in custody of different entities, contrary to standar situation.In any case, CEMEX Colombia will continue using the assets under the Lease Contract and the mandate with the SAE.CLH has also determined that the mining permit of the new plant partially overlaps with and integrally managed district. CEMEX Colombia has also confirmed that the environmental permit needsmodifications in order to allow incrementing production up to 950 thousand tons per year. It is possible that this process could be affected by the process of expiration of property currently on course. CEMEXColombia will continue to work to address these matters as soon as possible. At this respect, on December 13, 2016, Corantioquia, the regional environmental agency, communicated its negative resolution toCEMEX Colombia’s request to increase the mining concession for up to 950 thousand tons per year. This resolution was appealed within the following ten days.In December 2016, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. received subpoenas from the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) seeking information that may allow determining whether there areviolations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act in connection with Maceo’s project. These subpoenas do not mean that the SEC has concluded that CEMEX has broken the law. CEMEX’s and CLH’sinternal audits and investigations question certain payments made in connection with Maceo’s project under the MOU and the MOU with the Representative described above. These payments were made tonon-governmental individuals in connection with the purchase of the factory land, adyacent land, mining rights and the benefits of the free trade zone of Maceo’s project, were made in breach of CEMEX andCLH established protocols. CEMEX has been cooperating with the SEC and the Attorney General and intends to continue cooperating fully with the SEC and the Attorney General. It is possible that the UnitedStates Department of Justice or investigatory entities in other jurisdictions may also open investigations into this matter. To the extent they do so, CEMEX intends to cooperate fully with those inquiries, aswell. As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX is neither able to predict the duration, scope, or outcome of the SEC investigation or any other investigation that may arise, nor has elements to determine theprobability that the SEC’s investigation results may or may not have a material adverse impact on its consolidated results of operations, liquidity or financial position.167



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILIn January 2007, the Polish Competition and Consumers Protection Office (the “Protection Office”) notified CEMEX Polska Sp. Z.o.o.(“CEMEX Polska”), a subsidiary of CEMEX in Poland, about theinitiation of an antitrust proceeding against all cement producers in the country, including CEMEX Polska and another of CEMEX’s indirect subsidiaries in Poland. The Protection Office alleged that there wasan agreement between all cement producers in Poland regarding prices, market quotas and other sales conditions; and that the producers exchanged information, all of which limited competition in the Polishcement market. CEMEX Polska denied that it had committed the practices listed by the Protection Office, and submitted formal comments and objections gathered during the proceeding supporting its positionthat its activities were in line with Polish competition law. In December 2009, the Protection Office issued a resolution imposing fines on a number of Polish cement producers, including CEMEX Polska for theperiod of 1998 to 2006. The fine imposed on CEMEX Polska amounted to the equivalent of approximately US$27 ($559). In December 2009, CEMEX Polska filed an appeal before the Polish Court ofCompetition and Consumer Protection in Warsaw (the “First Instance Court”). In December 2013, the First Instance Court reduced the penalty imposed on CEMEX Polska to the equivalent of approximatelyUS$24 ($497). In May 2014, CEMEX Polska filed an appeal against the First Instance Court judgment before the Appeals Court in Warsaw. After several hearings, on March 11, 2016, the Appeals Courtreopened the hearing phase which had been closed in February 2016. The Appeals Court will ask certain questions to the Polish Constitutional Tribunal regarding the conformity with the Polish Constitution ofthe calculation of the reduced penalty imposed on CEMEX Polska. The above-mentioned penalty is not enforceable until the Appeals Court issues its final judgment and if the penalty is maintained in the finalresolution, then it will be payable within 14 calendar days of the announcement. As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX had accrued a provision equivalent to approximately US$24 ($497), representing the bestestimate in connection with this resolution. CEMEX Polska estimates that the final judgment will be issued during the second half of 2018. As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX does not expect this matterwould have a material adverse impact on its results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.In August 2005, Cartel Damages Claims, S.A. (“CDC”), a Belgian company established in the aftermath of the German cement cartel investigation that took place from July 2002 to April 2003 with the purposeof purchasing potential damage claims from consumers and pursuing those claims against the cartel participants, filed a lawsuit in the District Court in Düsseldorf, Germany, against CEMEX Deutschland AG, asubsidiary of CEMEX in Germany, and other German cement companies in respect of damage claims relating to alleged price and quota fixing by German cement companies between 1993 and 2002. CDC hasbrought claims for an amount equivalent of approximately US$142. After several resolutions by the District Court in Düsseldorf over the years, court hearings and appeals from the defendants, in December 2013the District Court in Düsseldorf issued a resolution by means of which all claims brought to court by CDC were dismissed on the grounds that the way CDC obtained the claims was illegal given the limitedrisk it faced for covering the litigation costs and that the acquisition of the claims also breached rules that make the provision of legal advice subject to public authorization. In January 2014, CDC filed an appealto the Higher Regional Court in Düsseldorf. On February 18, 2015, the Court of Appeals in Düsseldorf fully rejected CDC’s appeal and maintained the first instance decision. The Court of Appeals in Düsseldorfexpressly did not admit a second appeal against this decision. The Court of Appeals decision is final and binding. Therefore, in 2015, CEMEX canceled the provision accrued until December 31, 2014 ofapproximately US$36.As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX had accrued environmental remediation liabilities in the United Kingdom pertaining to closed and current landfill sites for the confinement of waste, representing the NPV ofsuch obligations for an amount in British pounds sterling equivalent to approximately US$161 ($3,345). Expenditure was assessed and quantified over the period in which the sites have the potential to causeenvironmental harm, which was accepted by the regulator as being up to 60 years from the date of closure. The assessed expenditure included the costs of monitoring the sites and the installation, repair andrenewal of environmental infrastructure.As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX had accrued environmental remediation liabilities in the United States for an amount of approximately US$34 ($704), related to: a) the disposal of various materials inaccordance with past industry practice, which might currently be categorized as hazardous substances or wastes, and b) the cleanup of sites used or operated by CEMEX, including discontinued operations,regarding the disposal of hazardous substances or waste, either individually or jointly with other parties. Most of the proceedings are in the preliminary stages, and a final resolution might take several years.Based on the information developed to date, CEMEX’s does not believe that it will be required to spend significant sums on these matters in excess of the amounts previously recorded. The ultimate cost thatmay be incurred to resolve these environmental issues cannot be assured until all environmental studies, investigations, remediation work and negotiations with, or litigation against, potential sources of recoveryhave been completed.168



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAIL24B) Other contingencies from legal proceedingsCEMEX is involved in various legal proceedings, which have not required the recognition of accruals, considering that the probability of loss is less than probable or remote. In certain cases, a negativeresolution may represent the revocation of an operating license, in which case, CEMEX may experience a decrease in future revenues, an increase in operating costs or a loss. Nonetheless, until all stages in theprocedures are exhausted in each proceeding, CEMEX cannot assure the obtention of a final favorable resolution. As of December 31, 2016, the most significant events with a quantification of the potential loss,when it is determinable and would not impair the outcome of the relevant proceeding, were as follows:In September 2014, the National Markets and Competition Commission (Comisión Nacional de los Mercados y la Competencia or the “CNMC”), in the context of an investigation of the Spanish cement,ready-mix concrete and related products industry regarding alleged anticompetitive practices, inspected one of CEMEX’s facilities in Spain. In January 2015, CEMEX España Operaciones, S.L.U., was notified ofthe initiation by the CNMC of a disciplinary proceeding for alleged prohibited conducts, and in November 2015, such entity was notified of alleged anticompetitive practices in 2009 for the cement market andthe years 2008, 2009, 2012, 2013 and 2014 for the ready-mix market. CEMEX España Operaciones, S.L.U. believes that it has not breached any applicable laws. On September 8, 2016, CEMEX EspañaOperaciones, S.L.U. was notified of a decision issued by the CNMC pursuant to which CEMEX España Operaciones, S.L.U. has been required to pay a fine of approximately € 6 (US$7 or $145). CEMEXEspaña Operaciones, S.L.U. filed an appeal against the CNMC resolution and requested the suspension of payment of the fine. As of December 31, 2016 the resolution is still pending.On February 9, 2014, the Egyptian Ministry of Finance’s Appeals Committee (the “Appeals Committee”) notified a resolution to Assiut Cement Company (“ACC”), a subsidiary of CEMEX in Egypt, by meansof which the Egyptian Tax Authority is requiring the payment of a development levy on clay applied to the Egyptian cement industry in amounts equivalent as of December 31, 2016 of approximately US$17($352) for the period from May 5, 2008 to November 30, 2011. On March 10, 2014, ACC filed a claim before the North Cairo Court requesting the nullification of the Appeals Committee decision. In parallel,ACC filed a request before the Ministerial Committee for Resolution of Investment Disputes (the “Ministerial Committee”) claiming non-entitlement of the Egyptian Tax Authority to the levy on clay during thereference period, and from cement produced using imported clinker. On September 28, 2015, ACC was notified of a resolution by the Ministerial Committee pursuant to which the Egyptian Tax Authority wouldbe instructed to cease claiming ACC the aforementioned payment of the levy on clay. It was further decided that the levy on clay should not be imposed on imported clinker. The Ministerial Committee’sresolution strongly supports ACC position in this case, given the fact that it is legally binding on the Egyptian Tax Authority. During 2016 the Ministerial Committee’s resolution was submitted to theEgyptian Tax Authority, which in turn issued a settlement memorandum whereby it confirmed and recognized the Ministerial Committee’s resolution. Nonetheless, on May 28, 2016, the Egyptian Tax Authoritychallenged before the North Cairo Court ACC´s right to cancel the levy on clay. ACC expects that the document to be submitted by the attorney for the State at the upcoming North Cairo Court’s sessionscheduled for October 10, 2016 and December 27, 2016, shall request that the jointly reviewed cases to be struck off the court’s roll, but no session has yet been scheduled before the Cairo AdministrativeJudiciary Court in order to review the two referred cases. At this stage, as of December 31, 2016, CEMEX does not expect a material adverse impact due to this matter in its results of operations, liquidity orfinancial position.On September 5, 2013, the Colombian Superintendence of Industry and Commerce (Superintendencia de Industria y Comercio the “SIC”) opened an investigation against five cement companies and 14 directorsof those companies, including CEMEX Colombia, its former legal representative and the current President of CEMEX Colombia, for allegedly breaching rules which prohibit: a) to limit free competition and/ ordetermining or maintaining unfair prices; b) direct or indirect price fixing agreements; and c) any market sharing agreements between producers or distributors. In connection with the 14 executives underinvestigation, the SIC may sanction any individual who collaborated, facilitated, authorized, executed or tolerated behavior that violates free competition rules. On October 7, 2013, CEMEX Colombia respondedthe resolution and submitted evidence in its relief. If the alleged infringements are substantiated, penalties may be imposed by the SIC against each company being declared in breach of the competition rules foran equivalent of up to US$19 ($394) for each violation, and an equivalent of up to US$1 ($21) against those individuals found responsible. CEMEX cannot determine when a final decision by the SIC would beissued. As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX is not able to assess the likelihood of the SIC imposing any measures and/or penalties against CEMEX Colombia, but if any penalties are imposed, would not have amaterial adverse effect on CEMEX’s results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.169



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILOn September 13, 2012, in connection with a lawsuit submitted to a first instance court in Assiut, Egypt and notified on May 23, 2011 to ACC, the first instance court of Assiut issued a resolution in order tonullify the Share Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) pursuant to which CEMEX acquired a controlling interest in ACC. In addition, on April 7, 2011 and March 6, 2012, lawsuits seeking, among other things, theannulment of the SPA were filed by different plaintiffs, including 25 former employees of ACC, before Cairo’s State Council. On January 20, 2014, the Appeals Court in Assiut, Egypt, issued a judgmentrevoking the court’s resolution and referring the matter to an administrative court in Assiut (the “Assiut Administrative Court”). Moreover, on February 23, 2014, in connection with the above, three plaintiffsfiled a lawsuit before the Assiut Administrative Judiciary Court requesting the cancellation of the resolutions taken by the shareholders of Metallurgical Industries Company (“MIC”) in connection with the saleof ACC’s shares and negotiation of the SPA. In a related matter, on April 22, 2014, the Presidential Decree on Law No. 32 of 2014 (“Law 32/2014”), which regulates legal actions to challenge agreementsentered into by the Egyptian State and third parties, become effective, but still subject to approval by the House of Representatives. On October 15, 2014, the Assiut Administrative Court referred the case to theAdministrative Judiciary Court of Assiut. During March 2015, the Court’s State Commissioner Authority (“SCA”) recommended the 7th and 8th Circuits of Cairo’s State Council Administrative JudiciaryCourt to suspend the proceedings until the High Constitutional Court pronounces itself with regards to the challenges against the constitutionality of the Law 32/2014. At a session held on September 3, 2015,the 7th Circuit of Cairo’s State Council Administrative Judiciary Court accepted the SCA’s report recommendation and ruled for staying the proceedings until the High Constitutional Court pronounces itselfwith regards to the challenges against the constitutionality of Law No. 32/2014.In connection with the preceding paragraph, on January 26, 2016, the 8th Circuit of Cairo’s State Council Administrative Judiciary Court ruled for the dismissal of this case considering the plaintiff’s lack ofstanding. This ruling was no appealed by the plaintiff accordingly; such ruling is final and definitive. In October 2015, the SCA, recommended that due to the absence of geographical jurisdiction to review thecase, it should be referred to the 7th Circuit of “Economic and Investment Disputes” of Cairo’s State Council Administrative Judiciary Court. On February 24, 2016, the Assiut Administrative Judiciary Courtdecided to refer the case to the First Circuit of “Economic and Investment Disputes” of Cairo’s State Council Administrative Judiciary Court, which as of the reporting date, has not notified ACC of any sessionto review the case. During October and November 2015, parliamentary elections to the House of Representatives took place and the elected House of Representatives started to hold its sessions on January 10,2016, as expected, and Law 32/2014 was discussed and ratified on January 20, 2016, as legally required. As of December 31, 2016, several constitutional challenges have been filed against Law 32/2014 beforethe High Constitutional Court. In consideration of the aforementioned, after several resolutions, hearings and appeals in these cases over the years, as of December 31, 2016, CEMEX is not able to assess thelikelihood of an adverse resolution regarding these lawsuits nor is able to assess if the Constitutional Court will dismiss Law 32/2014, but, regarding the lawsuits, if adversely resolved, CEMEX does notbelieve the resolutions in the first instance would have an immediate material adverse impact on CEMEX´s operations, liquidity and financial condition. However, if CEMEX exhausts all legal recoursesavailable, a final adverse resolution of these lawsuits, or if the Constitutional Court dismisses Law 32/2014, this could adversely impact the ongoing matters regarding the SPA, which could have a materialadverse impact on CEMEX’s operations, liquidity and financial condition.In 2012, in connection with a contract (the “Quarry Contract”) entered into in 1990 by CEMEX Granulats Rhône Méditerranée (“CEMEX GRM”), one of CEMEX’s subsidiaries in France, with SCI LaQuinoniere (“SCI”) pursuant to which CEMEX GRM has drilling rights in order to extract reserves and do quarry remediation at a quarry in the Rhône region of France, SCI filed a claim against CEMEX GRMfor breach of the Quarry Contract, requesting the rescission of the Quarry Contract and damages plus interest for an amount in euros equivalent to approximately US$58 ($1,202), resulting from CEMEX GRMhaving partially filled the quarry allegedly in breach of the terms of the Quarry Contract. After many hearings, on May 18, 2016, CEMEX GRM was notified about an adverse judgment in this matter by thecorresponding court in Lyon, France, primarily ordering the rescission of the Quarry Contract and the aforementioned payment for damages plus interest. On June 6, 2016, CEMEX GRM filed an appeal with theappeals court in Lyon, France and on September 5, 2016, CEMEX GRM filed the first submission of the full appeal together with its arguments and evidence. Proceedings on any additional hearings regardingthis appeal or any other actions CEMEX GRM may initiate in this matter could take approximately 18 months to be finalized. As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX considers that an adverse resolution on thismatter would have a material adverse impact on CEMEX’s results of operations, liquidity and financial condition.170



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsOn June 21, 2012, one of CEMEX’s subsidiaries in Israel was notified about a class action suit against it and other three companies filed by a homeowner who built his house with concrete supplied by CEMEXin October of 2010. The class action argues that the concrete supplied to him did not meet with the Israeli ready-mix strength standard requirements and that as a result CEMEX acted unlawfully toward all of itscustomers who received concrete that did not comply with such standard requirements. As per the application, the plaintiff claims that the supply of the alleged non-conforming concrete has caused financial andnon-financial damages to those customers, including the plaintiff.CEMEX presumes that the class action would represent the claim of all the clients who purchased the alleged non-conforming concrete from its subsidiary in Israel during the past 7 years, the limitation periodaccording to applicable laws in Israel. The damages that could be sought an equivalent approximately US$71 ($1,471). CEMEX’s subsidiary submitted a formal response to the corresponding court. Theapplicant requested the court to join all claims brought by him. In a hearing held on December 20, 2015, the preliminary proceeding was completed and the court set dates for hearing evidence on May 8, 10 and16, 2016. Moreover, the court decided to join together all claims against all four companies, including CEMEX’s subsidiary in Israel, in order to simplify and shorten court proceedings, however, the court hasnot formally decided to join together all claims. As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX’s subsidiary in Israel is not able to assess the likelihood of the class action application being approved or, if approved, of anadverse result, such as an award for damages in the full amount that could be sought, but if adversely resolved CEMEX does not believe that the final resolutions would have a material adverse impact on itsresults of operations, liquidity or financial condition.On June 5, 2010, the District of Bogota’s Environmental Secretary (the “Environmental Secretary”), ordered the suspension of CEMEX Colombia’s mining activities at El Tunjuelo quarry, located in Bogota, aswell as those of other aggregates producers in the same area. The Environmental Secretary alleged that during the past 60 years, CEMEX Colombia and the other companies have illegally changed the course ofthe Tunjuelo River, have used the percolating waters without permission and have improperly used the edge of the river for mining activities. In connection with the injunction, on June 5, 2010, CEMEXColombia received a notification from the Environmental Secretary informing the initiation of proceedings to impose fines against CEMEX Colombia based on the above mentioned alleged environmentalviolations. CEMEX Colombia responded to the injunction by requesting that it be revoked based on the fact that the mining activities at El Tunjuelo quarry are supported by the authorizations required by theapplicable environmental laws and that all the environmental impact statements submitted by CEMEX Colombia have been reviewed and permanently authorized by the Ministry of Environment and SustainableDevelopment. On June 11, 2010, the local authorities in Bogota, in compliance with the Environmental Secretary’s decision, sealed off the mine to machinery and prohibited the removal of CEMEX’s aggregatesinventory. Although there is not an official quantification of the possible fine, the Environmental Secretary has publicly declared that the fine could be up to the equivalent of approximately US$95 ($1,968).The temporary injunction does not currently compromise the production and supply of ready-mix concrete to CEMEX’s clients in Colombia.At this stage, CEMEX is not able to assess the likelihood of an adverse result or potential damages which could be borne by CEMEX Colombia.An adverse resolution on this case could have a material adverse impact on CEMEX’s results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.In January 2009, in connection with federal quarry permits granted to CEMEX Construction Materials Florida, LLC (“CEMEX Florida”), one of CEMEX´s subsidiaries in the United States, a judge from theU.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida ordered the withdrawal of the federal quarry permits of CEMEX Florida’s SCL, FEC and Kendall Krome quarries, in the Lake Belt area in South Florida.The judge ruled that there were deficiencies in the procedures and analysis undertaken by the Army Corps of Engineers (the “Engineers”) in connection with the issuance of the permits. In January 2010, theEngineers concluded a review and issued a decision supporting the issuance of new federal quarry permits for the SCL and FEC quarries. In February 2010, new quarry permits were granted to the SCL and FECquarries. A number of potential environmental impacts must be addressed at the wetlands located at the Kendall Krome site before a new federal quarry permit may be issued for mining at that quarry. If CEMEXFlorida is unable to maintain the new Lake Belt permits, CEMEX Florida would need to source aggregates, to the extent available, from other locations in Florida or import aggregates. The cessation orsignificant restriction of quarrying operations in the Lake Belt area could have a significant adverse impact on CEMEX’s results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.171



 Notes to the consolidated financial statements• In connection with an action brought against CEMEX Colombia in 2005, on July 28, 2015, the Superior Court of Bogota upheld its resolution in respect that CEMEX Colombia was not responsible for thepremature distress of the concrete slabs of the Autopista Norte line of Transmilenio system and as such finalized such action. In addition, six actions related to the premature distress were brought againstCEMEX Colombia, of which, the Cundinamarca Administrative Court nullified five of these actions and currently, only one remains outstanding. In addition, the Urban Development Institute (“UDI”) filedanother action alleging that CEMEX Colombia made deceiving advertisements on the characteristics of the flowable fill used in the construction of the line. CEMEX Colombia participated in this project solelyand exclusively as supplier of the ready-mix concrete and flowable fill, which were delivered and received to the satisfaction of the contractor, fulfilling all the required technical specifications, and did notparticipate or had any responsibility on the design or technical specifications of construction. On May 31, 2016, the Civil Court of Bogota settled the action filed by the UDI ruling that the flowable fill was notwhat caused the damage to the slabs but by design changes when executing the road without consulting the original designer and to the lack of drains. The UDI filed an appeal against the court’s ruling. OnDecember 7, 2016, the Superior Court of Bogota upheld the Civil Court of Bogota’s decision. As of December 31, 2016, CEMEX is not able to accurately assess the likelihood of an adverse result in theseproceedings, but if adversely resolved, they could have a material adverse impact on CEMEX’s results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.In connection with the legal proceedings presented in notes 24A and 24B, the exchange rates as of December 31, 2016 used by CEMEX to convert the amounts in local currency to their equivalents in dollarswere the official closing exchange rates of approximately 4.21 Polish zloty per dollar, 0.95 Euro per dollar, 0.81 British pound sterling per dollar, 3,000.72 Colombian pesos per dollar and 3.85 Israelite shekelper dollar. In addition to the legal proceedings described above in notes 24A and 24B, as of December 31, 2016, CEMEX is involved in various legal proceedings of minor impact that have arisen in the ordinarycourse of business. These proceedings involve: 1) product warranty claims; 2) claims for environmental damages; 3) indemnification claims relating to acquisitions or divestitures; 4) claims to revoke permitsand/or concessions; and 5) other diverse civil actions. CEMEX considers that in those instances in which obligations have been incurred, CEMEX has accrued adequate provisions to cover the related risks.CEMEX believes these matters will be resolved without any significant effect on its business, financial position or results of operations. In addition, in relation to certain ongoing legal proceedings, CEMEX issometimes able to make and disclose reasonable estimates of the expected loss or range of possible loss, as well as disclose any provision accrued for such loss, but for a limited number of ongoing legalproceedings, CEMEX may not be able to make a reasonable estimate of the expected loss or range of possible loss or may be able to do so but believes that disclosure of such information on a case-by-case basiswould seriously prejudice CEMEX’s position in the ongoing legal proceedings or in any related settlement discussions. Accordingly, in these cases, CEMEX has disclosed qualitative information with respect tothe nature and characteristics of the contingency, but has not disclosed the estimate of the range of potential loss.25) RELATED PARTIESAll significant balances and transactions between the entities that constitute the CEMEX group have been eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. These balances with related partiesresulted primarily from: (i) the sale and purchase of goods between group entities; (ii) the sale and/or acquisition of subsidiaries’ shares within the CEMEX group; (iii) the invoicing of administrative services,rentals, trademarks and commercial name rights, royalties and other services rendered between group entities; and (iv) loans between related parties. Transactions between group entities are conducted on arm’slength terms based on market prices and conditions. When market prices and/or market conditions are not readily available, CEMEX conducts transfer pricing studies in the countries in which it operates to assurecompliance with regulations applicable to transactions between related parties. The definition of related parties includes entities or individuals outside the CEMEX group, which, pursuant to their relationshipwith CEMEX, may take advantage of being in a privileged situation. Likewise, this applies to cases in which CEMEX may take advantage of such relationships and obtain benefits in its financial position oroperating results. CEMEX’s transactions with related parties are executed under market conditions.172



 Notes to the consolidated financial statementsAs of December 31, 2016, except for the top management executives, CEMEX has not identified other transactions between related parties:For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the aggregate amount of compensation of CEMEX board of directors, including alternate directors, and top management executives, was approximatelyUS$43 ($802), US$36 ($579) and US$68 ($909), respectively. Of these amounts, approximately US$32 ($595) in 2016, US$25 ($402) in 2015 and US$35 ($464) in 2014, was paid as base compensation plusperformance bonuses, including pension and post-employment benefits. In addition, approximately US$11 ($207) in 2016, US$11 ($177) in 2015, and US$33 ($444) in 2014 of the aggregate amount in eachyear, corresponded to allocations of CPOs under CEMEX’s executive share-based compensation programs. In 2014, the amount of CPOs allocated included approximately US$4 ($52), of compensation earnedunder the program that is linked to the fulfillment of certain performance conditions and that was payable through March 2015 to then still active members of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.’s board of directors andtop management executives (note 21).26) SUBSEQUENT EVENTSIn connection with the Offer to purchase TCL’s shares (note 13A), on January 9, 2017, Sierra presented a change and variation notice making an amended offer (the “Amended Offer”) to the Offer to acquire up to132,616,942 ordinary shares in TCL. Pursuant to the Amended Offer, Sierra offered TT$5.07 in cash per TCL share (the “Revised Offer Price”) and, except for shareholders of TCL in Barbados, shareholders ofTCL will have the option to be paid for their TCL shares in TT$ or in dollars. Full acceptance of the Offer, as amended by the Amended Offer, in TT$ would result in a cash payment by Sierra of approximatelyTT$672 million (US$101 or $2,093). The Revised Offer Price represents a premium of 50% over the December 1, 2016 closing price of TCL’s shares in the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange. Among otherconditions, the Amended Offer was still conditional on Sierra acquiring at least an amount of TCL shares that would allow CEMEX to consolidate TCL for financial reporting purposes. Unless extended, theAmended Offer period is expected to close on January 24, 2017. Sierra does not currently expect to extend the Offer period after January 24, 2017. All other terms and conditions of the Offer not modified by theAmended Offer remained unchanged.Moreover, on January 24, 2017, Sierra communicated that having received the Foreign Investment License from the Trinidad and Tobago Ministry of Finance, all terms and conditions have been complied withor waived and the Offer has accordingly been declared unconditional.Based on the latest information available, TCL shares deposited in response to the Offer together with Sierra’s existing shareholding in TCL represents approximately 67.39% of the outstanding TCL shares.Sierra intends to take up all TCL shares deposited pursuant to the Offer up to the maximum number of the Offered Shares. As of the announcement date, the total consideration to be paid by Sierra for the TCLshares it will take up pursuant to the Offer is approximately US$79 ($1,637). Such consideration could increase once the final tally of TCL shares deposited is determined and the Offer period closes in Jamaicaon February 7, 2017 according to local regulation. After conclusion of the Offer, CEMEX will consolidate TCL for financial reporting purposes.On January 25, 2017, in connection with CEMEX’s investment in GCC shares (notes 12A and 13A), the Parent Company and GCC announced that they will commence offerings that are expected to include anaggregate of up to 76,483,332 shares of the common stock (the “Shares”) of GCC currently owned by CEMEX at a price range of between 95.00 to 115.00 pesos per share, which includes 9,976,087 sharesavailable to the underwriters of the offerings pursuant to a 30-day option to purchase such shares expected to be granted to them by CEMEX. Such offerings are expected to be comprised of Shares to be offered:(a) in a public offering to investors in Mexico conducted through the BMV; and (b) in a concurrent private placement to eligible investors outside of Mexico. The size and timing of the offerings will depend onmarket and other conditions.In connection with the sale of the Concrete Pipe Business in the United States to Quikrete described in note 4A, on January 31, 2017, after the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent including approval fromregulators. CEMEX announced the closing of the transaction according to the agreed upon price conditions.173



 G4-17, G4-22Notes to the consolidated financial statements27) MAIN SUBSIDIARIESThe main subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:% InterestSubsidiaryCountry20162015CEMEX México, S. A. de C.V. 1 CEMEX España, S.A. 2 CEMEX, Inc.CEMEX Latam Holdings, S.A. 3 CEMEX (Costa Rica), S.A. CEMEX Nicaragua, S.A. Assiut Cement Company CEMEX Colombia, S.A. 4 Cemento Bayano, S.A. 5 CEMEX Dominicana, S.A. CEMEX dePuerto Rico Inc. CEMEX France Gestion (S.A.S.) CEMEX Holdings Philippines 6 Solid Cement Corporation 6 APO Cement Corporation 6 CEMEX Holdings (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd CEMEX U.K.CEMEX Deutschland, AG. CEMEX Czech Republic, s.r.o. CEMEX Polska sp. Z.o.o. CEMEX Holdings (Israel) Ltd. CEMEX SIACEMEX Topmix LLC, CEMEX Supermix LLC and CEMEX Falcon LLC 7 CEMEX ASCimentos Vencemos do Amazonas, Ltda. Readymix Argentina, S.A.CEMEX Jamaica Neoris N.V. 8CEMEX International Trading, LLC 9 Transenergy, Inc. 10Mexico SpainUnited States of America Spain Costa Rica Nicaragua Egypt Colombia Panama Dominican Republic Puerto Rico France Philippines Philippines Philippines Malaysia United Kingdom Germany Czech RepublicPoland Israel Latvia United Arab Emirates Norway Brazil Argentina Jamaica The Netherlands United States of America United States of America100.099.9100.074.399.1100.095.899.9100.0100.0100.0100.055.0100.0100.0100.0100.0100.0100.0100.0100.0100.0100.0100.0100.0100.0100.099.8100.0100.0100.099.9 100.074.499.1 100.095.899.799.9 100.0 100.0 100.0 –100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.099.8 100.0 100.01 CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V. is the indirect holding company of CEMEX España, S.A. and subsidiaries.2 CEMEX España, S.A is the indirect holding company of most of CEMEX’s international operations.3 The interest reported includes own shares held at CLH’s treasury.4 Represents our 99.7% and 98.9% interest in ordinary and preferred shares, respectively.5 Includes a 0.515% interest held on Cemento Bayano’s treasury.6 Represents CEMEX Holdings Philippines Inc. direct and indirect interest.7 CEMEX owns a 49% equity interest in each of these entities and holds the remaining 51% of the economic benefits, through agreements with other shareholders.8 Neoris N.V. is the holding company of the entities involved in the sale of information technology solutions and services.9 CEMEX International Trading, LLC is involved in the international trading of CEMEX’s products.10 Formerly named Gulf Coast Portland Cement Co., it is engaged in the procurement and trading of fuels, such as coal and petroleum coke, used in certainoperations of CEMEX’s.174



 Independent Auditor’s ReportThe Board of Directors and StockholdersCEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.:OPINIONWe have audited the consolidated financial statements of CEMEX,S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise theconsolidated statement of financial position as at December31, 2016 and 2015, the consolidated statements of operations,comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders’ equityand cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015and 2014, and notes, comprising significant accounting policiesand other explanatory information.In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financialstatements present fairly, in all material respects, theconsolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31,2016 and 2015, and of its consolidated financial performance andits consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31,2016, 2015 and 2014 in accordance with International FinancialReporting Standards (IFRS).BASIS FOR OPINIONWe conducted our audit in accordance with InternationalStandards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under thosestandards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilitiesfor the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements sectionof our report. We are independent of the Group in accordancewith the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit ofthe consolidated financial statements in México and we havefulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance withthese requirements. We believe that the audit evidence wehave obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basisfor our opinion.KEY AUDIT MATTERSKey audit matters are those matters that, in our professionaljudgment, were of most significance in our audit of theconsolidated financial statements of the current period. Thesematters were addressed in the context of our audit of theconsolidated financial statements as a whole, and in formingour opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinionon these matters.175



 EVALUATION OF GOODWILL IMPAIRMENTSee Note 15C to the consolidated financial statementsThe key audit matterThe Group’s balance sheet includes a significant amount ofgoodwill arising from historic acquisitions which requiresconducting an annual evaluation of its recoverability.We consider this a key audit matter because of the materialityof the goodwill balance and because it involves complex andsubjective judgments by the Group regarding long-term salesgrowth rates, costs and projected operating margins in thedifferent countries where the Group operates, discount ratesused to discount future cash flows, as well as comparisons topublicly-available information such as multiples of EBITDA inrecent market transactions.How the matter was addressed in our auditOur audit procedures included considering the consistencyand appropriateness of the allocation of goodwill to groupsof CGUs, as well as testing the Group’s methodology andassumptions used in preparing discounted cash flow modelsthrough the involvement of our valuation specialists.We compared the Group’s assumptions to data obtained fromexternal sources in relation to key inputs such as discountrates and projected economic growth and compared the latterwith reference to historical forecasting accuracy, consideringthe potential risk of management bias.We compared the sum of the discounted cash flows to theGroup’s market capitalization to assess the reasonableness ofthose cash flows. In addition we performed sensitivity analysisusing multiples of EBITDA.We challenged the overall results of the calculations andperformed our own sensitivity analysis, including a reasonablyprobable reduction in assumed growth rates and cash flows.We also assessed whether the group’s disclosures about thesensitivity of the outcome of the impairment assessment tochanges in key assumptions such as discount rates and growthrates reflected the risks inherent in the valuation of goodwill.RECOVERABILITY OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS RELATED TO TAX LOSS CARRY FORWARDSSee Note 19B to the consolidated financial statementsThe key audit matterThe group has significant deferred tax assets in respect of taxlosses (mainly in the United States, The Netherlands, Mexicoand Spain).There is inherent uncertainty involved in forecasting futuretaxable profits, which determines the extent to which deferredtax assets are or are not recognized.The periods over which the deferred tax assets are expectedto be recovered can be extensive. As a result of the above, weconsider this to be a key audit matter.How the matter was addressed in our auditOur audit procedures included considering historical levels oftaxable profits and comparing the assumptions used in respectof future taxable profit forecasts to those used in the Group’slong-term forecasts, such as the forecasts prepared in relationto goodwill impairment evaluations.Our tax specialists assisted in evaluating the reasonablenessof key tax assumptions, timing of reversal of temporarydifferences and expiration of tax loss carry forwards, as wellas the reasonableness of any tax strategies proposed by theGroup based on our knowledge of the tax, legal and operatingenvironments in which the Group operates.We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosuressetting out the basis of the deferred tax asset balances and thelevel of estimation involved.176



 ASSETS HELD FOR SALESee Note 4 to the consolidated financial statementsThe key audit matterThe Group has committed to a plan to dispose of non-coreassets which requires an evaluation of their balance sheetcarrying amount and recoverability involving estimations ofthe expected recoverable amount which depends on the stageof negotiation with the counterparty.The determination of whether or not the assets disposed orheld for sale are to be considered discontinued operationsfor purposes of presentation in the consolidated financialstatements is a matter involving judgment and therefore weconsider the proper accounting for assets held for sale to bea key audit matter.Most significantly, during 2016 CEMEX reached an agreementto sell certain assets from its operations in the United States(see notes 4A and 4B to the consolidated financial statements).The financial reporting implications of such disposal aresignificant because they involve determining a portion of thegoodwill relative to the group of cash generating units to whichgoodwill has been allocated in the United States which shouldbe considered in determining the gain or loss on disposal.How the matter was addressed in our auditDuring the year we tested those disposals which had asubstantial balance sheet, income statement and/or cashflow impact. We read the related contracts where those havebeen finalized or evaluated the stage of the proposed sale ofassets, whether a buyer has been identified and the stage ofnegotiations of each sale, as applicable, and evaluated theappropriateness of the carrying amounts of assets based onthe expected recoverable amounts.We involved our valuation specialists to evaluate theassumptions and methodologies used by the Group to estimatethe fair value of assets disposed as compared to the fair valueof the group of cash-generating units to which goodwill isallocated, in order to determine the proper amount of goodwillto be removed from the balance sheet upon disposal. Ourspecialists compared management’s assumptions to recentmarket transactions to assess their reasonableness andevaluated any third party valuation advice obtained by theGroupWe also assessed the presentation of the financial statements inlight of the disposals, the disclosures regarding each significantasset sale and management’s conclusions as to presentationas discontinued operations and assets held for sale.TAX AND LEGAL CONTINGENCIESSee Notes 19D and 24 to the consolidated financial statementsThe key audit matterThe Group is involved in certain significant tax and legal proceedings.Compliance with tax regulations is a complex matter withinthe Group because of the different tax laws in the jurisdictionswhere the Group operates, the application of which requiresthe use of significant expertise and judgment, making thisarea a key audit matter. Also, because of the diversity of theGroup’s operations, exposure to legal claims is a risk thatrequires management’s attention.Resolution of tax and legal proceedings may span multipleyears, and may involve negotiation or litigation and therefore,making judgments of potential outcomes is a complex issuein the Group.Management applies judgment in estimating the likelihoodof the future outcome in each case and records a provisionfor unrecognized tax benefits or settlement of legal claimswhere applicable. We focused on this area due to the inherentcomplexity and judgment in estimating the amount ofprovision required.How the matter was addressed in our auditWe assessed the adequacy of the level of provision established,or lack thereof, in relation to significant uncertain tax positionsand legal contingencies, primarily in respect of cases in Spain,France, Egypt, and Colombia.We discussed the status of each significant case withmanagement, including in-house counsel, and criticallyassessed their responses. We read the latest correspondencebetween the Group and the various tax authorities or plaintiffsand attorneys where applicable. We also obtained writtenresponses from the Group’s legal advisors where those havebeen appointed, containing their views on material exposuresand any related litigation.In relation to tax matters, we also met with the Group’s taxofficers to assess their judgments on significant cases, theirviews and strategies, as well as the related technical groundsto their position based on applicable tax laws by involving ourtax specialists.We assessed whether the Group’s disclosures about legal and taxcontingencies provided sufficient information to readers of thefinancial statements in light of the significance of these cases.177



 OTHER INFORMATIONManagement is responsible for the other information. The otherinformation comprises the information included in the Group’sannual report for the year ended December 31, 2016, to be filedwith the National Banking and Securities Commission (Mexico)(Comisión Nacional Bancaria y de Valores) (“the Annual Report”)but does not include the consolidated financial statements andour auditors’ report thereon. The Annual Report is expected tobe made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does notcover the other information and we will not express any form ofassurance conclusion thereon.In connection with our audit of the consolidated financialstatements, our responsibility is to read the other informationidentified above when it becomes available and, in doingso, consider whether the other information is materiallyinconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or ourknowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to bematerially misstated.When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is amaterial misstatement therein, we are required to communicatethe matter to those charged with governance.RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITHGOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSManagement is responsible for the preparation and fairpresentation of the consolidated financial statementsin accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control asmanagement determines is necessary to enable the preparationof consolidated financial statements that are free from materialmisstatement, whether due to fraud or error.In preparing the consolidated financial statements, managementis responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as agoing concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to goingconcern and using the going concern basis of accounting unlessmanagement either intends to liquidate the Group or to ceaseoperations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeingthe Group’s financial reporting process.AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATEDFINANCIAL STATEMENTSOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whetherthe consolidated financial statements as a whole are free frommaterial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and toissue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonableassurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guaranteethat an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will alwaysdetect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatementscan arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably beexpected to influence the economic decisions of users taken onthe basis of these consolidated financial statements.178



 As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exerciseprofessional judgment and maintain professional skepticismthroughout the audit. We also:Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement ofthe consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraudor error, design and perform audit procedures responsiveto those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficientand appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Therisk of not detecting a material misstatement resultingfrom fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, asfraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant tothe audit in order to design audit procedures that areappropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purposeof expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of theGroup’s internal control.Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies usedand the reasonableness of accounting estimates andrelated disclosures made by management.Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use ofthe going concern basis of accounting and, based on theaudit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertaintyexists related to events or conditions that may cast significantdoubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we arerequired to draw attention in our auditors’ report to therelated disclosures in the consolidated financial statementsor, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtainedup to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future eventsor conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as agoing concern.Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and contentof the consolidated financial statements, including thedisclosures, and whether the consolidated financialstatements represent the underlying transactions andevents in a manner that achieves fair presentation.Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding thefinancial information of the entities or business activitieswithin the Group to express an opinion on the consolidatedfinancial statements. We are responsible for the direction,supervision and performance of the group audit. We remainsolely responsible for our audit opinion.We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,among other matters, the planned scope and timing of theaudit and significant audit findings, including any significantdeficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.We also provide those charged with governance with astatement that we have complied with relevant ethicalrequirements regarding independence, and communicate withthem all relationships and other matters that may reasonablybe thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,related safeguards.From the matters communicated with those charged withgovernance, we determine those matters that were of mostsignificance in the audit of the consolidated financial statementsof the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law orregulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a mattershould not be communicated in our report because the adverseconsequences of doing so would reasonably be expected tooutweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.KPMG CÁRDENAS DOSAL, S.C.Luis Gabriel Ortiz EsquedaMonterrey, N.L., February 2, 2017179



 7.2 | Non-financial informationHEALTH AND SAFETYOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILTotal fatalitiesEmployees, totalCementReady-mixAggregatesOther businessesContractors, totalCementReady-mixAggregatesOther businessesThird-parties, totalCementReady-mixAggregatesOther businessesFatality rate, employees (per 10,000 employed)CementReady-mixAggregatesOther businessesLost Time Injuries (LTIs) (lost days per million hours worked)Employees, totalCementReady-mixAggregatesOther businessesContractors, totalCementReady-mixAggregatesOther businesses201427421011712302623100.71.50.40.00.8124327091369271961720151910010105122852100.20.00.02.00.06723324867289102020162031200107210750200.70.81.40.00.06019278653301256HEALTH AND SAFETY [1]Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTI FR), employees(per million hours worked)CementReady-mixAggregatesOther businessesLost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTI FR), contractors(per million hours worked)CementLost Time Injury Severity Rate (LTI SR), employees(lost days per million hours worked)CementCompliance with CSI Driving Safety Recommended Practices (%)Compliance with CSI Contractor Safety Recommended Practices (%)Sites with a Health and Safety Management Systemimplemented (%)CementReady-mixAggregatesSites certified with OHSAS 18001 (%)CementReady-mixAggregatesSickness Absence Rate (%)Sites with health professional onsite or external health provider (%)20141.21.01.90.90.5



1.263.0878899100991009406152.29320150.60.80.90.40.30.646.0898910010010010010618132.19520160.60.70.80.70.20.947.99896100100100100156513141.895OUR PEOPLEWorkforceMexicoUnited StatesEuropeAsia, Middle East and AfricaSouth, Central America and the CaribbeanOthers (including Corporate and Neoris)201444,2419,8549,75211,5643,3896,2723,410201543,1179,50410,18310,5253,5126,0463,347201641,8539,8589,78310,3863,2435,3873,196180



 7.2 | Non-financial informationOUR PEOPLEOUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILBreakdown of workforce by type of contract (%)Full timePart timeBreakdown of workforce by level (%)Executive positionsNon-executive positionsOperational positionsBreakdown of workforce by age (%)Under 3031-4041-5051 and overBreakdown of workforce by gender (%)MaleFemaleFemale employees by level (%)Executive positionsNon-executive positionsOperational positionsMale to female wage ratioEmployees that perceive they are enabled to perform their jobeffectively (PEI—Performance Enablement Index) (%)Employees that are engaged to the company (EEI—EmployeeEngagement Index) (%)Participation rate in engagement survey (%)Empoyee turnover rate (%) [2]Employees represented by an independent union or covered by acollective bargaining agreement (%) [3]Notice to employees regarding operational changes (average days)Performance Management (scale 0-5 points)Succession Coverage (%)Countries with practices to promote local hiring (%)Training provided by operations (average hours)Executive positionsNon-executive and operational positionsOnline courses through CEMEX Online Training Platforms (No.)Employees with access to CEMEX Online Training Platforms (No.)201499153263173029248911122631.057977786.945343.511.8390272954510,1042015100053164173028258911133831.077676756.645363.521.8210018153,15525,656201699153164153526248812133031.087676759.440303.481.8273251626225,266RESILIENT AND EFFICIENT BUILDING SOLUTIONSAffordable and/or resource-efficient buildings whereCEMEX is involved (No.)Affordable and/or resource-efficient buildings whereCEMEX is involved (million m2)Installed concrete pavement area (million m2)Green building projects under certification whereCEMEX is involved (million m2)Annual ready-mix sales derived from products with outstandingsustainable attributes (%)STRENGTHEN LOCAL COMMUNITIES [4]Families participating in Patrimonio Hoy (No.)Individuals benefited from Patrimonio Hoy (No.)Square meters built by Patrimonio HoyFamilies participating in our social and inclusive businesses (No.)Individuals benefited from our social and inclusive businesses (No.)Total individuals benefited from our high-impact social initiatives(No.)CARBON STRATEGYAbsolute gross CO2 emissions (million ton)Absolute net CO2 emissions (million ton)Specific gross CO2 emissions (kg CO2/ton of cementitious product)Specific net CO2 emissions (kg CO2/ton of cementitious product)Reduction in CO2 emissions per ton of cementitious product from1990 baseline (%)Thermal energy efficiency of clinker production (MJ/ton clinker)OTHER CARBON STRATEGY INDICATORSAlternative raw material rate (%) [5]Sustainable raw material rate (%) [6]Clinker/Cement factor (%)Indirect energy consumption (GWh)Specific energy consumption, cement (kWh/ton)Specific energy consumption, ready-mix (kWh/m3)Specific energy consumption, aggregates (kWh/ton)Direct energy consumption (TJ)Power from renewable energy sources, cement (%) [7]



20143,1500.188.147.0829.72014470,7492,274,6303,693,073543,9032,601,1576,937,176201442.840.165361322.63,854201411.213.676.57,5621163.24.4196,51020152,4000.157.326.4233.02015525,9412,536,4664,115,392627,3072,994,4539,655,198201543.740.867263021.63,89720156.012.778.67,6431193.24.6202,59820164,1120.075.399.7333.72016572,1662,756,0874,346,968685,6343,272,95312,604,222201643.841.467864220.13,90520166.112.978.47,6981203.24.3202,25525181



 7.2 | Non-financial informationFUEL MIX (%)OUR PERFORMANCE IN DETAILTotal alternative fuelsCoalPetroleum cokeFuel oilNatural gasALTERNATIVE FUELS RATE (%)Alternative fossil fuels rateBiomass fuels rateWASTE TYPES USED AS ALTERNATIVE FUELS (%)Industrial and household wasteTiresAnimal mealAgricultural organic wasteOther biomassWASTE MANAGEMENTHazardous waste disposal (ton)CementReady-mixAggregatesOthersNon-hazardous waste disposal (ton)CementReady-mixAggregatesOthersSecondary and recycled aggregates used as a direct replacementof primary aggregates (ton)ENVIRONMENTAL AND QUALITY MANAGEMENTSites with CEMEX Environmental Management System (EMS)implemented (%)CementReady-mixAggregates201427.722.538.28.53.0201416.311.4201449.79.02.57.231.62014104,909102,0362,348403122483,404130,507335,40211,3256,171221,676201474977090201526.623.839.07.03.7201515.710.9201550.38.82.07.331.62015104,254101,8112,1712710.35464,493102,504344,95813,1783,853257,761201576987388201623.324.845.42.04.3201613.79.6201650.28.72.56.332.3201695,14193,4131,5012261.25276,49191,223174,3657,9922,912258,494201688988886ENVIRONMENTAL AND QUALITY MANAGEMENTSites with ISO 14001 Certification (%)CementReady-mixAggregatesSites with ISO 9001 Certification (%)CementReady-mixAggregatesEnvironmental investment (US million)Total environmental incidentsMajor environmental incidents—Category 1 (No.)Moderate environmental incidents—Category 2 (No.)Minor environmental incidents—Category 3 (No.)Complaints (No.)Environmental fines (No.)Environmental fines (US million)AIR QUALITYClinker produced with continous monitoring of major emissions(dust, NOX and SOX) (%)Clinker produced with monitoring of major and minor emissions(dust, NOX, SOX, Hg, Cd, TI, VOC, PCDD/F) (%)Absolute dust emissions (ton/year)Specific dust emissions (g/ton clinker)Absolute NOX emissions (ton/year)Specific NOX emissions (g/ton clinker)Absolute SOX emissions (ton/year)Specific SOX emissions (g/ton clinker)Annual reduction in dust emissions per ton of clinker from 2005baseline (%)Annual reduction in NOX emissions per ton of clinker from 2005



baseline (%)Annual reduction in SOX emissions per ton of clinker from 2005baseline (%)2014377434444478453085433039313812760.5201484816,14713459,6201,20512,71125755426020154474415045794636867532436227884530.3201584804,0959055,3181,12213,6402797046572016467643534579444180365064224773630.15201684802,7036776,5521,53313,089253782661182



 7.2 | Non-financial informationWATER MANAGEMENTTotal water withdrawals by source (million m3)Surface WaterGround WaterMunicipal WaterRain WaterSea WaterOtherCement (million m3)Surface WaterGround WaterMunicipal WaterRain WaterSea WaterOtherReady-mix (million m3)Surface WaterGround WaterMunicipal WaterRain WaterSea WaterOtherAggregates (million m3)Surface WaterGround WaterMunicipal WaterRain WaterSea WaterOtherTotal water discharge by destination (million m3)Surface WaterGround WaterMunicipal WaterSea WaterOtherCement (million m3)Surface WaterGround WaterMunicipal WaterSea WaterOther201484.637.335.68.80.90.21.825.910.913.01.10.30.00.611.00.33.65.60.10.01.347.826.118.92.10.50.20.032.919.211.80.80.11.03.32.40.00.30.10.5201579.127.037.910.00.80.13.325.07.315.51.40.30.00.512.10.52.06.60.10.02.942.019.220.41.90.30.10.029.317.910.00.80.10.43.22.60.00.30.10.2201667.022.528.612.20.40.0 3.424.66.515.3 2.00.30.00.612.30.6 2.36.50.10.0 2.830.115.411.0 3.70.00.00.017.011.0 5.10.80.00.1 2.6 2.00.00.40.00.1WATER MANAGEMENTReady-mix (million m3)Surface WaterGround WaterMunicipal WaterSea Water



OtherAggregates (million m3)Surface WaterGround WaterMunicipal WaterSea WaterOtherTotal consumption (million m3)CementReady-mixAggregatesSpecific water consumptionCement (l/ton)Ready-mix (l/m3)Aggregates (l/ton)Sites with water recycling systems (%)CementReady-mixAggregates [8]BIODIVERSITY MANAGEMENTActive sites with quarry rehabilitation plans (%)CementAggregatesActive quarries within or adjacent to high biodiversity value areas(No.)CementAggregatesActive sites with high biodiversity value where biodiversity actionplans are actively implemented (%)CementAggregates20140.70.00.20.40.00.128.916.811.60.10.00.45223101936018513284808389201494869680107055605420150.90.30.10.50.00.025.315.19.90.10.00.3502211173462071348477839320159484986495561895620160.80.30.20.30.00.013.68.74.90.00.00.05022121735222213179768076201694909663954638959183



 G4-22, G4-237.2 | Non-financial informationSTAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENTSites conducting social impact assessments (%)CementReady-mixAggregatesSites with community engagement plans (%)CementAggregates201468756770989798201569776969989798201672777172989798STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENTCountries with employee volunteering programs (%)Countries that conduct regular customer satisfaction surveys (%)Purchases sourced from locally-based suppliers (%)Countries with a process to screen suppliers in relation to socialand environmental aspects (%)Global procurement spend assessed under the Supplier Sustain-ability Program (%)201467789586122015738595861320167588958317CEMENT OPERATIONSKiln operational efficiency (volume produced/available capacity)(%) [9]Cement productivity (volume produced per man-hour)201484.41.59201588.31.73201688.91.77GOVERNANCE AND ETHICSExecutives and employees actively aware of our Code of Ethics (%)Reports of alleged breaches to the Code of Ethics received by local ethics committees (No.)Ethics and compliance cases reported during the year that were investigated and closed (%)Disciplinary actions taken as a result of reports of non-compliance with the Code of Ethics, other policies or the law (No.)Target countries that participated on the Global Compliance Program (antitrust, antri-bribery and insider trading) (%)Countries with local mechanisms to promote employee awareness of procedures to identify and report incidences of internalfraud, kick-backs, among others (%)Investigated incidents reported and found to be true related to fraud, kick-backs among other corruption incidents to government officials (No.)20148039491177901000201580359741801001000201677453681151001000Footnotes:[1] All H&S statistics are in accordance with the CSI Reporting Guidelines.[2] Voluntary turnover.[3] Total employees including executive and non-executive positions. Considering only operations posi- tions coverage is 63%.[4] Accumulated figure since 1998.[5] 2015 figure reflects CEMEX’s operations portfolio after assets transactions.[6] Raw materials containing the required minerals for clinker/cement production with the potential to reduce impacts from ordinary processes[7] KPI calculated as of 2016. It includes direct supply contracts plus renewable share from the power grid.[8] Considering sites that use water for aggregates production (including wet screening and aggregate washing).[9] Available capacity = nominal capacity x (total hours - scheduled down time)184



 7.2 | Non-financial informationDIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACTSIn millions of US dollarsCustomers: Net sales (1)Suppliers: Cost of sales and operating expenses (2)Employees and their families: Wages and benefits (3)Investments: CAPEX (4) plus working capitalCreditors: Net financial expenseGovernment: TaxesCommunities: Donations (5)Shareholders: Dividends (6)OthersFree cash flow from discontinued operations (7)Consolidated free cash flowNet income (loss) before taxes & non controlling interestIFRS201414,95510,0902,2057041,334558(0.96%)0(87)(60)210(138)IFRS201513,7889,1152,0854701,1504861.87%0(80)(70)628199IFRS201613,4038,6242,032949852990.38%0(3)(64)1431923Footnotes:(1) Excludes sales of assets(2) Excludes depreciation and amortization(3) Wages and benefits include non-operational and operational employees(4) Capital expenditures for maintenance and expansion(5) Donations as percentage of pre-tax income(6) Dividends paid in cash(7) Free Cash Flow from Austria, Hungary, Croatia, Thailand, Bangladesh and Pipe operationsOUR SUSTAINABILITY CREDENTIALSCDPDRIVING SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIESCDP (formerly the Carbon Disclosure Project)In 2016, we received an A- from CDP under their new evalua-tion system which, assigns scores from A to D. With this result,CDP recognizes CEMEX among the leading group of companiesin the fields of Climate Change.Empresa SustentableMexican Stock Exchange Sustainability IndexCEMEX has been selected since the Index’s inception in 2011.The assessment includes performance, impact and responses toemerging environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues.BloombergAs of March 2017, CEMEX was scored the highest in ESG disclo-sure by Bloomberg among the peers in the internationalcement industry as well as within the constituents of theMexican Stock Exchange Sustainability Index.UN GLOBAL COMPACT100SUSTAINABILITY STOCK INDEX2015-2016 | powered by SustainalysticsUNGC 100 IndexCEMEX remains the sole Mexico-based company selected forthe UN Global Compact 100, a global stock index that combinessustainability and financial performance.VigeoeirisRANKINGEmerging 70Vigeo Eiris Emerging 70 RankingCEMEX was included in the Emerging Market 70 Rankingcomprised of the 70 best performing companies from a refer-ence universe of 800 companies from 31 emerging countriesand 37 sectors.ROBECOSAMSustainability AwardIndustry Mover 2017RobecoSAM Bronze Class and Industry Mover AwardCEMEX received the RobecoSAM Bronze Class ranking and theIndustry Mover Sustainability Award 2017. The company wasrecognized as one of the top-scoring companies in the indus-try, and was included in the 2017 Sustainability Yearbook.ROBECOSAMSustainability AwardBronze Class 2017185



 7.2 | Non-financial informationKPMGKPMG Cárdenas DosalBlvd. Manuel Ávila Camacho 176Col. Reforma Social11650 México, D.F.Teléfono: + 01(55) 52 46 83 00+ 01(55) 24 87 83 00Fax: + 01(55) 55 20 27 51www.kpmg.com.mxLimited Verification Letter of Key SustainabilityPerformance Indicators (Non financial Information)To the Board of Directors of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.We have reviewed the non-financial information related to the Key Sustainability PerformanceIndicators presented in the 2016 Report “Integrated Strategy for a Better Future” (hereinafter “theReport”) of CEMEX, S.A.B de C.V. (hereinafter “CEMEX”) from January 1st through December 31st,2016.Our work has been carried out according to the established for a Limited Verification, according tothe guidelines of ISAE 3000 International Standard on Assurance Engagements, issued by theInternational Auditing and Assurance Standard Board (IAASB) of the International Federation ofAccountants (IFAC), and in accordance with the AA1000 Sustainability Assurance Standard(Accountability Principle Standard, 2008). Among other issues, these standards require that:• The team that carries out the work have specific knowledge, abilities and professional skillsnecessary to understand and review the information included in the Report and that itscomponents comply with the requirements of the International Federation of Accountants(IFAC) Code of Professional Ethics, ensuring independence.• When a limited verification of the information is performs, sufficient evidence is available inthe documentation and systems of the company that support the statements made.The purpose of the verification was to verify that the CEMEX information contained in the Reportcomplied with the criteria established by the “Cement Sustainability Initiative” (CSI) standards of the“World Business Council for Sustainable Development” (WBCSD). The criteria considered were asfollows:- The Cement CO2 and Energy Protocol: CO2 and Energy Accounting and Reporting Standardfor the Cement Industry- Safety in the Cement Industry: Guidelines for measuring and reporting (version 4.0)- Guidelines for Emissions Monitoring and Reporting in the Cement Industry (version 2.0)As well as with the criteria established by CEMEX internal procedure called Environmental IncidentReporting Procedure.CEMEX ResponsibilityCEMEX, through the Corporate Sustainability Direction, is responsible for preparing and presentingthe Report in accordance with the above mentioned WBCSD-CSI protocols; Of the information andstatements contained there; The definition of scope, selection and presentation of information; Andthe establishment and implementation of data collection processes.KPMGKPMG Cárdenas DosalBlvd. Manuel Ávila Camacho 176Col. Reforma Social11650 México, D.F.Teléfono: + 01(55) 52 46 83 00+ 01(55) 24 87 83 00Fax: + 01(55) 55 20 27 51www.kpmg.com.mxOur ResponsibilityOur responsibility is to carry out a limited verification on the key performance indicators defined byCEMEX and based on the work done, to issue a Limited Verification Letter exclusively on theseindicators (non-financial information) included in the 2016 Report.Our workOur work has been performed in accordance with the ISAE 3000 Standard and in accordance withthe AA1000 AS (2008) Sustainability Assurance Standard.These standards require that we plan and perform our work in such a way that we obtain limitedassurance as to whether the Report is free from material misstatement and that we comply with theethical and independence requirements set forth in the Code of Ethics of the International EthicsStandards Board for Accountants.The scope of evidence-gathering procedures performed in a limited verification work is less thanreasonable security work and thus also the level of security it provides. This report cannot in anycase be understood as an audit report.Verification scopeOur work performed consist in visiting five cement plants located in each of the regions whereCEMEX operates. These accounted for 20% of CEMEX total CO2 emissions for scope 1 and 2 and25% of total dust, NOx and SOx emissions.The verified indicators for each of the locations were as follows:- Scope 1 and 2 of CO2 emissions according to The Cement CO2 and Energy Protocol: CO2and Energy Accounting and Reporting Standard for the Cement Industry of the WBCSD-CSI,presenting:• Absolute gross and net CO2 emissions• Specific gross and net CO2 emissions• Total indirect CO2 emissions- Health and safety indicators according to Safety in the Cement Industry: Guidelines formeasuring and reporting (version 4.0) of the WBCSD-CSI, presenting:• Number of fatalities for employees, contractors and third parties• Fatality rate for employees• Number of Lost Time Injuries for employees and contractors• Lost Time Injury Rate for employees and contractors• Lost Time Injury Severity Rate for employees186



 7.2 | Non-financial informationKPMGKPMG Cárdenas DosalBlvd. Manuel Ávila Camacho 176Col. Reforma Social11650 México, D.F.Teléfono: + 01(55) 52 46 83 00+ 01(55) 24 87 83 00Fax: + 01(55) 55 20 27 51www.kpmg.com.mx- Indicators of other emissions according to Guidelines for Emissions Monitoring andReporting in the Cement Industry (version 2.0) of the WBCSD-CSI, presenting:• Overall coverage rate• Coverage rate of continuous emissions monitoring.• Absolute and specific Dust emissions• Absolute and specific NOx emissions• Absolute and specific SOx emissions- Number of Environmental Incidents Category 1 and 2 as defined in the internal procedure ofCEMEX called Environmental Incident Reporting Procedure.We have applied the following procedures to collect evidence for the development of our work, aswell as to verify the consistency of information from the systems and / or internal documentationprovided by the CEMEX team in each facility:- Interviews with relevant staff on the implementation of sustainability policies and strategy.- Identification of collection and internal control processes related to the quantitative datareflected in the Report.- Application of evidence on information submitted on the basis of a limited assurance, in orderto assess the reliability of the data and the information managed on the site.- Identification of communication mechanisms and participation, by CEMEX, with its differentstakeholders- Application of tests over the consistency of the information coming from the systems andinternal documentation.ConclusionBased on the procedures performed and previously described, there has been no evidence of anyindication that the data compiled in CEMEX Report 2016, for the period covered January 1st toDecember 31st, 2016, have not been obtained based on reliable process, that the information is notadequately presented, or that significant deviations or omissions exist.KPMG, Cárdenas Dosal, S.C.Jesús González ArellanoPartner (Advisory)Mexico CityMarch 22th, 2017187
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 G4-17, G4-18, G4-22, G4-238.1 | Report scopeGeneral Considerations:CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. is incorporated asa publicly traded stock corporation withvariable capital (sociedad anónima bursátilde capital variable) organized under the lawsof Mexico. Except as the context otherwisemay require, references in this integratedreport to “CEMEX,” “we,” “us” or “our” referto CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. and its consolidatedentities.Reporting scopeCEMEX began publishing Environmental, Health, and Safety(EHS) reports in 1996, and has annually published its Sustain-able Development Reports since 2003, covering a broad rangeof issues related to economic, environmental, social, and gov-ernance performance.This is CEMEX’s first Integrated Report. It is designed to providea holistic analysis of the company’s strategic vision, perfor-mance, governance, and value creation, while fostering a morein-depth understanding of the financial and non-financial keyperformance indicators that the company uses to manage itsbusiness over the short, medium, and long term.Boundary and reporting periodIn preparation of this report, we consolidated informationfrom all of our countries and operations. It covers our globalcement, ready-mix concrete, and aggregates business lines,presenting our financial and non-financial performance, prog-ress, achievements, and challenges for the 2016 calendar year,which is also the company’s fiscal year. Our materiality analysisguided our reporting process, and the issues included in thisreport particularly match those that CEMEX management andour stakeholders found of highest importance for our opera-tions, as reflected in our recently updated Materiality Matrixcovering both financial and sustainability issues.Unless otherwise indicated, the information provided in thisreport is for the company as a whole. We have included in-formation for the operations in which we have financial andoperative control. If a plant is sold, its information is no longerincluded in our data or considered in our targets. If we haverestated certain data sets from previous years because of im-provements to our data-collection systems or changes to ourbusiness, each case is clearly marked. Unless something else isexplicitly indicated, all monetary amounts are reported in U.S.dollars. All references to “tons” are to metric tons.The information in our 2016 Integrated Report came from sev-eral sources, including internal management systems and per-formance databases, as well as annual surveys applied acrossall of our countries.We continually aim to improve the transparency and com-pleteness of each report that we produce, while streamliningour processes and the way in which we provide information.To this end, we include a limited assurance statement fromKPMG, an independent organization that verified the data andcalculation process for our annual indicators associated withCO2 and other emissions, health and safety, and environmentalincidents.In addition, we engaged our External Advisory Panel, whosemembers provide very valuable and objective feedback on ourreporting every year.Data measurement techniquesWe employ the following protocols and techniques for measur-ing the sustainability key performance indicators (KPI) that wereport:CO2 emissions: CEMEX reports absolute and specific CO2emissions following the latest version of the Cement Sus-tainability Initiative (CSI) Protocol, denominated: The Ce-ment CO2 and Energy Protocol, version 3.1, published in May2011. It considers direct emissions occurring from sourcesthat are owned or controlled by the company, excludingthose from the combustion of biomass that are reportedseparately (Scope 1) and indirect emissions from the gener-ation of purchased electricity consumed in the company’sowned or controlled equipment (Scope 2). Historical datashall remain unchanged given that the previous protocol isclosely aligned with the simple methods for the reportingof CO2 emissions from calcination. For countries covered bythe European Union Emission Trading System (EU ETS), CO2data corresponds to the one validated by an independentverifier in accordance with the applicable Accreditation andVerification Regulation.189



 G4-18, G4-22, G4-238.1 |Report scopeDust, NOX and SOX emissions: Absolute and specific figuresare calculated based on kiln measurements taken fromContinuous Emissions Monitoring Systems (CEMs) (in thosesites where kilns are equipped with such technology) orspot analysis. These methods fully comply with the CSIGuidelines for Emissions Monitoring and Reporting. All in-formation is reported to CEMEX databases, processed, cal-culated, and validated to provide a final group value. Thevalues are calculated in Standard for 0°C, 1 atmosphereand 10% Oxygen (O2) content at measuring point.Energy: Fuel consumption indicators are reported to inter-nal CEMEX databases in which “conventional,” “alternative,”and “biomass fuels” are classified according to the CSI Ce-ment CO2 Protocol spreadsheet. Heat values are obtainedfrom on-site analysis (where applicable), value provided bysupplier or standards from the CSI Guidelines for the Se-lection and Use of Fuels and Raw Materials in the CementManufacturing Process.Clinker factor and alternative fuels: All material consump-tion is reported to internal CEMEX databases in which“alternative materials” are defined following the standardsfrom the CSI Guidelines for the Selection and Use of Fu-els and Raw Materials in the Cement Manufacturing Pro-cess. The “clinker/cement factor” is calculated using theCSI procedures indicated in The Cement CO2 and EnergyProtocol spreadsheet with information obtained from thedatabases.Health and safety: SISTER, which is an internal database,collects all related health and safety information from eachsite and automatically provides the appropriate informa-tion to calculate the indicators. The database is configuredusing the CSI definitions.Alignment with global reporting initiative (GRI) guidelinesIn order to enhance our sustainability communication to ourstakeholders and comply with internationally agreed disclo-sures and metrics, CEMEX uses the Global Reporting Initia-tive (GRI) guidelines to prepare its Sustainable DevelopmentReports. From 2008 to 2013, we met an application level ofA+ using GRI-G3. As of 2014, we have migrated to the GRI-G4Guidelines, using the “in accordance” comprehensive option.Our GRI Content Index is cross referenced to the UN GlobalCompact (UNGC) principles, as well as to the UN SustainableDevelopment Goals (SDGs). Furthermore, we have submittedthe current report to GRI requesting the Materiality DisclosuresService reflected in corresponding GRI marks.To access the full 2016 GRI Content Index, please visit:https://archive.cemex.com/SustainableDevelopment/files/GriIndex2016.pdfUnited Nations Global Compact - Communication onProgressThis report also constitutes our Communication on Progress(CoP) toward the commitments of the UN Global Compact(UNGC). As a signatory to the UNGC, we work to align ourcompany’s operations and strategies with its 10 principles. Asdemonstrated within the content of this report, we are alsocommitted to helping the world meet the targets of the KyotoProtocol and contribute to the achievement of the UN Sustain-able Development Goals (SDGs).Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)The 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) were adopted atthe General Assembly of the United Nations held in September2015. The 169 targets contained in them aim to end poverty,protect the planet, and ensure prosperity for all as part of anew sustainable development agenda.To show our clear commitment to contribute to the SDGs im-plementation, across the pages of this report we have includedthe marks representing the relevant SDG goal.SUSTAINABLEDEVELOPMENTGOALS1NOPOVERTY2ZERO HUNGER3GOOD HEALTHAND WELL-BEING4QUALITY EDUCATION5GENDEREQUALITY6CLEAN WATERAND SANITATIONAFFORDABLE ANDCLEAN ENERGY7AFFORDABLE ANDCLEAN ENERGY8DECENT WORK ANDECONOMIC GROWTH9INDUSTRY, INNOVATIONAND INFRASTRUCTURE10REDUCEDINEQUALITIES11SUSTAINABLE CITIESAND COMMUNITIES12RESPONSIBLECONSUMPTIONAND PRODUCTION13CLIMATEACTION14LIFEBELOWWATER15LIFEON LAND16PEACE ANDJUSTICE17PARTNERSHIPSFOR THE GOALSTHE GLOBAL GOALSFOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT190



 ABOUT THIS REPORT8.1 |Report scopeTHE TERMS WE USEFinancialAmerican Depositary Shares (ADSs) are a means for non-U.S.- based corporations to list their ordinary equity on an Americanstock exchange. Denominated in US dollars, they confer fullrights of ownership to the corporation’s underlying shares,which are held on deposit by a custodian bank in the company’s home country or territory. In relation to CEMEX, Citibank,N.A. is the depositary of CEMEX’s ADSs and each ADS represents10 CPOs. The CEMEX ADSs are listed on the New York StockExchange.bps (Basis Point) is a unit of percentage measure equal to0.01%, used to measure the changes to interest rates, equityindices, and fixed-income securities.Free cash flow CEMEX defines it as operating EBITDA minus netinterest expense, maintenance capital expenditures, changein working capital, taxes paid, and other cash items (net otherexpenses less proceeds from the disposal of obsolete and/orsubstantially depleted operating fixed assets that are no longerin operation). Free cash flow is not a GAAP measure.LIBOR (London Interbank Offered Rate) is a reference ratebased on the interest rates at which banks borrow unsecuredfunds from other banks in London.Maintenance capital expenditures CEMEX defines it as investments incurred with the purpose of ensuring the company’soperational continuity. These include capital expenditureson projects required to replace obsolete assets or maintaincurrent operational levels and mandatory capital expenditures,which are projects required to comply with governmental regulations or company policies. Maintenance capital expendituresis not a GAAP measure.Net working capital CEMEX defines it as net trade accountsreceivables plus inventories plus other accounts receivable including advanced payments minus trade payables minus operative taxes excluding income tax minus other accounts payableand accrued expenses. Working capital is not a GAAP measure.Operating EBITDA CEMEX defines it as operating earnings before other expenses, net, plus depreciation and amortization.Operating EBITDA does not include revenues and expenses thatare not directly related to CEMEX’s main activity, or which are ofan unusual or non-recurring nature under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Operating EBITDA is not a GAAPmeasure.Ordinary Participation Certificates (CPOs) are issued under theterms of a CPO Trust Agreement governed by Mexican law andrepresent two of CEMEX’s series A shares and one of CEMEX’sseries B shares. This instrument is listed on the Mexican StockExchange.pp equals percentage points.Strategic capital expenditures CEMEX defines it as investments incurred with the purpose of increasing the company’sprofitability. These include capital expenditures on projectsdesigned to increase profitability by expanding capacity, andmargin improvement capital expenditures, which are projectsdesigned to increase profitability by reducing costs. Strategiccapital expenditures is not a GAAP measure.TIIE (Tasa de Interés Interbancaria de Equilibrio) is a measureof the average cost of funds in pesos in the Mexican interbankmoney market.Total debt CEMEX defines it as short-term and long-term debtplus convertible securities, liabilities secured with account receivables and capital leases. Total debt is not a GAAP measure.IndustryAggregates are sand and gravel, which are mined from quarries. They give ready-mix concrete its necessary volume andadd to its overall strength. Under normal circumstances, onecubic meter of fresh concrete contains two tons of gravel andsand.Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) is a mechanism underthe Kyoto Protocol that allows Annex I countries to recognizegreenhouse gas emission reductions from projects developedin Non-Annex I countries.Clinker is an intermediate cement product made by sinteringlimestone, clay, and iron oxide in a kiln at around 1,450 degreesCelsius. One ton of clinker is used to make approximately 1.1tons of gray Portland cement.Fly ash is a combustion residue from coal-fired power plantsthat can be used as a non-clinker cementitious material.Gray Portland cement is a hydraulic binding agent with a composition by weight of at least 95% clinker and 0–5% of a minorcomponent (usually calcium sulfate). It can set and hardenunderwater and, when mixed with aggregates and water, produces concrete or mortar.Installed capacity is the theoretical annual production capacity of a plant; whereas effective capacity is a plant’s actualoptimal annual production capacity, which can be 10–20% lessthan installed capacity.Metric ton is the equivalent of 1.102 short tons.Petroleum coke (petcoke) is a by-product of the oil refiningcoking process.Pozzolana is a fine, sandy volcanic ash.Ready-mix concrete is a mixture of cement, aggregates, andwater.Slag is the by-product of smelting ore to purify metals.191



 ABOUT THIS REPORT8.2 | External Advisory Panel members and statementThis is CEMEX’s inaugural Integrated Report. We see thisproactive approach to reporting as an important symbolof the company’s commitment to managing the impact itsbusiness operations have on society and the environment.The Advisory Panel (henceforth referred to as “the panel”)recognizes this first Integrated Report as an effort to provideall stakeholders with a holistic overview of CEMEX’s strate-gic vision, drivers of value creation, operating performance,governance, and an understanding of the key financial andnon-financial topics that are shaping the business today,and that are likely to shape the business tomorrow.SCOPE OF OUR REVIEWSimilar to previous years, the Sustainability Reporting Advisory Panel reviewed an advanced draft of CEMEX 2016 Integrated Report: Integrated Strategy for a Better Future. TheAdvisory Panel members first convened in December 2016 todiscuss the evaluation and advisory process, before beingsubmitted the report in late February, having two weeks toreview and send back their initial feedback.The Advisory Panel members shared with management detailed comments and specific suggestions for improvementin reporting and activities in general. The comments of thereport concern both current activities and strategic ideasworth exploring in the future.REPORTING FRAMEWORK, STYLE AND IMPROVEMENTSThe panel recognizes that CEMEX has successfully executedthe recommendation of an integrated report along the linesof the proposed framework of the International IntegratedReporting Council. This process promotes integrated thinkingand strategy across the organization, and is likely to enhancethe positive environmental and social impacts CEMEX has already generated in all of the geographies in which it operates.The panel appreciates the efforts to present the content ina more integrated, clear fashion, making it easier to readand follow. The Panel is also pleased with the efforts CEMEXhas made to prepare the report in accordance to the Global Reporting Initiative G4 Guidelines, which helps focus theanalysis on the most material aspects in the business.The panel additionally recognizes the significant improvement CEMEX has made with respect to the degree of trans-parency and openness with which the company communicates with its stakeholders via this document.Moreover, the panel commends the growing focus on therole CEMEX can play in terms of helping realize the Sustainable Development Goals, with a particular focus on theCEMEX contribution to ending poverty, achieving genderequality, providing decent work and economic growth opportunities, and developing sustainable cities and communities. The panel also acknowledges the continued effortsto explicitly recognize the challenges of using cement as abuilding material, which include significant carbon and toxicair emissions.And finally, the panel encourages management to presenttime series data in the form of charts to illustrate the evolution of certain metrics (e.g. carbon footprint), such thatreaders can easily get an overview of past performance relative to current performance.SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCEWith respect to Ethics and Corruption, the panel is pleasedto notice the continuous efforts being made to raise awareness on these issues and the fact that so many ethics andinternal human rights cases are brought to the fore (i.e.including disciplinary action on about one quarter of thecases). And although the number of cases is included in thereport (453), an analysis and reporting of the major causesIRMA GÓMEZUndersecretary for Management,Mexican Ministry of PublicEducationFELIPE PICHFounding DirectorPich-Aguilera ArchitectsROBERT RUTTMANNInvestment Office Director Julius BärHead of Competence Center forSustainabilitySt. Gallen UniversityMARGARETH FLÓREZExecutive Director of RedEAméricaRAMÓN PÉREZ GILGlobal Counselor,International Union for theConservation of Nature (IUCN)192



 ABOUT THIS REPORT8.2 | External Advisory Panel members and statementand trends in the disciplinary actions taken for violation ofthe code of ethics would be helpful to the readers to assessthe severity of the issues and progress made in its avoidance. The panel is also encouraged by the strong internalprocesses that CEMEX has established to collect information.12% of the global work force is female, which is low relative to peers, who come in at about 20%. As such, the panelremains concerned with respect to the slow progress beingmade in the recruitment of women and especially in theappointment of women to leadership positions. The panelencourages CEMEX to explore the direct and indirect obstacles that may be preventing progress in this area.Furthermore, we encourage CEMEX to consider the appointment of properly qualified women to the Board of Directors, where currently there are none. And finally, the panelrecognizes that CEMEX does not have an independent majority in its board, and also lacks an explicit responsibilityfor risk management. This shortfall in the governance structure could potentially undermine the ability of the board toeffectively oversee company management.MATERIAL ASPECTSThe panel recognizes the continued progress CEMEX hasmade with respect to building a Sustainability Matrix in efforts to identify the issues most important to CEMEX and itsstakeholders. The Sustainability Matrix enables a more seamless identification of issues most relevant to stakeholders,including both risks and opportunities. It is in this contextthat the panel suggests to keep the frame of material issueslimited to social, environmental and governance issues.The materiality survey is a clear demonstration of goodprogress with respect to defining the materiality issues, notleast because invitations were sent to over 19,000 stakeholders across a large variety of geographies. This is 62%more than with the previous survey, although only 1,558responses were received (less than 10%). Going forward, wesuggest that CEMEX do a smaller but statistically representative survey. This will give the company meaningful resultson materiality issues.SAFETYThe panel is encouraged by the reduction in the time lostdue to injuries in 2016 by 16% on a year-on-year basis. Wealso recognize that CEMEX has set aggressive targets toimprove safety across all of its operations by 2020, and thatCEMEX today already has a lower exposure to health andsafety risks than the majority of its peers. Still, the panel isconcerned about the number of fatalities, mostly on contractors and third parties. Last year, 20 fatalities occurred,of which 3 were direct employees and the rest were eithercontractors or other third parties. Getting this number lowerin the coming years is rightly a key priority for management.HUMAN RIGHTSThe Panel is pleased to learn that CEMEX has developed aHuman Rights Policy, which integrates basic sustainabilityrequirements. The company’s suppliers are mandated tocomply with this policy. In this way, CEMEX is able to exertmore influence over its entire value chain. An essential partof this process is the ability to define a monitoring planand a set of mitigating and remedial actions to prevent andaddress adverse impacts on human rights. The panel encourages management to implement the Ruggie Principles,in particular the assessment of the current situation and aplan of action to ensure their application.EMISSIONS AND OTHER ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUESThe panel is encouraged to learn of a significant reductionof environmentally hazardous emissions. For instance, the20% reduction in CO2 emissions compared with CEMEX’s 1990baseline figure represents real progress, driven largely by analternative fuel substitution rate of over 23%. The panel alsoinvites management to encourage lower general energy use.It should also be noted that previous reports provided graphsto offer readers more insight into the evolution of carbonemissions over time. This was a clear way to show numbersand present data in an informative, useful manner.Also, the panel recognizes that carbon pricing schemes inthe geographies in which CEMEX operates can introduce additional liabilities. At the same time, they could also provideopportunities and incentives for innovation and product development or process improvement. This is shown by higherlevels of alternative fuel use and lower clinker factors infirms with exposure to regions with carbon pricing schemesas is the case with CEMEX.ENERGY AND WATER CONSUMPTIONWe were pleased to learn of the successful efforts to continue the reduction of energy consumption by the increaseduse of alternative sources of energy, particularly from recycled waste, alternative fuel, and renewables. With respect towater consumption, the company has implemented severalinitiatives, which have allowed it to reduce its water use overthe last three years by 3%. Nonetheless, the firm’s water intensity of operations (i.e. 6 thousand m3 per USD million) isstill high, and thus offers potential to fall substantially fromcurrent levels.193



 ABOUT THIS REPORT8.2 | External Advisory Panel members and statementBIODIVERSITYThe panel recognizes that CEMEX has a diverse array of practices to protect biodiversity like Biodiversity Action Plans,which represent the principal tool for CEMEX to achievea net positive impact on biodiversity. Still, the panel alsonotes that CEMEX could improve in terms of its response tocommunity concerns due to land use and land use changeprior selling in new areas. And since the firm’s primarybusiness is in cement and ready mixed-concrete, a carefulattention to the disturbance to land or habitat due to quarryexploitation is important point to bare in mind.SUPPLY CHAIN MONITORING AND DEVELOPMENTThe panel is pleased to learn of the new supply chain process globally, which allows the company to run its network ofsupplier as one efficient global enterprise. In fact, the panelwas particularly pleased to learn that in 2016 almost 1,300suppliers were assessed using sustainability criteria. Moreover, it is good to see that Human Rights, Labor, Antitrust, andSustainability clauses were all added to contracts and purchase orders with suppliers on a global basis. Indeed, procurement and the value chain offer new and effective ways toexpand the reach of good sustainability policies on a globalscale, all in efforts to advance local economic development.Finally, the panel encourages the management to identify themost critical suppliers, not in terms of volume, but in terms ofpotential risks for CEMEX’s reputation.WORKING CONDITIONSThe panel is pleased to see the progress achieved by CEMEXin working conditions for their employees. Recognizing thecomplexity of working in so many countries with very different cultures and standards, the panel would like to see moreefforts in enhancing the number of countries where programsfor child, dependent and elderly care are available.SOCIAL IMPACTThe Panel recognizes CEMEX’s commitment to contributing tothe sustainable development of the communities and geographies in which it operates, either by virtue of its ongoingbusiness operations generating social value or via social investment programs. Nevertheless, the Panel invites CEMEX toinclude in future reports results that reflect the transformations that have occurred in these communities and examplesthat illustrate the interventions carried out in specific places.Also, the panel would encourage the integration of a record ofconfiicts reported in the relationships between the companyand the communities which it serves, including informationabout how confiicts may have been resolved.BUILDING SOLUTIONSThe panel recognizes that global building materials companies are taking advantage of the continually growing greenbuilding market, which has grown by about 50% on average per year over the last ten years. This growth has beenpossible mainly by releasing products with higher recycledcontent and environmental certifications. Specifically forCEMEX, the panel notes that CEMEX develops products withenvironmental advantages like concretes that enhancethermal efficiency and energy conservation materials thatreduce water consumption and that decrease storm waterand runoff drainage. Going forward, the panel recommendsincluding in the report some examples of how CEMEX implements innovative materials and solutions into its day-to-day operations, including the necessary adjustments to thevalue chain.And finally, in efforts to further support the developmentof sustainable, resilient communities, the panel recognizesthat CEMEX makes available affordable building materialsand housing solutions to market segments that lack accessto formal credit. This example serves as a good symbol ofhow CEMEX aligns its operations with its purpose: “To builda better future for our employees, our customers, our shareholders, and the communities where we live and work.”194



 ABOUT THIS REPORT8.3 | Investor, media and sustainability informationWe welcome your feedback on our reporting and performance. Please sendyour comments and suggestions to:CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.Investor Relations, CorporateCommunications and Public AffairsAv. Ricardo Margain Zozaya 32566265 San Pedro Garza Garcia, N.L.MexicoTel: +52 (81) 8888-8888EXCHANGE LISTINGSBolsa Mexicana de Valores (BMV) MexicoTicker symbol: CEMEXCPOShare series: CPO(representing two A shares and one B share)New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) UnitedStatesTicker symbol: CXShare series: ADS (representing 10 CPOs)Cotiza enBolsa MexicanaCEMEXCXLISTEDNYSEMEDIA RELATIONS CONTACTmr@cemex.comPhone: +52 (81) 8888-4327INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACTir@cemex.comFrom the US: 1 877 7CX NYSEFrom other countries: +1 (212) 317-6000SUSTAINABILITY CONTACTsd@cemex.comPhone: +52 (81) 8888-8888WEB ADDRESSwww.cemex.comNEW YORK OFFICE590 Madison Ave. 41st floorNew York, NY 10022 USAPhone: +1 (212) 317-6000Fax: +1 (212) 317-6047CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTSThis integrated report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the U.S.federal securities laws. We intend these forward-looking statements to be covered by thesafe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements in the U.S. federal securities laws.In some cases, these statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking wordssuch as “may,” “should,” “could,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “plan,” “believe,” “predict,”“potential” and “intend” or other similar words. These forward-looking statements reflectour current expectations and projections about future events based on our knowledge ofpresent facts and circumstances and assumptions about future events. These statementsnecessarily involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations. Some of the risks, uncertainties and other important factors thatcould cause results to differ, or that otherwise could have an impact on us or our subsidiaries, include: the cyclical activity of the construction sector; our exposure to other sectorsthat impact our business, such as, but not limited to, the energy sector; competition; general political, economic and business conditions in the markets in which we operate or thataffect our operations; the regulatory environment, including environmental, tax, antitrustand acquisition-related rules and regulations; our ability to satisfy our obligations underour material debt agreements, the indentures that govern our senior secured notes and ourother debt instruments; the impact of our below investment grade debt rating on our costof capital; our ability to consummate asset sales, fully integrate newly acquired businesses,achieve cost-savings from our cost-reduction initiatives and implement our global pricinginitiatives for our products; the increasing reliance on information technology infrastructurefor our invoicing, procurement, financial statements and other processes that can adverselyaffect operations in the event that the infrastructure does not work as intended, experiences technical difficulties or is subjected to cyber-attacks; weather conditions; naturaldisasters and other unforeseen events; and the other risks and uncertainties describedelsewhere in this integrated report. Readers are urged to read this integrated report andcarefully consider the risks, uncertainties and other factors that affect our business. Theinformation contained in this integrated report is subject to change without notice, and weare not obligated to publicly update or revise forward-looking statements. This integratedreport also includes statistical data regarding the production, distribution, marketing andsale of cement, ready-mix concrete, clinker and aggregates. We generated some of this datainternally, and some was obtained from independent industry publications and reports thatwe believe to be reliable sources. We have not independently verified this data nor soughtthe consent of any organizations to refer to their reports in this integrated report.195
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